




 
 
 

 

 
PROCLAMATION 

 

Establishing “It’s Our Fox River Day – A Watershed Wide 
Celebration” 

 
WHEREAS, the Fox River was central to the lives of native Americans and early settlers of the Fox 

River Valley in providing resources to grow and later became a driving force in creating commercial and 
industrial growth;  

 
WHEREAS, the Fox River, once a fine fishery and source of public water, became burdened with 

the uncontrolled discharge of industrial, commercial and municipal wastes, with the resulting pollution 
threatening the health and welfare of all populations of the Fox River, including human and wildlife, and; 

 
WHEREAS, sustained and increasingly diligent and effective efforts have been made over the past 

century to reduce and eliminate pollution and changes to our river’s natural shorelines, and; 
 

WHEREAS, the Fox River has been largely freed from its burden of pollution and once again has 
become a safe source of recreation and reliable public water supply, with its fish and wildlife population 
in clear recovery; 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of North Aurora recognizes the historic, present and future value of this 
unique and precious natural resource to our community, and all other communities within and beyond 
the Fox River Valley, 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT PROCLAIMED that I, Mark Gaffino, Village President, and the Board of Trustees 
of North Aurora do hereby declare the third Saturday of September, this year and every year thereafter, 
shall be recognized as “It’s Our Fox River Day,” and support events that honor and celebrate the life and 
well-being of the Fox River. 

 
 
Dated this ________ day of _______________________ 2022 
       
        ___________________________________________   
          Mark Gaffino, Village President 
ATTEST: 
_______________________________________  
Jessi Watkins, Village Clerk  



 
NORTH AURORA VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

VILLAGE BOARD MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, August 1, 2022 

 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Village Board meeting was conducted live remotely 

via telecommunications. 
 

CALL TO ORDER  
Mayor Gaffino called the meeting to order. 
 
SILENT PRAYER - MEDITATION – PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
In attendance:  Mayor Mark Gaffino, Trustee Mark Carroll, Trustee Mark Guethle, Trustee Mike 
Lowery, Trustee Todd Niedzwiedz, Trustee Carolyn Salazar 
 
Staff in attendance:  Village Administrator Steve Bosco, Finance Director Jason Paprocki, Community 
& Economic Development Director Mike Toth, Village Attorney Kevin Drendel, Public Works Director 
John Laskowski, Police Chief Joe DeLeo.  
 
AUDIENCE COMMENTS – None 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

1. Village Board Minutes dated 07/18/2022 
2. Bills List Dated 08/01/2022 FY 2022 in the Amount of $12,560.36 
3. Bills List Dated 08/01/2022 FY 2023 in the Amount of $366,887.30 
4. Approval of an Ordinance Amending the North Aurora Code Section 16.12.190 Landscaping and 

Trees to Update Parkway Tree Recommend Species 
 

Motion for approval made by Trustee Guethle and seconded by Trustee Lowery. Roll Call Vote:  Trustee 
Guethle – yes, Trustee Lowery – yes, Trustee Niedzwiedz – yes, Trustee Salazar – yes, Trustee Carroll – 
yes. Motion approved (5-0). 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 

1. Approval of Special Event for ABD Cycling 
 
Administrator Bosco explained that ABD Cycling would like to use Village streets for an event to take 
place on Saturday, September 24, 2022.  The event will utilize Brenton Avenue, Patterson Avenue and 
Fair Meadow Street, however no road closures will be needed.  They will also be utilizing sound 
amplification starting at 8:00 AM. 
 
Motion for approval made by Trustee Lowery and seconded by Trustee Guethle. Roll Call Vote:  Trustee 
Lowery – yes, Trustee Niedzwiedz – yes, Trustee Salazar – yes, Trustee Carroll – yes, Trustee Guethle – 
yes. Motion approved (5-0). 
 

2. Approval to Award Demolition of 19 South Lincolnway to K.L.F. Enterprises in the 
Amount of $79,000.00 

 



Director Toth stated that the Village had eight different demolition companies attend a pre-bid meeting on 
July 14, 2022 for the demolition of 19 S. Lincolnway, resulting in a total of five companies bidding on the 
project.  The highest bid came in at $152,000 while K.L.F. Enterprises came in at $79,000.  Staff 
recommended moving forward with K.L.F Enterprises. 
 
Trustee Carroll asked why staff thought that there was such a large difference in bid amounts.  Director 
Toth explained that a requirement of the project is to have it completed in 60 days.  He said that some 
contractors may bid higher in order for the project to take precedence ahead of other projects that may not 
have a deadline. 
 
Motion for approval made by Trustee Guethle and seconded by Trustee Niedzwiedz. Roll Call Vote:  
Trustee Guethle – yes, Trustee Lowery – yes, Trustee Niedzwiedz – yes, Trustee Salazar – yes, Trustee 
Carroll – yes. Motion approved (5-0). 
 
 
 
VILLAGE PRESIDENT – None 
 
 
TRUSTEES COMMENTS – None 
 
ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT – Administrator Bosco reminded everyone that North Aurora Days 
was taking place on Friday August 5th and Saturday August 6th with events throughout the community. 
 
ATTORNEY’S REPORT – None 
 
VILLAGE DEPARTMENT REPORTS 
1. Finance – None 
2. Community Development – None 
3. Police – Chief Joe DeLeo stated that Tuesday August 2nd was National Night Out with ten 

neighborhood parties scheduled throughout the community.  Chief DeLeo also stated that Officer 
Cook was anticipated to graduate from the academy in Champaign on August 10, 2022. 

4. Public Works – None 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Motion to adjourn was made by Trustee Carroll and seconded by Trustee Guethle. All in favor.  Motion 
approved. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Jessi Watkins 
Village Clerk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING MINUTES 

Monday, August 1, 2022 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Village Board meeting was conducted live remotely 

via telecommunications. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Gaffino called the meeting to order. 

ROLL CALL 

In attendance:  Mayor Mark Gaffino, Trustee Mark Carroll, Trustee Mark Guethle, Trustee Mike 
Lowery, Trustee Todd Niedzwiedz, Trustee Carolyn Salazar 

Staff in attendance:  Village Administrator Steve Bosco, Finance Director Jason Paprocki, Community 
& Economic Development Director Mike Toth, Village Attorney Kevin Drendel, Public Works Director 
John Laskowski, Police Chief Joe DeLeo.  

DISCUSSION 

1. Petition #22-04; Pharmacann Special Use 

COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR TOTH PRESENTATION- 

Director Toth stated that item number one on the agenda for the evening was Petition #22-04; 
Pharmacann Special Use to relocate their medical and recreational use cannabis dispensary to 2080 West 
Orchard Road.  Toth explained that medical cannabis dispensaries are classified as a permitted use in the 
B-2 General Business District, however adult use cannabis dispensaries (recreational cannabis sales) are 
classified as a special use in the B-2 District.  The new proposed location 2080 West Orchard Road is 
located in the Orchard Commons B-2 General Business District Planned Unit Development.  The building 
has already been approved although not yet constructed, the site use was the focus of the discussion.  The 
comprehensive plan calls for regional commercial for that site. 

Director Toth spoke about the Special Use process.  He stated that anyone can file for a special use 
application.  In any zone there are permitted uses, special uses and prohibited uses.  Special Uses need to 
be processed accordingly.  The Pharmacann Special Use application was submitted on June 6, 2022 then a 
Public Hearing was held and went before the Plan Commission on July 5, 2022.  Toth stated that there 
were many that spoke during the Public Hearing and those comments are reflected in the Plan 
Commission Meeting Minutes dated July 5, 2022.  Toth explained that a petition is then brought before 
the Village Board at a Committee Of the Whole meeting for discussion and then at a later date the petition 
goes before the Village Board for a vote.   

Director Toth explained that the Village has rules in place for cannabis dispensaries. The dispensary must 
adhere to State of Illinois guidelines and the Village will only allow two dispensaries within the Village.  



The dispensary must have a 1,000 foot buffer between the establishment and any schools, parks, 
recreational centers, daycares, public libraries and gaming arcades.  No consumption of cannabis is 
allowed on site.  If there are two dispensaries within North Aurora, they are required to be 1,500 feet 
apart.   

Director Toth displayed a map depicting the areas that the dispensary would and would not be allowed in 
accordance to the Village’s guidelines.   

Director Toth stated that at the Public Hearing there were multiple residents from the Tanner Trails 
subdivision that spoke in regard to the proximity of the subdivision to the proposed dispensary site.  Toth 
pointed out on the map that the closest home in the Tanner Trails subdivision was an approximate 1,400 
feet to the site and the apartment complex, The Springs, was approximately 660 feet in distance.   

Director Toth stated that within the Village there is a predetermined set of standards that serve as a 
guideline to follow in determining whether a Special Use is permissible.  At the Plan Commission 
meeting on July 5, 2022, seven of the nine commissioners were in attendance.  The Plan Commission 
voted and did not recommend approval of the Special Use.  The commissioners that voted not to approve, 
cited three standards that they felt the proposed Special Use did not fulfill: 

The proposed special use is deemed necessary for the public convenience at that location.   

The proposed special use will not significantly diminish the safety, sue, enjoyment, and value of other 
property in the neighborhood in which it is located. 

The proposed special use minimizes potentially dangerous traffic movements, and provides adequate and 
safe access to the site. 

Director Toth mentioned that a concern brought up at the Public Hearing on July 5th was whether or not 
there was crime in association with the existing Verilife facility.  Toth introduced North Aurora Police 
Chief Joe DeLeo to speak about the crime aspect. 

Chief DeLeo stated that between the first call to Verilife on September 13, 2019 and present day, there 
had been 48 calls for service, of the 48 there were 11 reports generated and one arrest.  DeLeo explained 
that further broken down, there were 14 calls for the Verilife alarm being activated, five calls were for 
vehicle lock outs, and seven were for parking/traffic control complaints.   

Trustee Guethle asked Chief DeLeo for clarification and asked how he would categorize the service calls 
to Verilife.  Chief DeLeo stated that the one arrest that was made was the result of an individual whom 
did not want to leave the premises, argued with an employee and took the employee’s iPad and fled.  The 
individual was arrested down the road at Speedway.   

Trustee Guethle asked if any arrests had been made due to illegal consumption of drugs or in any way 
related to Verilife’s products, DeLeo stated that there had not. 

 

PHARMACANN PRESENTATION- 

Katriina McGuire from Thompson Coburn, representing Pharmacann introduced the additional presenters 
on hand to present on behalf of Pharmacann.   



Jeremy Unruh spoke about the history of Pharmacann within the Village of North Aurora as well as the 
state of Illinois.  Unruh stated that the Verilife facility is one of only 55 medical marijuana dispensaries in 
Illinois and the only one in Kane County.  He also explained that Pharmacann is the largest privately 
owned cannabis company in the United States.  Unruh said that since 2015, the North Aurora Verilife 
dispensary has done more than a half of a million transactions and has generated 63 million dollars in 
sales, resulting in 1.5 million dollars in sales tax to North Aurora, 1.7 million dollars to Kane County, and 
eight million in general sales tax revenue.   

Currently the North Aurora Verilife location has 25 full time employees, they envision adding five more 
employees in the proposed location.  These are full time positions with benefits.   

Mr. Unruh spoke about the dispensary’s clientele, stating that in regard to the adult use consumers, 63% 
are over the age of 35, slightly more men than women.  Approximately half of the clientele have an 
income over $50,000 annually and a quarter of those people have an annual income over $100,000.  In 
regard to medical patients, nearly all are over the age of 30, with an occasional pediatric patient.  
Approximately 60% are over the age of 50, with about a 50/50 break down of men to women. 

Mr. Unruh then spoke about the company’s marketing and that it is targeted toward adults.   

Unruh then spoke about the current facility and its inability to suit the evolving needs of Verilife and their 
clientele. 

Unruh stated that the company had researched seventeen additional sites over the span of multiple years 
and due to restrictions they were left with this site location. 

Monte Spiers, Senior Transaction Manager with Pharmacann spoke about their real estate relocation 
process within North Aurora.  He explained that they began with 17 sites within the allowable zoning 
district of the Village, and the options narrowed to a couple of sites that would work for Pharmacann’s 
use.  He stated that the proposed location at 2080 West Orchard Road would allow for a 1,550 square foot 
retail space and 12 point of sale stations to better serve customers. There will also be 24 dedicated parking 
spaces.  He emphasized that the Verilife dispensary is a retail establishment and customer accessibility is 
important.   

Luay Aboona with KLOA spoke about the traffic study.  He stated that the location provides good access 
and can easily accommodate traffic from the proposed site.  Aboona said that the traffic expected to be 
generated by the facility would be an increase of 2 to 2.5% and the 24 parking spaces would be more than 
adequate.  He then spoke about how those estimates were reached.   

Brandon Nemec, Government and Regulatory Affairs Associate Director with Pharmacann spoke about 
the comprehensive security protocols and plans the dispensary currently has and will continue at the 
proposed location.  Nemec stated that protocols implemented originate from state law and regulations.  
He explained that the dispensary has four components, the first is the security personnel, internal staff that 
monitor the facility and perimeter.  They also contract with a third party security agency on site.  The 
second component is the comprehensive surveillance system.  The third component is the building itself 
and the access controls that are inherent therein.  This includes ID verifications, staff credential agent ID 
badge with a scan capability, product storage in regulated vaults and shatterproof windows.  The last 
component is the alarm monitoring system.   

Mr. Nemec spoke about and described the secured product deliveries. 



Amy Germain, the District Manager for Verilife, spoke about the sourcing of products and the staff of the 
Verilife North Aurora dispensary.  Ms. Germain also spoke about the general information regarding the 
facility, the facility’s hours, the fact that most purchase are made by preordering online and how the new 
proposed site and larger retail area could help facilitate a more expedient client experience.   

Katriina McGuire addressed the Village Board once again, speaking about the three specific special use 
standards that were in question.  She stated that medical cannabis dispensing was a permitted use, the 
item for discussion was the adult use aspect of the Verilife dispensary.  Ms. McGuire stated that 
according to the Illinois Supreme Court, the two questions that the Board should be asking themselves in 
the decision making process are whether or not this proposal will have a significant adverse impact above 
and beyond the impact of an ordinary cannabis dispensary in this specific location as well as whether the 
applicant has designed the operation of the proposed dispensary in such a way to address any adverse 
impacts.   

Ms. McGuire spoke about the first of the three standards that the Plan Commission had questioned in 
regard to the proposed special use, “the proposed special use is deemed necessary for the public 
convenience at that location”, she stated that the courts have interpreted that to not mean “absolutely 
necessary”, rather whether or not it is something that would be expedient or reasonably convenient to the 
public welfare.  

McGuire then spoke about the standard “the proposed special use will not significantly diminish the 
safety, use, enjoyment, and value of other property in the neighborhood in which it is located.”  She stated 
that what should be taken in to consideration here are things such as noise, hours of operation, traffic, 
security and safety.  She stated that the operator in question is experienced and will stay consistent with 
state law as they have been operating within the Village of North Aurora for seven years.   

The final standard that Ms. McGuire spoke about was “the proposed special use minimized potentially 
dangerous traffic movements, and provides adequate and safe access to the site”.  She referred back to 
Luay Aboona’s traffic study that reflected that there would be no adverse impact on traffic.  

Jeremy Unruh wrapped up the Pharmacann presentation by visually taking the Board through the current 
Verilife facility via photographs.  He showed comparisons of the facility when they began sales of 
medical cannabis to the current state of the dispensary.   

 

AUDIENCE COMMENTS – Mayor Gaffino opened the floor to public comment. 

Albert Druzgala, 2888 McDuffee Circle, North Aurora stated that he has been a patron of the Verilife 
facility for seven years.  He explained that the current facility at 161 S. Lincolnway was difficult to access 
for medical patients with mobility issues.  He also expressed that more space for patients to sit and wait 
for their turn would be beneficial as well as more point of sale space to make the process more expedient.  
He stated that he lives in the neighboring subdivision and doesn’t have a concern about decreasing home 
values, and the tax revenue of the dispensary’s sales is a benefit. 

William Passalaqua, 3S875 Deer Oak Road, North Aurora expressed his concern of the close proximity of 
the proposed site to his home.  His concerns focused on the recreational sale of marijuana at the proposed 
location.   

Parker Grabowski, 2S401 Creekside Court, Elburn spoke about his experience coming before the Village 
Board to open his businesses, Hardware and The Turf Room.  He stated that he believed that Pharmacann 



has been a good partner to the Village and that the Verilife facility will be a good neighbor.  Grabowski 
stated that he owns a lot of land surrounding the proposed location and is in favor of having the Verilife 
facility there.  He said that Verilife already has a positive history with the Village and feels that the 
Village should continue to support them in their request to move. 

Tim Worth, 800 Bennett Drive, North Aurora stated that he lives in close proximity to the proposed 
Verilife location.  Bennett referred to the Pharmacann presentation and expressed concern that he did not 
see any positive benefits for the community.  He stated that although Pharmacann intends on adding five 
new jobs, he had concerns regarding recreational marijuana use and the effects it potentially has on young 
people and possible addiction.  He thought that the current Verilife location was appropriate because it 
was located across the street from the Village of North Aurora Police Station.  He stated that the thought 
moving the Verilife facility to the new proposed location would be putting the community and children at 
risk. 

Harold Thielman, 3S976 Deer Oaks Road, North Aurora stated that he lives in close proximity to the 
proposed Verilife location and doesn’t want it in his backyard.  He agreed with Mr. Worth that the 
appropriate location for Verilife would be their current location.  Thielman was concerned about the 
exposure to children in the area as well as the traffic the proposed facility would bring to the area.  Mr. 
Thielman suggested that Pharmacann explore an alternative option for the facility further south on 
Orchard Road.   

Chris Ilekis of Vequity, the developer of the project located at 2080 West Orchard Road, stated that the 
PUD was modified two years ago to expand the initial two parcels into four, currently two buildings were 
under construction and the site work was done for the remainder of the project.  He expressed support for 
the Verilife facility and stated that without a lease in place, it would be difficult to complete the project. 

Brianna Drexler, the General Manager of the current Verilife facility at 161 S. Lincolnway stated that she 
experienced more incidents in which police were called, while she worked in retail establishments more 
so than working for Verilife.  She also expressed that in her discussions with Verilife clientele, she has 
found that many of them are medicating for some ailment.  Drexler felt that perhaps an estimated 20% of 
clients were purchasing with recreational intentions. 

Paige French, 694 Carlisle Court, Sugar Grove stated that she suffers from PTSD and that the access to 
medical cannabis has helped to keep her on track and with PTSD symptoms. 

Joe Lenza, 523 Houston, Batavia stated that he works at the current Verilife facility.  He believes that the 
new proposed location would allow employees to serve their clientele better. 

Mayor Gaffino closed public comments. 

TRUSTEE COMMENTS -  

Trustee Lowery explained that he was a retired psychologist and has worked with substance abuse groups, 
he stated that he has never treated someone with substance abuse issues related to marijuana, and that 
there are many more problematic substances.  Lowery stated that he arrived at the meeting with an open 
mind and willing to listen to all perspectives.  He concluded that based on the audience comments, most 
residents’ opposition to the proposed dispensary location were based on speculative fear and concerns 
about what marijuana may do to their children.  He also stated that he was not concerned about traffic 
issues.  Lowery said that his concern lied with the standard “the proposed special use is deemed necessary 
for the public convenience at that location”, however is no longer concerned after hearing the argument 
that it doesn’t have to be absolutely necessary for the public but it will be a tremendous convenience for 



so many.  He empathized with the residents that were concerned about their children and the potential 
exposure that having the dispensary located near their homes may cause, but cited the dispensary’s 
stringent regulation and security as safeguards against such exposure.  Lowery expressed that as of that 
time, he was in favor of the new location. 

Trustee Guethle stated that the half of a million dollars a year that the dispensary has raised in tax revenue 
for the Village was beneficial and supports infrastructure projects that benefit residents, this revenue 
could not easily be made up by replacing with other businesses.   

Attorney Drendel added that in regard to the standards for special use, there is no one controlling 
standard, it is more of a balance between them all.   

Trustee Niedzwiedz asked if there was a required buffer between residents and a dispensary.  Director 
Toth stated that there was not.  Niedzwiedz then asked the Pharmacann representatives about the 
seventeen additional sites they had looked at relocating to and why they had not chosen one of those.  Mr. 
Unruh explained that often times within a retail development, an anchor store will have within their 
agreements a restrictive covenant that does not allow for cannabis businesses or no unlawful businesses.  
Unruh went on to explain further challenges in finding suitable locations, that fall within zoning 
restrictions, whose covenants allow for a dispensary.  Monte Spiers gave the specific example of the 
North Aurora Towne Center who has stores that within their leases, would not allow for the dispensary to 
be located within the Towne Center.  Speirs stated that was a common issue in finding a location.  He said 
the only other viable location within North Aurora was at 255 Genesis Way, however the location did not 
provide a suitable accessibility for the dispensary’s needs. 

Trustee Salazar stated that she had taken a tour of the facility, and was impressed with the level of 
security that was in place.  Salazar compared the dispensary to a liquor store and suggested that there 
were more security practices in place at the dispensary than at a liquor store, stating that someone under 
the age of 21 can walk in to a liquor store, while someone under 21 could not make it past the front door 
ID check of the dispensary.  She said that she believes that the dispensary serves a need in the community 
for people using for pain management.  She stated that she thinks that Pharmacann has been a good 
partner to the Village thus far and was in favor of granting the special use. 

Trustee Carroll stated that he was opposed to granting the special use.  Carroll said that when he became a 
Trustee he agreed to uphold the Constitution of the United States and marijuana is an illegal drug and 
permitting the special use would be aiding and abetting the sales of an illegal substance.  Carroll spoke 
about the income generated for Verilife by the sales of an illegal drug, he stated that allowing the special 
use to Pharmacann would be a violation of the Constitution of the United States of America and the 
Supremacy Clause. 

Trustee Lowery, in response to Trustee Carroll stated that in the state of Illinois, cannabis is a legal drug 
and it was not made illegal in the Constitution.  Lowery then spoke about the history of the legality of 
marijuana and the use and abuse of alcohol.   

Trustee Carroll clarified his statement and said that in order to adhere to the Constitution, it needed to be 
recognized that federal law supersedes state law. 

Trustee Guethle explained that the original idea behind allowing cannabis sales in North Aurora was to 
maintain some kind of control over the sales, and if Pharmacann decided to move to another municipality, 
North Aurora would lose that control.  Guethle stated that he would prefer to see Pharmacann stay in 
North Aurora where the Village can maintain some control and take advantage of the tax revenue to 
benefit the Village and infrastructure projects. 



Mayor Gaffino stated that he has been a resident of North Aurora for 60 years and currently live in the 
Tanner Trails subdivision.  He explained that he does not think that the dispensary would be a hindrance 
at the proposed location.  Gaffino referred to a safety concern mentioned at the Plan Commission meeting 
about children riding their bikes in the area around the proposed dispensary, he said that he had more 
concern about neighborhood children encountering an alcohol intoxicated driver in the area.  Gaffino also 
stated that he did not believe traffic would be an issue, that the area was designed for traffic, including 
double turn lanes.  Mayor Gaffino said that although not all decisions are based on money, it is expensive 
to maintain the Village and the dispensary is a good source of tax revenue.  He stated that he would be 
comfortable with the dispensary in the proposed location. 

Trustee Lowery, referring to Trustee Guethle’s previous comment about the ability to have some control 
over the sale of marijuana in the Village, stated that it was those same restricting factors that the Village 
has implemented that have led to the current proposed site selection.  Lowery empathized with those that 
have expressed concern about the dispensary but stated that he believed that those concerns will not be 
realized. 

Trustee Salazar stated that while this proposed special use does not meet all of the standards, it meets 
most of them and does keep with the commercial corridor.  She also felt as though Pharmacann had 
addressed that concerns presented. 

Trustee Carroll reiterated that marijuana was an illegal substance under federal law and anything else was 
irrelevant. 

Mayor Gaffino allowed a question from a resident.  Harold Thielman asked Chief DeLeo is there had 
been any marijuana related arrests.  Chief DeLeo responded no. 

       

2. Pedestrian Signal at Randall Road & Dogwood-Ritter 

Administrator Bosco explained that several residents have expressed a safety concern for crossing 
Randall Road at Dogwood/Ritter.  Bosco stated that since the project was unique in that it was not in 
conjunction with any road project and the estimates to complete the project were a substantial amount, the 
project has been brought before the Board for discussion.   

Public Works Director John Laskowski stated that the closest pedestrian crossing from the 
Randall/Dogwood-Ritter intersection is located at Oak Street and Randall Road which is approximately a 
half of a mile away.  The scope of the project would include pedestrian pedestals, walk/don’t walk signal 
and countdown on the traffic light, striping the intersection, removing and replacing some sidewalks for 
ADA accessibility, and possibly updating electric components in the light which would involve working 
with Kane County.  Laskowski said that the total estimated cost of the project, including engineering, 
would be $105,941.  If the Village hired a construction engineer prior to the construction of the project, 
the Village could potentially save $24,000 in construction supervision costs. 

Trustee Salazar asked how often the crosswalk would be expected to be used, what was the demand.  
Laskowski stated that the number is unknown but could become an integral component in the pedestrian 
network in the Village.  

Trustee Lowery stated that he had witnessed children at that intersection dashing across the street and he 
suggested that the safety of pedestrians outweighed the cost of the project.   



Trustee Guethle said that he witnesses many people attempting to cross at that intersection. 

Mayor Gaffino stated that the intersection is dangerous for pedestrians. 

Administrator Bosco explained that Randall Road is wide and takes longer for pedestrians to cross, while 
traffic moves quickly on Randall.    

Trustee Carroll stated he was in favor for the crosswalk and agreed with Trustee Lowery that safety 
outweighs the cost. 

Administrator Bosco stated that it might be worthwhile to have staff identify additional similar situations 
with the Village. 

Mayor Gaffino stated that it is important to keep the safety of pedestrians and accessibility in mind. 

Trustee Niedzwiedz was in favor of the crosswalk. 

Administrator Bosco stated that the hiring of a construction engineer would bring down the cost and he is 
hopeful that one will be hired soon. 

3. Village Logo Use Policy 

Administrator Bosco stated that the North Aurora Boy Scout troop was interested in using the Village’s 
logo on apparel.  He said that no one had ever requested to use the Village’s logo prior to this, therefore 
staff contacted Village Attorney Kevin Drendel who suggested a policy needed to be established. 

Bosco explained that the policy would set parameters for the use of the Village’s logo and the Village 
Board would approve the use on an individual basis.   

Bosco stated that the policy was written as extending the opportunity to use the logo to “not-for-profits” 
but should perhaps be changed to the less limiting “community groups”.   

Dave Weakman, 415 Bennett Drive, North Aurora was on hand to represent the Boy Scout troop 
requesting permission to use the Village logo.  He explained that the logo would be used in apparel as 
well as a decal on the troop’s trailer.  It would not be used to fundraise. 

There was further discussion on what a not-for-profit was.  Attorney Drendel clarified and stated that a 
non-profit is a business that is incorporated under the Illinois Non-Profit Corporation Act, they are not a 
business corporation, they are a non-profit.  He explained that the non-profit status does not mean that the 
group does not generate income that they pay taxes on, it means that there are no profit that inure to the 
benefit of private individuals.  

Trustee Salazar asked for clarification on whether or not the ability to grant permission to use the logo 
would lie with the Village Board.  Administrator Bosco stated that yes, with the policy guidelines, by 
resolution.  The logo must be presented to the Board in the way it would be utilized, along with a 
description of the intent.  The logo could not be used for political purposes, or as an endorsement of the 
Village.  The privilege to use the logo can also be revoked.     

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION – None 



 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Motion to adjourn made by Trustee Lowery and seconded by Trustee Niedzweidz.  All in favor.  Motion 
approved.   

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

Jessi Watkins 

Village Clerk 

 

 

 



To Be Paid Proof List

08/11/2022 - 12:09PM

ablaser

Printed:

User:

Accounts Payable

Batch: 00505.08.2022

Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

Aflac

030540

 80.48AFLAC- July 2022 01-000-2053 AFLAC 309973 7/26/2022 08/15/2022

 80.48 *Vendor TotalTotal:

AIM

046510

 147.00Flex125- July 2022 01-430-4267 Finance Services 00036202 8/1/2022 08/15/2022

 147.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Alarm Detection Systems of IL

000060

 798.00Alarm Monitoring- TPs 60-445-4652 Phones and Connectivity 183240-1024 7/10/2022 08/15/2022

 798.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Altorfer Industries, Inc.

467830

 811.00Generator Inspecction- PD 01-445-4520 Public Buildings Rpr & Mtce PM6A00090775/31/2022 08/15/2022

 811.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

American Water Works Assn.

007050

 238.00Membership Dues- Young 60-445-4390 Dues & Meetings 7002033758 6/28/2022 08/15/2022

 238.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Anderson Pest Solutions

019770

 91.95Pest Control- TPs/ August 2022 60-445-4567 Treatment Plant Repair/Maint 25872559 8/7/2022 08/15/2022

 162.25Barrier Treatment- TPs/ August 2022 60-445-4567 Treatment Plant Repair/Maint 25872561 8/7/2022 08/15/2022

 43.30Pest Control- Well #5/ August 2022 60-445-4565 Water Well Rpr & Mtce 25873859 8/7/2022 08/15/2022

 297.50 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Aurora Area Convention

003770

 2,919.90NA Lodging Tax/ June 2022 15-430-4752 90% Tourism Council 08022022 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 2,919.90 *Vendor TotalTotal:

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 1

http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=030540
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=030540
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057072
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=046510
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=046510
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057241
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=000060
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=000060
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057104
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467830
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467830
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059907
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=007050
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=007050
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057133
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=019770
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=019770
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057100
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057099
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057103
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=003770
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=003770
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056332


Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

BDK Door Company

030150

 2,859.12New Garage Door Opener Install- ETP 60-445-4567 Treatment Plant Repair/Maint 805061932 7/15/2022 08/15/2022

 2,859.12 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Brown & Brown Of Illinois, Inc.

000520

 30.00Notary- Jensen 01-440-4799 Misc. 9437562 7/28/2022 08/15/2022

 30.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

C. O. P. S. Testing Service

010080

 450.00Pre-Employement Testing- Ramirez 01-439-4380 Recruit Testing 107407 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 450.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Camic Johnson, LTD.

03989

 350.00Adjudication Hearings 01-440-4260 Legal 139 7/28/2022 08/15/2022

 350.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Carus Corporation

033300

 697.84WTP HMO Chems 60-445-4437 Chlorine SLS 101020897/26/2022 08/15/2022

 1,566.12ETP HMO Chems 60-445-4437 Chlorine SLS 101020937/26/2022 08/15/2022

 2,263.96 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Commonwealth Edison

000330

 43.78East Tower Electric 60-445-4662 Utility 1313136025 7/11/2022 08/15/2022

 43.78 *Vendor TotalTotal:

DACRA Adjudication Systems

467842

 1,850.00Adjudication- July 2022 01-440-4510 Equipment/IT Maint DT-2022-07-177/31/2022 08/15/2022

 1,850.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Donald E Morris Architect, PC

468287

 1,760.00Plan Review- June 2022 01-441-4276 Inspection Services 06302022 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 1,210.95Plan Review- July 2022 01-441-4276 Inspection Services 07312022 7/31/2022 08/15/2022

 2,970.95 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Drendel & Jansons Law Group

028580

 3,490.32Legal Srvcs- Gen, Fin, Admin/ June 2022 01-430-4260 Legal 2001 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 884.92Legal Srvcs- PD/ June 2022 01-440-4260 Legal 2006 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 2

http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=030150
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=030150
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057138
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=000520
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=000520
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057076
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=010080
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=010080
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059667
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=03989
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=03989
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057070
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=033300
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=033300
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056835
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056834
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=000330
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=000330
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057112
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467842
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467842
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059220
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468287
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468287
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033060697
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033060698
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=028580
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=028580
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056323
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059217


Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

 87.50Legal Srvcs- Liquor/ June 2022 01-430-4260 Legal 2021 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 2,069.91Legal Srvcs- Aurora Pack/ June 2022 90-000-E248 Aurora Packing Company 2026-01 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 123.33Legal Srvcs- VG/ June 2022 90-000-E250 Opus - Valley Green Project 2026-02 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 262.50Legal Srvcs- Park 88/ June 2022 90-000-E273 Phelan Development - Park 88 2026-03 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 576.58Legal Srvcs- CommDev/ June 2022 01-441-4260 Legal 2026-04 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 671.67Legal Srvcs- Water/ June 2022 90-000-E248 Aurora Packing Company 2173 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 175.00Legal Srvcs- Zepelak/ June 2022 90-000-E270 Seasons at North Aurora 2174 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 8,341.73 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Dynegy Energy Services

048750

 4,988.51Well #9 6/17 - 7/18 60-445-4662 Utility 146531122071-017/22/2022 08/15/2022

 4,328.92Well #7 6/9 - 7/10 60-445-4662 Utility 146531122071-027/22/2022 08/15/2022

 4,991.65Well #4/ WTP 6/8 - 7/7 60-445-4662 Utility 146531122071-037/22/2022 08/15/2022

 5,682.12Well #5/ ETP 6/9 - 7/10 60-445-4662 Utility 146531122071-047/22/2022 08/15/2022

 4,632.74Well #8 6/7 - 7/6 60-445-4662 Utility 146531122071-057/22/2022 08/15/2022

 3,118.63Well #6 6/6 - 7/5 60-445-4662 Utility 146531122071-067/22/2022 08/15/2022

 27,742.57 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Engineering Enterprises, Inc.

467917

 9,037.25Ochard Gateway- Phase 1 21-450-4255 Engineering 74697 7/27/2022 08/15/2022

 43,539.502022 Road Program- Phase 3 21-450-4255 Engineering 74698 7/27/2022 08/15/2022

 52,576.75 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Foxarneson Inc

468329

 425.44Building Permit Overpayment Refund 01-310-3130 Building Permits 07292022 7/29/2022 08/15/2022

 425.44 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Frank Marshall Electric

028510

 426.82Electric Work- WTP SCADA Cabinet 60-445-4567 Treatment Plant Repair/Maint 91279 7/26/2022 08/15/2022

 426.82 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Geneva Construction Co.

000530

 36,502.372021 Street Improvements 10-445-4875 Capital Improvements 60084 7/1/2022 08/15/2022

 36,502.37 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Groot, Inc.

468131

 8,420.00Waste Stickers (2000) 01-000-2217 Waste Stickers Escrow 9135949T106 8/1/2022 08/15/2022

 8,420.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Hach Company

014100

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 3

http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056324
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056862
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056863
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056864
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056865
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057124
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056958
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=048750
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=048750
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056261
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056262
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056263
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056264
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056265
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056266
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467917
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467917
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033060660
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033060662
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468329
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468329
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033058125
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=028510
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=028510
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057118
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=000530
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=000530
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056396
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468131
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468131
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056379
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=014100
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=014100


Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

 148.43Water Analyzing Equipment 60-445-4562 Testing (water) 13169179 7/29/2022 08/15/2022

 148.43 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Hey and Associates, Inc.

040900

 3,175.00Vegitation Management- Town Center 17-032-4533 Maintenance 17-0006-150697/12/2022 08/15/2022

 3,175.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Hills Yum Yum Shop

468331

 350.00NA Days Sponsorship Refund 15-430-4751 North Aurora Days Expenses 07292022 7/29/2022 08/15/2022

 350.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Homer Tree Care, Inc.

467615

 6,000.00Tree Removal (6) 01-445-4532 Tree Service 49594 7/30/2022 08/15/2022

 6,000.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Illinois State Police Bureau of

041810

 28.25Liquor License 01-440-4799 Misc. COST CTR 035576/1/2022 08/15/2022

 28.25 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Intergovernmental Personnel Benefit Cooperative

467637

 38,137.74Health Insurance- PD/ July 2022 01-440-4130 Health Insurance 08022022-01 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 5,899.21Health Insurance- Admin/ July 2022 01-430-4130 Health Insurance 08022022-02 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 3,655.30Health Insurance- PSEBA/ July 2022 01-430-4132 PSEBA Health Insurance 08022022-03 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 2,687.90Health Insurance- CommDev/ July 2022 01-441-4130 Health Insurance 08022022-04 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 13,414.21Health Insurance- PW/ July 2022 01-445-4130 Health Insurance 08022022-05 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 8,213.29Health Insurance- Water/ July 2022 60-445-4130 Health Insurance 08022022-06 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 1,957.99Health Insurance- Retirees/ July 2022 01-000-2055 Payroll Deductions 08022022-07 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 3,328.90Health Insurance- PD Pension/ July 2022 01-000-2055 Payroll Deductions 08022022-08 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 103.80Life Insurance- PD/ July 2022 01-440-4135 Life Insurance 08022022-09 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 37.44Life Insurance- PW/ July 2022 01-445-4135 Life Insurance 08022022-10 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 17.28Life Insurance- Admin/ July 2022 01-430-4135 Life Insurance 08022022-11 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 14.40Life Insurance- CommDev/ July 2022 01-441-4135 Life Insurance 08022022-12 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 17.28Life Insurance- Water/ July 2022 60-445-4135 Life Insurance 08022022-13 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 712.00Vision/ July 2022 01-000-2056 VSP - Employee Contributions 08022022-14 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 389.57Voluntary Life/ July 2022 01-000-2052 Voluntary Life Insurance 08022022-15 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 194.97Dental Insurance- Admin/ July 2022 01-430-4136 Dental Insurance 08022022-16 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 69.78Dental Insurance- CommDev/ July 2022 01-441-4136 Dental Insurance 08022022-17 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 943.89Dental Insurance- PD/ July 2022 01-440-4136 Dental Insurance 08022022-18 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 376.02Dental Insurance- PW/ July 2022 01-445-4136 Dental Insurance 08022022-19 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 170.61Dental Insurance- Water/ July 2022 60-445-4136 Dental Insurance 08022022-20 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 1,985.93Dental Insurance- Employee/ July 2022 01-000-2054 Insurance Employee Reimburse 08022022-21 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 36,557.07Health Insurance- PD/ August 2022 01-440-4130 Health Insurance 08042022-01 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 5,899.21Health Insurance- Admin/ August 2022 01-430-4130 Health Insurance 08042022-02 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 3,655.30Health Insurance- PSEBA/ August 2022 01-430-4132 PSEBA Health Insurance 08042022-03 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 2,687.90Health Insurance- CommDev/ August 2022 01-441-4130 Health Insurance 08042022-04 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 13,414.21Health Insurance- PW/ August 2022 01-445-4130 Health Insurance 08042022-05 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 4

http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057123
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=040900
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=040900
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057018
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468331
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468331
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033058084
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467615
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467615
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056856
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=041810
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=041810
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057483
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467637
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467637
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056664
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056665
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056666
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056667
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056668
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056669
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056670
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056671
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056672
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056673
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056674
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056675
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056676
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056677
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056678
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056679
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056680
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056681
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056682
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056683
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056684
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056685
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056686
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056687
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056797
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056798


Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

 8,213.29Health Insurance- Water/ August 2022 60-445-4130 Health Insurance 08042022-06 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 1,957.99Health Insurance- Retirees/ August 2022 01-000-2055 Payroll Deductions 08042022-07 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 3,328.90Health Insurance- PD Pension/ August 2022 01-000-2055 Payroll Deductions 08042022-08 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 100.80Life Insurance- PD/ August 2022 01-440-4135 Life Insurance 08042022-09 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 37.44Life Insurance- PW/ August 2022 01-445-4135 Life Insurance 08042022-10 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 17.28Life Insurance- Admin/ August 2022 01-430-4135 Life Insurance 08042022-11 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 14.40Life Insurance- CommDev/ August 2022 01-441-4135 Life Insurance 08042022-12 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 17.28Life Insurance- Water/ August 2022 60-445-4135 Life Insurance 08042022-13 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 694.85Vision/ August 2022 01-000-2056 VSP - Employee Contributions 08042022-14 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 389.57Voluntary Life/ August 2022 01-000-2052 Voluntary Life Insurance 08042022-15 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 194.97Dental Insurance- Admin/ August 2022 01-430-4136 Dental Insurance 08042022-16 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 69.78Dental Insurance- CommDev/ August 2022 01-441-4136 Dental Insurance 08042022-17 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 909.09Dental Insurance- PD/ August 2022 01-440-4136 Dental Insurance 08042022-18 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 376.02Dental Insurance- PW/ August 2022 01-440-4136 Dental Insurance 08042022-19 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 170.61Dental Insurance- Water/ August 2022 60-445-4136 Dental Insurance 08042022-20 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 1,951.11Dental Insurance- Employee/ August 2022 01-000-2054 Insurance Employee Reimburse 08042022-21 8/4/2022 08/15/2022

 162,984.58 *Vendor TotalTotal:

James Navitt

468330

 98.78Mailbox Reimb- 604 Doral 01-445-4799 Misc. Expenditures 08032022 8/3/2022 08/15/2022

 98.78 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Kane County Chiefs of

001920

 50.00Annual Dues- Buzieki 01-440-4390 Dues & Meetings 1424 12/1/2021 08/15/2022

 50.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

KB Collision & Customs

046310

 3,634.54Ins Repair For Squad Damage 14-430-4774 Insurance Claims 207 6/16/2022 08/15/2022

 3,634.54 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Kendall County Clerk

467821

 10.00Notary - Majerus 01-440-4799 Misc. 07082022 7/8/2022 08/15/2022

 10.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Konica Minolta

024860

 71.15Copier Maint PD 6/1 - 6/30 01-440-4510 Equipment/IT Maint 281044963 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 71.15Copier Maint PD 6/1 - 6/30 01-440-4510 Equipment/IT Maint 281045342 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 134.82Copier Maint PD 6/1 - 6/30 01-440-4510 Equipment/IT Maint 281045415 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 46.57Copier Maint PD 6/1 - 6/30 01-440-4510 Equipment/IT Maint 281045694 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 87.09Copier Maint PD 6/1 - 6/30 01-440-4510 Equipment/IT Maint 281050085 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 34.12Copier Maint PD 6/1 - 6/30 01-440-4510 Equipment/IT Maint 281053119 6/30/2022 08/15/2022

 40.61Copier Maint VH 7/21 - 8/20 01-430-4411 Office Expenses 9008739340-018/19/2022 08/15/2022

 40.61Copier Maint VH 7/21 - 8/20 01-445-4411 Office Expenses 9008739340-028/19/2022 08/15/2022

 40.61Copier Maint VH 7/21 - 8/20 60-445-4411 Office Expenses 9008739340-038/19/2022 08/15/2022

 40.61Copier Maint VH 7/21 - 8/20 01-441-4411 Office Expenses 9008739340-048/19/2022 08/15/2022

 9.08AP Printer Maint 7/21 - 8/20 01-430-4411 Office Expenses 9008741932 8/20/2022 08/15/2022

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 5

http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056799
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056800
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056801
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056802
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056803
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056804
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056805
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056806
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056807
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056808
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056809
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056810
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056811
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056812
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056813
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056814
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468330
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468330
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033058097
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=001920
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=001920
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033058130
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=046310
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=046310
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056831
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467821
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467821
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059152
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=024860
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=024860
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057435
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057434
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057438
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057437
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057436
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057433
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056095
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057397
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057398
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057399
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056094


Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

 616.42 *Vendor TotalTotal:

LAI, LLC.

042910

 2,049.92Pump Hoses, Lube- TPs 60-445-4567 Treatment Plant Repair/Maint 22-19393 6/16/2022 08/15/2022

 2,049.92 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Law Enforcement Training, Inc., ATTN:  Dale Anderson

034970

 1,800.00Training 01-440-4380 Training INV-0492 8/1/2022 08/15/2022

 1,800.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

McNeeley Permit Consulting, LLP

468328

 277.00Buiding Permit Overpayment Refund 01-310-3130 Building Permits 07292022 7/29/2022 08/15/2022

 277.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Menards

016070

 125.23Air Filters, Misc Supplies 60-445-4565 Water Well Rpr & Mtce 88686 7/21/2022 08/15/2022

 125.23 *Vendor TotalTotal:

METRONET

467874

 831.82Phone, Internet 7/24 - 8/23 01-430-4652 Phones and Connectivity 07242022-01 7/24/2022 08/15/2022

 672.02Phone, Internet 7/24 - 8/23 01-445-4652 Phones and Connectivity 07242022-02 7/24/2022 08/15/2022

 738.43Phone, Internet 7/24 - 8/23 60-445-4652 Phones and Connectivity 07242022-03 7/24/2022 08/15/2022

 627.82Phone, Internet 7/24 - 8/23 01-441-4652 Phones and Connectivity 07242022-04 7/24/2022 08/15/2022

 1,779.48Phone, Internet 7/24 - 8/23 01-440-4652 Phones and Connectivity 07242022-05 7/24/2022 08/15/2022

 4,649.57 *Vendor TotalTotal:

North Aurora NAPA, Inc.

038730

 101.17Squad Parts 01-440-4511 Vehicle Repair and Maint 410529 5/10/2022 08/15/2022

 101.17 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Office Depot

039370

-4.10Over Pay Credit- Inv 221229464001 01-430-4411 Office Expenses 221229464001-018/10/2022 08/15/2022

-4.10Over Pay Credit- Inv 221229464001 01-445-4411 Office Expenses 221229464001-028/10/2022 08/15/2022

-4.10Over Pay Credit- Inv 221229464001 60-445-4411 Office Expenses 221229464001-038/10/2022 08/15/2022

-4.09Over Pay Credit- Inv 221229464001 01-441-4411 Office Expenses 221229464001-048/10/2022 08/15/2022

-2.50Over Pay Credit- Inv 233822366001 01-430-4411 Office Expenses 233822366001-018/10/2022 08/15/2022

-2.50Over Pay Credit- Inv 233822366001 01-445-4411 Office Expenses 233822366001-028/10/2022 08/15/2022

-2.50Over Pay Credit- Inv 233822366001 60-445-4411 Office Expenses 233822366001-038/10/2022 08/15/2022

-2.50Over Pay Credit- Inv 233822366001 01-441-4411 Office Expenses 233822366001-048/10/2022 08/15/2022

 13.99Office Supplies 01-430-4411 Office Expenses 243431239001-015/24/2022 08/15/2022

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 6

http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=042910
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=042910
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056853
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=034970
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=034970
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056846
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468328
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=468328
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033058129
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=016070
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=016070
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057113
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467874
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=467874
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059597
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059598
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059599
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059600
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059601
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=038730
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=038730
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059212
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=039370
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=039370
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059377
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059378
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059379
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059380
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059381
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059382
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059383
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059384
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059373


Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

 19.18Office Supplies 01-445-4411 Office Expenses 243431239001-025/24/2022 08/15/2022

 14.00Office Supplies 60-445-4411 Office Expenses 243431239001-035/24/2022 08/15/2022

 14.00Office Supplies 01-441-4411 Office Expenses 243431239001-045/24/2022 08/15/2022

 39.99File Cabinet Delivery Fee Short Pay 01-445-4870 Equipment 246525555001-025/24/2022 08/15/2022

 7.22Office Supplies 01-430-4411 Office Expenses 256173719001-017/18/2022 08/15/2022

 7.22Office Supplies 01-445-4411 Office Expenses 256173719001-027/18/2022 08/15/2022

 7.22Office Supplies 60-445-4411 Office Expenses 256173719001-037/18/2022 08/15/2022

 7.22Office Supplies 01-441-4411 Office Expenses 256173719001-047/18/2022 08/15/2022

 7.76Office Supplies 01-430-4411 Office Expenses 256199397001-017/18/2022 08/15/2022

 7.76Office Supplies 01-445-4411 Office Expenses 256199397001-027/18/2022 08/15/2022

 7.76Office Supplies 60-445-4411 Office Expenses 256199397001-037/18/2022 08/15/2022

 7.76Office Supplies 01-441-4411 Office Expenses 256199397001-047/18/2022 08/15/2022

 8.20NA Days Supplies 15-430-4751 North Aurora Days Expenses 256902334001-017/27/2022 08/15/2022

 27.86Office Supplies 01-430-4411 Office Expenses 256902334001-027/27/2022 08/15/2022

 27.86Office Supplies 01-445-4411 Office Expenses 256902334001-037/27/2022 08/15/2022

 27.87Office Supplies 60-445-4411 Office Expenses 256902334001-047/27/2022 08/15/2022

 27.87Office Supplies 01-441-4411 Office Expenses 256902334001-057/27/2022 08/15/2022

 59.40Office Supplies 01-445-4411 Office Expenses 2578537000017/25/2022 08/15/2022

 313.75 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Pace Analytical Services, LLC

031940

 290.00Lab Project Management Fee 60-445-4562 Testing (water) I9521554 7/29/2022 08/15/2022

 290.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Pitney Bowes Inc.

017470

 452.13Postage Machine 10/22/22 - 1/21/23 01-440-4505 Postage 3105612074 7/25/2022 08/15/2022

 452.13 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Secretary of State

002690

 10.00Notary- Jensen 01-440-4799 Misc. 08082022 8/8/2022 08/15/2022

 10.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Sign-A-Rama

029780

 1,374.51NA Days Signage (3) 15-430-4751 North Aurora Days Expenses INV-18795 7/26/2022 08/15/2022

 220.86NA Days Signage (3) 15-430-4751 North Aurora Days Expenses INV-18813 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 1,595.37 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Struck & Irwin Paving, Inc.

050230

 1,138.16Hydrant Meter Deposit Less Usage 60-000-2215 Hydrant Meter Deposits 08022022 8/2/2022 08/15/2022

 1,138.16 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Third Millennium Assoc. , Inc.

033470

 485.44Late Final Bills- July 2022 60-445-4507 Printing 28007 7/28/2022 08/15/2022

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 7

http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059374
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059375
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059376
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059250
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059884
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059885
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059886
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059887
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059897
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059898
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059899
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059900
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059672
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059673
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059674
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059675
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059676
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059901
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=031940
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=031940
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057119
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=017470
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=017470
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059216
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=002690
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=002690
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059223
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=029780
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=029780
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057175
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057136
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=050230
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=050230
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056492
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=033470
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=033470
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033056297


Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

 485.44 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Thom Jungels

039460

 2,100.00Inspections (42)- July 2022 01-441-4276 Inspection Services 07292022 7/29/2022 08/15/2022

 2,100.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

USA Blue Book

035680

 957.86Water Testing Chems 60-445-4562 Testing (water) 039731-01 7/11/2022 08/15/2022

 410.00Hyd Sampling Equip 60-445-4563 Fire Hydrant Repair/maint 039731-02 7/11/2022 08/15/2022

 31.80Water Testing Chems 60-445-4562 Testing (water) 045986 7/15/2022 08/15/2022

 1,399.66 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Verizon Wireless

025430

 36.01Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-430-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065557-017/12/2022 08/15/2022

 110.32Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-445-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065557-027/12/2022 08/15/2022

 46.84Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-440-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065557-037/12/2022 08/15/2022

 69.16Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-430-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065558-017/12/2022 08/15/2022

 245.69Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-445-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065558-027/12/2022 08/15/2022

 96.52Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 60-445-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065558-037/12/2022 08/15/2022

 79.46Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-441-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065558-047/12/2022 08/15/2022

 249.65Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-440-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065558-057/12/2022 08/15/2022

 81.17Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-430-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065559-017/12/2022 08/15/2022

 183.47Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-445-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065559-027/12/2022 08/15/2022

 149.79Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 60-445-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065559-037/12/2022 08/15/2022

 278.41Cell Phone 7/13 - 8/12 01-440-4652 Phones and Connectivity 9911065559-047/12/2022 08/15/2022

 1,626.49 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Village of Montgomery

047080

 471.20LEADS 01-440-4652 Phones and Connectivity LEAD00000157/22/2022 08/15/2022

 471.20 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Waste Management

016240

 8,640.00Street Sweeping 6/16 - 6/30 01-445-4540 Streets & Alleys Rpr & Mtce 3195371-2354-37/1/2022 08/15/2022

 8,640.00 *Vendor TotalTotal:

Williams Associates Architects, Ltd.

024930

 2,232.31NA PW Facility Validation Phase 21-452-4501 Contractual Services 0021083 7/22/2022 08/15/2022

 2,232.31 *Vendor TotalTotal:

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 8

http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=039460
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=039460
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057970
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=035680
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=035680
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057127
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057128
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057130
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=025430
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=025430
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059664
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059665
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059666
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059659
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059660
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059661
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059662
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059663
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059655
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059656
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059657
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059658
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=047080
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=047080
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057273
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=016240
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=016240
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033059905
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=024930
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APVendor&id=024930
http://ssi.NET?action=object&object=APInvoice&id=0033057013


Invoice # Inv DateAmount Pmt DateDescription Account Acct Name

Report Total:  357,398.77

AP-To Be Paid Proof List (08/11/2022 - 12:09 PM) Page 9



15-Aug-22 Village Board Meeting

NAME EVENT EXPENSE or 
REIMBURSEMENT DATE  AMOUNT 

Mark Gaffino Metro West Meeting Expense 7/28/2022  $   150.00 

Carolyn Bird Salazar Metro West Meeting Expense 7/28/2022  $   150.00 
Mark Guethle Metro West Meeting Expense 7/28/2022  $   150.00 
Jessi Watkins Metro West Meeting Expense 7/28/2022  $   150.00 

 TOTAL  $   600.00 

Travel and Expenses for Business Purposes







 
Memorandum 
 
To:   Village President and Village Board of Trustees   

Cc:      Steve Bosco, Village Administrator  

From: Natalie Stevens, Executive Assistant 

Date:  August 8, 2022 

Re:      Village Logo Use Policy 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

The Village was recently approached by a North Aurora organization expressing 
interest in utilizing the Village’s logo in their own branding. 
 
Staff discussed with the Village Attorney and determined it would be in the best 
interest of the Village to create a policy regarding the use of the Village logo by any 
other entity.  
 
The Village Board discussed this item at the August 1, 2022 Committee of the Whole 
meeting and all members expressed support for both the logo use policy and for 
allowing North Aurora Boy Scouts of America Troop #104 to utilize the Village logo in 
their own branding.  
 
Please find attached the two resolutions to both adopt the Village Logo Use Policy 
and to grant Boy Scout Troop #104 permission to utilize their design involving the 
Village’s logo for their own branding purposes.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



     VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 
 Page 1 of 4 Pages 

 
RESOLUTION NO._________________________ 

 
RESOLUTION TO ADOPT A VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA  

LOGO USE POLICY 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Village owns all rights to the Village Logo (attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference as “Exhibit A”) that was created to aid the Village in establishing an identity for 
branding purposes; and;  

 
WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have determined that allowing a local, non-for-

profit entities to identify themselves with the North Aurora community using the Village Logo is in the best 
interests of the Village of North Aurora to foster pride, involvement, and identity with the Village; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village 

of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois, as follows: 
 

1. The recitals set forth above are adopted and incorporated herein as the material and 
significant findings of the President and the Board of Trustees as if fully stated herein. 

 
2. The Village of North Aurora Village Logo Use Policy attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference as Exhibit “B” is hereby approved. 
 
3. This Resolution shall take immediate force and effect from and after its passage and 

approval as provided by law. 
 
 Presented to the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this ____ 
day of ____________________, 2022 A.D. 
 
 Passed by the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this ____ 
day of ____________________, 2022 A.D. 
 

Mark Carroll  _________  Laura Curtis  _________ 
 
 Mark Guethle   _________  Michael Lowery _________ 
 
 Todd Niedzwiedz _________  Carolyn Bird Salazar _________ 
 
Approved and signed by me as President of the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane 
County, Illinois this ____ day of ______________________, 2022 A.D. 
 
      ______________________________________ 
      Mark Gaffino, Village President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 
  



     VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 
 Page 2 of 4 Pages 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 
 

 
  



     VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 
 Page 3 of 4 Pages 

EXHIBIT B 
 

 

Village of North Aurora Village Logo Use Policy 

The Village of North Aurora owns all rights to the Village Logo that was created to aid the 
Village in establishing an identity for the North Aurora community. Allowing local, non-profit 
organizations to make use of the Village Logo to identify themselves with the North Aurora 
community will foster a greater sense of community and identity with North Aurora by 
members of the public who are involved with those non-profit organizations. This Village 
Logo Use Policy establishes the terms and conditions by which local, non-profit organizations 
shall be approved for use of the Village Logo in a fair and efficient manner. Local, non-profit 
organizations may be approved to use the Village Logo if they meet the following terms and 
conditions: 

1. The organization by not-for-profit, must have a physical presence in the Village of 
North Aurora with directors, officers, members, and active participants who live in the 
Village of North Aurora, and the organization must serve the North Aurora 
community in some way; 

2. All requests to use the Village of North Aurora’s Logo must be presented to and 
approved by the Village Board 

3. All requests must be submitted in writing and include a description of how the Village 
Logo will be used with an illustration of how the Village Logo will be incorporated into 
the organization’s own branding; 

4. The Village Logo may be used for non-commercial purposes only, which may include 
fundraising for a non-profit, tax exempt purpose; 

5. The Village Logo may not be used for any political purpose in violation of the Illinois 
Election Code (10 ILCS 5/9-25-1), the State Officials and Employees Ethics Act (5 ILCS 
430/1 et seq.), and any other laws limiting or prohibiting the use of governmental 
resources in political activities.  

6. Use of the Village Logo by any organization is not an endorsement by the Village of 
North Aurora of that organization, and no organization shall claim that is endorsed 
or hold itself out as being endorsed by the Village of North Aurora; 

7. The North Aurora Village corporate authorities may revoke permission to any 
organization using the Village Logo at any time in violation of this policy, if the Village 
Logo is changed or becomes obsolete, or the Village Logo is used in any way that 



     VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 
 Page 4 of 4 Pages 

reflects negatively or adversely on the Village, the North Aurora community, or any 
person or entity in the local community, class of persons or class of entities in the 
community, or on the local community as a whole.   

 



     VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 
 Page 1 of 4 Pages 

 
RESOLUTION NO._________________________ 

 
RESOLUTION TO ALLOW BOY SCOUT TROOP #104  

PERMISSION TO UTILIZE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA LOGO 
 

 
WHEREAS, North Aurora Boy Scouts of America Troop #104 “BSA Troop 104” is based in the Village of North 

Aurora, Illinois; and 
 
WHEREAS, BSA Troop 104 wishes to utilize the Village of North Aurora logo attached hereto as Exhibit A (“the 

Village Logo”) in branding aspects for the Troop to represent themselves as being a part of the North Aurora community in 
their design, which is attached hereto as Exhibit B; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Village owns all rights to the Village Logo; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees has determined that allowing the BSA Troop 104 to identify itself as a 

boy scout troop in the Village of North Aurora by using the Village Logo is fitting and not detrimental to the best interests 
of the Village. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, 

Kane County, Illinois, as follows: 
 

1. The recitals set forth above are adopted and incorporated herein as the material and significant findings of 
the President and the Board of Trustees as if fully stated herein’ 

 
2. BSA Troop 104 may use the Village Logo to identify itself as a boy scout troop in the Village of North 

Aurora upon the following conditions: 
 

a. BSA Troop 104 may use the Village Logo for non-commercial purposes only; 
 
b. BSA Troop 104 shall use the Village Logo design exactly as provided in Exhibit B without deviation, unless 

that deviation is approved in writing by the Village Administrator prior to use; 
 
c. The use of the Village Logo by BSA Troop 104 is not an endorsement by the Village of North Aurora of 

BSA Troop 104 or the Boy Scouts of America, and BSA Troop 104 shall not claim that is endorsed or hold itself 
out as being endorsed by the village of North Aurora; 

 
d. The Village of North Aurora may revoke the permission to BSA Troop 104 to use the Village Logo at any 

time for any reason. 
 

3. This Resolution shall take immediate force and effect from and after its passage and approval as provided 
by law. 

 
 
 Presented to the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this ____ day of 
____________________, 2022 A.D. 
 
 Passed by the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this ____ day of 
____________________, 2022 A.D. 
 

Mark Carroll  _________  Laura Curtis  _________ 
 
 Mark Guethle   _________  Michael Lowery _________ 
 
 Todd Niedzwiedz _________  Carolyn Bird Salazar _________ 



     VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 
 Page 2 of 4 Pages 

 
  
 
Approved and signed by me as President of the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this 
____ day of ______________________, 2022 A.D. 
 
      ______________________________________ 
      Mark Gaffino, Village President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jessi Watkins, Village Clerk 

  



     VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 
 Page 3 of 4 Pages 

EXHIBIT A 

 

  



     VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 
 Page 4 of 4 Pages 

EXHIBIT B

 
Est. August 2014 

 



Village of North Aurora 

Memorandum 
 

 

 

To: 

 

President and Village Board of Trustees 

 

From: 

 

Jason Paprocki, Finance Director 

 

Date: 

 

August 15, 2022 

 

CC: 

 

Steven Bosco, Village Administrator 

 

RE: 

 

Second Budget Amendment for FY 2021-22 

 

The Village’s policy for amending the budget requires approval by the Village Board for 

budget transfers between departments in the General Fund and any increase in the total 

budget of a fund.  Staff is close to finalizing the closing journal entries for fiscal year 

2021-22 and has prepared a budget amendment for the following funds and accounts: 

 

General Fund – Budget Transfers Between Departments 

 

Police Commission, Recruit Testing account (01-439-4380) – This account is increased 

$6,785, to a total budget of $12,210.  The increase is due to sergeant test assessments and 

more pre-employment testing than anticipated. 

 

Community Development, Inspection Services account (01-441-4276) – This account is 

increased $14,640, to a total budget of $175,690.  The increase is due to additional 

contracted inspection services used, primarily for large commercial developments. 

 

Non-Departmental, Sales Tax Rebates account (01-490-4781) – This account is increased 

$78,135, to a total budget of $309,110, due to an increase in sales tax rebates paid as a 

result of stronger than anticipated sales tax revenue. 

 

The three budget amendments noted above are being transferred from various Police 

Department accounts as noted in Exhibit A.  Although the individual accounts noted are 

being increased, the General Fund total budget remains unchanged as accounts within the 

Police Department budget are decreased to offset the changes. 

 

General Fund – Transfer to Capital Projects 

 

The fiscal year 2021-22 budget included a transfer of $600,000 from the General Fund to 

Capital Projects Fund.  Due to the positive operating results of the General Fund, staff is 

recommending an additional $2,150,000 transfer to the Capital Projects Fund.  This 

would bring the total transfer to Capital Projects to $2,750,000 for FY 21-22.   

 



Consistent with prior years, surplus revenues have been transferred from the General 

Fund to the Capital Projects Fund to help fund future road, facility, and other 

infrastructure projects.  After the total $2,750,000 transfer, the General Fund fund 

balance reserve is anticipated to be 65% of the fiscal year 22-23 operating budget (less 

capital transfers).  The Village’s policy is to maintain a 40-50% fund balance reserve in 

the General Fund. 

 

Police Pension Fund – Budget Amendment 

 

Admin/Finance, Surviving Spouse Pensions account (80-430-4713) – This account is 

increased $255, to a total budget of $149,250, due to the death of a pensioner which 

resulted in a new surviving spouse pension to begin. 



VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 
 

Page 1 of 1 Pages 
 

Ordinance No. __________________ 
An Ordinance Approving the 2nd Budget Amendment for Fiscal Year 2021-22 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of North Aurora has adopted the Budget Act, and approved a 
Budget for the 2021-22 Budget Year (hereinafter “budget year”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the corporate authorities of the Village have the authority to revise the 
budget without notice as long as the revisions do not increase the total budget of the Village 
beyond the funds that are available. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and the Board of Trustees 
of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois, as follows: 
 

1. The recitals set forth above are adopted and incorporated herein as the material and 
significant findings of the President and the Board of Trustees as if fully stated herein. 

 
2. The budget amendment summarized in the document attached hereto and incorporated 

herein as Exhibit “A” is hereby approved by the corporate authorities. 
 
Presented to the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this 
_____ day of ___________, 2022, A.D. 
 
 
Passed by the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this _____ 
day of ___________, 2022, A.D. 
 

Mark Carroll  _________  Laura Curtis  _________ 
 
 Mark Guethle  _________  Michael Lowery _________ 
 
 Todd Niedzwiedz _________  Carolyn Bird Salazar _________ 
 
Approved and signed by me as President of the Board of trustees of the Village of North Aurora, 
Kane County, Illinois this _______ day of _________________, 2022 A.D. 
 
 
    
      ___________________________________ 
      Village President Mark Gaffino 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Village Clerk Jessica Watkins 



Account Current Increase/ Revised
Fund Division Account Number Budget (Decrease) Budget

General Fund

Police Commission Recruit Testing 01-439-4380 5,425              6,785                12,210            

Community Development Inspection Services 01-441-4276 161,050          14,640              175,690          

Non-Departmental Sales Tax Rebates 01-490-4781 230,975          78,135              309,110          

Police Department Salaries - Regular 01-440-4020 3,457,105       (35,850)             3,421,255       
Police Department Salaries - Part Time 01-440-4030 79,695            (26,135)             53,560            
Police Department FICA Soc. Sec. & Medicare 01-440-4110 285,854          (23,320)             262,534          
Police Department Legal 01-440-4260 55,000            (14,255)             40,745            

Transfers Transfer to Capital Projects 01-495-4970 600,000          2,150,000         2,750,000       

TOTAL 2,150,000         

General Fund

Transfers In Transfer From General Fund 21-395-3955 600,000          2,150,000         2,750,000       

2,150,000         

Police Pension Fund

Admin/Finance Surviving Spouse Pensions 80-430-4713 148,995          255                   149,250          

TOTAL 255                   

Village of North Aurora
FY 2021-2022

Budget Amendment #2
Exhibit "A"



 
 

Memorandum 
 
To:         Mark Gaffino, Village President & Board of Trustees 

Cc:     Steven Bosco, Village Administrator  

From:  Brian Richter, Public Works Streets Superintendent  

Date:  August 15, 2022 

Re:         Award of Bid for 2022 Tree Replacement Program 

 

 
This scope of this project includes the replacement of 100 parkway trees throughout the 
Village with the option of adding an additional 25 trees should the need arise.  The project 
was advertised on the Village website on July 19, 2022. In the hope of increasing 
competition and awareness of the project, companies who downloaded the 2021 project 
specifications last year were notified directly of this project. Staff directly contacted 11 
landscaping companies to notify them of the program.  This year we observed that the 
documents were downloaded by 6 third party advertisers who then independently publish 
or notify interested contractors. There were 6 landscaping firms who also downloaded the 
specifications.  From these 6 bidders 2 submitted a bid on August 9, 2022.  The results 
are displayed in the table below.  The low bidder was Acres Group in the amount of $34, 
916.00. 
 
Table 1. Bid Results 

Yellowstone Landscape (Acres Group)                         
23940 W Andrew Road                              

Plainfield, IL 60585                                                

Langton Group                                                
4510 Dean Street                                            

Woodstock, IL  
$34,916.00  $41,845.00  

 
Tree replacement is budgeted at $40,000 from the General Fund from the Tree Service 
line item, account number 01.445.4532.  Acres Group has performed the tree planting 
for the Village the past three years successfully.  It is the recommendation of staff that 
the Village Board award the contract to Acres Group in the amount of $34,916.00  
 
 



CONTRACT FOR PARKWAY TREE REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and concluded this 15st day of August, 2022, between the 

Village of North Aurora, an Illinois municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Village”) 

and Acres Group, an Illinois Corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”) for Parkway 

Tree Replacement Services. 

WHEREAS, the Village advertised for bids for Tree Replacement Project services 

(hereinafter “(Services”) and provided bid specifications for such services, a copy of which is 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as “Bid Specifications”; and 

WHEREAS, Contractor submitted a bid for the Services in the amount of Thirty Four 

Thousand Nine Hundred Sixteen Dollars  ($34,916) dollars in response to the request for bids 

advertised by the Village, a copy of which Bid is also included in the Bid Specifications 

WHEREAS, the Contractor’s bid was determined to be the lowest responsible bid and was 

accepted by the Village Board of Trustees at the regularly scheduled meeting on August 15, 2022. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of Thirty Four Thousand Nine Hundred Sixteen 

Dollars  ($34,916)  to be paid by the Village to the Contractor  for work completed as described 

by the bid specifications for tree replacement, the parties hereto agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Village and the Contractor agree the Bid Specifications attached hereto and 

incorporated herein are essential documents to this Contract and are made a part thereof. 

2. The Contractor shall fulfill all the Services in keeping with the Bid Specifications 

and the Bid and shall furnish all labor and equipment necessary to perform the Services in a 

professional and workman like manner. 

3. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for its own employees, subcontractors 

and agents and for the performance of the Services and shall indemnify and hold the Village 

harmless from and against any claims or causes of action asserted by its employees, subcontractors 

and agents or claims, causes of action, liabilities or damages resulting or related to the performance 

of the Services. 



4. The Contractor shall supply a Certificate or other proof of Insurance in acceptable 

form to the Village as a condition to the Village’s obligations under this Contract in compliance 

with the Bid Specifications. 

5. If required pursuant to Village ordinance or the Bid Specifications, the Contractor 

shall supply a payment and performance bond and surety in form acceptable to the Village before 

performing the Services.  

6. The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that, if the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act 

applies, the Contractor shall be responsible for such compliance and shall hold the Village and 

indemnify the Village from and against and claims or liabilities arising from a failure to comply. 

7. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days written notice by 

registered mail, or by personal delivery of notice, to the other party. 

8. This instrument contains the entire agreement between the parties, and those 

statements, promises, or inducements made by either party or agent of either party that are not 

contained in this written agreement shall not be valid or binding.   

9. In any claims for breach of this contract, the prevailing party shall be entitled to 

recovery all of its reasonable costs, including reasonable attorney fees. 

10. Any litigation brought in regard to this Contract shall be brought in the Sixteenth 

Judicial Circuit, Kane County, Illinois. 

11. This Agreement shall not be altered or modified in any way except in writing and 

signed by both parties.   

[signatures to follow] 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said parties have executed these presents on the date above 
mentioned. 
 
Village of North Aurora     Acres Group 
 
 
 
_________________________________     ______________________________ 
By:  Mark Gaffino,      By:  
 
 
Village President_____________________     ______________________________ 
Title         Title 







1 
 

  

  

  

  

   

Bid Specifications 
 

Project: 

Parkway Tree Replacement Project 

Bid opening:   

Tuesday August 9, 2022, 10:00 A.M. 

Location:   

Village Hall 25 E. State St., North Aurora, IL 60542 

Contact: 

Brian Richter, Public Works Street Superintendent, 331.385.6256 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Advertisement for Bids 

The Village of North Aurora will receive sealed bids for the furnishing and planting of parkway trees. The bids 
will be received at the North Aurora Village Hall, 25 East State Street, North Aurora, Illinois 60542 until 10:00 
a.m. local time on Tuesday, August 9, 2022. At this time and date, the bids will be publicly opened and read 
aloud. All bids must be addressed as follows: 
 

SEALED BID 
Contractor Name 

Re: Bid for Parkway Tree Replacement Project 
 

Village of North Aurora 
Attn:  Brian Richter 

Streets Superintendent  
25 East State Street 

North Aurora, IL 60542 

 

The bid packet can be downloaded, free of charge, at the Village’s 
website http://northaurora.org/government/rfp-rfq-bidding.aspx or can be picked up at 25 East State Street, 
North Aurora, IL 60542 beginning Tuesday, July 19, 2022. Addendums, if issued, will be available on the web site 
and must be included in the bid. 

Each bid must be accompanied by a Bid Guarantee in the form of a Bid Bond from a company with an A-1 best 
rating, or a cashier’s check in the amount of five percent (5%) of the total bid, if the bid is greater than $10,000, 
and made payable to the Village of North Aurora, 25 East State Street, North Aurora, Illinois, 60542. The Village 
of North Aurora reserves the right to reject any or all bids and to waive irregularities and informalities in the 
bids received.  

 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 

http://northaurora.org/government/rfp-rfq-bidding.aspx






















 

Memorandum 
 
To:         Mark Gaffino, Village President & Board of Trustees 

Cc:     Steven Bosco, Village Administrator  

From:  Brandon Tonarelli, Village Engineer 

Date:  August 3, 2022 

Re:         Award Bid for 16 & 18 N. Cherrytree Court Sanitary Sewer Extension 

 
On August 2, 2022 three sealed bids were received for the 16 & 18 N. Cherrytree Court 
Sanitary Sewer Extension Project.  Fox Excavating Inc. (Batavia, IL) was the low bidder 
in the amount of $136,025.00.  A summary of the bid is below.   
 

Fox Excavating Inc.  
13305 S. River St. 
Batavia, IL 60510 

 
 

H. Linden & Sons 
Sewer & Water Inc. 

722 E. South St. 
Unit D  

Plano, IL 60545 

Mauro Sewer 
Construction, Inc. 
1251 Redeker Rd. 

Des Plaines, IL 60016 

$136,025.00 $172,670.00 $229,700.00 
 
The project includes the installation of approximately 200 feet of sanitary sewer main 
through side yard easements previously obtained by the Village.  There are two homes 
that were found to share a sanitary sewer service line that crosses other adjacent 
properties before entering the Village’s right-of-way and the sanitary sewer main.  There 
are currently no sanitary sewer mains near these properties for them to connect to in 
order to replace their sanitary services.   
 
The construction cost ($136,025) will be paid from the Sanitary Sewer Fund.  The fiscal 
year budget currently has $110,000 for sanitary sewer improvements.  Though the project 
is more expensive than originally anticipated, the Sanitary Sewer Fund has a sufficient 
fund balance to support the expenditure.   
 
Village staff designed the sanitary sewer project and will be performing the construction 
inspection and administration of this project.   
 
Fox Excavating Inc. has successfully completed projects for other nearby government 
agencies.  Village staff is recommending the award of the bid to Fox Excavating Inc. in 
the amount of $136,025.00. 



Contract for 16 & 18 N. Cherrytree Court Sanitary Sewer Extension Project 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and concluded this 15th day of August, 2022, between the 

Village of North Aurora, an Illinois municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Village”) 

and Fox Excavating Inc. an Illinois Corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”) for 16 & 

18 N. Cherrytree Court Sanitary Sewer Extension Project. 

WHEREAS, the Village advertised for bids for the 16 & 18 N. Cherrytree Court Sanitary 

Sewer Extension services (hereinafter “Services”) and provided bid specifications for such 

services, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit “A” 

(“Bid Specifications”); and 

WHEREAS, Contractor submitted a bid for the Services in the amount of One Hundred 

Thirty-Six Thousand Twenty-Five and 00/100 dollars ($136,025.00) in response to the request 

for bids advertised by the Village, a copy of which bid is attached hereto and incorporated herein.  

WHEREAS, the Contractor’s bid was determined to be the lowest responsible bid and was 

accepted by the Village Board of Trustees at the regularly scheduled meeting on August 15, 2022. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of One Hundred Thirty-Six Thousand Twenty-

Five and 00/100 dollars ($136,025.00) to be paid by the Village to the Contractor as follows for 

work described by the Bid Specifications for 16 & 18 N. Cherrytree Court Sanitary Sewer 

Extension, the parties hereto agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Village and the Contractor agree the Bid Specifications attached hereto and 

incorporated herein are essential documents to this Contract and are made a part thereof. 

2. The Contractor shall fulfill all the Services in keeping with the Bid Specifications 

and shall furnish all labor and equipment necessary to perform the Services in a professional and 

workman like manner. 



3. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for its own employees, subcontractors 

and agents and for the performance of the Services and shall indemnify and hold the Village 

harmless from and against any claims or causes of action asserted by its employees, subcontractors 

and agents or claims, causes of action, liabilities or damages resulting or related to the performance 

of the Services. 

4. If there is any conflict within contract documents the bid specifications shall 

govern. 

5. If not previously provided, the Contractor shall supply a Certificate or other proof 

of Insurance in acceptable form to the Village as a condition to the Village’s obligations under this 

Contract in compliance with the Bid Specifications. 

6. The Contractor shall supply a payment bond and surety in form acceptable to the 

Village before performing the Services.   

7. The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that, if the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act 

applies, the Contractor shall be responsible for such compliance and shall hold the Village and 

indemnify the Village from and against and claims or liabilities arising from a failure to comply. 

8. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days written notice by 

registered mail, or by personal delivery of notice, to the other party. 

9. This instrument contains the entire agreement between the parties, and those 

statements, promises, or inducements made by either party or agent of either party that are not 

contained in this written agreement shall not be valid or binding.   

10. In any claims for breach of this contract, the prevailing party shall be entitled to 

recovery all of its reasonable costs, including reasonable attorney fees. 

11. Any litigation brought in regard to this Contract shall be brought in the Sixteenth 

Judicial Circuit, Kane County, Illinois. 

12. This Agreement shall not be altered or modified in any way except in writing and 

signed by both parties.   

[signatures to follow] 
 
 
 
 

  



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said parties have executed these presents on the date above 
mentioned. 
 
Village of North Aurora 
 
 
_________________________________   
By:  Mark Gaffino, Village President 
 
 
 
 
Fox Excavating Inc. 
 
 
_________________________________   
Signature 
 
_________________________________________________ 
Printed Name, Title 
 
S:\9 Sanitary\1618 Cherrytree Sewer Extension\Cherrytree Sanitary Sewer Contract.docx 



















































































 

 
Memorandum 
 

To:      Mark Gaffino, Village President & Board of Trustees 

Cc:  Steven Bosco, Village Administrator  

From: John Laskowski, Public Works Director  

Date: June 22, 2022 

Re:     Consideration of an Agreement to perform a Flow Modeling Study in the Amount 

of $118,976.00 

  
The purpose of a flow modeling study is to accurately determine the amount of water the 
Village can supply through its distribution network.  The flow model is built by collecting 
physical properties of the water system like:  production available from wells, capacity of 
the treatment plants, height of the water towers, and diameters and lengths of pipes.  This 
data is entered into a computer program that performs calculations used to provide 
information about the water system. The model output is then is calibrated with field 
observations to confirm its accuracy. The flow model is a valuable tool that can be used 
to simulate existing and future conditions. Simulating existing conditions is useful to 
determine if the Village has the capacity to supply water to high volume users. This has 
recently become a concern with two developments in town. The study can also simulate 
specific events like how the system responds if there were a fire at a certain location. It 
can be used to evaluate the adequacy of treatment and supply capacity. The model will 
be also be used to assist in the development of a Water Capital Improvement Plan and 
provide necessary information used for evaluating the current water rates.  
 
In the future, the flow model will evolve as the Village water system improves and as new 
users are added to the system.  After the initial model is developed new information will 
be provided to the consulting engineer and added on an annual basis.  This would include 
information from new users and well as Village infrastructure projects.  The agreement is 
structured so that the Village has access to the modeling data should we choose to work 
with a different consulting engineer. 
 
The Village has chosen to utilize Engineering Enterprises, Inc. (EEI) to perform the flow 
modeling study.  In the past, EEI has participated in the Village’s qualifications based 
selection process for engineering services for Village infrastructure projects and was 
determined to be the most qualified firm. Since then they have worked with the Village on 
numerous projects.  EEI designed Village water infrastructure projects including Maple 
and Elm Water Main Replacement Project and Well #5 Pump and Motor Rehabilitation 
Project.  Additionally they have completed the Water System’s  Risk and Resiliance 
Assessment (RRA), developed the Emergency Response Plan (ERP), performed a 



review of the Water Tower design, and are currently developing the Lead Service Line 
Replacement Plan (LSLR).  EEI has extensive experience with the Village’s water system 
and has performed well on past projects. 
 
Staff believes that a flow modeling study is a valuable investment in understanding the 
Village water system.  The flow model is a valuable tool that will determine with certainty 
the capacity available for new developments and plan for future improvements to the 
system.  Prior to understanding the magnitude of the scope of work necessary, staff had 
budgeted $40,000 based on a proposal in 2019 that had a smaller scope and was never 
initiated. It is the staff recommendation to approve the agreement to perform a flow 
modeling study with EEI in the amount of $118,976.  The water fund has adequate funding 
to support the higher cost of the study.   



June 21, 2022 

Mr. Brandon Tonarelli, PE, CFM 
Village Engineer 
Village of North Aurora 
25 East State Street 
North Aurora, IL 60542 

RE: Professional Services Agreement 
Water Distribution System Model Development and Verification 

Dear Mr. Tonarelli: 

In accordance with your request, enclosed please find our proposal for engineering 
services for the above referenced project.  Our proposed work items and costs are 
summarized in the attached Scope of Services and Estimate of Level of Effort and 
Associated Cost.  Also enclosed is the proposed project schedule.  We propose to 
provide our professional engineering services to complete the scope of work for a fixed 
fee amount of $118,900. 

We look forward to working with you and members of your staff on this project.  If you 
have any questions or require additional information, please do not hesitate to contact 
us. 

Respectfully Submitted 

ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC. 

Michele L. Piotrowski, PE, LEED AP 
Senior Project Manager / Principal 

Pc: BPS, JAM, JTW – EEI (via e-mail)



Agreement for Professional Services 
Water Distribution System Modeling and Verification 

 
  
THIS AGREEMENT, by and between the Village of North Aurora, hereinafter referred 
to as the "Village" or “OWNER” and Engineering Enterprises, Inc. hereinafter referred to 
as the "Contractor" or “ENGINEER” agrees as follows:  
 
A. Services:  
 
The Engineer shall furnish the necessary personnel, materials, equipment and expertise to 
make the necessary investigations, analysis and calculations along with exhibits, cost 
estimates and narrative, to complete all necessary engineering services to the Village as 
indicated on the included Attachment B.  
 
B. Term:   
 
Services will be provided beginning on the date of execution of this agreement and 
continuing, until terminated by either party upon 7 days written notice to the non-
terminating party or upon completion of the Services.  Upon termination the Contractor 
shall be compensated for all work performed for the Village prior to termination.  
 
C. Compensation and maximum amounts due to Contractor: 
 
Contractor shall receive as compensation for all work and services to be performed herein 
an amount based on the Estimate of Level of Effort and Associated Cost included in 
Attachment C, in the fixed fee amount of $118,900. All payments will be made 
accordingly to the Illinois State Prompt Payment Act and not less than once every thirty 
days.  
 
D. Changes in Rates of Compensation: 
 
In the event that this contract is designated in Section B hereof as an Ongoing Contract, 
Contractor, on or before February 1st of any given year, shall provide written notice of 
any change in the rates specified in Section C hereof (or on any attachments hereto) and 
said changes shall only be effective on and after May 1st of that same year. 
 
E. Ownership of Records and Documents: 
 
Contractor agrees that all books and records and other recorded information developed 
specifically in connection with this agreement shall remain the property of the Village. 
Contractor agrees to keep such information confidential and not to disclose or 
disseminate the information to third parties without the consent of the Village.  This 
confidentiality shall not apply to material or information, which would otherwise be 
subject to public disclosure through the freedom of information act or if already 
previously disclosed by a third party. Upon termination of this agreement, Contractor 



agrees to return all such materials to the Village. The Village agrees not to modify any 
original documents produced by Contractor without contractors consent.  Modifications 
of any signed duplicate original document not authorized by ENGINEER will be at 
OWNER’s sole risk and without legal liability to the ENGINEER. Use of any 
incomplete, unsigned document will, likewise, be at the OWNER’s sole risk and without 
legal liability to the ENGINEER. 
 
F. Governing Law:  
 
This contract shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Illinois.  Venue shall be in Kane County, Illinois.  
 
G. Independent Contractor:   
 
Contractor shall have sole control over the manner and means of providing the work and 
services performed under this agreement. The Village’s relationship to the Contractor 
under this agreement shall be that of an independent contractor.  Contractor will not be 
considered an employee to the Village for any purpose.    
 
H. Certifications:   
 
Employment Status: The Contractor certifies that if any of its personnel are an employee 
of the State of Illinois, they have permission from their employer to perform the service.   
 
Anti-Bribery: The Contractor certifies it is not barred under 30 Illinois Compiled Statutes 
500/50-5(a) - (d) from contracting as a result of a conviction for or admission of bribery 
or attempted bribery of an officer or employee of the State of Illinois or any other state.   
 
Loan Default: If the Contractor is an individual, the Contractor certifies that he/she is not 
in default for a period of six months or more in an amount of $600 or more on the 
repayment of any educational loan guaranteed by the Illinois State Scholarship 
Commission made by an Illinois institution of higher education or any other loan made 
from public funds for the purpose of financing higher education (5 ILCS 385/3).  
 
Felony Certification: The Contractor certifies that it is not barred pursuant to 30 Illinois 
Compiled Statutes 500/50-10 from conducting business with the State of Illinois or any 
agency as a result of being convicted of a felony.   
 
Barred from Contracting:  The Contractor certifies that it has not been barred from 
contracting as a result of a conviction for bid-rigging or bid rotating under 720 Illinois 
Compiled Statutes 5/33E or similar law of another state.   
 
Drug Free Workplace:  The Contractor certifies that it is in compliance with the Drug 
Free Workplace Act (30 Illinois Compiled Statutes 580) as of the effective date of this 
contract.  The Drug Free Workplace Act requires, in part, that Contractors, with 25 or 
more employees  certify and agree to take steps to ensure a drug free workplace by 



informing employees of the  dangers of drug abuse, of the availability of any treatment or 
assistance program, of  prohibited activities and of sanctions that will be imposed for 
violations; and that individuals  with contracts certify that they will not engage in the 
manufacture, distribution, dispensation,  possession, or use of a controlled substance in 
the performance of the contract.   
 
Non-Discrimination, Certification, and Equal Employment Opportunity: The Contractor  
agrees to comply with applicable provisions of the Illinois Human Rights Act (775 
Illinois  Compiled Statutes 5), the U.S. Civil Rights Act, the Americans with Disabilities 
Act, Section  504 of the U.S. Rehabilitation Act and the rules applicable to each. The 
equal opportunity clause of Section 750.10 of the Illinois Department of Human Rights 
Rules is specifically incorporated herein.  The Contractor shall comply with Executive 
Order 11246, entitled Equal Employment Opportunity, as amended by Executive Order 
11375, and as supplemented by U.S.  Department of Labor regulations (41 C.F.R. 
Chapter 60).  The Contractor agrees to incorporate this clause into all subcontracts under 
this Contract.  
 
International Boycott:  The Contractor certifies that neither it nor any substantially owned 
affiliated company is participating or shall participate in an international boycott in 
violation of the provisions of the U.S. Export Administration Act of 1979 or the 
regulations of the U.S.  Department of Commerce promulgated under that Act (30 ILCS 
582).   
 
Record Retention and Audits:  If 30 Illinois Compiled Statutes 500/20-65 requires the 
Contractor (and any subcontractors) to maintain, for a period of 3 years after the later of 
the date of completion of this Contract or the date of final payment under the Contract, all 
books and records relating to the performance of the Contract and necessary to support 
amounts charged to the Village under the Contract. The Contract and all books and 
records related to the Contract shall be available for review and audit by the Village and 
the Illinois Auditor General. If this Contract is funded from contract/grant funds provided 
by the U.S.  Government, the Contract, books, and records shall be available for review 
and audit by the Comptroller General of the U.S. and/or the Inspector General of the 
federal sponsoring agency. The Contractor agrees to cooperate fully with any audit and to 
provide full access to all relevant materials.  
 
United States Resident Certification: (This certification must be included in all contracts 
involving personal services by non-resident aliens and foreign entities in accordance with  
requirements imposed by the Internal Revenue Services for withholding and reporting 
federal  income taxes.) The Contractor certifies that he/she is a:   x  United States Citizen  
___ Resident Alien  ___ Non-Resident Alien  The Internal Revenue Service requires that 
taxes be withheld on payments made to non  resident aliens for the performance of 
personal services at the rate of 30%.   
 
Tax Payer Certification :  Under penalties of perjury, the Contractor certifies that its 
Federal Tax Payer Identification Number or Social Security Number is (provided 
separately)  and is  doing business as a (check one):  ___ Individual  ___ Real  Estate  



Agent  ___ Sole  Proprietorship  ___ Government  Entity     ___ Partnership  ___ Tax 
Exempt Organization (IRC 501(a) only)   x   Corporation  ___ Not for Profit Corporation  
___ Trust or Estate  ___ Medical and Health Care Services Provider Corp.   
 
I. Indemnification:   
 
Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Village and Village’s agents, servants, 
and employees against all loss, damage, and expense which it  may sustain or for which it 
will become liable on account of injury to or death of persons, or  on account of damage 
to or destruction of property resulting from the performance of work  under this 
agreement by Contractor or its Subcontractors, or due to or arising in any manner  from 
the wrongful act or negligence of Contractor or its Subcontractors of any employee of  
any of them. In the event that the either party shall bring any suit, cause of action or 
counterclaim against the other party, the non-prevailing party shall pay to the prevailing 
party the cost and expenses incurred to answer and/or defend such action, including 
reasonable attorney fees and court costs.  In no event shall the either party indemnify any 
other party for the consequences of that party’s negligence, including failure to follow the 
ENGINEER’s recommendations. 
 
 J. Insurance:   
 
The ENGINEER agrees that it has either attached a copy of all required insurance 
certificates or that said insurance is not required due to the nature and extent of the types 
of services rendered hereunder. (Not applicable as having been previously supplied) 
 
K. Additional Terms or Modification: 
 
The terms of this agreement shall be further modified as provided on the attached 
Exhibits. Except for those terms included on the Exhibits, no additional terms are 
included as a part of this agreement. All prior understandings and agreements between 
the parties are merged into this agreement, and this agreement may not be modified orally 
or in any manner other than by an agreement in writing signed by both parties.  In the 
event that any provisions of this agreement shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable, 
the remaining provisions shall be valid and binding on the parties.  The list of 
Attachments are as follows:  
 

            Attachment A: Standard Terms and Conditions 
 Attachment B: Scope of Services 

Attachment C: Estimated Level of Effort and Associated Cost 
 Attachment D: Anticipated Project Schedule  

Attachment E: 2022 Standard Schedule of Charges 
 

 
 
 
 



L. Notices:

All notices required to be given under the terms of this agreement shall be given mail, 
addressed to the parties as follows: 

For the Village:               For the Contractor: 

Village President and Village Clerk  Engineering Enterprises, Inc. 
Village of North Aurora      52 Wheeler Road            
25 East State Street  Sugar Grove Illinois 60554 
North Aurora, IL 60542 

Either of the parties may designate in writing from time-to-time substitute addresses or 
persons in connection with required notices. 

Agreed to this ___day of _________, 2022. 

Village of North Aurora Engineering Enterprises, Inc.: 

_________________________________              ________________________________       
     Mark Gaffino  Michele L. Piotrowski, P.E., LEED AP 
  Village President Senior Project Manager / Principal 

_________________________________   ________________________________
        Jessi Watkins     Angela R. Smith 

          Village Clerk         Executive Assistant 



Water Distribution System Modeling and Verification 
Attachment A – Standard Terms & Conditions 

ATTACHMENT A 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
Agreement: These Standard Terms and Conditions, together with the Professional Services 
Agreement, constitute the entire integrated agreement between the OWNER and Engineering 
Enterprises, Inc. (EEI) (hereinafter “Agreement”), and take precedence over any other provisions 
between the Parties. These terms may be amended, but only if both parties consent in writing. 

Standard of Care: In providing services under this Agreement, the ENGINEER will endeavor 
to perform in a matter consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members 
of the same profession currently practicing under same circumstances in the same locality. 
ENGINEER makes no other warranties, express or implied, written or oral under this Agreement 
or otherwise, in connection with ENGINEER’S service. 

Construction Engineering and Inspection:  The ENGINEER shall not supervise, direct, 
control, or have authority over any contractor work, nor have authority over or be responsible for 
the means, methods, techniques sequences, or procedures of construction selected or used by 
any contractor, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, for security or safety of 
the site, nor for any failure of a contractor to comply with laws and regulations applicable to such 
contractor’s furnishing and performing of its work. 

The ENGINEER neither guarantees the performance of any contractor nor assumes responsibility 
for contractor’s failure to furnish and perform the work in accordance with the contract documents. 

The ENGINEER is not responsible for the acts or omissions of any contractor, subcontractor, or 
supplies, or any of their agents or employees or any other person at the site or otherwise 
furnishing or performing any work. 

Shop drawing and submittal review by the ENGINEER shall apply to only the items in the 
submissions and only for the purpose of assessing if upon installation or incorporation in the 
project work they are generally consistent with the construction documents.  OWNER agrees that 
the contractor is solely responsible for the submissions and for compliance with the construction 
documents.  OWNER further agrees that the ENGINEER’S review and action in relation to these 
submissions shall not constitute the provision of means, methods, techniques, sequencing or 
procedures of construction or extend or safety programs or precautions.  The ENGINEER’S 
consideration of a component does not constitute acceptance of the assembled items. 

The ENGINEER’S site observation during construction shall be at the times agreed upon in the 
Project Scope.  Through standard, reasonable means the ENGINEER will become generally 
familiar with observable completed work.  If the ENGINEER observes completed work that is 
inconsistent with the construction documents, that information shall be communicated to the 
contractor and OWNER for them to address. 

Opinion of Probable Construction Costs: ENGINEER’S opinion of probable construction costs 
represents ENGINEER’S best and reasonable judgment as a professional engineer. OWNER 
acknowledges that ENGINEER has no control over construction costs of contractor’s methods of 
determining pricing, or over competitive bidding by contractors, or of market conditions or changes 
thereto. ENGINEER cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual construction 
costs will not vary from ENGINEER’S opinion of probable construction costs. 



Water Distribution System Modeling and Verification 
Attachment A – Standard Terms & Conditions 

Copies of Documents & Electronic Compatibility: Copies of Documents that may be 
relied upon by OWNER are limited to the printed copies (also known as hard copies) that are 
signed or sealed by the ENGINEER. Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or of 
other types that are furnished by ENGINEER to OWNER are only for convenience of OWNER. 
Any conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the user's 
sole risk. When transferring documents in electronic media format, ENGINEER makes no 
representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting from 
the use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer hardware differing from 
those used by ENGINEER at the beginning of the project. 

Changed Conditions: If, during the term of this Agreement, circumstances or conditions 
that were not originally contemplated by or known to the ENGINEER are revealed, to the extent 
that they affect the scope of services, compensation, schedule, allocation of risks, or other 
material terms of this Agreement, the ENGINEER may call for renegotiation of appropriate 
portions of this Agreement. The ENGINEER shall notify the OWNER of the changed conditions 
necessitating renegotiation, and the ENGINEER and the OWNER shall promptly and in good faith 
enter into renegotiation of this Agreement to address the changed conditions. If terms cannot be 
agreed to, the parties agree that either party has the absolute right to terminate this Agreement, 
in accordance with the termination provision hereof. 

Hazardous Conditions: OWNER represents to ENGINEER that to the best of its knowledge 
no Hazardous Conditions (environmental or otherwise) exist on the project site. If a Hazardous 
Condition is encountered or alleged, ENGINEER shall have the obligation to notify OWNER and, 
to the extent of applicable Laws and Regulations, appropriate governmental officials. It is 
acknowledged by both parties that ENGINEER's scope of services does not include any services 
related to a Hazardous Condition. In the event ENGINEER or any other party encounters a 
Hazardous Condition, ENGINEER may, at its option and without liability for consequential or any 
other damages, suspend performance of services on the portion of the project affected thereby 
until OWNER: (i) retains appropriate specialist consultant(s) or contractor(s) to identify and, as 
appropriate, abate, remediate, or remove the Hazardous Condition; and (ii) warrants that the 
project site is in full compliance with applicable Laws and Regulations.  

Consequential Damages: Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, neither the OWNER nor the ENGINEER, their respective officers, 
directors, partners, employees, contractors, or subcontractors shall be liable to the other or shall 
make any claim for any incidental, indirect, or consequential damages arising out of or connected 
in any way to the Project or to this Agreement. This mutual waiver of consequential damages shall 
include, but is not limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of 
reputation, or any other consequential damages that either party may have incurred from any 
cause of action including negligence, strict liability, breach of contract, and breach of strict or 
implied warranty. Both the OWNER and the ENGINEER shall require similar waivers of 
consequential damages protecting all the entities or persons named herein in all contracts and 
subcontracts with others involved in this project. 

Termination:  This Agreement may be terminated for convenience, without cause, upon fourteen 
(14) days written notice of either party.  In the event of termination, the ENGINEER shall prepare
a final invoice and be due compensation as set forth in the Professional Services Agreement for
all costs incurred through the date of termination.



Water Distribution System Modeling and Verification 
Attachment A – Standard Terms & Conditions 

Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause upon giving the other party not less than 
seven (7) calendar days’ written notice for the following reasons: 

(a) Substantial failure by the other party to comply with or perform in accordance with
the terms of the Agreement and through no fault of the terminating party;

(b) Assignment of the Agreement or transfer of the project without the prior written
consent of the other party;

(c) Suspension of the project or the ENGINEER’S services by the OWNER for a
period of greater than ninety (90) calendar days, consecutive or in the aggregate.

(d) Material changes in the conditions under which this Agreement was entered into,
the scope of services or the nature of the project, and the failure of the parties to
reach agreement on the compensation and schedule adjustments necessitated by
such changes.

Payment of Invoices: Invoices are due and payable within 30 days of receipt 
unless otherwise agreed to in writing. 

Third Party Beneficiaries: Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual 
relationship with or a cause of action in favor of a third party against either the OWNER or the 
ENGINEER. The ENGINEER’S services under this Agreement are being performed solely and 
exclusively for the OWNER’S benefit, and no other party or entity shall have any claim against 
the ENGINEER because of this Agreement or the performance or nonperformance of services 
hereunder. The OWNER and ENGINEER agree to require a similar provision in all contracts with 
contractors, subcontractors, vendors and other entities involved in this Project to carry out the 
intent of this provision. 

Force Majeure: Each Party shall be excused from the performance of its obligations under 
this Agreement to the extent that such performance is prevented by force majeure (defined below) 
and the nonperforming party promptly provides notice of such prevention to the other party. Such 
excuse shall be continued so long as the condition constituting force majeure continues. The party 
affected by such force majeure also shall notify the other party of the anticipated duration of such 
force majeure, any actions being taken to avoid or minimize its effect after such occurrence, and 
shall take reasonable efforts to remove the condition constituting such force majeure. For 
purposes of this Agreement, “force majeure” shall include conditions beyond the control of the 
parties, including an act of God, acts of terrorism, voluntary or involuntary compliance with any 
regulation, law or order of any government, war, acts of war (whether war be declared or not), 
labor strike or lock-out, civil commotion, epidemic, failure or default of public utilities or common 
carriers, destruction of production facilities or materials by fire, earthquake, storm or like 
catastrophe. The payment of invoices due and owing hereunder shall in no event be delayed by 
the payer because of a force majeure affecting the payer. 

Additional Terms or Modification:  All prior understandings and agreements between 
the parties are merged into this Agreement, and this Agreement may not be modified orally or in 
any manner other than by an Agreement in writing signed by both parties.  In the event that any 
provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions 
shall be valid and binding on the parties. 



Water Distribution System Modeling and Verification 
Attachment A – Standard Terms & Conditions 

Assignment: Neither party to this Agreement shall transfer or assign any rights or duties under 
or interest in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. Subcontracting 
normally contemplated by the ENGINEER shall not be considered an assignment for purposes of 
this Agreement. 

Waiver: A party’s waiver of, or the failure or delay in enforcing any provision of this 
Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the provision, nor shall it affect the enforceability of 
that provision or of the remainder of this Agreement. 

Attorney’s Fees: In the event of any action or proceeding brought by either party against the 
other under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other all 
costs and expenses including without limitation the reasonable fees of its attorneys in such action 
or proceeding, including costs of appeal, if any, in such amount as the Court may adjudge 
reasonable. 

Headings: The headings used in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience 
only, and in no way define, limit, enlarge, modify, explain or define the text thereof nor affect the 
construction or interpretation of this Agreement. 



G:\Public\North Aurora\2022\NO2206 Water Distribution System Model\Project Management\PSA\2022-06-20 - Full Scope\03.Attachment B - Scope of Services-Full.doc
ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC. Page 1 of 3 
CONSULTING ENGINEERS 

ATTACHMENT B – SCOPE OF SERVICES 
WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM MODELING AND VERIFICATION 

Village of North Aurora, Kane County, IL 

The Village of North Aurora intends to develop and verify a water model of the existing water 
works system, including updated historical water demand analysis, field testing, and verification 
of an extended period simulation model.  The Village’s goals are to utilize the model for the 
following: 

1. Determine water main size and general available flows/static pressures for new
developments.

2. Determine/Confirm proposed water main sizing when replacing water main.
3. Better understand the strengths and weaknesses in capacity of the existing system.
4. The model will be set up to accommodate the development of a potential future

unidirectional flushing program.
5. The model will be set up to accommodate the development of potential future water quality

modeling.
6. Recommendations for distribution system improvements for the existing system (if

applicable)
7. Determine water supply and treatment and storage adequacy (Needs Assessment

Calculations)
8. Determine and prepare future distribution plan
9. Determine specific needs to serve the Aurora Packing Development

The following list of work items establishes the scope of engineering services for this project: 

0. PROJECT FACILITATION
• Project Management and Administration – Includes Management of Personnel and

the Engineering Contract, Budget Tracking, and Updates at Internal Meetings
• Project Initiation and Four (4) Progress Meetings (Five (5) Meetings Total)

1. BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND MODEL DEVELOPMENT
• Coordinate RFI with Village

o Coordinate with Village to obtain GIS water system data
• Develop Water Model Skeleton

o Input/Verify Pipe Info, Connectivity, and No Double Pipes
o Input/Verify Junctions and Associated Data & Associated Elevations
o Input Water Facilities (Tanks, Wells, and Pump Stations)
o Input Elevations Based on Kane County GIS Contour Data

• Review Historical Water Use Data and Prepare Updated Historical Water
Usage Summary (Last 5 Years) and Enter Demands in the Model

• Obtain and Input SCADA Data (Setpoints for Tank Levels, Pumps On/Off,
Valves Closed, etc.), including Trend Data of Water Demands Over Time to
Evaluate Daily / Diurnal Flow Patterns

• Obtain Facility Drawings and Incorporate Additional Information into Model
• Develop Current Conditions/Baseline Scenarios to Review:

o Peak Hour Demand (Pressures/Pipe Velocities, Headlosses)
o Max Day Demand + Fire Flow (Pressures/Pipe Velocities, Headlosses)



G:\Public\North Aurora\2022\NO2206 Water Distribution System Model\Project Management\PSA\2022-06-20 - Full Scope\03.Attachment B - Scope of Services-Full.doc
ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC. Page 2 of 3 
CONSULTING ENGINEERS 

• Obtain and Input Annual Billed Water Use Data by Customer (GIS/geocoded) and
Import and Confirm/Allocate Demands within the Steady State Model

• Prepare Population Projections and Coordinate with Village
• Prepare Future Water Use Demands
• Complete/Update Needs Assessment Evaluation for Existing and Future Water

Supply and Storage

2. FIELD TESTING & MODEL VERIFICATION
• Coordinate and Observe Water Main Capacity/Flow Testing

o Subconsultant Conducts Flow Testing & Prepares Summary Report (Assume 2
Days of Testing)

• Coordinate/Meet with Village Staff to Conduct Site Visits to Review Existing Facilities
(Wells, High Service Pump Stations, Receiving Stations, etc.) and Operations

• Model Verification Based on Filed Testing
• Initial Model Verification Based on Field Testing
• High Service Pump Curve Testing (Assume 2 Days in Field plus Office Preparation)

• Evaluate/Update Head Capacity Curves for All High Service Pumps Based on
Current Pump Conditions and Field Testing

• Model Verification Based on Field Testing

3. EXISTING WATER WORKS SYSTEM EVALUATION (SS)
• Evaluate the strength and capacity of the existing water distribution system based

on:
o System pressure
o Headloss rates
o Velocity through the pipes
o Fire flow capacity.
Simulations will be performed for maximum day demand and peak hour demand
conditions.  EEI will identify distribution system deficiencies based on the verified
water model.

• Develop a Maximum of Four (4) Exhibits to Demonstrate the Evaluation
• Recommend up to five (5) distribution pipe improvements, if applicable, to improve

the system efficiency

4. FUTURE WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM PLAN DEVELOPMENT
• Define Planning Area
• Define Distribution System Improvements for Planning Area
• Model Future Distribution System Improvements
• Develop and Input Future Water Demands Into Water Model
• Optimize Future Water Main Network
• Develop Master Plan Exhibit for Water Works System Improvements
• Develop Cost Estimates For Key Distribution System Improvements
• Identify Water Distribution Needs Specific to the Aurora Packing Development

5. SUMMARY REPORT OF WATER MODEL UPDATE AND VERIFICATION
• Prepare Draft Report
• Village Review of Draft Report
• Prepare Final Report (Incorporating Village Staff Comments)



 
 

G:\Public\North Aurora\2022\NO2206 Water Distribution System Model\Project Management\PSA\2022-06-20 - Full Scope\03.Attachment B - Scope of Services-Full.doc 
ENGINEERING ENTERPRISES, INC. Page 3 of 3   
CONSULTING ENGINEERS 

 
The above scope of services for the Water Model Verification and associated analysis includes 
the following exclusions: 

• Additional flow testing beyond two (2) days is excluded.  Additional flow testing may 
be recommended depending on findings/analysis of first few rounds of testing, and 
after coordination with/investigation by Village Staff (e.g. checking for closed valves). 

• A presentation to the Village Board. 
• Groundwater Modeling and Investigation (ISWS partnership) 
• Modeling for future individual sites/developments beyond Aurora Packing 
• On-going maintenance of the model and analyzing scenarios 
• C-Factor testing for model verification purposes 

 
The above scope for the “WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM MODELING AND VERIFICATION” 
summarizes the work items that will be completed for this contract.  Additional work items, 
including additional water modeling analysis of specific areas or proposed improvements and 
additional meetings beyond those defined in the above scope, shall be considered outside the 
scope of the base contract and will be billed in accordance with the Standard Schedule of 
Charges. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ATTACHMENT C: ESTIMATE OF LEVEL OF EFFORT AND ASSOCIATED COST
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES            

CLIENT PROJECT NUMBER
Village of North Aurora NO2206

PROJECT TITLE DATE PREPARED BY
Water Distribution Sytem Modeling and Verification - Phase 1

ROLE PIC PM PE SPM SPS II SPT I ADMIN
PERSON MLP CRW KA

RATE $223 $194 $154 $216 $183 $149 $70
PROJECT FACILITATION

0.01 Project Management and Administration 2            8            10         1,998$        
0.02 Project Initiation and Progress Meetings (5 Total) 15          15          15          45         8,565$        

Project Facilitation Subtotal: 17          23          15          -             -             -             -             55         10,563$      

BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND MODEL DEVELOPMENT

1.01 Coordinate RFI With Village 2            6            8           1,312$        

1.02 Develop Water Model Skeleton 4            8            24          36         6,140$        

1.03 1            4            5           810$           

1.04 1            8            9           1,426$        

1.05 16          24          40         6,800$        

1.06 Develop Current Conditions/Baseline Scenarios to Review 1            2            8            11         1,843$        

1.07 1            4            16          21         3,463$        

1.08 1            1            1            3           571$           

1.09 Prepare Future Water Use Demands 1            1            2            4           725$           

1.10 1            2            6            9           1,535$        

Background Information and Water Model Development Subtotal: 9            38          99          -             -             -             -             146       24,625$      

FIELD TESTING & MODEL VERIFICATION 

2.01 4            24          28         4,472$        

2.02 4            8            8            20         3,676$        

2.03 Initial Model Verification Based on Field Testing 2            4            16          22         3,686$        

2.04 4            20          24         3,856$        

2.05 4            8            12         2,008$        
2.06 Model Verification Based on Field Testing 4            8            16          28         4,908$        

Field Testing and Model Verification Subtotal: 10          32          92          -             -             -             -             134       22,606$      

EXISTING WATER WORKS SYSTEM EVALUATION

3.01 1            4            24          29         4,695$        

3.02 1            4            16          21         3,194$        

3.03 4            6            12          12          34         5,692$        

Existing Water Works System Evaluation Subtotal: 5            11          40          -             -             28          -             84         13,581$      

FUTURE WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM PLAN DEVELOPMENT

4.01 Define Planning Area 1            1            1            3           526$           

4.02 Define Distribution System Improvements for Planning Area 2            4            8            4            18         3,050$        

4.03 Model Future Distribution System Improvements 4            16          20         3,240$        

4.04 Develop and Input Future Water Demands Into Water Model 2            8            2            12         1,918$        

4.05 Optimize Future Water Main Network 2            4            12          18         3,070$        

4.06 1            4            8            16          29         4,615$        

4.07 4            8            24          36         6,140$        

4.08 4            6            12          22         3,904$        

Future Water Distribution System Plan Development Subtotal: 14          32          89          -             -             23          -             158       26,463$      

SUMMARY REPORT OF MODEL UPDATE AND VERIFICATION

5.01 Prepare Draft Report 6            12          40          4            62         10,422$      

5.02 Village Review of Draft Report 1            1            1            3           571$           
5.03 Prepare Final Report (Incorporating Village Staff Comments) 1            4            12          2            19         3,145$        

Summary Report of Model Update and Verification Subtotal: 8            17          53          -             -             6            -             84         14,138$      

63          153        388        -             -             57          -             661       111,976      

EEI STAFF DIRECT EXPENSES
MLP Michele L. Piotrowski, PE, LEED AP Vehicle Charges = 300$           
CRW Chris R. Walton, PE Material Testing = -$            
KA Kamelia Afshinnia, PhD, EI Main Capacity Testing = 6,700$        

DIRECT EXPENSES = 7,000$        

LABOR SUMMARY
EEI Labor Expenses = 111,976$    

TOTAL LABOR EXPENSES 111,976$    

TOTAL COSTS 118,976$    

52 Wheeler Road, Sugar Grove, IL  60554  Tel: 630.466.6700  Fax: 630.466.6701  www.eeiweb.com

PROJECT TOTAL:

Develop a Maximum of Four (4) Exhibits to Demonstrate the 
Evaluation

Recommend up to five (5) distribution pipe improvements, if 
applicable, to improve the system efficiency

Develop Master Plan Exhibit for Water Works System 
Improvements
Develop Cost Estimates For Key Distribution System 
Improvements

Identify Water Distribution Needs Specific to the Aurora Packing 
Development

Complete/Update Needs Assessment Evaluation for Existing and 
Future Water Supply and Storage

Coordinate and Observe Water Main Capacity/Flow Testing (2 
Days of Testing)
Prepare for and Conduct Site Visits to Review Existing Facilities 
(Wells, High Service Pump Stations, Receiving Stations, etc.) and 

High Service Pump Curve Testing (Assume 2 Days in Field plus 
Office Preparation)
Evaluate/Update Head Capacity Curves for All High Service 
Pumps Based on Current Pump Conditions and Field Testing

Evaluate the strength and capacity of the existing water 
distribution system based on System Pressure, Headloss, Pipe 
Velocity, and Fire Flow Availability

Review Historical Water Use Data and Prepare Updated Historical 
Water Usage Summary (Last 5 Years) and Enter Demands in the 
Model

Obtain Facility Drawings and Incorporate Additional 
Information/Elevations/Pump Curves into Model

Obtain and Input SCADA Data (Setpoints for Tank Levels, Pumps 
On/Off, Valves Closed, etc.)

p y
(GIS/geocoded) and Import and Confirm/Allocate Demands within 
the Steady State Model

Prepare Population Projections and Coordinate with Village

6/20/22 MLP

TASK 
NO.

TASK DESCRIPTION HOURS COST



ATTACHMENT D: ESTIMATED SCHEDULE

CLIENT PROJECT NUMBER
Village of North Aurora NO2206

PROJECT TITLE DATE PREPARED BY
Water Distribution Sytem Modeling and Verification MLP

JULY AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE
PROJECT FACILITATION

0.01 Project Management and Administration
0.02 Project Initiation and Progress Meetings (5 Total)

BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND MODEL DEVELOPMENT
1.01 Coordinate RFI With Village
1.02 Develop Water Model Skeleton

1.03

1.04

1.05
1.06 Develop Current Conditions/Baseline Scenarios to Review
1.07 Develop Current Conditions/Baseline Scenarios to Review
1.08
1.09
1.10 Prepare Future Water Use Demands

1.11
FIELD TESTING & MODEL VERIFICATION 

2.01

2.02
2.03 Initial Model Verification Based on Field Testing
2.04
2.05
2.06 Model Verification Based on Field Testing 

EXISTING WATER WORKS SYSTEM EVALUATION 

3.01

3.02

3.03
EXISTING WATER WORKS SYSTEM EVALUATION 

4.01 Define Planning Area
4.02 Define Distribution System Improvements for Planning Area
4.03 Model Future Distribution System Improvements
4.04 Develop and Input Future Water Demands Into Water Model
4.05 Optimize Future Water Main Network
4.06
4.07
4.08

SUMMARY REPORT OF MODEL UPDATE AND VERIFICATION

5.01 Prepare Draft Report
5.02 Village Review of Draft Report
5.03 Prepare Final Report (Incorporating Village Staff Comments)

 52 Wheeler Road  Sugar Grove, IL  60554  Tel: 630.466.6700  Fax: 630.466.6701  www.eeiweb.com

2022 2023

Recommend up to five (5) distribution pipe improvements, if 
applicable, to improve the system efficiency

Develop Master Plan Exhibit for Water Works System 
Develop Cost Estimates For Key Distribution System 
Identify Water Distribution Needs Specific to the Aurora Packing 

Obtain Facility Drawings and Incorporate Additional 
Information/Elevations/Pump Curves into Model

Coordinate and Observe Water Main Capacity/Flow Testing (2 
Days of Testing)
Prepare for and Conduct Site Visits to Review Existing Facilities 
(Wells, High Service Pump Stations, Receiving Stations, etc.) and 
Operations

Evaluate the strength and capacity of the existing water distribution 
system based on System Pressure, Headloss, Pipe Velocity, and 
Fire Flow Availability
Develop a Maximum of Four (4) Exhibits to Demonstrate the 
Evaluation

Obtain and Input Annual Billed Water Use Data by Customer 
Prepare Population Projections and Coordinate with Village

Complete/Update Needs Assessment Evaluation for Existing and 
Future Water Supply and Storage

High Service Pump Curve Testing (Assume 2 Days in Field plus 
Evaluate/Update Head Capacity Curves for All High Service Pumps 

6/20/22

TASK 
NO.

TASK DESCRIPTION

Review Historical Water Use Data and Prepare Updated Historical 
Water Usage Summary (Last 5 Years) and Enter Demands in the 
Model
Obtain and Input SCADA Data (Setpoints for Tank Levels, Pumps 
On/Off, Valves Closed, etc.)



  
   

 
 
EMPLOYEE DESIGNATION CLASSIFICATION HOURLY RATE  
  Senior Principal  E-4                            $228.00  
  Principal  E-3                            $223.00  
  Senior Project Manager  E-2                            $216.00  
  Project Manager  E-1                            $194.00  
  Senior Project Engineer/Planner/Surveyor II P-6                            $183.00  
  Senior Project Engineer/Planner/Surveyor I   P-5                            $170.00 
 
  Project Engineer/Planner/Surveyor     P-4                            $154.00  
  Senior Engineer/Planner/Surveyor      P-3                            $142.00  
  Engineer/Planner/Surveyor     P-2                            $129.00  
  Associate Engineer/Planner/Surveyor  P-1                            $116.00  
  Senior Project Technician II  T-6                            $159.00  
  Senior Project Technician I  T-5                            $149.00  
  Project Technician  T-4                            $139.00  
  Senior Technician      T-3                            $129.00  
  Technician     T-2                            $116.00 
 
  Associate Technician  T-1                            $102.00  
  GIS Technician  G-1                           $105.00  
  Engineering/Land Surveying Intern  I-1                             $  79.00  
  Administrative Assistant  A-3                            $  70.00    

 

VEHICLES. REPROGRAPHICS, DIRECT COSTS, DRONE AND EXPERT TESTIMONY 
  Vehicle for Construction Observation                        $  15.00 
  In-House Scanning and Reproduction  $0.25/Sq. Ft. (Black & White) 
  $1.00/Sq. Ft. (Color) 
  Reimbursable Expenses (Direct Costs)                                 Cost 
  Services by Others (Direct Costs)                        Cost + 10%  
  Unmanned Aircraft System / Unmanned Aerial Vehicle / Drone                                $ 206.00   
  Expert Testimony                                         $ 258.00  

STANDARD SCHEDULE OF CHARGES ~ JANUARY 1, 2022 



      
 
 

Memorandum 
To:         Mark Gaffino, Village President & Board of Trustees 

Cc:     Steven Bosco, Village Administrator  

From:  Brandon Tonarelli, Village Engineer 

Date:  August 3, 2022 

Re:         Pedestrian Signal at Randall Road & Dogwood-Ritter Design Engineering 

Services Agreement with EEI 

 
As discussed at the August 1, 2022 Committee of the Whole meeting, the Village has received 
a proposal from Engineering Enterprises, Inc. (EEI) for design and construction engineering 
services for the Pedestrian Signal at Randall Road & Dogwood-Ritter Improvements.  This 
project would include modification of traffic signal equipment and installation of pedestrian 
signal heads and push buttons.  Additionally, sidewalk at the intersection will be improved 
to meet current ADA requirements.   
 
The engineering and construction have been budgeted for in the Capital Projects Fund.  The 
engineering services contract prepared by EEI has been separated into three components, a 
design component, an outside services component, and a construction inspection 
component.  The design component is in the amount of $19,983. The outside services 
component is in the amount of $4,256 and includes material inspection and environmental 
assessment.  The construction inspection is estimated at $21,702.  Construction of the 
project is estimated to cost approximately $60,000.   
 
The total project is estimated to cost $105,941.  The project was budgeted for $75,000.  If the 
Village fills the Civil Engineer position prior to the project going to construction, the 
construction inspection portion of the contract could be eliminated from the engineering 
contract, bringing the total estimated project cost to $84,239.  There are sufficient funds in 
the Capital Fund to support the expenditure. 
 
The Village Engineer and Public Works Director reviewed the professional services 
agreement prepared by EEI for the design and construction engineering services.  It was 
determined that the scope outlined in the agreement is sufficient to address the needs of 
the project, so it is the Staff recommendation to enter into an agreement with EEI in an 
amount up to $45,941.   
 
 



Agreement for Professional Services 
Village of North Aurora, Kane County, IL 

Pedestrian Signal at Randall Road & Dogwood-Ritter – Preliminary and Design 
Engineering 

 
 THIS AGREEMENT, by and between the Village of North Aurora, hereinafter referred 
to as the "Village" or “OWNER” and Engineering Enterprises, Inc. hereinafter referred to 
as the "Contractor" or “ENGINEER” agrees as follows:  
 
A. Services:  
 
The Engineer shall furnish the necessary personnel, materials, equipment and expertise to 
make the necessary investigations, analysis and calculations along with exhibits, cost 
estimates and narrative, to complete all necessary engineering services to the Village as 
indicated on the included Attachment B. Services shall include Preliminary and Design 
engineering for the pedestrian signal installation and ADA improvements at the 
intersection of Randall Road and Dogwood Drive/Ritter Street as shown on Attachment 
E. Additionally, Construction engineering will be provided for the improvements as 
shown on Attachment E.  All Engineering will be in accordance with all Village and 
Illinois Department of Transportation requirements.  
 
B. Term:   
 
Services will be provided beginning on the date of execution of this agreement and 
continuing, until terminated by either party upon 7 days written notice to the non-
terminating party or upon completion of the Services. Upon termination the Contractor 
shall be compensated for all work performed for the Village prior to termination.  
 
C. Compensation and maximum amounts due to Engineer: 
 
Engineer shall receive as compensation for all work and services to be performed herein 
an amount based on the Estimated Level of Effort and Associated Cost included in 
Attachment C. Preliminary and Design Engineering will be paid for as a Lump Sum in 
the amount of $19,983 and Construction Engineering will be paid for hourly at the actual 
rates for services to be performed, currently estimated at $21,702. The hourly rates for 
this project are shown in Attachment F. All payments will be made accordingly to the 
Illinois State Prompt Payment Act and not less than once every thirty days. 
 
For outside services provided by other firms or subconsultants, the Village shall pay the 
ENGINEER the invoiced fee to the ENGINEER, plus 10%. Such outside services 
include, but are not limited to services to be provided by Rubino Engineering, Inc. Direct 
Expenses are estimated to be $4,256. 
 
 
 
 



D. Changes in Rates of Compensation: 
 
In the event that this contract is designated in Section B hereof as an Ongoing Contract, 
Contractor, on or before February 1st of any given year, shall provide written notice of 
any change in the rates specified in Section C hereof (or on any attachments hereto) and 
said changes shall only be effective on and after May 1st of that same year. 
 
E. Ownership of Records and Documents: 
 
Contractor agrees that all books and records and other recorded information developed 
specifically in connection with this agreement shall remain the property of the Village. 
Contractor agrees to keep such information confidential and not to disclose or 
disseminate the information to third parties without the consent of the Village.  This 
confidentiality shall not apply to material or information, which would otherwise be 
subject to public disclosure through the freedom of information act or if already 
previously disclosed by a third party. Upon termination of this agreement, Contractor 
agrees to return all such materials to the Village. The Village agrees not to modify any 
original documents produced by Contractor without contractors’ consent.  Modifications 
of any signed duplicate original document not authorized by ENGINEER will be at 
OWNER’s sole risk and without legal liability to the ENGINEER. Use of any 
incomplete, unsigned document will, likewise, be at the OWNER’s sole risk and without 
legal liability to the ENGINEER. 
 
F. Governing Law:  
 
This contract shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Illinois. Venue shall be in Kane County, Illinois.  
 
G. Independent Contractor:   
 
Contractor shall have sole control over the manner and means of providing the work and 
services performed under this agreement. The Village’s relationship to the Contractor 
under this agreement shall be that of an independent contractor.  Contractor will not be 
considered an employee to the Village for any purpose.    
 
H. Certifications:   
 
Employment Status: The Contractor certifies that if any of its personnel are an employee 
of the State of Illinois, they have permission from their employer to perform the service.   
 
Anti-Bribery: The Contractor certifies it is not barred under 30 Illinois Compiled Statutes 
500/50-5(a) - (d) from contracting as a result of a conviction for or admission of bribery 
or attempted bribery of an officer or employee of the State of Illinois or any other state.   
 
Loan Default: If the Contractor is an individual, the Contractor certifies that he/she is not 
in default for a period of six months or more in an amount of $600 or more on the 



repayment of any educational loan guaranteed by the Illinois State Scholarship 
Commission made by an Illinois institution of higher education or any other loan made 
from public funds for the purpose of financing higher education (5 ILCS 385/3).  
 
Felony Certification: The Contractor certifies that it is not barred pursuant to 30 Illinois 
Compiled Statutes 500/50-10 from conducting business with the State of Illinois or any 
agency as a result of being convicted of a felony.   
 
Barred from Contracting:  The Contractor certifies that it has not been barred from 
contracting as a result of a conviction for bid-rigging or bid rotating under 720 Illinois 
Compiled Statutes 5/33E or similar law of another state.   
 
Drug Free Workplace:  The Contractor certifies that it is in compliance with the Drug 
Free Workplace Act (30 Illinois Compiled Statutes 580) as of the effective date of this 
contract.  The Drug Free Workplace Act requires, in part, that Contractors, with 25 or 
more employees  certify and agree to take steps to ensure a drug free workplace by 
informing employees of the  dangers of drug abuse, of the availability of any treatment or 
assistance program, of  prohibited activities and of sanctions that will be imposed for 
violations; and that individuals  with contracts certify that they will not engage in the 
manufacture, distribution, dispensation,  possession, or use of a controlled substance in 
the performance of the contract.   
 
Non-Discrimination, Certification, and Equal Employment Opportunity: The Contractor 
agrees to comply with applicable provisions of the Illinois Human Rights Act (775 
Illinois Compiled Statutes 5), the U.S. Civil Rights Act, the Americans with Disabilities 
Act, Section  504 of the U.S. Rehabilitation Act and the rules applicable to each. The 
equal opportunity clause of Section 750.10 of the Illinois Department of Human Rights 
Rules is specifically incorporated herein.  The Contractor shall comply with Executive 
Order 11246, entitled Equal Employment Opportunity, as amended by Executive Order 
11375, and as supplemented by U.S.  Department of Labor regulations (41 C.F.R. 
Chapter 60).  The Contractor agrees to incorporate this clause into all subcontracts under 
this Contract.  
 
International Boycott:  The Contractor certifies that neither it nor any substantially owned 
affiliated company is participating or shall participate in an international boycott in 
violation of the provisions of the U.S. Export Administration Act of 1979 or the 
regulations of the U.S.  Department of Commerce promulgated under that Act (30 ILCS 
582).   
 
Record Retention and Audits:  If 30 Illinois Compiled Statutes 500/20-65 requires the 
Contractor (and any subcontractors) to maintain, for a period of 3 years after the later of 
the date of completion of this Contract or the date of final payment under the Contract, all 
books and records relating to the performance of the Contract and necessary to support 
amounts charged to the Village under the Contract. The Contract and all books and 
records related to the Contract shall be available for review and audit by the Village and 
the Illinois Auditor General. If this Contract is funded from contract/grant funds provided 



by the U.S.  Government, the Contract, books, and records shall be available for review 
and audit by the Comptroller General of the U.S. and/or the Inspector General of the 
federal sponsoring agency. The Contractor agrees to cooperate fully with any audit and to 
provide full access to all relevant materials.  
 
United States Resident Certification: (This certification must be included in all contracts 
involving personal services by non-resident aliens and foreign entities in accordance with 
requirements imposed by the Internal Revenue Services for withholding and reporting 
federal income taxes.) The Contractor certifies that he/she is a:   x United States Citizen 
___ Resident Alien ___ Non-Resident Alien The Internal Revenue Service requires that 
taxes be withheld on payments made to non-resident aliens for the performance of 
personal services at the rate of 30%.   
 
Tax Payer Certification :  Under penalties of perjury, the Contractor certifies that its 
Federal Tax Payer Identification Number or Social Security Number is (provided 
separately)  and is  doing business as a (check one):  ___ Individual  ___ Real  Estate  
Agent  ___ Sole  Proprietorship  ___ Government  Entity     ___ Partnership  ___ Tax 
Exempt Organization (IRC 501(a) only)   x   Corporation  ___ Not for Profit Corporation  
___ Trust or Estate  ___ Medical and Health Care Services Provider Corp.   
 
I. Indemnification:   
 
Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Village and Village’s agents, servants, 
and employees against all loss, damage, and expense which it  may sustain or for which it 
will become liable on account of injury to or death of persons, or  on account of damage 
to or destruction of property resulting from the performance of work  under this 
agreement by Contractor or its Subcontractors, or due to or arising in any manner  from 
the wrongful act or negligence of Contractor or its Subcontractors of any employee of  
any of them. In the event that the either party shall bring any suit, cause of action or 
counterclaim against the other party, the non-prevailing party shall pay to the prevailing 
party the cost and expenses incurred to answer and/or defend such action, including 
reasonable attorney fees and court costs.  In no event shall the either party indemnify any 
other party for the consequences of that party’s negligence, including failure to follow the 
ENGINEER’s recommendations. 
 
 J. Insurance:   
 
The contractor agrees that it has either attached a copy of all required insurance 
certificates or that said insurance is not required due to the nature and extent of the types 
of services rendered hereunder. (Not applicable as having been previously supplied) 
 
K. Additional Terms or Modification: 
 
The terms of this agreement shall be further modified as provided on the attached 
Exhibits. Except for those terms included on the Exhibits, no additional terms are 
included as a part of this agreement. All prior understandings and agreements between 





Attachment A 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

Agreement: These Standard Terms and Conditions, together with the Professional Services 

Agreement, constitute the entire integrated agreement between the OWNER and Engineering 

Enterprises, Inc. (EEI) (hereinafter “Agreement”), and take precedence over any other provisions 

between the Parties. These terms may be amended, but only if both parties consent in writing.  

Standard of Care: In providing services under this Agreement, the ENGINEER will endeavor 

to perform in a matter consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by 

members of the same profession currently practicing under same circumstances in the same 

locality.  ENGINEER makes no other warranties, express or implied, written or oral under this 

Agreement or otherwise, in connection with ENGINEER’S service.  

Construction Engineering and Inspection: The ENGINEER shall not supervise, direct, 

control, or have authority over any contractor work, nor have authority over or be responsible for 

the means, methods, techniques sequences, or procedures of construction selected or used by any 

contractor, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, for security or safety of the 

site, nor for any failure of a contractor to comply with laws and regulations applicable to such 

contractor’s furnishing and performing of its work.  

The ENGINEER neither guarantees the performance of any contractor nor assumes 

responsibility for contractor’s failure to furnish and perform the work in accordance with the 

contract documents.  

The ENGINEER is not responsible for the acts or omissions of any contractor, subcontractor, or 

supplies, or any of their agents or employees or any other person at the site or otherwise 

furnishing or performing any work.  

Shop drawing and submittal review by the ENGINEER shall apply to only the items in the 

submissions and only for the purpose of assessing if upon installation or incorporation in the 

project work they are generally consistent with the construction documents.  OWNER agrees that 

the contractor is solely responsible for the submissions and for compliance with the construction 

documents.  OWNER further agrees that the ENGINEER’S review and action in relation to these 

submissions shall not constitute the provision of means, methods, techniques, sequencing or 

procedures of construction or extend or safety programs or precautions.  The ENGINEER’S 

consideration of a component does not constitute acceptance of the assembled items.  

The ENGINEER’S site observation during construction shall be at the times agreed upon in the 

Project Scope.  Through standard, reasonable means the ENGINEER will become generally 

familiar with observable completed work.  If the ENGINEER observes completed work that is 

inconsistent with the construction documents, that information shall be communicated to the 

contractor and OWNER for them to address.  

  

  



Opinion of Probable Construction Costs: ENGINEER’S opinion of probable construction 

costs represents ENGINEER’S best and reasonable judgment as a professional engineer. 

OWNER acknowledges that ENGINEER has no control over construction costs of contractor’s 

methods of determining pricing, or over competitive bidding by contractors, or of market 

conditions or changes thereto. ENGINEER cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids or 

actual construction costs will not vary from ENGINEER’S opinion of probable construction 

costs.  

Copies of Documents & Electronic Compatibility: Copies of Documents that may be relied 

upon by OWNER are limited to the printed copies (also known as hard copies) that are signed or 

sealed by the ENGINEER. Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or of other 

types that are furnished by ENGINEER to OWNER are only for convenience of OWNER. Any 

conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the user's sole 

risk. When transferring documents in electronic media format, ENGINEER makes no 

representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of documents resulting 

from the use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer hardware 

differing from those used by ENGINEER at the beginning of the project.  

Changed Conditions: If, during the term of this Agreement, circumstances or conditions that 

were not originally contemplated by or known to the ENGINEER are revealed, to the extent that 

they affect the scope of services, compensation, schedule, allocation of risks, or other material 

terms of this Agreement, the ENGINEER may call for renegotiation of appropriate portions of 

this Agreement. The ENGINEER shall notify the OWNER of the changed conditions 

necessitating renegotiation, and the ENGINEER and the OWNER shall promptly and in good 

faith enter into renegotiation of this Agreement to address the changed conditions. If terms 

cannot be agreed to, the parties agree that either party has the absolute right to terminate this 

Agreement, in accordance with the termination provision hereof.  

Hazardous Conditions: OWNER represents to ENGINEER that to the best of its knowledge no 

Hazardous Conditions (environmental or otherwise) exist on the project site. If a Hazardous 

Condition is encountered or alleged, ENGINEER shall have the obligation to notify OWNER 

and, to the extent of applicable Laws and Regulations, appropriate governmental officials. It is 

acknowledged by both parties that ENGINEER's scope of services does not include any services 

related to a Hazardous Condition. In the event ENGINEER or any other party encounters a 

Hazardous Condition, ENGINEER may, at its option and without liability for consequential or 

any other damages, suspend performance of services on the portion of the project affected 

thereby until OWNER: (i) retains appropriate specialist consultant(s) or contractor(s) to identify 

and, as appropriate, abate, remediate, or remove the Hazardous Condition; and (ii) warrants that 

the project site is in full compliance with applicable Laws and Regulations.   

Consequential Damages: Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to the 

fullest extent permitted by law, neither the OWNER nor the ENGINEER, their respective 

officers, directors, partners, employees, contractors, or subcontractors shall be liable to the other 

or shall make any claim for any incidental, indirect, or consequential damages arising out of or 

connected in any way to the Project or to this Agreement. This mutual waiver of consequential 

damages shall include, but is not limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, loss of business, loss of 



income, loss of reputation, or any other consequential damages that either party may have 

incurred from any cause of action including negligence, strict liability, breach of contract, and 

breach of strict or implied warranty. Both the OWNER and the ENGINEER shall require similar 

waivers of consequential damages protecting all the entities or persons named herein in all 

contracts and subcontracts with others involved in this project.  

Termination:  This Agreement may be terminated for convenience, without cause, upon seven 

(7) days written notice of either party.  In the event of termination, the ENGINEER shall prepare 

a final invoice and be due compensation as set forth in the Professional Services Agreement for 

all costs incurred through the date of termination.  

Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause upon giving the other party not less than 

seven (7) calendar days’ written notice for the following reasons:  

(a) Substantial failure by the other party to comply with or perform in accordance with 

the terms of the Agreement and through no fault of the terminating party;  

(b) Assignment of the Agreement or transfer of the project without the prior written 

consent of the other party;  

(c) Suspension of the project or the ENGINEER’S services by the OWNER for a period 

of greater than ninety (90) calendar days, consecutive or in the aggregate.  

(d) Material changes in the conditions under which this Agreement was entered into, the 

scope of services or the nature of the project, and the failure of the parties to reach 

agreement on the compensation and schedule adjustments necessitated by such 

changes.  

Payment of Invoices: Invoices are due and payable within 30 days of receipt unless otherwise 

agreed to in writing.  

Third Party Beneficiaries: Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create a contractual 

relationship with or a cause of action in favor of a third party against either the OWNER or the 

ENGINEER. The ENGINEER’S services under this Agreement are being performed solely and 

exclusively for the OWNER’S benefit, and no other party or entity shall have any claim against 

the ENGINEER because of this Agreement or the performance or nonperformance of services 

hereunder. The OWNER and ENGINEER agree to require a similar provision in all contracts 

with contractors, subcontractors, vendors and other entities involved in this Project to carry out 

the intent of this provision.  

Force Majeure: Each Party shall be excused from the performance of its obligations under this 

Agreement to the extent that such performance is prevented by force majeure (defined below) 

and the nonperforming party promptly provides notice of such prevention to the other party. 

Such excuse shall be continued so long as the condition constituting force majeure continues. 

The party affected by such force majeure also shall notify the other party of the anticipated 

duration of such force majeure, any actions being taken to avoid or minimize its effect after such 



occurrence, and shall take reasonable efforts to remove the condition constituting such force 

majeure. For purposes of this Agreement, “force majeure” shall include conditions beyond the 

control of the parties, including an act of God, acts of terrorism, voluntary or involuntary 

compliance with any regulation, law or order of any government, war, acts of war (whether war 

be declared or not), labor strike or lock-out, civil commotion, epidemic, failure or default of 

public utilities or common carriers, destruction of production facilities or materials by fire, 

earthquake, storm or like catastrophe. The payment of invoices due and owing hereunder shall in 

no event be delayed by the payer because of a force majeure affecting the payer.  

Additional Terms or Modification: All prior understandings and agreements between the 

parties are merged into this Agreement, and this Agreement may not be modified orally or in any 

manner other than by an Agreement in writing signed by both parties.  In the event that any 

provisions of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining 

provisions shall be valid and binding on the parties.  

Assignment: Neither party to this Agreement shall transfer or assign any rights or duties under 

or interest in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. Subcontracting 

normally contemplated by the ENGINEER shall not be considered an assignment for purposes of 

this Agreement.  

Waiver: A party’s waiver of, or the failure or delay in enforcing any provision of this 

Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of the provision, nor shall it affect the enforceability of 

that provision or of the remainder of this Agreement.  

Attorney’s Fees: In the event of any action or proceeding brought by either party against the 

other under this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the other all 

costs and expenses including without limitation the reasonable fees of its attorneys in such action 

or proceeding, including costs of appeal, if any, in such amount as the Court may adjudge 

reasonable.  

Headings: The headings used in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience 

only, and in no way define, limit, enlarge, modify, explain or define the text thereof nor affect 

the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.  

  

  

 



Pedestrian Signal at Randall Road & Dogwood-Ritter  

Design Engineering Services 

 

Attachment B – Scope of Services 

 

Preliminary Engineering 

• Project Management, Coordination, Meetings and QC/QA 

o Project Kickoff Meeting 

▪ Establish lines of communication. 

▪ Present a work plan for the project including schedule milestones, design criteria 

and a list of information needed from the Village to begin design. 

▪ Acquire existing information from the Village including previous reports, plans of 

recent development and relevant site information 

o Project Coordination 

o Project Management 

o Project Scheduling 

• Survey and Data Collection 

o Perform Topographic Survey along Randall Road and Dogwood Drive/Ritter Street, 

including all sidewalks, traffic signal equipment, roadway centerline, edge of 

pavement/shoulder, curb and gutter, pavement markings, median noses, signs, rim 

elevations of existing drainage and utility structures, culvert inverts, fence, and power 

poles. 

• EcoCAT Submittal and CCDD 

o Perform EcoCAT Submittal 

o CCDD and 662 form (Rubino) 

• Utility Coordination 

o Perform Design J.U.L.I.E. ticket. 

o Review and inventory existing utility information to identify potential conflicts 

o Coordination with all public utilities 

• Traffic Capacity Analysis 

o Perform traffic capacity analysis for the traffic signal at Randall Road and Dogwood 

Drive/Ritter Street, including the effects of the new pedestrian signals on the existing 

Village-owned traffic signal. 

 

Design Engineering: 

• Project Management, Coordination, Meetings and QC/QA 

o Project Comment Review Meetings (2 Meetings – 1 at prefinal plans, 1 at final plans) 

o Project Coordination 

o Project Management 

o Project Scheduling 

o QC/QA will be performed throughout the project. 

• Prefinal Plans, Specifications and Cost Estimates 

o Coordinate documentation for CCDD Management of soils.  

o Coordinate with Village Staff the final scope of improvements 

o Develop prefinal plans including the following: 

▪ Title Sheet 

▪ General Notes 

▪ Summary of Quantities 

▪ Alignment, Ties and Benchmarks 

▪ Pedestrian Signal Installation Plan (1”=20’) 



▪ Cable Plan, Sequence of Operation & Schedule of Quantities 

▪ ADA Details Sheets (1”=5’) 

▪ Village Details 

▪ District One and IDOT Details 

o Prepare bid package, and ancillary documents, including: 

▪ BLR12200 – Local Public Agency Formal Contract Proposal 

▪ BLR12200 A – Schedule of Prices 

▪ BLR12230 - Bid Bond Form 

▪ BC57 - Affidavit of Availability 

▪ Index for Supplemental Specifications and Recurring Special Provisions 

▪ Check Sheet for Recurring Special Provisions 

▪ BLR11310 – Special Provisions 

▪ Bureau of Design and Environment Special Provisions/Check sheets 

▪ Prevailing Wage 

o Special Provisions in IDOT format 

▪ Local Roads Special Provisions 

▪ District One Special Provisions 

▪ Village of North Aurora Provisions & Details 

▪ Status of Utilities 

o Calculate Quantities and prepare prefinal Cost Estimate 

▪ Quantities to be organized by funding source (if necessary) 

▪ BDE 213 – Estimate of Cost 

o Perform QC/QA review of prefinal plans, documents, and cost estimate 

o Submit prefinal plans to the utility companies as necessary 

o Submit prefinal plans, estimate of cost, and special provisions to the Village of North 

Aurora for review. 

• KDOT Coordination 

o Coordination needed with Kane County Division of Transportation (KDOT). The existing 

traffic signal at Randall Road and Dogwood Drive/Ritter Street is likely interconnected to 

the Randall Road/Mooseheart Road signal (a KDOT-owned signal) 0.25 miles to the north. 

o Coordinate with KDOT the proposed pedestrian signal plans at Randall Road and 

Dogwood Drive/Ritter Street. 

• Final Plans, Specifications and Cost Estimates 

o Update plans based on comments received on prefinal plans 

o Prepare and provide disposition of comments to the Village 

o Update summary of quantities, and estimate of cost for final submittal 

o Update special provisions for final submittal 

o Perform QC/QA review of final plans, documents, and cost estimate 

o Submit final plans, estimate of cost, estimate of time and special provisions to the Village 

of North Aurora and utility companies. 

• Bidding, Letting and Contracting 

o Assist in bidding, contractor/bid evaluations, contract preparation and additional contract 

administration as required; facilitate IDOT approval of Contract 

▪ BLR12320 – Local Public Agency Formal Contract 

▪ BLR12321 – Contract Bond 

▪ Bid Tab 

▪ Contractor’s Certificate of Eligibility  

o Provide all submittal plans to the Village and Utility Companies in 11” x 17” format and 

specifications in 8-1/2”x 11” format. 

 

 



Construction Engineering: 

• Project Management and Contract Administration 

o Review contractor's proposed construction schedule for compliance with contract. 

Submittals should be included on this schedule as well as all major subcontractors. 

o Set up all forms of proper project documentation. 

o Prepare minutes for all meetings and distribute to appropriate parties. 

o Project administration and management 

• Pre-Construction Conference and Status Meetings 

o Attend the Pre-Construction Conference with the Contractor 

o Host construction status meetings with the Village of North Aurora (2 meetings) 

• Observation and Documentation (Assumed approximately 2 working weeks at 45 hours/week) 

o Provide a full-time resident engineer and supplemental staff as needed for required daily 

activities such as: observing the progress and quality of the work and determining if the 

work is proceeding in accordance with the contract documents. Maintain site presence at 

all times when the contractor is working. Disapprove any work failing to conform to the 

contract documents and immediately inform Village representatives. Verify that there are 

no deviations from the contract documents unless authorized by Village representatives. 

o Daily documentation of work tasks and calculation of installed pay items 

o Maintain submittal log and check status to ensure timely approval. 

o Maintain orderly files of all relevant project documents so that they can be easily accessed 

o Monitor adherence to specifications 

o Gather material inspection and coordinate any required testing on behalf of the Village 

o Provide guidance to the contractor when questions arise during construction 

o Perform quantity measurements to prepare pay estimates and change orders to review with 

contractor and submit to Village. 

o Gather certified payrolls and waivers of lien 

o Maintain daily contact with contractor to monitor schedule and recommend actions that 

should be taken if falling behind. 

o Maintain daily contact with the utility companies and their contractors to monitor 

concurrence with proposed schedules. 

o Monitor and ensure that all OSHA safety regulations are followed by the consultant staff 

and sub-consultants. 

o Obtain material acceptance certifications as materials are incorporated into the project to 

expedite project closeout. Withhold payment until material inspection and certifications 

are provided. 

o Monitor and document erosion control and ensure conformity with the plans, 

specifications, and standards. 

o Provide information to residents as required 

o Perform punch list inspections with the Village representative, provide follow up 

inspections and recommend acceptance when appropriate 

o Communicate activities with Village weekly, or as required based on onsite activities 

• Closeout Paperwork 

o Prepare necessary closeout paperwork required by the Village of North Aurora 

o ADA compliant paperwork 

• Material Testing 

o Provide Quality Assurance (QA) services in accordance with IDOT QC/QA practices and 

procedures (contractor will provide QC). Provide necessary coordination and qualified 

personnel to perform work for all materials. Obtain and test, asphalt, concrete, and 

aggregate samples to perform necessary testing to fulfill QA requirements. Reports shall 



be prepared in a timely manner and coordinated with QC data. The consultant shall fulfill 

the requirements as the QA manager. 

o Review testing data provided by Rubino 

• Record Drawings 

o Prepare record drawings 

o Submit the drawings in a hard copy and digital form 

 

Items not included in the scope: 

• Boundary survey 

• Proposed Drainage and Utility Design; EEI will ensure that drainage is maintained. 

• Intersection Design Study (IDS) 

• Traffic signal design. It is assumed that the existing traffic signal system will remain with minor 

adjustments. 

• Phase I Report 

• No allowance for a Preliminary Environmental Site Assessment (PESA) or Preliminary Site 

Investigation (PSI) 

• No allowance for public involvement 

• No allowance for detention storage or stormwater mitigation/BMP 

• Development of Plats and Legals, it is assumed that no right-of-way or easement acquisition will 

be required. 

• Right-of-way Negotiations and Appraisals 

• Design services by a landscape architect 

• Any special aesthetic features or treatments 

• Roadway Lighting 

• Pavement cores, soil borings or Geotechnical investigations 

• Pavement design, it is assumed that the existing as-builts will be utilized for HMA thickness. 



ATTACHMENT C: ESTIMATED LEVEL OF EFFORT AND ASSOCIATED COST
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES            

CLIENT PROJECT NUMBER
Village of North Aurora NO2207

PROJECT TITLE DATE PREPARED BY
Pedestrian Signal at Randall Road & Dogwood-Ritter 7/11/22

ADMIN
ROLE SPM SPE 2 PE PM SPT 2 SPT ADM
RATE $216 $183 $154 $194 $159 $149 $70

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING

1.1 2            2            4          506$                    

1.2 9            14          23        3,972$                 

1.3 1            4            2            7          1,097$                 

1.4 4            2            6          756$                    
1.5 3            3          549$                    

Insert Task Subtotal: -            6            8            9            14          2            4            43        6,880$                 

DESIGN ENGINEERING

2.1 4            2            2            8          1,170$                 

2.2 1            8            24          4            37        5,972$                 

2.3 8            8          1,464$                 

2.4 Submit Final Plans, Specifications & Estimates, and QC/QA 1            7            8            2            18        2,869$                 
2.5 4            4            4            12        1,628$                 

Insert Task Subtotal: 2            31          36          -            -            6            8            83        13,103$               

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING

3.1 2            8            4            14        2,512$                 

3.2 4            4            8          1,348$                 

3.3 2            4            90          96        15,024$               

3.4 Closeout Paperwork 4            4          732$                    

3.5 Material Testing 2            2            4          674$                    
3.6 8            2            10        1,412$                 

Insert Task Subtotal: 4            22          100        -            8            -            2            136      21,702$               

6            59          144        9            22          8            14          262      41,685                 

DIRECT EXPENSES
Printing/Scanning = 200$                    

CCDD (Rubino) = 2,475$                 
Materials Testing (Rubino) = 1,581$                 

DIRECT EXPENSES = 4,256$                 

LABOR SUMMARY
EEI Engin. Expenses = 34,269$               
EEI Survey Expenses = 5,244$                 

EEI CAD Expenses = 1,192$                 
EEI Admin. Expenses = 980$                    

TOTAL LABOR EXPENSES 41,685$               

TOTAL COSTS 45,941$               

52 Wheeler Road, Sugar Grove, IL  60554  Tel: 630.466.6700  Fax: 630.466.6701  www.eeiweb.com

TASK 
NO.

TASK DESCRIPTION HOURS COST

PROJECT TOTAL:

Project Management & Contract Administration

Pre-Construction Conference and Status Meetings

Observation and Documentation

Record Drawings

Bidding, Letting and Contracting

RMS

Design Project Management, Coordination

Prepare and Submit Pre-Final Plans, Specifications & Estimates, and QC/QA

KDOT Coordination

CAD 

EcoCAT and CCDD

Utility Coordination
Traffic Capacity Analysis

Preliminary Project Management, Coordination

Survey and Data Collection

ENGINEERING SURVEYING



ATTACHMENT D: ESTIMATED SCHEDULE

CLIENT PROJECT NUMBER
Village of North Aurora NO2207

PROJECT TITLE DATE PREPARED BY
Pedestrian Signal at Randall Road & Dogwood-Ritter RMS

JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4

DESIGN ENGINEERING

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4 Revisions and Disposition of Comments
2.5 Submit Final Plans, Specifications & Estimates
2.6

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4 Closeout Paperwork
3.5 Material Testing
3.6

 52 Wheeler Road  Sugar Grove, IL  60554  Tel: 630.466.6700  Fax: 630.466.6701  www.eeiweb.com

Pre-Construction Conference and Status Meetings
Observation and Documentation

Record Drawings

7/11/22

Preliminary Project Management, Coordination and QC/QA
Survey and Data Collection
Geotechnical Investigation
Utility Coordination

Prepare and Submit Pre-Final Plans, Specifications & Estimates
KDOT Coordination

Bidding, Letting and Contracting

TASK 
NO.

TASK DESCRIPTION

Design Project Management, Coordination and QC/QA

2022

Project Management & Contract Administration



Orchard Rd

Ma
gn

oli
a D

r

Dogwood Dr

Prairie
Ridge Ln

Kilbery Ln

Dogwood
Ln

Ju
nip

er 
Dr

Ritter St

Moorfield Ave
Acorn Dr

Comiskey Ave

Ra
nd

all
 R

d

Ra
nd

all
 C

ros
sin

g L
n

Mallard Point Dr

Engineering Enterprises, Inc.
52 Wheeler Road

Sugar Grove, Illinois 60554
(630) 466-6700

www.eeiweb.com

DATE:

PROJECT NO.:

FILE:

PATH:

BY:

JUNE 2022

NO2207

NO2207_Attachment E - Location Map.MXD

H:\GIS\PUBLIC\NORTH AURORA\

MJT

Village of North Aurora
25 East State Street

North Aurora, IL  60542
630-897-8228 ³

ATTACHMENT E 
LOCATION MAP

PEDESTRIAN SIGNALS AT
RANDALL ROAD & DOGWOOD-

RITTER

800 0 800400 Feet

PROJECT LOCATION



Attachment F



Rubino Engineering, Inc. ● 425 Shepard Drive ● Elgin, IL 60123 ● 847-931-1555 ● 847-931-1560 (Fax)

July 5, 2022 

To: Ryan M. Sikes 
Engineering Enterprises, Inc. 
52 Wheeler Rd 
Sugar Grove, Illinois 
P: 630.466.6700 

Re: Proposal – CCDD Testing  
Proposed Phase II Pedestrian Signal 
Installation Randall Rd and 
Dogwood/Ritter Intersection 
Village of North Aurora, Illinois 

Proposal No. Q22.317g 

Via email:  RSikes@eeiweb.com 

Dear Mr. Sikes, 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. (Rubino) is pleased to submit the following proposal to provide CCDD 
testing services for the above referenced project.  Rubino received a request for proposal from 
Ryan M. Sikes of  Engineering Enterprises, Inc. via email on June 28, 2022.  

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 

Rubino understands that the Village of Aurora is planning the installation of pedestrian signals at 
the Randall Road and Dogwood/Ritter intersection.  Engineering Enterprises Inc. has requested 
that Rubino provide CCDD Testing.  

Information received:  

• RFP Email from Ryan M. Sikes of  Engineering Enterprises, Inc. via email on June 28,
2022.

• Drawing – “NO2207_Attachemtn D – Location Map”, Village of North Aurora, June 2022

Attachment G

mailto:RSikes@eeiweb.com


Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 2 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

Should any of the information on which this proposal has been based, including as described 
above, be inconsistent with the planned construction, Rubino requests to be contacted 
immediately in order to make any necessary changes to this proposal and scope of work. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The following sections outline the scope of services developed based on the information provided 
by the client and the information listed above in order to provide CCDD testing for the planned 
project.  The exploration will be performed in general accordance with both the requested 
proposal information and Rubino’s current understanding of the project.  
 
Site Access and Traffic Control 
 
Based on current site topography, surface conditions, and project discussions, Rubino anticipates 
that the project site will be accessible to track-mounted Geoprobe 7822DT drilling equipment 
and/or pick-up truck with hand auger/direct push equipment.   
 
Traffic control will consist of cones and approach signage.  Flaggers are not anticipated for this 
project but can be provided for an additional fee. 
 
Sampling Locations 
 
The approximate proposed sampling locations are shown below. Rubino recommends that the 
sampling locations be surveyed for elevation by others prior to sampling.  If the sampling locations 
cannot be surveyed, Rubino will locate the locations in the field by measuring distances from 
known, fixed site features.    
 

 
 



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 3 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

Sampling Depths 
 
To obtain data to evaluate subsurface conditions within the proposed development/construction 
areas, Rubino proposes to drill soil borings as specified below.   
 

NUMBER OF 

SAMPLES OR DIRECT 

PUSHES  

DEPTH 
(FEET BEG*) 

LOCATION 

1 5 Northwest corner of the Randall Rd 
and Ritter St Intersection 

*BEG = below existing grade 
 
Sampling and Soil Classification 
 
Soil classification will be performed by observing the soil obtained in the direct push tubes or from 
grab samples.  A brief log with soil classification as well as other notable information will be 
documented by Rubino after sampling.  
 
Completion of Samples 
 
Upon completion of sampling, the sample location will be backfilled with pea gravel or bentonite 
chips and capped with similar existing material.  Some damage to ground surface may result from 
the drilling operations pathways.  Rubino will attempt to minimize such damage, but no restoration 
other than backfilling the soil test borings is included.   
 
It should be noted that over time, some settlement may occur in the bore hole. If Rubino is 
requested to return to the site for the purpose of filling any bore holes that may have settled, 
additional time and material charges may apply. 
 
Laboratory Testing 
 
The soil samples obtained during the field exploration program will be transported to the 
laboratory for classification and a limited number of laboratory tests.  The nature and extent of the 
laboratory testing program is at the discretion of Rubino Engineering, Inc. and will depend upon 
the subsurface conditions encountered during drilling.   
 
Laboratory testing will be performed in accordance with ASTM procedures and may include 
examination of selected samples to evaluate the soils’ index properties and relative strength 
characteristics.  
 
Based on the proposed quantity of soil borings, anticipated depths, and project type, a list of the 
anticipated laboratory tests are summarized below. 
 

LABORATORY TEST 
ESTIMATED 

QUANTITY 
SAMPLE TYPE 

pH’s 1 Direct Push Tubes, Grab Sample 
 
 
 
 



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 4 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

CCDD Testing – LPC 662 Only 
 
Rubino will obtain a “Potential Impacted Property” (PIP) evaluation of the area near the proposed 
pedestrian signal improvements.  
 
If the PIP evaluation indicates no further testing is needed for form LPC-662, Rubino will 
composite soil samples from each borehole for soil analytical testing in general compliance with 
the IEPA CCDD requirements.   

 
• PIP Evaluation (Historical & Regulatory)  
• Soil Analytical Tests: 

o pH (1 total tests)                                                
• P.E. Certification (LPC #662) 

SUMMARY REPORT 

Upon completion of field and laboratory work, Rubino will prepare a summary engineering report 
using the collected data.  The report will include the following: 
 
• Summary of client-provided project information and report basis 

• Overview of field and laboratory tests performed including results 

• LPC-662 CCDD Certification, as applicable 

 
An electronic copy of the report will be provided.  The report will be addressed to Engineering 
Enterprises, Inc..  

PROJECT SCHEDULE 

Rubino proposes to initiate work on this project within 5 working days after receiving written 
authorization to proceed and we will follow the schedule below in order to complete the project: 
 

Task Number of Working Days 
Utility clearance and rig mobilization 10 
Field work including site layout and drilling 5 
Laboratory Testing 10 
Preparation of the LPC Certificate 10 

 
Project schedules can be affected by weather conditions and changes in scope.  If the report 
needs to be delivered by a specific day, please notify us as soon as possible.  Preliminary verbal 
recommendations can be made to appropriate parties upon completion of the field investigation 
and laboratory testing.  Rubino will need to receive a signed copy of this proposal intact prior to 
mobilizing the drill rig. 

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS 

Rubino will coordinate contacting the Utility “One-Call” for public utility clearance prior to the start 
of drilling activities.  It is Rubino’s experience that this service does not mark the locations of 
privately owned utilities.  This proposal is based on private utility lines and other subsurface 
appurtenances being located in the field by others prior to our mobilization. 



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 5 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

FEES 

Rubino proposes to charge the fee for performance of the outlined scope of services on a lump-
sum basis.  Based on the scope of services outlined above, the lump-sum fee will be: 
 

CCDD Field 
Location Layout / Utility / PM $500.00 lump sum 

Field Sampling – Geoprobe Direct Push $ 750.00 lump sum 

CCDD 662 PIP Evaluation, pH, and LPC Form 662: $ 1,000.00 lump sum 

  $2,250.00 Grand Total 
 
Please see the attached fee schedule for additional unit rates for services requested after issuing 
the report (drawing / spec review, scope or site layout change, etc.).   
 
Scope Limitations 
 
Project services do not include a site evaluation to determine the presence or absence of 
wetlands, hazardous substances, or toxic materials.   
 
Rock coring is not included in the scope of this exploration, therefore, the character and continuity 
of refusal materials, if encountered, can be determined only with a more comprehensive scope of 
services.  Therefore, the borings will be advanced to the depths referenced above, or to refusal, 
whichever is shallower.   
 
Sampling and testing requirements are a function of the subsurface conditions encountered.  
Should conditions be encountered which require a deepening of borings or additional 
investigation, Rubino will notify you to discuss modifying the outlined scope of services.  Additional 
work beyond the lump-sum fee will not be performed without your prior authorization.   

AUTHORIZATION 

If this proposal is acceptable to you, Rubino will perform the work in accordance with the attached 
General Conditions that are incorporated into and made a part of this proposal.  Please sign below 
as notice to proceed and return one copy of this proposal intact to our office.  Rubino will proceed 
with the work upon receipt of authorization. 
 
Rubino appreciates the opportunity to offer our services for this project and we look forward to 
working with your company.  Please contact Rubino with questions pertaining to this proposal or 
requests for additional services. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. 
 
 
 
 
Michelle A. Lipinski, PE    Anthony T. Tomaras  
President    Project Manager 
 



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 6 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
   
MAL/file 
 
Attachments: Proposal Acceptance and Data Sheet 

Schedule of Services and Fees 
  General Conditions 
 
**This is an electronic copy.  Hard Copies of this proposal are available upon request. 
   

RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. IS: 

AN AASHTO-ACCREDITED LABORATORY 

IDOT PREQUALIFIED  
IDOT DBE-CERTIFIED (100% WOMAN-OWNED) 



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 7 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

PROPOSAL ACCEPTANCE: 
 

AGREED TO, THIS _________ DAY OF _____________________ , 202__. 

BY (please print): ___________________________________________________ 

TITLE: ___________________________________________________ 

COMPANY: ___________________________________________________ 

SIGNATURE: ___________________________________________________ 
 
PROJECT INFORMATION: 
 
1. Project Name: _____________________________________________________________  
2. Project Location: ___________________________________________________________  
3. Your Job No: _____________________  Purchase Order No.: _____________________  
4. Project Manager: _______________________  Telephone No.:_____________________  
5. Site Contact:___________________________  Telephone No.:_____________________  
6. Number and Distribution of Reports: 

(  ) Copies To: _________________________  (  ) Copies To: _____________________  
 _____________________________________   ________________________________  
 _____________________________________   ________________________________  
Attn:  _________________________________  Attn: _____________________________  
Email:  _______________________________  Email: ___________________________  
 
(  ) Copies To: _________________________  (  ) Copies To: _____________________  
 _____________________________________   ________________________________  
 _____________________________________   ________________________________  
Attn:  _________________________________  Attn: _____________________________  
Email:  _______________________________  Email: ___________________________  
 

7. Invoicing Address: __________________________________________________________  
  _________________________________________________________  
  _________________________________________________________  
 Attn:  _____________________________________________________  
 Email:  ___________________________________________________  

8. Other Pertinent Information Or Previous Subsurface Information Available: 
 _________________________________________________________________________  
 _________________________________________________________________________  
 

  



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 8 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 
2021 Schedule of Geotechnical Services & Fees 

ENGINEERING    

 Professional and Technical Services for site evaluation, field supervision, analysis of test 
data and engineering recommendations and consultation:    

  Principal Engineer  Per Hour  $       185.00  
  Project Engineer/Manager  Per Hour  $       125.00  
  Engineering Field Technician / Field Engineer / Field Geologist  Per Hour  $         95.00  
  Administrative Assistant  Per Hour  $         65.00  
           
SUBSURFACE EXPLORATION    

 Mobilization and moving of truck-mounted drilling equipment and crew  (50-mile radius)  Per Trip  $       650.00  
 All-Terrain Vehicle (ATV) Usage Surcharge  Per Day  $       195.00  
 Boring Layout - Two-man crew (2 hour minimum)  Per Hour  $       166.00  

 Soil Sampling using split-barrel sampler (ASTM D-1586) 2.5-foot intervals to 15 feet and 5-
foot intervals thereafter, 3-1/4" E.D. HAS:    

           
  Depth Range        
  Feet  Easy Drilling*  Hard Drilling**     
  0 - 25  $24.50  $27.00     
  25 - 50   $26.50  $29.00     
  50 - 72  $30.50  $31.00     
  75 - 100  $32.00  $33.50     
           
  * Less than 50 blows per foot or a Qp of 4 tsf      

  ** 50 blows or more per foot, Qp more than 4 tsf, or strata containing coarse gravel or 
cobbles     

           
 Hourly Rate Drilling   Per Hour  $       275.00  
 Thin Wall Tubes (ASTM D-1587)  Each  $         50.00  
           
LABORATORY TESTING    

 Moisture Content Test / Visual Classification  Each  $           7.00  
 Atterberg Limits Determination (LL, PL)  Each  $         65.00  
 Combined Hydrometer & Sieve Analysis  Each  $       130.00  
 Sieve Analysis (washed)  Each  $         85.00  
 Unconfined Compression Test, Tube Sample   Each  $         35.00  
 Unconfined Compression Test, with Stress-Strain Curve  Each  $         85.00  
 Density Determination  Each  $         15.00  
 Specific Gravity Determination  Each  $         65.00  
 Organic Content Determination Test (loss on ignition)  Each  $         25.00  
 ASTM D698 - AASHTO T99 (Standard Proctor)  Each  $       225.00  
 ASTM D1557 - AASHTO T180 (Modified Proctor)  Each  $       275.00  
 One-Dimensional Consolidation Test (ASTM D-2435)  Each  $       750.00  
 pH Testing  Each  $         15.00 
 Triaxial Testing (TXC-CIU) 3-Point Envelope  Each  $     1,300.00 
           

  



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 9 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

FEE REMARKS 
           
1) All fees and services are provided in accordance with the attached Rubino General Conditions. 
2) Unit prices/rates are in effect for 12 months from the date of this proposal and are subject to change without notice thereafter. 

3) 
Overtime rates are applicable for services performed in excess of 8 hours per day Monday through Friday, before 8:00 AM or 
after 5:00 PM, and for all hours worked on Saturdays, Sundays and holidays. The overtime rate is 1.5 times the applicable hourly 
rate. 

4) All rates are billed on a portal-to-portal basis. 
5) Standby time due to delays beyond Rubino's control will be charged at the applicable hourly rate. 
6) Transportation and per diem are charged at the applicable rates. 

7) Rates involving mileage (including transportation, mobilization, vehicle and trip charges) are subject to change based upon 
increases in the national average gasoline price. 

8) A minimum charge of 4 hours applies to field testing and observation services. 

9) 
Scheduling or cancellation of field testing and observation services is required no less than the working day prior to the date the 
services are to be performed. Services cancelled without advance and/or inadequate notice will be assessed a minimum charge 
of 4 hours. 

10) For all Rubino services, a project management/engineering review charge will be billed for all reports issued for the 
scheduling/supervision of personnel and the evaluation/review of data and reports. 

11) The minimum billing increment for time is a half hour. 
12) A project set-up charge of a minimum of two hours applies to all projects. 
13) Professional services rates are exclusive of expert deposition or testimony time. 
14) Drilling and field service rates are based on OSHA Level D personnel protection. 

15) For sites where drilling is to occur that are not readily accessible to a truck mounted drill rig, rates for rig mobility, site clearing, 
crew stand-by time, etc. will be charged as applicable. 

16) If applicable the prevailing wage fees charged under this agreement will be adjusted if there is any change in the applicable 
prevailing wage rate established by the Illinois Department of Labor. 

17) Services and fees not listed on this schedule may be quoted on request. 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois  July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g  Page 10 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

 



Proposed Phase II CCDD Testing in North Aurora, Illinois July 5, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No. Q22.317g Page 11 of 11 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 
1. PARTIES AND SCOPE OF SERVICES:   Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall include said company or its particular division, subsidiary or affiliate performing the services.  “Services” means the specific 
geotechnical, analytical, testing or other service to be performed by Rubino Engineering, Inc. as set forth in Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s proposal, Client’s acceptance thereof and these General Conditions.
Additional services ordered by Client shall also be subject to these General Conditions.  “Client” refers to the person or business entity ordering the services to be done by Rubino Engineering, Inc.  If Client 
is ordering the services on behalf of another, Client represents and warrants that it is the duly authorized agent of said party for the purpose of ordering and directing said services.  Unless otherwise stated 
in writing, Client assumes sole responsibility for determining whether the quantity and the nature of the services ordered by the client is adequate and sufficient for Client’s intended purpose.  Client shall 
communicate these General Conditions to each and every third party to whom Client transmits any part of Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s services.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall have no duty or obligation to 
any third party greater than that set forth in Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s proposal, Client’s acceptance thereof and these General Conditions.  The ordering of services from Rubino Engineering, Inc., or the 
reliance on any of Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s work, shall constitute acceptance of the terms of Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s proposal and these General Conditions, regardless of the terms of any subsequently 
issued document. 

2. TESTS AND INSPECTIONS:  Client shall cause all tests and inspection of the site, materials and work performed by Rubino Engineering, Inc. or others to be timely and properly performed in accordance 
with the plans, specifications and contract documents and Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s recommendations.  No claims for loss, damage or injury shall by brought against Rubino Engineering, Inc. by Client or 
any third party unless all tests and inspections have been so performed and unless Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s recommendations have been followed.  Client agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Rubino 
Engineering, Inc., its officers, employees and agents harmless from any and all claims, suits, losses, costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees in the event 
that all such tests and inspections are not so performed or Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s recommendations are not so fo llowed except to the extent that such failure is the result of the negligence, willful or 
wanton act of omission of Rubino Engineering, Inc., its officers, agents or employees, subject to the limitation contained in paragraph 9. 

3. SCHEDULING OF SERVICES:  The services set forth in Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s proposal and Client’s acceptance will be accomplished in a timely, workmanlike and professional manner by RUBINO 
ENGINEERING, INC. personnel at the prices quoted.  If Rubino Engineering, Inc. is required to delay commencement of the services or if, upon embarking upon its services, Rubino Engineering, Inc. is 
required to stop or interrupt the progress of its services as a result of changes in the scope of the services requested by Client, to fulfill the requirements of third parties, interruptions in the progress of 
construction, or other causes beyond the direct reasonable control of Rubino Engineering, Inc., additional charges will be applicable and payable by Client. 

4. ACCESS TO SITE:  Client will arrange and provide such access to the site as is necessary for Rubino Engineering, Inc. to perform the services.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall take reasonable measures 
and precautions to minimize damage to the site and any improvements located thereon as the result of its services or the use of its equipment; however, Rubino Engineering, Inc. has not included in its fee 
the cost of restoration of damage which may occur.  If Client desires or requires Rubino Engineering, Inc. to restore the site to its former condition, upon written request Rubino Engineering, Inc. will perform 
such additional services as is necessary to do so and Client agrees to pay Rubino Engineering, Inc. for the cost. 

5. CLIENT’S DUTY TO NOTIFY ENGINEER:  Client represents and warrants that it has advised Rubino Engineering, Inc. of any known or suspected hazardous materials, utility lines and pollutants at any 
site at which Rubino Engineering, Inc. is to perform services hereunder, and unless Rubino Engineering, Inc. has assumed in writing the responsibility of locating subsurface objects, structures, lines or 
conduits.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. may use such information in performing its services and is entitled to rely upon the accuracy and completeness thereof.  Client agrees to defend, indemnify and save 
Rubino Engineering, Inc. harmless from all claims, suits, loses costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees as a result of personal injury, death or property damage occurring with respect to 
Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s performance of its work and resulting to or caused by contact with subsurface of latent objects, structures, lines or conduits where the actual  or potential presence and location 
thereof were not revealed to Rubino Engineering, Inc. by Client and/or by any of Client’s subcontractors or sub consultants 

6. RESPONSIBILITY:  Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s services shall not include determining, supervising or implementing the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction.  Rubino 
Engineering, Inc. shall not be responsible for evaluating, reporting or affecting job conditions concerning health, safety or welfare.  Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s services or failure to perform same shall not in 
any way excuse any contractor, subcontractor or supplier from performance of its work in accordance with the contract documents.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. has no right or duty to stop the contractor’s 
work. 

7. SAMPLE DISPOSAL:  Unless otherwise agreed in writing, test specimens or samples will be disposed immediately upon completion of the test.  All drilling samples or specimens will be disposed sixty 
(60) days after submission of Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s report.

8. PAYMENT:  Client shall be invoiced once each month for services performed during the preceding period.  Client agrees to pay each invoice within thirty (30) days of its receipt.  Client further agrees to 
pay interest on all amounts invoiced and not paid or objected to for valid cause in writing with said thirty (30) day period at the rate of eighteen (18) percent per annum (or the maximum interest rate permitted 
under applicable law), until paid.  Client agrees to pay Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s cost of collection of all amounts due and unpaid after sixty (60) days, including court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees.
Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall not be bound by any provision or agreement requiring or providing for arbitration or disputes or controversies arising out of this agreement, any provision wherein Rubino 
Engineering, Inc. waives any rights to a mechanics’ lien, or any provision conditioning Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s right to receive payment for its services upon payment to Client by any third party.  These 
General Conditions are notice, where required, that Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall file a lien whenever necessary to collect past due amounts.  Release of such lien shall be given only when payment in full 
has been received for services duly rendered.  Failure to make payment within thirty (30) days of invoice shall constitute a release of Rubino Engineering, Inc. from any and all claims which Client may have, 
whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether known or unknown at the time. 

9. STANDARD OF CARE:  RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC.’S SERVICES WILL BE PERFORMED, ITS FINDINGS OBTAINED AND ITS REPORTS PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS PROPOSAL, 
CLIENT’S ACCEPTANCE THEREOF, THESE GENERAL CONDITIONS AND WITH GENERALLY ACCEPTED PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICES.  IN PERFORMING ITS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, 
RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. WILL USE THAT DEGREE OF CARE AND SKILL ORDINARILY EXERCISED UNDER SIMILAR CIRCUMSTANCES BY MEMBERS OF ITS PROFESSION.  RUBINO 
ENGINEERING, INC. MAKES NO WARRANTIES, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IN CONNECTION WITH ITS SERVICES PROVIDED AS SET FORTH IN ITS PROPOSAL, CLIENT’S ACCEPTANCE 
THEREOF, AND THESE GENERAL CONDITIONS.  STATEMENTS MADE IN RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. REPORTS ARE OPINIONS BASED UPON ENGINEERING JUDGMENT AND ARE NOT TO 
BE CONSTRUED AS REPRESENTATIONS OF FACT. 

SHOULD RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. OR ANY OF ITS PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES BE FOUND TO HAVE BEEN NEGLIGENT IN THE PERFORMANCE OF ITS WORK, OR TO HAVE MADE AND 
BREACHED ANY EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED WARRANTY, REPRESENTATION OR CONTRACT, CLIENT, ALL PARTIES CLAIMING THROUGH CLIENT AND ALL PARTIES CLAIMING TO HAVE IN 
ANY WAY RELIED UPON RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC.’S WORK, AGREE THAT THE MAXIMUM AGGREGATE AMOUNT OF THE LIABILITY OF RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC., ITS OFFICERS, 
EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS SHALL BE LIMITED TO $10,000.00 OR THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE FEE PAID TO RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. FOR ITS WORK PERFORMED WITH RESPECT TO 
THE PROJECT, WHICHEVER AMOUNT IS GREATER. 

NO ACTION OR CLAIM, WHETHER IN TORT, CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE, MAY BE BROUGHT AGAINST RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC., ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO RUBINO ENGINEERING, 
INC.’S WORK, MORE THAN TWO (2) YEARS AFTER THE CESSATION OF RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC.’S WORK HEREUNDER. 

10. INDEMNITY:  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client and Rubino Engineering, Inc. each agree to indemnify the other party and the other party’s officers, directors, partners, employees, and 
representatives, from and against losses, damages, and judgments arising from claims by third parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses recoverable under applicable law, but only to the 
extent they are found to be caused by a negligent act, error, or omission of the indemnifying party or any of the indemnifying party’s officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, subcontractors, 
or subconsultants in the performance of services under this Agreement.  If claims, losses, damages, and judgments are found to be caused by the joint or concurrent negligence of Client and Rubino 
Engineering, Inc., they shall be borne by each party in proportion to its negligence. 

11. TERMINATION:  This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven (7) days’ prior written notice.  In the event of termination, Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall be compensated by Client for 
all services performed up to and including the termination date, including reimbursable expenses and for the completion of such services and records as are necessary to place Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s
files in order and/or protect its professional reputation.  Failure of Client to make payments when due shall be cause for suspension of services or, ultimately, termination, unless and until Rubino Engineering 
Inc. has been paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses and other related changes. 

12.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION:  In the event of a dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the services to be rendered hereunder, the Client and Rubino Engineering, Inc. agree to attempt to 
resolve such disputes in the following manner:  1) The parties agree to attempt to resolve any and all unsettled claims, counterclaims, disputes and other matters in question through direct negotiations 
between the appropriate representatives of each party; 2) If such negotiations are not fully successful, the parties agree to submit any and all remaining unsettled claims, counterclaims, disputes and other 
matters in question to mediation in accordance with the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association, effective as of the date of this Agreement. 

13.  WITNESS FEES:  Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s employees shall not be retained as expert witnesses except by separate written agreement.  Client agrees to pay Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s legal expenses, 
administrative costs and fees pursuant to Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s then current fee schedule for Rubino Engineering, Inc. to respond to any subpoena. 

14. NO HIRE: Client agrees not to hire Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s employees except through Rubino Engineering, Inc.  In the event Client hires a Rubino Engineering, Inc. employee, Client shall pay Rubino 
Engineering, Inc. an amount equal to one-half of the employee’s annualized salary, with Rubino Engineering, Inc. waiving other remedies it may have. 

15. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS:  Nothing contained within this agreement shall be construed or interpreted as requiring Rubino Engineering, Inc. to assume the status of an owner, operator, generator, 
storer, transporter, treater or disposal facility as those terms appear within RCRA, CERCLA, or within any Federal or State statute or regulation governing the generation, transportation, treatment, storage 
and disposal of pollutants.  Client assumes full responsibility for compliance with the provisions of RCRA, CERCLA, and any other Federal or State statute or regulation governing the handling, treatment, 
storage and disposal of pollutants. 

16. PROVISIONS SEVERABLE:   The parties have entered into this agreement in good faith and it is the specific intent of the parties that the terms of the General Conditions be enforced as written.  In the 
event any of the provisions of these General Conditions should be found to be unenforceable, it shall be stricken and the remaining provisions shall be enforceable. 

17. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties, and there are no representations, warranties or undertakings made other than as set forth herein.  This 
agreement may be amended, modified or terminated only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto.



PROPOSAL 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. ● 425 Shepard Drive ● Elgin, IL 60123 ● (847) 931-1555 ● (847) 931-1560 fax 

July 6, 2022 

To: Ryan M. Sikes 
Engineering Enterprises, Inc. 
52 Wheeler Rd 
Sugar Grove, Illinois 
P: 630.466.6700v 

Re: QA Construction Material Testing Services  
Proposed Phase III Pedestrian Signal Installation 
Randall Road and Ritter/Dogwood Intersection 
North Aurora, Illinois 

Proposal No.  Q22.318 
Via email:  RSikes@eeiweb.com 

Dear Mr. Sikes, 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. is pleased to submit the following proposal to provide QA and construction material 
testing and inspection services for the above referenced project.  

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. received material quantities from you via email on June 30, 2022 and the following 
outlines our understanding of the requested scope of services:   

General Scope of Services 
BITUMINOUS PAVING AND EXTERIOR CONCRETE 

▪ QA Field testing of uncured concrete – Slump, air, temperature, and casting of cylinders
▪ QA Laboratory testing of cured concrete – Strength
▪ QA Field testing of hot mix asphalt (HMA) – Density by the nuclear method

Extras 
▪ Re-inspection for failed tests
▪ Work areas not ready for inspection at the time scheduled
▪ Delays by the contractor
▪ Cancellations
▪ Overtime
▪ Any services not described and listed above

Rubino Engineering, Inc. proposes to provide experienced, technical personnel to perform the requested testing 
in general accordance with the client-provided project specifications.  If any of the above information is incorrect, 
please notify us or change it on the signed copy of the proposal.   

Based on your email on June 30, 2022 the following summarizes our estimate for testing and is subject to change 
based on final scheduling: 

Material Estimated 
Number of trips Half / Full Day * 

BITUMINOUS PAVING 1 Half (4 hours) 
CONCRETE 1 Half (4 hours) 

*Portal to Portal

FEES 

The work will be accomplished on a unit price basis in accordance with the Rubino Engineering, Inc. Schedule of 
Services and Fees, and will be performed pursuant to the attached General Conditions.  Copies of our Schedule 
of Services and Fees and General Conditions are enclosed herewith and incorporated into this proposal.   

Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s fees will be determined by the actual amount of technical time expended for this project 
and the amount of laboratory testing performed by the client’s request.   

mailto:RSikes@eeiweb.com


Pedestrian Signal Installation – QA Construction Material Testing      July 6, 2022 

Rubino Proposal No:  Q22.318 

Rubino Engineering, Inc.          Page 2 of 6 

 
The fees charged under this agreement are subject to change 6 months from the date of the proposal. 
 
Rubino Engineering, Inc. will proceed with the planned work only after receiving a signed copy of this proposal.  
Please complete the attached Project Data Sheet before returning the proposal to enable your file to be properly 
established. 
 

 
 
PROJECT SCHEDULING 

 

 
 
CLOSING 
 
Rubino appreciates the opportunity to offer our services for this project and we look forward to working with your 
company.  Please contact me with questions pertaining to this proposal or requests for additional services. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. 
  
 
 
Michelle A. Lipinski, PE 
President 
michelle.lipinski@rubinoeng.com  

M
aterial Tester 1 (hr)

Vehicle (day)

Project M
anager (hr)

N
uclear D

ensity G
auge 

(day)

C
ylinders (each)

Sam
ple Pickup

Quantity

$100.00

$65.00

$125.00

$44.00

$17.00

$253.00

Pedestrian Signal 
HMA Estimate 4 1 0.5 1
PCC Estimate 4 1 0.5 5 1

8 2 1 1 5 1

GRAND TOTAL = $1,437.00

$800.00

$130.00

$125.00

$44.00

$85.00

$253.00

Item Description 

Please book testing services prior to 4pm the day before testing is needed via our website: 
https://rubinoeng.com/schedule-field-testing 

 The office and field project manager will be notified, and you will receive a confirmation 
email and possibly a follow up phone call or email for additional project information. 

Changes to the schedule or cancellations:  scheduling@rubinoeng.com  
Please call the office with any questions or changes to the schedule between 8am to 4pm. 

RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. IS: 

AN AASHTO-ACCREDITED LABORATORY 

IDOT PREQUALIFIED  

IDOT DBE-CERTIFIED (100% WOMAN-OWNED) 

mailto:michelle.lipinski@rubinoeng.com
https://rubinoeng.com/schedule-field-testing
mailto:scheduling@rubinoeng.com


Pedestrian Signal Installation – QA Construction Material Testing      July 6, 2022 

Rubino Proposal No:  Q22.318 

Rubino Engineering, Inc.          Page 3 of 6 

AUTHORIZATION AND PROPOSAL ACCEPTANCE 
 
If this proposal is acceptable to you, Rubino Engineering, Inc. will perform the work in accordance with 
the attached General Conditions that are incorporated into and made a part of this proposal.  Please 
sign below as notice to proceed and return one copy of this proposal intact to our office.  We will proceed 
with the work upon receipt of signed authorization. 
 
AGREED TO, THIS _________ DAY OF _____________________ , 20__. 

BY (please print): ___________________________________________________ 

TITLE: ___________________________________________________ 

COMPANY: ___________________________________________________ 

SIGNATURE: ___________________________________________________ 
 
PROJECT INFORMATION: 
 
1. Project Name: _____________________________________________________________  
2. Project Location: ___________________________________________________________  
3. Your Job No: _____________________  Purchase Order No.: ____________________  
4. Project Manager: _______________________  Telephone No.: ____________________  
5. Site Contact: ___________________________  Telephone No.: ____________________  
6. Number and Distribution of Reports: 

(  ) Copies To: _________________________  (  ) Copies To: ____________________  
Attn:  ________________________________  Attn: ____________________________  
Email:  ______________________________  Email: __________________________  
 
(  ) Copies To: _________________________  (  ) Copies To: ____________________  
Attn:  ________________________________  Attn: ____________________________  
Email:  ______________________________  Email: __________________________  
 

7. Invoicing Address: _________________________________________________________  
  ________________________________________________________  
  ________________________________________________________  
 Attn:  ____________________________________________________  
 Email:  __________________________________________________  

8. Other Pertinent Information Or Previous Subsurface Information Available: 
 ________________________________________________________________________  
 ________________________________________________________________________  
 

  

  



Pedestrian Signal Installation – QA Construction Material Testing      July 6, 2022 

Rubino Proposal No:  Q22.318 

Rubino Engineering, Inc.          Page 4 of 6 

Rubino Engineering, Inc. 
 Schedule of Construction Materials Testing Services & Fees through March 1, 2023 (Illinois Prevailing Wage) 

LABORATORY TESTING SERVICES   

 Compression testing of concrete, mortar and grout specimens by ASTM procedures Per Cylinder  $     17.00  
 Pick-up of test cylinders and transportation to lab (min. 2), or cancellation hours (min. 4)   

  (Does not include vehicle charge) Per hour  $     94.00  
 Asphalt   

  Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity Each  $   110.00  
  Bulk Specific Gravity Each  $     95.00  
  Ignition Oven Test / Reflux Extraction + Sieve Analysis Each  $   126.00  
  Core Densities Each  $     45.00  
 Sieve Analysis (Washed) Each  $     90.00  
 Sample preparation for the above tests Each  $     40.00  
     
MATERIAL TESTER - 1 - Field inspection of uncured concrete and asphalt.   

  Per Hour   $   100.00  

  Per Hour Overtime (before 8am, after 5pm and Saturdays)   $   150.00  
  Per Hour Overtime Sundays and Holidays   $   200.00  
     
EQUIPMENT CHARGES   

  Vehicle Charge - Round Trip  Per Day  $     65.00  
  Nuclear Density Gauge Per Day  $     44.00  
     
ENGINEERING SERVICES   

  Principal Engineer Per Hour  $   185.00  
  Project Engineer/Manager Per Hour  $   125.00  
  Administrative Assistant Per Hour  $     65.00  
  Report Review Each  $     65.00  

 
REMARKS 
1) All fees and services are provided in accordance with the attached Rubino Engineering, Inc. General Conditions. 

2) Unit prices/rates are in effect for 6 months from the date of this proposal and are subject to change without notice thereafter if not noted 
above. 

3) 
Overtime rates are applicable for services performed in excess of 8 hours per day Monday through Friday, before 7:00 AM or after 3:00 PM, 
and for all hours worked on Saturdays, Sundays and holidays. The overtime rate is 1.5 times the applicable hourly rate.  Sundays and 
holidays are double time.   

4) All rates are billed on a portal-to-portal basis. 
5) Standby time due to delays beyond our control will be charged at the applicable hourly rate. 
6) Transportation and per diem are charged at the applicable rates per trip. 

7) Rates involving mileage (including transportation, mobilization, vehicle and trip charges) are subject to change based upon increases in the 
national average gasoline price. 

8) A minimum charge of 4 hours applies to field testing and observation services. 

9) Scheduling or cancellation of field testing and observation services is required no less than the working day prior to the date the services are 
to be performed. Services cancelled without advance and/or inadequate notice will be assessed a minimum 4-hour charge. 

10) For all Rubino Engineering, Inc. services, a project management/engineering review charge will be billed for all reports issued for the 
scheduling/supervision of personnel and the evaluation/review of data and reports. 

11) The minimum billing increment for time is a half hour. 
12) A project set-up charge of a minimum of two hours applies to all projects. 
13) Professional Services rates are exclusive of expert deposition or testimony time. 

14) 
This proposal is based on Rubino Engineering, Inc. being scheduled on an on-call basis and letters of certification will not be provided 
unless Rubino Engineering, Inc. is notified in advance and Rubino Engineering, Inc. is scheduled for full time inspection and testing of the 
area or item to be certified. 

15) If special inspections are required by the city where the construction is to take place, it must be brought to the attention of Rubino 
Engineering, Inc. prior to the start of construction as additional charges will apply. 

16) Prevailing wage fees are subject to change based on the Illinois Department of Labor. 
17) Services and fees not listed on this schedule may be quoted on request. 



Pedestrian Signal Installation – QA Construction Material Testing      July 6, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No:  Q22.318 

Rubino Engineering, Inc.          Page 5 of 6 

 

 



Pedestrian Signal Installation – QA Construction Material Testing      July 6, 2022 
Rubino Proposal No:  Q22.318 

Rubino Engineering, Inc.          Page 6 of 6 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 
1. PARTIES AND SCOPE OF SERVICES:   Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall include said company or its particular division, subsidiary or affiliate performing the services.  “Services” means the specific 
geotechnical, analytical, testing or other service to be performed by Rubino Engineering, Inc. as set forth in Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s proposal, Client’s acceptance thereof and these General Conditions.  
Additional services ordered by Client shall also be subject to these General Conditions.  “Client” refers to the person or business entity order ing the services to be done by Rubino Engineering, Inc.  If 
Client is ordering the services on behalf of another, Client represents and warrants that it is the duly authorized agent of said party for the purpose of ordering and directing said services.  Unless otherwise 
stated in writing, Client assumes sole responsibility for determining whether the quantity and the nature of the services ordered by the client is adequate and sufficient for Client’s intended purpose.  Client 
shall communicate these General Conditions to each and every third party to whom Client transmits any part of Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s services.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall have no duty or 
obligation to any third party greater than that set forth in Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s proposal, Client’s acceptance thereof and these General Conditions.  The ordering of services from Rubino Engineering, 
Inc., or the reliance on any of Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s work, shall constitute acceptance of the terms of Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s proposal and these General Conditions, regardless of the terms of 
any subsequently issued document. 
 
2. TESTS AND INSPECTIONS:  Client shall cause all tests and inspection of the site, materials and work performed by Rubino Engineering, Inc. or others to be timely and properly performed in 
accordance with the plans, specifications and contract documents and Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s recommendations.  No claims for loss, damage or injury shall by brought against Rubino Engineering, 
Inc. by Client or any third party unless all tests and inspections have been so performed and unless Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s recommendations have been followed.  Client agrees to indemnify, defend 
and hold Rubino Engineering, Inc., its officers, employees and agents harmless from any and all claims, suits, losses, costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, court costs and reasonable 
attorney’s fees in the event that all such tests and inspections are not so performed or Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s recommendations are not so followed except to the extent that such failure is the result 
of the negligence, willful or wanton act of omission of Rubino Engineering, Inc., its officers, agents or employees, subject to the limitation contained in paragraph 9.  
 
3. SCHEDULING OF SERVICES:  The services set forth in Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s proposal and Client’s acceptance will be accomplished in a timely, workmanlike and professional manner by 
RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. personnel at the prices quoted.  If Rubino Engineering, Inc. is required to delay commencement of the services or if, upon embarking upon its services, Rubino Engineering, 
Inc. is required to stop or interrupt the progress of its services as a result of changes in the scope of the services requested by Client, to fulfill the requirements of third parties, interruptions in the progress 
of construction, or other causes beyond the direct reasonable control of Rubino Engineering, Inc., additional charges will be applicable and payable by Client. 
 
4. ACCESS TO SITE:  Client will arrange and provide such access to the site as is necessary for Rubino Engineering, Inc. to perform the services.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall take reasonable 
measures and precautions to minimize damage to the site and any improvements located thereon as the result of its services or the use of its equipment; however, Rubino Engineering, Inc. has not 
included in its fee the cost of restoration of damage which may occur.  If Client desires or requires Rubino Engineering, Inc. to restore the site to its former condition, upon written request Rubino 
Engineering, Inc. will perform such additional services as is necessary to do so and Client agrees to pay Rubino Engineering, Inc. for the cost. 
 
5. CLIENT’S DUTY TO NOTIFY ENGINEER:  Client represents and warrants that it has advised Rubino Engineering, Inc. of any known or suspected hazardous materials, utility lines and pollutants at 
any site at which Rubino Engineering, Inc. is to perform services hereunder, and unless Rubino Engineering, Inc. has assumed in writing the responsibility of locating subsurface objects, structures, lines 
or conduits.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. may use such information in performing its services and is entitled to rely upon the accuracy and completeness thereof.  Client agrees to defend, indemnify and 
save Rubino Engineering, Inc. harmless from all claims, suits, loses costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees as a result of personal injury, death or property damage occurring with 
respect to Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s performance of its work and resulting to or caused by contact with subsurface of latent objects, structures, lines or conduits where the actual  or potential presence 
and location thereof were not revealed to Rubino Engineering, Inc. by Client and/or by any of Client’s subcontractors or sub consultants 
 
6. RESPONSIBILITY:  Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s services shall not include determining, supervising or implementing the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction.  Rubino 
Engineering, Inc. shall not be responsible for evaluating, reporting or affecting job conditions concerning health, safety or welfare.  Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s services or failure to perform same shall not 
in any way excuse any contractor, subcontractor or supplier from performance of its work in accordance with the contract documents.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. has no right or duty to stop the contractor’s 
work. 
 
7. SAMPLE DISPOSAL:  Unless otherwise agreed in writing, test specimens or samples will be disposed immediately upon completion of the test.  All drilling samples or specimens will be disposed 
sixty (60) days after submission of Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s report. 
 
8. PAYMENT:  Client shall be invoiced once each month for services performed during the preceding period.  Client agrees to pay each invoice within thirty (30) days of its receipt.  Client further agrees 
to pay interest on all amounts invoiced and not paid or objected to for valid cause in writing with said thirty (30) day period at the rate of eighteen (18) percent per annum (or the maximum interest rate 
permitted under applicable law), until paid.  Client agrees to pay Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s cost of collection of all amounts due and unpaid after sixty (60) days, including court costs and reasonable 
attorney’s fees.  Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall not be bound by any provision or agreement requiring or providing for arbitration or disputes or controversies arising out of this agreement, any provision 
wherein Rubino Engineering, Inc. waives any rights to a mechanics’ lien, or any provision conditioning Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s right to receive payment for its services upon payment to Client by any 
third party.  These General Conditions are notice, where required, that Rubino Engineering, Inc. shall file a lien whenever necessary to collect past due amounts.  Release of such lien shall be given only 
when payment in full has been received for services duly rendered.  Failure to make payment within thirty (30) days of invoice shall constitute a release of Rubino Engineering, Inc. from any and all claims 
which Client may have, whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether known or unknown at the time.  
 
9. STANDARD OF CARE:  RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC.’S SERVICES WILL BE PERFORMED, ITS FINDINGS OBTAINED AND ITS REPORTS PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS 
PROPOSAL, CLIENT’S ACCEPTANCE THEREOF, THESE GENERAL CONDITIONS AND WITH GENERALLY ACCEPTED PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICES.  IN PERFORMING ITS PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES, RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. WILL USE THAT DEGREE OF CARE AND SKILL ORDINARILY EXERCISED UNDER SIMILAR CIRCUMSTANCES BY MEMBERS OF ITS PROFESSION.  
RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. MAKES NO WARRANTIES, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IN CONNECTION WITH ITS SERVICES PROVIDED AS SET FORTH IN ITS PROPOSAL, CLIENT’S 
ACCEPTANCE THEREOF, AND THESE GENERAL CONDITIONS.  STATEMENTS MADE IN RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. REPORTS ARE OPINIONS BASED UPON ENGINEERING JUDGMENT 
AND ARE NOT TO BE CONSTRUED AS REPRESENTATIONS OF FACT. 
 
SHOULD RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. OR ANY OF ITS PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES BE FOUND TO HAVE BEEN NEGLIGENT IN THE PERFORMANCE OF ITS WORK, OR TO HAVE MADE 
AND BREACHED ANY EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED WARRANTY, REPRESENTATION OR CONTRACT, CLIENT, ALL PARTIES CLAIMING THROUGH CLIENT AND ALL PARTIES CLAIMING TO 
HAVE IN ANY WAY RELIED UPON RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC.’S WORK, AGREE THAT THE MAXIMUM AGGREGATE AMOUNT OF THE LIABILITY OF RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC., ITS 
OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS SHALL BE LIMITED TO $10,000.00 OR THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE FEE PAID TO RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC. FOR ITS WORK PERFORMED WITH 
RESPECT TO THE PROJECT, WHICHEVER AMOUNT IS GREATER. 
 
NO ACTION OR CLAIM, WHETHER IN TORT, CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE, MAY BE BROUGHT AGAINST RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC., ARISING FROM OR RELATED TO RUBINO 
ENGINEERING, INC.’S WORK, MORE THAN TWO (2) YEARS AFTER THE CESSATION OF RUBINO ENGINEERING, INC.’S WORK HEREUNDER. 
 
10. INDEMNITY:  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client and Rubino Engineering, Inc. each agree to indemnify the other party and the other party’s officers, directors, partners, employees, and 
representatives, from and against losses, damages, and judgments arising from claims by third parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses recoverable under applicable law, but only to 
the extent they are found to be caused by a negligent act, error, or omission of the indemnifying party or any of the indemnifying party’s officers, directors, members, partners, agents, employees, 
subcontractors, or subconsultants in the performance of services under this Agreement.  If claims, losses, damages, and judgments are found to be caused by the joint or concurrent negligence of Client 
and Rubino Engineering, Inc., they shall be borne by each party in proportion to its negligence. 
 
11. TERMINATION:  This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven (7) days’ prior written notice.  In the event of termination, Rub ino Engineering, Inc. shall be compensated by Client 
for all services performed up to and including the termination date, including reimbursable expenses and for the completion of such services and records as are necessary to place Rubino Engineering, 
Inc.’s files in order and/or protect its professional reputation.  Failure of Client to make payments when due shall be cause for suspension of services or, ultimately, termination, unless and until Rubino 
Engineering Inc. has been paid in full all amounts due for services, expenses and other related changes. 
 
12.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION:  In the event of a dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the services to be rendered hereunder, the Client and Rubino Engineering, Inc. agree to attempt to 
resolve such disputes in the following manner:  1) The parties agree to attempt to resolve any and all unsettled claims, counterclaims, disputes and other matters in question through direct negotiations 
between the appropriate representatives of each party; 2) If such negotiations are not fully successful, the parties agree to submit any and all remaining unsettled claims, counterclaims, disputes and 
other matters in question to mediation in accordance with the Construction Industry Mediation Rules of the American Arbitration Association, effective as of the date of this Agreement. 
   
13.  WITNESS FEES:  Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s employees shall not be retained as expert witnesses except by separate written agreement.  Client agrees to pay Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s legal 
expenses, administrative costs and fees pursuant to Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s then current fee schedule for Rubino Engineering, Inc. to respond to any subpoena.   
 
14.  NO HIRE: Client agrees not to hire Rubino Engineering, Inc.’s employees except through Rubino Engineering, Inc.  In the event Client h ires a Rubino Engineering, Inc. employee, Client shall pay 
Rubino Engineering, Inc. an amount equal to one-half of the employee’s annualized salary, with Rubino Engineering, Inc. waiving other remedies it may have. 
 
15. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS:  Nothing contained within this agreement shall be construed or interpreted as requiring Rubino Engineering, Inc. to assume the status of an owner, operator, generator, 
storer, transporter, treater or disposal facility as those terms appear within RCRA, CERCLA, or within any Federal or State statute or regulation governing the generation, transportation, treatment, 
storage and disposal of pollutants.  Client assumes full responsibility for compliance with the provisions of RCRA, CERCLA, and any other Federal or State statute or regulation governing the handling, 
treatment, storage and disposal of pollutants. 
 
16. PROVISIONS SEVERABLE:   The parties have entered into this agreement in good faith and it is the specific intent of the parties that the terms of the General Conditions be enforced as written.  In 
the event any of the provisions of these General Conditions should be found to be unenforceable, it shall be stricken and the remaining provisions shall be enforceable. 
 
17. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties, and there are no representations, warranties or undertakings made other than as set forth herein.  This 
agreement may be amended, modified or terminated only in writing, signed by each of the parties hereto. 



 

VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 
BOARD REPORT 

TO:  VILLAGE PRESIDENT & BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

  CC: STEVE BOSCO, VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR  
FROM:  MIKE TOTH, COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
SUBJECT: PETITION 22-03: PARK 88 LOGISTICS CENTER PUD 
AGENDA: AUGUST 15, 2022 REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

 

ITEM 
Approving a Map Amendment and Special Use as an Industrial Planned Unit Development for 
29.43 acres of property to be known as the Park 88 Logistics Center in the Village of North 
Aurora 
 
DISCUSSION 
Phelan-JK/JB, Midwest, LLC is proposing to construct two speculative industrial warehouse 
buildings totaling 429,610 square feet on the vacant +28 acres located between Smoke Tree 
Plaza and Sullivan Road east of Evergreen Drive. Access to the development will be provided 
via two full access drives – a new access point at Smoke Tree Plaza and the Fairview Drive 
entrance at Sullivan Road. The developers are labeling this project the ‘Park 88 Logistics 
Center.’ 
 
Original concept development plans were first introduced to staff in early 2021 by a different 
development group and then presented to the Village Board on two separate occasions. At the 
March 15, 2021 Committee of the Whole meeting, the Village Board first discussed the concept 
development plans. While the Village Board was generally supportive of the concept 
development plans, they did have concerns regarding the potential traffic impact.  At the June 
21, 2021 Committee of the Whole meeting, the developer solicited feedback from the Village 
Board on the Preliminary Traffic Review that was prepared. The Board confirmed their support of 
the development, but again conveyed concern regarding truck movement and traffic in the 
general area.  
 
A public hearing was conducted on this item before the Plan Commission at their May 3, 2022 
meeting.  The Plan Commission unanimously recommended approval of Petition #22-03 subject 
to staff’s seventeen (17) conditions.  
 
Staff solicited feedback from the Village Board on the proposed development plans at the June 
6, 2022 Committee of the Whole meeting. The Village Board was again supportive of the 
proposed development plans, but did ask follow up questions regarding site access and the 
ability to accommodate trucks at certain access points in the general area. The Village Board 
seemed satisfied with the responses from the developer’s traffic consultant as he was able to 
answer their questions regarding access and area mobility.   
 
A draft ordinance approving the industrial Planned Development was also presented to the 
Village Board at the June 6, 2022 Committee of the Whole meeting. The Village Board had no 
comments on the draft PUD ordinance.  
 



 

Staff notes two changes were made to the PUD ordinance since the Board review at the June 6, 
2022 COW meeting. There are no substantive changes other than replacing the language in 
Section 4: ‘Changes to the Planned Unit Development’ with the Zoning Ordinance language. This 
would require the Village Board to approve any minor changes to the PUD, whereas staff had the 
authority in the previous draft. Also, condition (a) was also updated to allow the Village Engineer 
authority to approve any traffic improvements made on Sullivan Road adjacent to the 
development’s entrance. This was done as the current configuration is a full-access intersection 
and any changes required by the City of Aurora would most likely be a ‘less intense’ 
configuration, possibly a right-in, right-out configuration. Staff notes the City of Aurora is still in 
the process of reviewing access at Sullivan Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

STAFF REPORT TO THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA PLANNING COMMISSION 

FROM: MIKE TOTH, COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

Meeting Date:  May 3, 2022 

 

Petition Number:  #22-03  

 

Petitioner:  Phelan-JK/JB, Midwest, LLC  

 

Location: The subject properties are generally 

located between Smoke Tree Plaza and Sullivan 

Road, east of Evergreen Drive. 

 

Property Index Numbers:  15-09-251-001, 

15-09-252-001,-002,-003,-004,-005,-006,-007 

& 15-09-201-033 

 

Development Size:  +28 acres  

 

Requests:  1) Map Amendment to establish the 

O-R-I Office, Research and Light Industrial 

Zoning District 2) Special Use - Planned Unit 

Development with deviations to the Zoning 

Ordinance 3) Site Plan Approval 4) Preliminary 

Final Plat of Subdivision 

 

Current Zoning: B-2 General Business District; 

E-R Estate Rural Residence District; O-R Office 

and Research District  

 

Current Land Use: Vacant Land 

 

Comprehensive Plan Designation:  ‘Office/Industrial’  

 

PROPOSAL 

Phelan-JK/JB, Midwest, LLC is proposing to construct two speculative industrial warehouse buildings 

totaling 429,610 square feet on the vacant +28 acres located between Smoke Tree Plaza and Sullivan 

Road east of Evergreen Drive. Access to the development will be provided via two full access drives – 

a new access point at Smoke Tree Plaza and the Fairview Drive entrance at Sullivan Road. The 

developers are labeling this project the ‘Park 88 Logistics Center.’  

 

BACKGROUND 

The development of the subject properties with industrial warehouse building(s) has been discussed 

for over a year. Original concept development plans were first introduced to staff in early 2021 by a 

different development group. After refining their original concept plans to improve access and internal 

site circulation, the updated concept plans including two industrial warehouse buildings (earlier plans 



Staff Report  

Petition #22-03 

Page 2 of 6 

 

included one large warehouse building) with a central access drive directly linking Sullivan Road and 

Smoke Tree Plaza, was created. Having two buildings with a central access drive and loading docks 

oriented towards the interior of the property was viewed as being the ideal plan as business activities 

would be confined to the center of the site, thus reducing any impact the business operations could 

have on surrounding properties.   

 

At the March 15, 2021 Committee of the Whole meeting, the Village Board first discussed the concept 

development plans. While the Village Board was generally supportive of the concept development 

plans, they did have concerns regarding the potential traffic impact, specifically truck traffic entering 

and exiting the property utilizing Smoke Tree Plaza from Route 31 at Lovedale Lane. Staff notes the 

access plan included as part of that concept plan discussion specified trucks using the Smoke Tree 

Plaza entrance and only passenger vehicles utilizing the Sullivan Road entrance.  

 

In order to provide the Village Board with specific information relative to their traffic concerns, the 

developer consulted with traffic engineers to perform a Preliminary Traffic Review. The intent of their 

review was to provide information on the estimated traffic to be generated by the development, a 

review of the proposed access and circulation system, and a review the truck routes to and from the 

development. At the June 21, 2021 Committee of the Whole meeting, the developer solicited feedback 

from the Village Board on the Preliminary Traffic Review that was prepared. According to the 

updated access plan, inbound truck traffic could enter the site from the south via Sullivan Road and 

exit to the north onto Smoke Tree Plaza. Passenger vehicles could also take access from either 

entrance to the site.  The Village Board seemed supportive of the use of the Smoke Tree Plaza 

entrance for truck traffic, but was skeptical of the use of Sullivan Road for trucks.  

 

Per a 2003 Intergovernmental Agreement between the City of Aurora and the Village of North Aurora, 

the City of Aurora maintains jurisdiction of Sullivan Road, which is classified by the City of Aurora as 

a city truck route. The petitioner has met with the City of Aurora to discuss a full access point to the 

development at the Fairview Drive entrance. Such discussions are ongoing and will most likely require 

geometric improvements to allow full access in close proximity to the roundabout at Highland Ave.  

 

REQUESTED ACTIONS 

Map Amendment to establish the O-R-I Office, Research and 

Light Industrial Zoning District 

The development consists of eight (8) parcels. The petitioner is 

requesting a map amendment (“rezoning”) to change the zoning of 

Parcels #1-7 to the O-R-I Office, Research and Light Industrial 

District. Parcels #1-6 currently comprise of properties located in 

the E-R Estate Rural District. The parcels are designated E-R 

District by default due to the elimination of the A – Agricultural 

District in 2013 when the Zoning Ordinance was updated.  Parcel 

#7 is currently located in the O-R Office Research District. The 

northernmost parcel adjacent to Smoke Tree Plaza (Parcel #8) is 

located in the B-2 General Business District and would be 

subdivided to allow a portion (Lot 2) to remain in the B-2 District 

in order ensure future commercial use of the property. The 

remainder of Parcel #8 would be rezoned to the O-R-I District. According to the Zoning Ordinance: 

The purpose of the O-R-I Office and Light Industrial Research District is to provide for the grouping 

of office, research and light industrial uses compatible in scope of services and methods of operation.  



Staff Report  

Petition #22-03 

Page 3 of 6 

 

Contiguous Zoning 

North: B-2 General Business District, South: O-R Office Research District, O-R-I Office Research 

Industrial District, and R-1 Single Family Residence District, East: B-2 General Business District,  

West: BNSF Railroad Right-of-Way and B-2 General Business District 

 

Comprehensive Plan Land Use Recommendations 

The Comprehensive Plan designates the subject properties as ‘Office/Industrial’, which is consistent 

with the O-R-I Office, Research and Light Industrial District.  

 

The proposed development area is included as part of a subarea listed in the Comprehensive Plan’s 

Commercial and Industrial Areas Plan: This industrial area includes a large distribution facility and 

vacant land accessed by Smoketree Lane, Fairview Drive and Evergreen Drive. The Village should 

encourage key roadway improvements, landscaping treatments, and signage. Potential roadways 

improvements include extensions of Fairview Drive to Smoketree Lane, and Smoketree Lane west to 

provide access to additional industrial properties. Access to this area should be encouraged from 

Evergreen Drive.  

 

The specific parcels associated with the proposed development are also referenced in the 

Comprehensive Plan’s IL Route 31 South End Subarea Plan: There is a large area of undeveloped 

land, north of Sullivan Road west of the movie theatre. Recommended street improvements would open 

this entire area up for development. The Village should remain flexible with regard to potential new 

development for this site. While most areas of the Village have a clear land use preference, as 

designated on the Land Use Plan, a number of uses could be considered appropriate for these specific 

parcels. Proximity to the Interstate, commercial uses, and the Provena/Mercy Hospital Complex could 

all impact land use decisions. For these reasons different land uses and a more flexible approach to 

development should be considered. Regardless of the use, the primary goal for the Village should be to 

support high-quality, attractive, well-designed development. 

 

Special Use –Planned Unit Development with deviations 

Per Section 17.5.4 of the Zoning Ordinance, any nonresidential or multiple-family parcel or parcels of 

land two acres or more in size shall be required to be a planned unit development. The total site area 

for the proposed development is +28 acres and the use considered nonresidential. The following table 

illustrates the proposed bulk regulations and bulk regulations required of the O-R-I Office, Research 

and Light Industrial District:  

 

Bulk Regulations  Proposed  O-R-I District 

Lot Area, Minimum  29.42 acres (Post Subdivision) 2 acres  

Lot Width, Minimum  114.13 ft. (@ Sullivan Road)   

167.27 ft. (@ Smoke Tree Plaza) 

+1,245 ft. (Development Interior) 

150 ft.  

Building Height, Maximum  Building A = 45 ft.  

Building B = 43 ft.  

50 ft.  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), 

Maximum  
n/a None  

Lot Coverage, Maximum  35%  60%  

 

 



Staff Report  

Petition #22-03 

Page 4 of 6 

 

Lot Width (Zoning Ordinance Deviation Required) 

The Zoning Ordinance defines Lot Width as the minimum horizontal distance between the side lot 

lines of a lot measured at the required front yard setback line. The front yard setback in the O-R-I 

District is 30 feet. While the actual size of the development area is considerably wide, the access point 

on Sullivan Road would be 114.13 feet in width where 150 feet is required per the O-R-I District. That 

portion of the property is not intended to accommodate a building, but rather the access drive that 

eventually leads to the development.  

 

Yard Regulations 

The configuration of the Park 88 Logistics Center boundaries are atypical in that there are no clearly-

defined front, rear and side yards. After review of the yard areas it does not appear that any deviations 

would be required. Section 17.2.4 of the Zoning Ordinance grants authority to the Community 

Development Director to receive, review and make decisions on zoning interpretations.  With respect 

to setback and yard dimensions required as part of the Park 88 Logistics Center, the Community 

Development Director has made the final determination:  

 

All setback and yard dimensions shall be governed by the Preliminary Site Plan, prepared by Pinnacle 

Engineering Group, dated April 6, 2022. In no event shall any improvements be constructed closer to 

the adjacent property line than what is included on the Preliminary Site Plan.  

 

Site Plan Approval  

Per Section 17.4.4(B) of the Zoning Ordinance, site plan review shall be required for each building 

permit application for multi-family, townhouse, commercial, and industrial development for which a 

site plan has not already been approved.  

 

After refining their original concept plans to improve access and internal site circulation, the updated 

plans now include two industrial warehouse buildings (earlier plans included one large warehouse 

building) with a central access drive directly linking Sullivan Road and Smoke Tree Plaza. Having two 

buildings with a central access drive and loading docks oriented towards the interior of the property 

was viewed as being the ideal plan as business activities would be confined to the center of the site, 

thus reducing any impact the business operations could have on surrounding properties.   

 

Preliminary Final Plat of Subdivision  

A Plat of Subdivision, known as the Final Plat of Subdivision Park 88 Logistics Center, is being 

proposed. Lot 1 of the Park 88 Logistics Center would consist of the entirety of the development and 

be 29.42 acres in area. As previously mentioned, Lot 2 would be created through the subdivision of 

Parcel #8 in order ensure future commercial use of the property and would be 1.2 acres in area. An 

access easement would be granted to Lot 2 in order to allow any future development to utilize the 

proposed access to the Park 88 Logistics Center, thus reducing the amount of curb cuts in that general 

area.  The additional land area included in the overall development can be attributed to the vacation of 

Fairview Drive. Fairview Drive is a north/south right-of-way that was once used as an access drive 

into the property from Sullivan Road.  As part of the vacation of Fairview Drive, the Village would no 

longer be responsible for the right-of-way, which is currently in a state of deterioration. Fairview 

Drive would essentially become the private access drive for the development.  

 

 

 

 



Staff Report  

Petition #22-03 

Page 5 of 6 

 

FINDINGS 

The Community Development Department finds that the information presented in Petition #22-03 

meets the Standards for Map Amendments, Specials Uses, Site Plan Review and Planned Unit 

Developments as set forth in the Zoning Ordinance. Based on the above considerations, Staff 

recommends the Plan Commission make the following motion recommending approval of Petition 

#22-03, subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. Any traffic improvements made on Sullivan Road adjacent to the development’s entrance shall 

be to the satisfaction of the Village of North Aurora and the City of Aurora.  

 

2. In no event shall any improvements be constructed closer to the adjacent property line than 

what is included on the Preliminary Site Plan, prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group, dated 

April 6, 2022. 

 

3. The use of guardhouses and driveway gates shall be prohibited in order to allow on-site traffic 

to flow freely and prevent spillover onto adjacent streets and properties.  

 

4. Semi trucks shall be prohibited from parking or idling on the perimeter access drives, 

passenger vehicle parking lots, and passenger vehicle drive aisles.  

 

5. On-site management shall effectively monitor and regulate all on-site trucking activities in 

order to minimize any light, sound and odor emissions as well as any other performance 

standards per Section 12.5 of the Zoning Ordinance.  

  

6. The six (6) foot fence included in the residential buffer area located to the south of Building A 

shall be opaque.  

 

7. Any perimeter fencing shall be black, metallic, non-chain link construction and limited to eight 

(8) feet in height. 

 

8. All business activities shall be conducted completely within the confines of the buildings. 

 

9. The keeping of any goods, material, merchandise or equipment outside of the building(s) shall 

be prohibited.  

 

10. A photometric plan shall be approved by the Village prior to building permit issuance.  

 

11. Any tree of good quality larger than six inches in diameter when measured twelve (12) inches 

above the ground, which are not located within fifteen (15) feet of or within a building 

footprint, within the road footprint or in those areas listed Section 16.12.010.C.3.a of the 

Subdivision Ordinance, shall be tagged by the petitioner and evaluated by the Village for 

preservation.  

 

12. Quality trees and shrubs located along the perimeter of the development shall be preserved to 

the greatest extent possible to maintain natural landscape buffering.   

 

13. Construction traffic shall not impede on the ability of the Village and Fire Protection District to 

provide emergency services.  



Staff Report  

Petition #22-03 

Page 6 of 6 

 

 

14. All dumpsters located on the subject property shall be screened per Section 14.11.A of the 

Zoning Ordinance.  

 

15. All ground-mounted and rooftop mechanicals shall be properly screened per the requirements 

of the Zoning Ordinance.  

 

16. All signage shall adhere to the requirements of the Sign Ordinance. 

 

17. A signage easement shall be included on Lot 2 and be large enough to accommodate the 

monument sign and required landscaped base.  

 

 

 

 





















































































































East Dundee, IL 60118 

RE: Smoketree/Sullivan Road
       Project Number(s): 2209264  
       County: Kane 

Dear Applicant:

Adam Rawe
Division of Ecosystems and Environment
217-785-5500

February 02, 2022

Leia Cooney
Pinnacle Engineering Group 
1051 E. Main St, Suite 217

This letter is in reference to the project you recently submitted for consultation. The natural resource 
review provided by EcoCAT identified protected resources that may be in the vicinity of the proposed 
action. The Department has evaluated this information and concluded that adverse effects are unlikely. 
Therefore, consultation under 17 Ill. Adm. Code Part 1075 is terminated.

This consultation is valid for two years unless new information becomes available that was not 
previously considered; the proposed action is modified; or additional species, essential habitat, or 
Natural Areas are identified in the vicinity. If the project has not been implemented within two years of 
the date of this letter, or any of the above listed conditions develop, a new consultation is necessary.

The natural resource review reflects the information existing in the Illinois Natural Heritage Database 
at the time of the project submittal, and should not be regarded as a final statement on the site being 
considered, nor should it be a substitute for detailed site surveys or field surveys required for 
environmental assessments. If additional protected resources are encountered during the project’s 
implementation, you must comply with the applicable statutes and regulations. Also, note that 
termination does not imply IDNR's authorization or endorsement of the proposed action.

Please contact me if you have questions regarding this review.

JB Pritzker, Governor

Colleen Callahan, Director



 
 

 

 
 

Traffic Impact Study 
Proposed Warehouse Development  

 

North Aurora, Illinois 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Prepared For: 

 

 

  

April 28, 2022 

SITE 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 1 

1. Introduction 
 
 
This report summarizes the methodologies, results, and findings of a traffic impact study 
conducted by Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) for a proposed warehouse 
development to be located in North Aurora, Illinois. The site, which is currently vacant, is located 
directly west of the Cinemark Tinseltown USA (Cinemark) parcel and south of Smoketree Lane, 
less than one mile from the I-88/IL 31 interchange. As proposed, the development is to consist of 
two warehouse buildings totaling approximately 429,000 square feet. Access to the development 
will be provided via two access drives, one on Smoketree Lane and one on Sullivan Road. 
 
The purpose of this study was to examine background traffic conditions, assess the impact that the 
proposed development will have on traffic conditions in the area, and determine if any roadway or 
access improvements are necessary to accommodate the traffic generated by the proposed 
development.  
 
Figure 1 shows the location of the site in relation to the area roadway system. Figure 2 shows an 
aerial view of the site. 
 
The sections of this report present the following: 
 
• Existing roadway conditions 
• A description of the proposed development  
• Directional distribution of the development traffic 
• Vehicle trip generation for the development 
• Future traffic conditions including access to the development 
• Traffic analyses for the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours 
• Recommendations with respect to adequacy of the site access and adjacent roadway system 
 
Traffic capacity analyses were conducted for the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours 
for the following conditions:  
 
1. Base Conditions – Analyze the capacity of the existing roadway system using existing peak 

hour traffic volumes in the surrounding area adjusted to account for any decreases due to 
the ongoing COVID 19 pandemic. 

 
2. No-Build Conditions – Analyze the capacity of the existing roadway system increased to 

account for ambient traffic growth in the area.  
 

3. Projected Conditions – Analyze the capacity of the future roadway system using the 
projected traffic volumes that include the existing traffic volumes, ambient traffic growth, 
and the traffic estimated to be generated by the full buildout of the proposed development. 

  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 2 

 
Site Location Figure 1 
  

SITE 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 3 

 
Aerial View of Site Figure 2 

SITE 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 4 

2. Existing Conditions 
 
 
Existing transportation conditions in the vicinity of the site were documented based on field visits 
conducted by KLOA, Inc. in order to obtain a database for projecting future conditions. The 
following provides a description of the geographical location of the site, physical characteristics 
of the area roadway system including lane usage and traffic control devices, and existing peak hour 
traffic volumes. 
 

Site Location 
 
The site is located in North Aurora, on a currently vacant parcel of land directly west of the 
Cinemark parcel and south of Smoketree Lane. IL 31 is located just east of the site and the I-88/IL 
31 interchange is located approximately one mile to the north. Land uses in the vicinity of the site 
are primarily commercial, with a residential area located on the west side of Evergreen Drive. 
 

Existing Roadway System Characteristics 
 
The characteristics of the existing roadways near the development are described below and 
illustrated in Figure 3. 
 
IL 31 (Lincolnway Street)  is a north-south, minor arterial roadway that in the vicinity of the site 
provides two through lanes in each direction. At its signalized intersection with Sullivan Road, IL 
31 provides a left-turn lane, two through lanes, and a right-turn lane on the northbound approach 
and a left-turn lane, a through lane, and a combined through/right-turn lane on the southbound 
approach. A standard-style crosswalk is provided on the north leg and a high-visibility crosswalk 
is provided on the south leg. At its signalized intersection with the I-88 on/off ramps, IL 31 
provides a left-turn lane, a through lane, and a combined through/right-turn lane on the northbound 
approach and a left-turn lane, two through lanes, and a channelized right-turn lane that is under 
yield sign control on the southbound approach. At its signalized intersection with Lovedale 
Lane/Cinemark access drive/Smoketree Plaza, IL 31 provides a left-turn lane, a through lane, and 
a combined through/right-turn lane on the northbound and southbound approaches. A standard-
style crosswalk is provided on the north leg of the intersection. IL 31 carries an Annual Average 
Daily Traffic (AADT) volume of 21,600 vehicles (IDOT 2019), is under the jurisdiction of the 
FIllinois Department of Transportation (IDOT), and has a posted speed limit of 35 miles per hour. 
 
Sullivan Road is an east-west, major collector roadway that generally provides one lane in each 
direction west of IL 31 and two lanes in each direction east of IL 31. At its signalized intersection 
with IL 31, Sullivan Road provides a left-turn lane, a through lane, and a combined through/right-
turn lane on the eastbound approach and a left-turn lane, two through lanes, and a right-turn lane 
on the westbound approach. Standard-style crosswalks are provided on the east and west legs of 
the intersection. At its roundabout intersection with Highland Avenue, Sullivan Road provides one 
lane on the eastbound and westbound approaches that are under yield sign control. High-visibility 
crosswalks are provided on the east and west legs of the intersection. Sullivan Road carries an 
AADT volume of 11,700 vehicles east of IL 31 (IDOT 2018) and 13,400 vehicles west of IL 31 
(IDOT 2018). Sullivan Road is under the jurisdiction of the City of Aurora, has a posted speed 
limit of 30 miles per hour, and is a designated truck route.  



SITE

SPEEDWAY

CENTER

MERCY MEDICAL

AMITA HEALTH

CAR COMPANY

CALLAHAN

AUTO CARE

FIRESTONE

CULVER'S

MOBIL

STORAGE

EXTRA SPACE

TINSELTOWN

CINEMARK

SELF STORAGE

NEXT DOOR

POPEYES

INN

COMFORT

INN

RODEWAY

RECYCLING

STYROFOAM

ARMY RESERVE

UNITED STATES

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES

COURT

COUNTY

KANE

LOCAL 461

IBEW

AURORA

AVANTARA

CENTER

ADULT TRANSITION

FOX VALLEY

CAFE

VIETNAM

FOX VALLEY

LIVING

EDEN SUPPORTIVE

SECURITY

OF EMPLOYMENT

DEPARTMENT

ILLINOIS

CLINIC

ASTHMA

ALLERGY/

DUNKIN'

DENNY'S

THORNTONS

31

30

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Figure:  3

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-114

NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE

ROAD

SULLIVAN

LANE

LOVEDALE

ACCESS DRIVE

CINEMARK
D

R
IV

E

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N

LANE

SMOKETREE

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
IN

C
O

L
N

W
A

Y

RAMP

I-88 ON/OFF

P
L

A
Z

A
S

M
O

K
E

T
R

E
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

EXISTING ROADWAY CHARACTERISTICS

D
R
IV

E

F
A
IR

V
IE

W

B
N

S
F
 R

A
IL

W
A

Y

LEGEND

35

35

35

35

25

30
30

30

5

35

- TRAVEL LANE

- TRAFFIC SIGNAL

- STOP SIGN

- SPEED LIMITXX

- YIELD SIGN

- BUS STOP

- BUS STOP WITH SHELTER

- STANDARD CROSSWALK

- HIGH VISIBILITY CROSSWALK



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 6 

The I-88 ramps provide full access to both eastbound and westbound I-88 and intersect IL 31 
opposite the access drive for Eden Supportive Living Fox Valley. At its signalized intersection 
with IL 31, the I-88 ramps provide a combined left-turn/through lane and a right-turn lane and the 
access drive provides a combined left-turn/through/right-turn lane. A standard-style crosswalk is 
provided on the east leg of the intersection. The I-88 on-ramp carries an AADT volume of 10,900 
vehicles (IDOT 2019) and the I-88 off-ramp carries an AADT volume of 10,400 vehicles (IDOT 
2019).  
 
Lovedale Lane is an east-west, local roadway that provides one lane in each direction and intersects 
IL 31 aligned opposite the Cinemark access drive/Smoketree Plaza. At its signalized intersection 
with IL 31, the Cinemark access drive/Smoketree Plaza provides a combined left-turn/through lane 
and a right-turn lane and Lovedale Lane provides a combined left-turn/through/right-turn lane. A 
standard-style crosswalk is provided on the east leg of the intersection. At its unsignalized 
intersection with Smoketree Plaza, the Cinemark access drive provides a combined left-
turn/through lane on the eastbound approach and a combined through/right-turn lane on the 
westbound approach. Lovedale Lane is under the jurisdiction of the Village of North Aurora.  
 
Highland Avenue is a north-south, major collector roadway that provides one lane in each direction 
and intersects Sullivan Road opposite the Allergy/Asthma Clinic access drive. At its roundabout 
intersection with Sullivan Road, Highland Avenue and the access drive provides one lane to enter 
the roundabout with the Highland Avenue approach under yield sign control. A high-visibility 
crosswalk is provided on the south leg of the intersection. Highland Avenue carries an AADT 
volume of 6,150 vehicles (IDOT 2018) and is under the jurisdiction of the City of Aurora. 
 
Smoketree Plaza/Smoketree Lane is a north-south (Smoketree Plaza) and east-west (Smoketree 
Lane) local roadway that extends from IL 31 to Evergreen Drive and provides one lane in each 
direction. At its unsignalized T-intersection with the Cinemark access drive, Smoketree Plaza 
provides a combined left-turn/right-turn lane that is under stop sign control. At its unsignalized 
intersection with the Rodeway Inn access drive, Smoketree Lane provides a combined left-
turn/through lane on the eastbound approach and a combined through/right-turn lane on the 
westbound approach. The southbound approach from the Rodeway Inn access drive provides a 
combined left-turn/right-turn lane and is under stop sign control. At its at-grade crossing with the 
BNSF Railway tracks, Smoketree Lane is under yield sign control on the eastbound and westbound 
approaches. At its unsignalized intersection with Evergreen Drive, Smoketree Lane provides a 
combined left-turn/right-turn lane on the westbound approach. Smoketree Plaza/Smoketree Lane 
is under the jurisdiction of the Village of North Aurora and has a posted speed limit of 25 miles 
per hour. 
 
Evergreen Drive is a north-south local roadway that provides one lane in each direction. At its 
unsignalized T-intersection with Smoketree Lane, the north leg is the access drive for Styrofoam 
Recycling. Evergreen Drive provides a combined through/right-turn lane on the northbound 
approach and the Styrofoam Recycling access drive provides a combined left-turn/through lane on 
the southbound approach that is under yield sign control. Evergreen Drive carries an AADT 
volume of 950 vehicles (IDOT 2018) and is under the jurisdiction of the Village of North Aurora. 
  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 7 

Existing Traffic Volumes 
 
In order to determine current traffic conditions in the vicinity of the site, KLOA, Inc. conducted 
peak period traffic counts utilizing Miovision Scout Video Collection Units on Tuesday, April 5, 
2022 during the weekday morning (6:30 to 9:00 A.M.) and evening (3:00 to 6:00 P.M.) peak 
periods at the following intersections:  
 
• IL 31 with Sullivan Road 
• IL 31 with Interstate 88 Ramps 
• IL 31 with Lovedale Lane/Cinemark access drive/Smoketree Plaza 
• Sullivan Road with Highland Avenue 
• Cinemark access drive with Smoketree Plaza 
• Smoketree Lane with the Rodeway Inn access drive 
• Smoketree Lane with Evergreen Drive/Styrofoam Recycling access drive 
 
The results of the traffic counts indicate that the weekday morning peak hour generally occurs 
from 7:15 A.M. to 8:15 A.M. and the weekday evening peak hour generally occurs from 4:15 to 
5:15 P.M.  
 
To determine the impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on the existing traffic volumes, the 
2022 traffic volumes at the intersection of IL 31 with Sullivan Road were compared with traffic 
volumes previously conducted by KLOA, Inc. in 2016 that were increased by a regional growth 
factor (as discussed later). The results of the comparison showed that the traffic volumes were 
approximately 25 percent lower during the weekday morning peak hour and 10 percent lower 
during the weekday evening peak hour compared to the 2016 traffic volumes increased by a 
regional growth factor. As such, the Year 2022 traffic volumes were increased by 25 and 10 percent 
during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours, respectively, to estimate the Year 
2022 base traffic volumes. Figure 4 illustrates the Year 2022 base peak hour traffic volumes. 
Figure 5 illustrates the Year 2022 base peak hour truck volumes. Copies of the traffic count 
summary sheets are included in the Appendix. 
  



SITE

31

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Figure:  4

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-114

11
3
 
(8

6
)

10
0
 
(9

9
)

64 (78)

69 (127)

15 (29)

NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE

ROAD

SULLIVAN

61 (20)

3
4
 
(1

3
)

10
 
(1
1)

3
8
 
(2

5
)

45 (73)

29 (48)

5
6
 
(4

1)

36 (70)

LANE

LOVEDALE

ACCESS DRIVE

CINEMARK
D

R
IV

E

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N

LANE

SMOKETREE

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
IN

C
O

L
N

W
A

Y

EVERGREEN DRIVE

SMOKETREE LANE @

P
L

A
Z

A
S

M
O

K
E

T
R

E
E

69 (24)

12 (36)

42 (50)

2
1
 
(6

6
)

@ SMOKETREE PLAZA

CINEMARK ACCESS DRIVE

A
V

E
N

U
E

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

YEAR 2022 BASE TRAFFIC VOLUMES

D
R
IV

E

F
A
IR

V
IE

W

1
3
 
(1

1
)

1
1
 
(1

0
)

B
N

S
F
 R

A
IL

W
A

Y

RAMP

I-88 ON/OFF

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:15-5:15 PM)

8
8
 
(1

2
0
)

124 (75)

0 (5)

516 (363)

0
 
(0
)

3
2
6
 
(2

5
3
)

0 (9)

418 (592)

243 (198)

0
 
(5
)

0
 
(4
)

0
 
(6
)

384 (343)

355 (246)

7
6
8
 
(6

7
0
)

131 (147)

256 (358)

17
3
 
(1
3
4
)

7
7
3
 
(9

6
7
)

2
9
5
 
(2

2
4
)

1 (1)

1 (1)

1 (4)

3
 
(5
)

12
4
5
 
(1
0
9
1)0 (0)

12
3
6
 
(1
2
8
5
)

0 (1)

0
 
(3
)

373 (509)

1 
(3
)

6
0
5
 
(6

7
4
)

7
0
8
 
(4

5
3
)

3 (3)

3 (2)

1 (4)

7
 
(4
)

6
15
 
(5

3
9
)

6
3
5
 
(5

5
8
)

0 (0)
699 (678)

1 (1)

1 (0)

6
 
(4
)

13 (2)

2
0
 
(2
)

0
 
(0
)



SITE

31

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Figure:  5

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-114

NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE

ROAD

SULLIVAN

LANE

LOVEDALE

ACCESS DRIVE

CINEMARK
D

R
IV

E

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N

LANE

SMOKETREE

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
IN

C
O

L
N

W
A

Y

EVERGREEN DRIVE

SMOKETREE LANE @

P
L

A
Z

A
S

M
O

K
E

T
R

E
E

@ SMOKETREE PLAZA

CINEMARK ACCESS DRIVE

A
V

E
N

U
E

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

EXISTING TRUCK TRAFFIC VOLUMES

D
R
IV

E

F
A
IR

V
IE

W

B
N

S
F
 R

A
IL

W
A

Y

RAMP

I-88 ON/OFF

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:15-5:15 PM)

0 (0)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)

0 (0)

0 (0)

0
 
(0
)

0 (0)

0 (0)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

1 (0)

0 (1)

0 (0
)

1 
(0
)0 (0)

0 (0)

0 (0)

0
 
(0
)

3 (1)

2
 
(2
)

12 (7)

3 (2)

18 (11)

7 (5)

2
 
(2
)

1
3
 
(2
)

18 (9)

6 (1)

3 (2)

2
 
(1
)

4
7
 
(1
3
)

19 (6)

9 (4)

6 (2)

2
3
 
(9
)

3
4
 
(3

2
)

8
 
(5
)

8
6
 
(4

6
)

0
 
(1
)

5 (2)

12 (1)

4
 
(3
)

6
3
 
(4

9
)

0
 
(1
)

6
 
(2
)

3 (4)

1 (0)

11 (1)

49 (44)

21 (6)

2
1 
(1
4
)

2
7
 
(8
)

2
5
 
(1
2
)

6
9
 
(2

7
)

0
 
(0
)

3 (4)

9 (2)

0 (1)

0
 
(0
)

4
 
(2
)

1
 
(1
)

2
0
 
(2
)



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 10 

Crash Data  
 
KLOA, Inc. obtained crash data1 for the most recent available five years (2016 to 2020) for the 
intersections of IL 31 with Sullivan Road, the I-88 ramps, and Lovedale Lane as well as the 
intersections of Sullivan Road with Highland Avenue, Smoketree Lane with the Rodeway Inn 
access drive, and Smoketree Lane with Evergreen Drive. A summary of the crash data is found in 
Tables 1 through 4. No crashes occurred at the intersections of Smoketree Lane with the Rodeway 
Inn access drive or Evergreen Drive during the time period surveyed. A review of the crash data 
found that no fatal crashes occurred at the intersections during the review period. 
 
Table 1 
IL 31 WITH SULLIVAN ROAD – CRASH SUMMARY 

Year 
Type of Crash Frequency 

Angle Head On Object Rear End Sideswipe Turning Other Total 

2016 1 0 1 7 0 8 0 17 

2017 2 0 1 5 0 5 0 13 

2018 1 0 0 3 0 12 1 17 

2019 2 0 1 2 1 8 0 14 

2020 0 0 0 1 1 7 0 9 

Total 6 0 3 18 2 40 1 70 

Average 1.2 0.0 <1.0 3.6 <1.0 5.0 <1.0 14.0 
 
  

 
1 IDOT DISCLAIMER: The motor vehicle crash data referenced herein was provided by the Illinois Department of 
Transportation. Any conclusions drawn from analysis of the aforementioned data are the sole responsibility of the data 
recipient(s). Additionally, for coding years 2015 to present, the Bureau of Data Collection uses the exact latitude/longitude 
supplied by the investigating law enforcement agency to locate crashes. Therefore, location data may vary in previous years since 
data prior to 2015 was physically located by bureau personnel.  
 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 11 

Table 2 
IL 31 WITH I-88 RAMPS – CRASH SUMMARY 

Year 
Type of Crash Frequency 

Angle Head On Object Rear End Sideswipe Turning Other Total 

2016 0 0 0 3 0 4 0 7 

2017 0 0 0 2 1 9 0 12 

2018 0 0 0 3 1 12 0 16 

2019 0 0 1 6 0 11 0 18 

2020 0 0 0 1 0 10 0 11 

Total 0 0 1 15 2 46 0 64 

Average 0.0 0.0 <1.0 3.0 <1.0 9.2 0.0 12.8 
 
 
Table 3 
IL 31 WITH LOVEDALE LANE – CRASH SUMMARY 

Year 
Type of Crash Frequency 

Angle Head On Object Rear End Sideswipe Turning Other Total 

2016 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 3 

2017 0 1 0 0 0 2 1 4 

2018 1 0 0 3 0 3 0 7 

2019 0 0 1 2 0 1 0 4 

2020 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 3 

Total 1 1 1 7 0 9 2 21 

Average <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 1.4 0.0 1.8 <1.0 4.2 
 
  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 12 

Table 4 
SULLIVAN ROAD WITH HIGHLAND AVENUE – CRASH SUMMARY 

Year 
Type of Crash Frequency 

Angle Head On Object Rear End Sideswipe Turning Other Total 

2016 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

2017 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 3 

2018 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 

2019 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 4 

2020 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 

Total 0 0 4 5 0 3 0 12 

Average 0.0 0.0 <1.0 1.0 0.0 <1.0 0.0 2.4 
 
 
 
  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 13 

3. Traffic Characteristics of the Proposed Development 
 
 
In order to properly evaluate future traffic conditions in the surrounding area, it was necessary to 
determine the traffic characteristics of the proposed development, including the directional 
distribution and volumes of traffic that it will generate. 
 
Proposed Site and Development Plan 
 
As proposed, the site will be developed with two warehouse buildings totaling 429,000 square feet 
of space. Access to the development will be provided via one access drive on Sullivan Road and 
one access drives on Smoketree Lane as summarized below: 
 
• The Sullivan Road access drive will be located on the north side of the road approximately 

345 feet east of the Sullivan Road/Highland Avenue roundabout and immediately west of 
the Fairview Dental access drive. Given that Sullivan Road is a designated truck route and 
the tight turn between IL 31 and Smoketree Plaza, all semi-trailer trucks traveling to and 
from the development will be directed to use this access drive. This access drive will 
provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane with larger radii to accommodate the 
turning truck traffic. In addition, an approximate 225-foot eastbound left-turn lane with a 
110-foot taper will be provided on Sullivan Road serving the proposed access drive and 
Fairview Dental access drive.  

 
• The Smoketree Lane access drive will be located on the south side of the road aligned 

opposite the Rodeway Inn access drive. This access drive will provide one inbound lane 
and one outbound lane with larger radii to accommodate the turning truck traffic. 

 
A site plan depicting the proposed development layout and access is included in the Appendix.  
 
Directional Distribution 
 
The directions from which passenger vehicles will approach and depart the site were estimated 
based on existing travel patterns, as determined from the traffic counts. Given that Sullivan Road 
is a designated truck route and the tight turn between IL 31 and Smoketree Lane, all semi-trailer 
trucks traveling to and from the development will be direct to use the Sullivan Road access drive. 
Figure 6 illustrates the directional distribution of passenger vehicle and truck traffic. 
  



SITE

345'

31

10%

30% (100%)

00% - PERCENT DISTRIBUTION - PASSENGER VEHICLE

00' - DISTANCE IN FEET

(00%) - PERCENT DISTRIBUTION - TRUCKS

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Figure:  6

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-114

NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE

ROAD

SULLIVAN

LANE

LOVEDALE

ACCESS DRIVE

CINEMARK
D

R
IV

E

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N

LANE

SMOKETREE

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
IN

C
O

L
N

W
A

Y

P
L

A
Z

A
S

M
O

K
E

T
R

E
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

B
N

S
F
 R

A
IL

W
A

Y

RAMP

I-88 ON/OFF

LEGEND

1
0

%

10%

2
0

%

2
0

%

ESTIMATED DIRECTIONAL DISTRIBUTION

- PROPOSED STOP SIGN



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 15 

Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 
 
The volume of traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed warehouse development was 
determined based a review of trip generation data published by the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE) in the Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition. Land Use Code 150 (Warehouse) was 
utilized to estimate the trips for the development. Table 5 shows the estimated trips to be generated 
by the proposed development.  
 
Table 5 
ESTIMATED VEHICLE TRIP GENERATION 

Facility/Size 
Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 
Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour Daily 
Trips 

In Out Total In Out Total 

Warehouse – 429,000 s.f. (LUC 150)        

Passenger Vehicle Traffic 52 12 64 14 50 64 458 

Truck Traffic 4 5 9 7 6 13 258 

Total 56 17 73 21 56 77 716 
 
 
 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 16 

4. Projected Traffic Conditions 
 
 
The total projected traffic volumes include the existing traffic volumes, increase in background 
traffic due to growth, and the traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed subject 
development. 
 
Development Traffic Assignment 
 
The estimated weekday morning and weekday evening peak hour traffic volumes that will be 
generated by the proposed development were assigned to the roadway system in accordance with 
the previously described directional distribution (Figure 6). Figure 7 illustrates the traffic 
assignment of the new passenger vehicle trips and Figure 8 illustrates the traffic assignment of the 
new truck trips.  
 
Background (No-Build) Traffic Conditions 
 
The Year 2022 existing traffic volumes (Figure 4) were increased by a regional growth factor to 
account for the increase in existing traffic related to regional growth in the area (i.e., not 
attributable to any particular planned development). Based on 2050 Annual Average Daily Traffic 
(AADT) projections provided by the Chicago Metropolitan Agency for Planning (CMAP) in a 
letter dated April 18, 2022, the existing traffic volumes were increased by an annually compounded 
growth rate of approximately 1.2 percent for six years (one-year buildout plus five years) totaling 
approximately seven percent to represent Year 2028 conditions. Figure 9 illustrates the Year 2028 
no-build traffic volumes. A copy of the CMAP projections letter is included in the Appendix. 
 
Total Projected Traffic Volumes 
 
The new development-generated passenger vehicle trips (Figure 7) and truck trips (Figure 8) were 
added to the existing traffic volumes taking into account background growth (Figure 9) to 
determine the Year 2028 total projected traffic volumes. Figure 10 illustrates the Year 2028 total 
projected traffic volumes.  
  



SITE

31

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Figure:  7

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-114

NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE

ROAD

SULLIVAN

LANE

LOVEDALE

ACCESS DRIVE

CINEMARK
D

R
IV

E

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N

LANE

SMOKETREE

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
IN

C
O

L
N

W
A

Y

P
L

A
Z

A
S

M
O

K
E

T
R

E
E

@ SMOKETREE PLAZA

CINEMARK ACCESS DRIVE

A
V

E
N

U
E

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

B
N

S
F
 R

A
IL

W
A

Y

RAMP

I-88 ON/OFF

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:15-5:15 PM)

PASSENGER VEHICLES
ESTIMATED SITE-GENERATED TRAFFIC VOLUMES

1 (5)

5
 
(2
)

5 (1)

ACCESS DRIVE

SULLIVAN ROAD @

4
 
(1

5
)

2
 
(5
)

10 (3)

6 (25)

26 (7)

6
 
(2

5
)

2
6
 
(7
)

10
 
(3
)

16 (4)

4
 
(1
8
)

2
 
(1
2
)

26 (7)

6
 
(3

0
)

16 (4)

1 (5) 5 (1)

11
 
(3
)

1 (5)

3 (10)

- PROPOSED STOP SIGN



SITE

31

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Figure:  8

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-114

NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE

ROAD

SULLIVAN

LANE

LOVEDALE

ACCESS DRIVE

CINEMARK
D

R
IV

E

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N

LANE

SMOKETREE

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
IN

C
O

L
N

W
A

Y

P
L

A
Z

A
S

M
O

K
E

T
R

E
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

B
N

S
F
 R

A
IL

W
A

Y

RAMP

I-88 ON/OFF

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:15-5:15 PM)

TRUCKS
ESTIMATED SITE-GENERATED TRAFFIC VOLUMES

5
 
(6
)

4 (7)

4
 
(7
)

5 (6)

4
 
(7
)

5
 
(6
)

4 (7)

5
 
(6
)

- PROPOSED STOP SIGN



SITE

31

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Figure:  9

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-114

NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE

ROAD

SULLIVAN

LANE

LOVEDALE

ACCESS DRIVE

CINEMARK
D

R
IV

E

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N

LANE

SMOKETREE

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
IN

C
O

L
N

W
A

Y

EVERGREEN DRIVE

SMOKETREE LANE @

P
L

A
Z

A
S

M
O

K
E

T
R

E
E

@ SMOKETREE PLAZA

CINEMARK ACCESS DRIVE

A
V

E
N

U
E

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

B
N

S
F
 R

A
IL

W
A

Y

RAMP

I-88 ON/OFF

LEGEND

00

(00)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:15-5:15 PM)

12
1 
(9

2
)

68 (83)

74 (136)

16 (31)

65 (21)

3
6
 
(1

4
)

10
 
(1
1)

4
1 
(2

7
)

48 (78)

31 (51)

6
0
 
(4

4
)

39 (75)

74 (26)

12 (36)

42 (50)

2
2
 
(7

1
)

1
3
 
(1

1
)

1
1
 
(1

0
)

133 (80)

9
4
 
(1

2
8
)

0
 
(5
)

0
 
(4
)

0
 
(6
)

0 (9)

447 (633)

260 (212)

0 (5)

552 (388)

0
 
(0
)

3
4
9
 
(2

7
1
)

140 (157)

274 (383)

8
2
2
 
(7

17
)

10
7
 
(1
0
6
)

411 (367)

380 (263)

3
16
 
(2

4
0
)

8
2
7
 
(1
0
3
5
)

18
5
 
(1
4
3
)

1 (1)

1 (1)

1 (4)

3
 
(5
)

13
3
2
 
(1
16

7
)

0 (0)

13
2
3
 
(1
3
7
5
)

0 (1)

0
 
(3
)

1 
(3
)

3 (3)

3 (2)

1 (4)

7
 
(4
)0 (0)

6
5
8
 
(5

7
7
)

6
7
9
 
(5

9
7
)

399 (545)

748 (725)

7
5
8
 
(4

8
5
)

6
4
7
 
(7

2
1)

6
 
(4
)

1 (1)

1 (0)

13 (2)

2
0
 
(2
)

0
 
(0
)

YEAR 2028 NO-BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES



SITE

31

N

NOT  TO  SCALE

LEGEND

00

(00)

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

Job No: 22-114

12
1 
(9

2
)

71 (93)

74 (136)

16 (31)

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:15-8:15 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (4:15-5:15 PM)

NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED WAREHOUSE

ROAD

SULLIVAN

65 (21)

3
6
 
(1

4
)

10
 
(1
1)

6
7
 
(3

4
)

48 (78)

37 (81)

6
0
 
(4

4
)

39 (75)

LANE

LOVEDALE

ACCESS DRIVE

CINEMARK
D

R
IV

E

E
V

E
R

G
R

E
E

N

LANE

SMOKETREE

S
T

R
E

E
T

L
IN

C
O

L
N

W
A

Y

EVERGREEN DRIVE

SMOKETREE LANE @

P
L

A
Z

A
S

M
O

K
E

T
R

E
E

100 (33)

12 (36)

42 (50)

2
8
 
(1

0
1
)

@ SMOKETREE PLAZA

CINEMARK ACCESS DRIVE

A
V

E
N

U
E

H
IG

H
L

A
N

D

YEAR 2028 TOTAL PROJECTED TRAFFIC VOLUMES

1
3
 
(1

1
)

1
1
 
(1

0
)

B
N

S
F
 R

A
IL

W
A

Y

RAMP

I-88 ON/OFF

20 (11)

ACCESS DRIVE

SULLIVAN ROAD @

133 (80)

9
4
 
(1

2
8
)

9
 
(2

1
)

2
 
(5
)

707 (850)

10 (3)

901 (665)

0
 
(5
)

0
 
(4
)

0
 
(6
)

0 (9)

448 (638)

261 (217)

557 (389)

0
 
(0
)

3
5
4
 
(2

7
3
)

140 (157)

279 (384)

8
2
2
 
(7

17
)

11
8
 
(1
0
9
)

416 (373)

381 (268)

3
2
0
 
(2

4
7
)

8
2
7
 
(1
0
3
5
)

18
5
 
(1
4
3
)

1 (1)

1 (1)

1 (4)

3
 
(5
)

13
3
7
 
(1
17

3
)

0 (0)

13
2
7
 
(1
3
8
2
)

0 (1)

0
 
(3
)

1 
(3
)

3 (3)

3 (2)

1 (4)

7
 
(4
)0 (0)

6
6
0
 
(5

8
9
)

6
8
8
 
(6

2
1)

399 (545)

768 (736)

7
5
8
 
(4

8
5
)

6
5
7
 
(7

2
4
)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

6
 
(4
)

1 (1)

26 (7)

1 (0)

0 (0)

0
 
(0
)

0
 
(0
)

6
 
(3

0
)

13 (2)

2
0
 
(2
)

Figure:  10

- PROPOSED STOP SIGN

0 (5)



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 21 

5. Traffic Analysis and Recommendations 
 
 
The following provides an evaluation conducted for the weekday morning and weekday evening 
peak hours. The analysis includes conducting capacity analyses to determine how well the roadway 
system and access drives are projected to operate and whether any roadway improvements or 
modifications are required. 
 
Traffic Analyses 
 
Roadway and adjacent or nearby intersection analyses were performed for the weekday morning 
and weekday evening peak hours for the Year 2022 base, Year 2028 no-build, and Year 2028 total 
projected traffic volumes. 
 
The traffic analyses were performed using the methodologies outlined in the Transportation 
Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 6th Edition and analyzed using 
Synchro/SimTraffic 11 software. The analysis for the signalized intersections were accomplished 
using field measured cycle lengths and phasings to determine the average overall vehicle delay 
and levels of service.  
 
The analyses for the unsignalized intersections determine the average control delay to vehicles at 
an intersection. Control delay is the elapsed time from a vehicle joining the queue at a stop sign 
(includes the time required to decelerate to a stop) until its departure from the stop sign and 
resumption of free flow speed. The methodology analyzes each intersection approach controlled 
by a stop sign and considers traffic volumes on all approaches and lane characteristics. 
 
The ability of an intersection to accommodate traffic flow is expressed in terms of level of service, 
which is assigned a letter from A to F based on the average control delay experienced by vehicles 
passing through the intersection. The Highway Capacity Manual definitions for levels of service 
and the corresponding control delay for signalized intersections and unsignalized intersections are 
included in the Appendix of this report. 
 
Summaries of the traffic analysis results showing the level of service and overall intersection delay 
(measured in seconds) for the base, no-build, and total projected conditions are presented in Tables 
6 through 11. A discussion of each intersection follows. Summary sheets for the capacity analyses 
are included in the Appendix. 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 22 

Table 6 
IL 31 WITH SULLIVAN ROAD – SIGNALIZED 

 

Peak Hour 
Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound 

Overall 
L T/R L T R L T R L T/R 

B
as

e 
C

on
di

tio
ns

 

Weekday 
Morning 

F 
99+ 

D 
50.7 

C 
34.6 

E 
57.1 

D 
39.1 

B 
18.2 

C 
29.3 

B 
15.4 

B 
18.8 

C 
31.3 D 

41.5 E – 74.3 D – 48.5 C – 26.6 C – 29.6 

Weekday 
Evening 

F 
83.3 

D 
49.9 

C 
34.9 

E 
57.7 

D 
39.7 

B 
19.2 

C 
25.5 

B 
12.4 

A 
8.7 

C 
20.9 D 

35.0 E – 67.1 D – 48.9 C – 23.4 B – 19.7 

N
o-

B
ui

ld
 

C
on

di
tio

ns
 Weekday 

Morning 

F 
99+ 

D 
49.4 

C 
32.9 

D 
53.5 

D 
35.3 

C 
23.9 

C 
33.4 

B 
17.7 

C 
22.4 

D 
35.5 D 

46.0 F – 84.1 D – 45.1 C – 30.6 C – 33.7 

Weekday 
Evening 

F 
99+ 

D 
49.4 

C 
34.1 

E 
56.5 

D 
38.3 

C 
26.0 

C 
27.4 

B 
13.3 

B 
10.4 

C 
25.2 D 

38.5 E – 75.5 D – 47.8 C – 25.8 C – 23.7 

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
C

on
di

tio
ns

 Weekday 
Morning 

F 
99+ 

D 
49.0 

C 
32.6 

D 
53.2 

C 
35.0 

C 
27.3 

C 
33.7 

B 
17.8 

C 
22.8 

D 
36.7 D 

46.7 F – 85.0 D – 44.9 C – 31.2 C – 34.7 

Weekday 
Evening 

F 
99+ 

D 
49.8 

C 
34.2 

E 
56.5 

D 
38.3 

C 
27.1 

C 
27.4 

B 
13.3 

B 
11.1 

C 
25.1 D 

39.3 E – 78.2 D – 47.8 C – 26.0 C – 23.7 
Letter denotes Level of Service 
Delay is measured in seconds. 

L – Left Turn 
T – Through 

R – Right Turn 
 

 
  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 23 

TABLE 7 
IL 31 WITH I-88 RAMPS – SIGNALIZED  

 

Peak Hour 
Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound 

Overall 
L/T R L/T/R L T/R L T R 

B
as

e 
C

on
di

tio
ns

 

Weekday 
Morning 

F 
85.0 

B 
19.9 C – 24.1 

F 
99+ 

B 
14.2 

B 
14.0 

D 
43.5 

C 
21.0 D 

45.7 D – 42.3 E – 63.7 C – 31.3 

Weekday 
Evening 

E 
75.8 

B 
14.8 C – 22.0 

F 
99+ 

C 
23.9 

B 
19.3 

E 
60.1 

A 
8.5 D 

48.1 D – 41.0 E – 65.2 D – 39.2 

N
o-

B
ui

ld
 

C
on

di
tio

ns
 Weekday 

Morning 

F 
99+ 

C 
23.0 C – 24.3 

F 
99+ 

B 
13.7 

B 
14.0 

D 
45.0 

C 
31.7 E 

57.9 D – 50.4 F – 85.5 D – 37.8 

Weekday 
Evening 

F 
91.7 

B 
16.4 C – 22.0 

F 
99+ 

C 
23.2 

B 
19.3 

E 
64.3 

B 
10.2 E 

56.4 D – 48.7 E – 79.2 D – 42.5 

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
C

on
di

tio
ns

 Weekday 
Morning 

F 
99+ 

C 
24.6 C – 24.3 

F 
99+ 

B 
13.3 

B 
14.0 

D 
45.4 

C 
32.2 E 

60.2 D – 51.0 F – 91.3 D – 38.3 

Weekday 
Evening 

F 
91.7 

B 
16.8 C – 22.0 

F 
99+ 

C 
22.5 

B 
19.3 

E 
64.6 

B 
10.4 E 

59.6 D – 48.7 F – 88.2 D – 42.8 
Letter denotes Level of Service 
Delay is measured in seconds. 

L – Left Turn 
T – Through 

R – Right Turn 
 

 
  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 24 

TABLE 8 
IL 31 WITH LOVEDALE LANE/CINEMARK ACCESS DRIVE – SIGNALIZED  

 

Peak Hour 
Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound 

Overall 
L/T R L/T/R L T/R L T/R 

B
as

e 
C

on
di

tio
ns

 

Weekday 
Morning 

E 
59.4 

E 
67.2 D – 49.3 

A 
2.8 

A 
4.7 

A 
3.0 

A 
9.6 A 

8.7 E – 64.1 A – 4.6 A – 9.5 

Weekday 
Evening 

E 
70.4 

E 
75.3 E – 57.0 

A 
2.6 

A 
4.5 

A 
1.6 

A 
6.7 A 

8.9 E – 73.7 A – 4.4 A – 6.7 

N
o-

B
ui

ld
 

C
on

di
tio

ns
 Weekday 

Morning 

E 
59.8 

E 
68.2 D – 49.3 

A 
3.2 

A 
5.1 

A 
3.8 

B 
12.0 B 

10.0 E – 64.9 A – 5.0 B – 11.9 

Weekday 
Evening 

E 
70.0 

E 
75.9 E – 56.3 

A 
3.0 

A 
5.1 

A 
2.1 

A 
9.0 B 

10.3 E – 73.6 A – 5.0 A – 9.0 

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
C

on
di

tio
ns

 Weekday 
Morning 

E 
63.3 

E 
68.4 D – 49.3 

A 
3.3 

A 
5.1 

A 
3.7 

B 
12.8 B 

10.6 E – 66.2 A – 5.0 B – 12.7 

Weekday 
Evening 

E 
80.0 

E 
70.9 D – 54.8 

A 
3.6 

A 
5.7 

A 
2.5 

B 
10.4 B 

12.1 E – 75.6 A – 5.6 B – 10.3 
Letter denotes Level of Service 
Delay is measured in seconds. 

L – Left Turn 
T – Through 

R – Right Turn 
 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 25 

Table 9 
CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – UNSIGNALIZED – BASE CONDITIONS 

Intersection 
Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 
Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 
LOS Delay LOS Delay 

Sullivan Road with Highland Avenue1 

• Overall C 15.5 B 11.1 

• Eastbound Approach C 17.3 A 8.0 

• Westbound Approach B 11.7 B 13.8 

• Northbound Approach C 18.9 A 9.2 

• Southbound Approach -- -- A 7.4 

Cinemark Access Drive with Smoketree Plaza2 

• Southbound Approach A 9.4 A 9.3 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 0.0 A 7.3 

Smoketree Lane with Rodeway Inn Access Drive2 

• Southbound Approach A 9.2 A 9.1 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 7.4 A 0.0 

Smoketree Lane with Evergreen Drive/Styrofoam Recycling Access Drive3  

• Westbound Approach A 9.2 A 8.9 
LOS = Level of Service  
Delay is measured in seconds 

1 – Roundabout 
2 – Two-way stop control 

3 – Yield 

 
  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 26 

Table 10- 
CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – UNSIGNALIZED – NO-BUILD CONDITIONS 

Intersection 
Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 
Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 
LOS Delay LOS Delay 

Sullivan Road with Highland Avenue1 

• Overall C 19.3 B 12.8 

• Eastbound Approach C 22.1 A 8.7 

• Westbound Approach B 13.3 C 16.4 

• Northbound Approach C 24.4 B 10.2 

• Southbound Approach -- -- A 8.0 

Cinemark Access Drive with Smoketree Plaza2 

• Southbound Approach A 9.5 A 9.4 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 0.0 A 7.3 

Smoketree Lane with Rodeway Inn Access Drive2 

• Southbound Approach A 9.3 A 9.1 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 7.4 A 0.0 

Smoketree Lane with Evergreen Drive/Styrofoam Recycling Access Drive3  

• Westbound Approach A 9.2 A 8.9 
LOS = Level of Service  
Delay is measured in seconds 

1 – Roundabout 
2 – Two-way stop control 

3 – Yield 

 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 27 

Table 11 
CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – UNSIGNALIZED – TOTAL CONDITIONS 

Intersection 
Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 
Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 
LOS Delay LOS Delay 

Sullivan Road with Highland Avenue1 

• Overall C 19.8 B 13.1 

• Eastbound Approach C 22..7 A 8.8 

• Westbound Approach B 13.4 C 16.9 

• Northbound Approach C 24.7 B 10.2 

• Southbound Approach -- -- A 8.1 

Cinemark Access Drive with Smoketree Plaza2 

• Southbound Approach A 9.6 A 9.6 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 0.0 A 7.3 

Smoketree Lane with Rodeway Inn Access Drive/Proposed Access Drive2 

• Northbound Approach A 8.6 A 8.9 

• Southbound Approach A 9.9 A 9.6 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 7.4 A 0.0 

• Westbound Left Turn A 7.4 A 7.4 

Smoketree Lane with Evergreen Drive/Styrofoam Recycling Access Drive3  

• Westbound Approach A 9.2 A 8.9 

Sullivan Road with Proposed Access Drive2    

• Southbound Approach D 25.3 F 99+ 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 9.9 B 11.6 
LOS = Level of Service  
Delay is measured in seconds 

1 – Roundabout 
2 – Two-way stop control 

3 – Yield 

  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 28 

Discussion and Recommendations 
 
The following summarizes how the intersections are projected to operate and identifies any 
roadway and traffic control improvements necessary to accommodate the development-generated 
traffic. 
 
IL 31 with Sullivan Road 
 
The results of the capacity analysis indicate that this intersection currently operates at an overall 
Level of Service (LOS) D during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. All the 
intersection movements operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours except the eastbound 
left-turn movement and the westbound through movement. During both peak hours, the eastbound 
left-turn movement operates at LOS F and the westbound through movement operates on the 
threshold between LOS D/E. This is due in part to the fact that IL 31 is the primary road at this 
intersection and receives the majority of the green time.  
 
Under Year 2028 no-build conditions, the intersection is projected to operate at an overall LOS D 
during both the weekday morning and evening peak hours. All the intersection movements are 
projected to continue to operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours except the eastbound 
left-turn movement and the westbound through movement. The eastbound left-turn movement is 
projected to continue to operate at LOS F during both peak hours and the westbound movement is 
projected to continue to operate on the threshold of LOS D/E during the weekday evening peak 
hour. 
 
Under Year 2028 total projected conditions, the intersection is projected to continue to operate at 
an overall LOS D during the weekday morning and evening peak hours. All the intersection 
movements are projected to continue to operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours except 
the eastbound left-turn movement and the westbound through movement. The eastbound left-turn 
movement is projected to continue to operate at LOS F during both peak hours and the westbound 
movement is projected to continue to operate on the threshold of LOS D/E during the weekday 
evening peak hour. It is recommended that the signal timings at this intersection be optimized. 
With the reallocation of some green time from the IL 31 approaches to the Sullivan Road 
approaches, the intersection is projected to operate at LOS D and all the movements are projected 
to operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours. As such, this intersection has sufficient 
reserve capacity to accommodate the traffic to be generated by the proposed development and no 
additional roadway improvements or traffic control modifications are required at this intersection.  
 
IL 31 with I-88 Ramps 
 
The results of the capacity analysis indicate that this intersection currently operates at LOS D 
during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. All the intersection movements 
operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours except the eastbound left-turn/through 
movement, the northbound left-turn movement, and the southbound through movement. The 
eastbound through/left-turn movement and the northbound left-turn movement operate at LOS E 
or F during both peak hours and the northbound through movements operates at LOS E during the 
evening peak hour.  
 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 29 

Under Year 2028 no-build conditions, the overall intersection is projected to operate on the 
threshold between LOS D/E during the weekday morning and evening peak hours. All the 
intersection movements are projected to continue to operate at LOS D or better during both peak 
hours except the eastbound left-turn/through movement, the northbound left-turn movement, and 
the southbound through movement, which are projected to continue to operate at LOS E or F. 
 
Under Year 2028 total projected conditions, the intersection is projected to operate at an overall 
LOS E during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. All the intersection 
movements are projected to continue to operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours except 
the eastbound left-turn/through movement, the northbound left-turn movement, and the 
southbound through movement, which are projected to continue to operate at LOS E or F. The 
development-generated traffic is projected to represent just over one percent of the traffic at this 
intersection during the peak hours. As such, the development will have a limited impact on the 
operation of this intersection and no roadway improvements or traffic signal modifications are 
required. 
 
IL 31 with Lovedale Lane/Cinemark Access Drive 
 
The results of the capacity analysis indicate that the intersection currently operates at an overall 
LOS A during the weekday morning and evening peak hours. All the intersection movements 
operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours except the eastbound left-turn movement, 
eastbound through/right-turn movement, and westbound approach during the evening peak hour, 
which are projected to operate at LOS E. This is due in part to the fact that IL 31 is the primary 
road at this intersection and receives the majority of the green time. 
 
Under Year 2028 no-build conditions, the overall intersection is projected to operate at LOS B 
during the weekday morning and evening peak hours. All the intersection movements are projected 
to continue to operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours except the eastbound left-turn 
movement, eastbound through/right-turn movement, and westbound approach during the evening 
peak hour, which are projected to continue to operate at LOS E.  
 
Under Year 2028 total projected conditions, the overall intersection is projected to operate at LOS 
B during the weekday morning and evening peak hours. All the intersection movements are 
projected to continue to operate at LOS D or better during both peak hours except the eastbound 
left-turn movement, eastbound through/right-turn movement, and westbound approach during the 
weekday evening peak hour, which are projected to continue to operate at LOS E. As such, 
intersection has sufficient reserve capacity to accommodate the traffic estimated to be generated 
by the proposed development and no roadway improvements or signal modifications will be 
required. 
 
Sullivan Road with Highland Avenue 
 
The results of the capacity analysis indicate that the roundabout currently operates at an overall 
LOS C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS B during the weekday evening peak 
hour. All approaches currently operate at LOS C or better during the peak hours.  
 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 30 

Under Year 2028 no-build conditions, the roundabout is projected to continue to operate at LOS 
C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS B during the weekday evening peak hour. 
All approaches are projected to continue operating at LOS C or better during the peak hours.  
 
Under Year 2028 total projected conditions, the roundabout is projected to continue to operate at 
LOS C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS B during the weekday evening peak 
hour. All approaches are projected to continue to operate at LOS C or better during the peak hours. 
As such, this intersection has sufficient reserve capacity to accommodate the traffic estimated to 
be generated by the proposed development and no roadway improvements or traffic control 
modifications are required.  
 
Smoketree Plaza with Cinemark Access Drive 
 
The results of the capacity analysis indicate that the Smoketree Plaza southbound approach 
currently operates at LOS A during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. The 
eastbound left-turn movement is projected to operate at LOS A during both peak hours. It should 
be noted that given the proximity of the intersection to IL 31, the southbound approach and the 
eastbound approach does experience some queuing as the traffic on these approaches must wait 
for the green phase for the Cinemark/Smoketree Plaza approach at its intersection with IL 31. 
Under Year 2028 no-build conditions, the southbound approach and eastbound left-turn movement 
are projected to continue operating at their current levels of service. Under Year 2028 total 
projected conditions, the southbound approach and the eastbound left-turn movement are projected 
to continue to operate at LOS A during both peak hours. As such, this intersection has sufficient 
reserve capacity to accommodate the traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed 
development and no roadway improvements or traffic control modifications are required.  
 
Smoketree Lane with Evergreen Drive/Styrofoam Recycling Access Drive 
 
Since the southbound approach at this intersection is under yield sign control, the intersection was 
analyzed assuming all-way stop sign control. The results of the capacity analysis indicate that the 
westbound, northbound, and southbound approaches all currently operate at LOS A during the 
weekday morning and evening peak hours. Under Year 2028 no-build conditions, all approaches 
are projected to continue operating at LOS A during both peak hours. Under Year 2028 total 
projected conditions, all approaches are projected to operate at LOS A during the weekday 
morning and evening peak hours. As such, this intersection has sufficient reserve capacity to 
accommodate the traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed development and no roadway 
improvements or traffic control modifications are required. 
 
Sullivan Road with Proposed Access Drive 
 
Access to the development is proposed via an access drive located on the north side of Sullivan 
Road approximately 345 feet east of the Sullivan Road/Highland Avenue roundabout and 
immediately west of the Fairview Dental access drive. Given that Sullivan Road is a designated 
truck route and the tight turn between IL 31 and Smoketree Lane, all semi-trailer trucks will be 
directed to use this access drive. This access drive will provide one inbound lane and one outbound 
lane with larger radii to accommodate the turning truck traffic. In addition, an approximate 225-
foot eastbound left-turn lane with a 110-foot taper will be provided on Sullivan Road serving the 
proposed access drive and Fairview Dental access drive. 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 31 

It should be noted that the proximity of the proposed access drive to the Highland Avenue 
roundabout and the Fairview Dental access drive should not pose any operational issues due to the 
following:  
 
• The lower travel speeds experienced along Sullivan Road within the vicinity of the access 

drive, as westbound vehicles are slowing down as they approach the roundabout and 
westbound vehicles are starting to accelerate after exiting the roundabout.  

 
• The excellent sight lines that will be provided between the roundabout, the proposed access 

drive, and the Fairview Dental access drive with the elimination of the existing trees and 
brush as part of the construction of the access drive.  

 
• The eastbound left-turn lane proposed to be provided on Sullivan Road serving the 

proposed access drive and the Fairview Dental access drive.  
 

• The lower volume of traffic projected to use the access drive and that currently uses the 
Fairview Dental access drive. 

 
Further, it is important to note that Sullivan Road is designated a truck route and currently has a 
number of access drives serving industrial and warehouse uses located along Sullivan Road. 
 
Under Year 2028 total projected conditions, the southbound approach from the proposed access 
drive is projected to operate at LOS D during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS F during 
the weekday evening peak hour. The development traffic will be able to exit onto Sullivan Road. 
However, during the evening peak period this traffic will experience some additional delay. This 
is common and expected for an access drive intersecting a major roadway such as Sullivan Road. 
Further, it is important to note that the analysis provides a conservative (worst-case) analysis as it 
did not consider the following factors: 
 
• The signalized intersection of Sullivan Road and IL 31 and the roundabout at Sullivan 

Road/Highland Avenue intersection, which both create additional gaps in the Sullivan 
Road traffic stream.  

 
• The median that will be provided along Sullivan Road with proposed left-turn lane that 

will allow exiting vehicles to complete a two-stage left turn. 
 
As such, the access drive approach is projected to operate better than the capacity analyses are 
indicating.  
 
Smoketree Lane with Rodeway Inn Access Drive/Proposed Access Drive 
 
The results of the capacity analysis indicate that the southbound approach currently operates at 
LOS A during the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. The eastbound left-turn 
movement is projected to operate at LOS A during both peak hours. Under Year 2028 no-build 
conditions, the southbound approach and eastbound left-turn movement are projected to continue 
operating at their current levels of service.  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 32 

Access to the development is proposed via an access drive on located on the south side of 
Smoketree Lane aligned opposite the Rodeway Inn access drive. This access drive will provide 
one inbound lane and one outbound lane with larger radii to accommodate the turning truck traffic. 
Under Year 2028 total projected conditions, the northbound approach from the proposed 
development and the southbound approach are projected to operate at LOS A during the weekday 
morning and evening peak hours. The eastbound and westbound left turns are projected to operate 
at LOS A during both peak hours. As such, the proposed site access drive will provide efficient 
and flexible access to the site with limited impact on Smoketree Lane. 
 
  



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 33 

6. Conclusion 
 
 
Based on the preceding analyses and recommendations, the following conclusions have been 
made: 
 
• Access to the development will be provided via one access drive on Sullivan Road and one 

access drive on Smoketree Lane as summarized below: 
 

o The Sullivan Road access drive will be located on the north side of the road 
approximately 345 feet east of the Sullivan Road/Highland Avenue roundabout and 
immediately west of the Fairview Dental access drive. Given that Sullivan Road is 
a designated truck route and the tight turn between IL 31 and Smoketree Plaza, all 
semi-trailer trucks will be directed to use this access drive. This access drive will 
provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane with larger radii to accommodate 
the turning truck traffic. In addition, an approximate 225-foot eastbound left-turn 
lane with a 110-foot taper will be provided on Sullivan Road serving the proposed 
access drive and Fairview Dental access drive. 

 
o The Smoketree Lane access drive will be located on the south side of the road 

aligned opposite the Rodeway Inn access drive. This access drive will provide one 
inbound lane and one outbound lane with larger radii to accommodate the turning 
truck traffic. 

 
• The proximity of the proposed access drive to the Highland Avenue roundabout and the 

Fairview Dental access drive should not pose any operational issues due tio the following:  
 

o The lower travel speeds experienced along Sullivan Road within the vicinity of the 
access drive, as westbound vehicles are slowing down as they approach the 
roundabout and westbound vehicles are starting to accelerate after exiting the 
roundabout.  

 
o The excellent sight lines that will be provided between the roundabout, the 

proposed access drive, and the Fairview Dental access drive with the elimination 
of the existing trees and brush as part of the construction of the access drive.  

 
o The eastbound left-turn lane proposed to be provided on Sullivan Road serving 

proposed the access drive and the Fairview Dental access drive.  
 

o The lower volume of traffic projected to use the access drive and currently using 
the Fairview Dental access drive. 

 
o That Sullivan Road is designated a truck route and that a number of access drives 

serving industrial and warehouse uses are currently located along Sullivan Road.  
 



Proposed Warehouse Development 
North Aurora, Illinois 34 

• The proposed access system will be adequate in accommodating the traffic projected to be 
generated by the proposed development.  

 
• The results of the capacity analyses indicate that the existing roadway system generally has 

sufficient reserve capacity to accommodate the traffic to be generated by the proposed 
development. 
 

 
 



Appendix 
 

Traffic Count Summary Sheets 
Site Plan 

CMAP 2050 Projections Letter 
Level of Service Criteria 

Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
  



Traffic Count Summary Sheets  



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 IL
+3

1+
w

ith
+S

ul
liv

an
+R

oa
d

Si
te

 C
od

e:
St

ar
t D

at
e:

 0
4/

05
/2

02
2

Pa
ge

 N
o:

 1

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t D
at

a

St
ar

t T
im

e

Su
lliv

an
 R

d
Su

lliv
an

 R
d

IL
 3

1
IL

 3
1

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
Le

ft
Th

ru
R

ig
ht

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
Le

ft
Th

ru
R

ig
ht

U
-T

ur
n

Pe
ds

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
Le

ft
Th

ru
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

In
t. 

To
ta

l
6:

30
 A

M
74

53
10

13
7

7
39

31
0

0
77

33
15

7
0

0
19

0
26

11
4

54
0

0
19

4
59

8
6:

45
 A

M
61

40
11

11
2

16
53

27
0

0
96

21
13

1
0

0
15

2
30

12
8

57
0

0
21

5
57

5
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
13

5
93

21
24

9
23

92
58

0
0

17
3

54
28

8
0

0
34

2
56

24
2

11
1

0
0

40
9

11
73

7:
00

 A
M

81
63

15
15

9
17

58
30

0
0

10
5

10
11

1
0

0
12

1
36

10
3

40
0

0
17

9
56

4
7:

15
 A

M
68

46
10

12
4

11
51

19
0

0
81

18
15

3
0

0
17

1
43

14
9

39
0

0
23

1
60

7
7:

30
 A

M
75

94
8

17
7

14
63

27
0

0
10

4
24

17
8

0
0

20
2

32
14

9
62

0
0

24
3

72
6

7:
45

 A
M

94
84

15
19

3
16

54
28

0
0

98
28

13
1

0
0

15
9

29
14

5
70

0
0

24
4

69
4

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

31
8

28
7

48
65

3
58

22
6

10
4

0
0

38
8

80
57

3
0

0
65

3
14

0
54

6
21

1
0

0
89

7
25

91
8:

00
 A

M
70

60
18

14
8

14
37

31
0

0
82

10
15

2
0

0
16

2
34

17
5

65
0

0
27

4
66

6
8:

15
 A

M
80

28
14

12
2

20
40

27
0

0
87

23
11

0
0

0
13

3
15

12
3

39
0

0
17

7
51

9
8:

30
 A

M
64

43
15

12
2

17
34

28
0

0
79

13
12

2
0

0
13

5
19

15
3

37
1

0
21

0
54

6
8:

45
 A

M
49

52
20

12
1

17
37

25
0

0
79

13
84

0
0

97
22

14
0

45
0

0
20

7
50

4
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
26

3
18

3
67

51
3

68
14

8
11

1
0

0
32

7
59

46
8

0
0

52
7

90
59

1
18

6
1

0
86

8
22

35
**

* B
R

EA
K 

**
*

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

3:
00

 P
M

49
94

33
17

6
26

98
35

0
0

15
9

18
11

3
0

0
13

1
20

17
5

41
0

0
23

6
70

2
3:

15
 P

M
53

74
16

14
3

25
63

23
0

0
11

1
19

15
9

0
1

17
8

29
21

7
52

1
0

29
9

73
1

3:
30

 P
M

78
81

27
18

6
39

99
33

0
0

17
1

28
15

1
0

0
17

9
40

19
1

45
0

0
27

6
81

2
3:

45
 P

M
69

52
20

14
1

36
89

32
0

0
15

7
25

13
9

0
0

16
4

28
22

2
48

3
0

30
1

76
3

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

24
9

30
1

96
64

6
12

6
34

9
12

3
0

0
59

8
90

56
2

0
1

65
2

11
7

80
5

18
6

4
0

11
12

30
08

4:
00

 P
M

72
54

14
14

0
22

64
44

0
0

13
0

25
17

4
0

0
19

9
42

19
3

51
0

0
28

6
75

5
4:

15
 P

M
79

48
20

14
7

36
83

29
0

0
14

8
22

16
4

0
0

18
6

33
22

8
51

0
0

31
2

79
3

4:
30

 P
M

82
59

16
15

7
32

90
46

0
1

16
8

25
15

0
0

0
17

5
37

19
9

43
0

0
27

9
77

9
4:

45
 P

M
65

48
14

12
7

28
64

32
0

0
12

4
15

14
9

0
0

16
4

21
23

9
68

0
0

32
8

74
3

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

29
8

20
9

64
57

1
11

8
30

1
15

1
0

1
57

0
87

63
7

0
0

72
4

13
3

85
9

21
3

0
0

12
05

30
70

5:
00

 P
M

86
69

21
17

6
19

88
27

0
0

13
4

28
14

6
0

0
17

4
31

21
3

42
0

0
28

6
77

0
5:

15
 P

M
52

54
17

12
3

34
83

30
0

0
14

7
27

18
7

0
0

21
4

21
22

3
39

1
0

28
4

76
8

5:
30

 P
M

50
43

21
11

4
24

65
35

0
0

12
4

25
14

3
0

0
16

8
21

20
0

56
0

2
27

7
68

3
5:

45
 P

M
47

49
17

11
3

25
68

28
0

0
12

1
17

12
5

0
0

14
2

27
16

8
48

0
2

24
3

61
9

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

23
5

21
5

76
52

6
10

2
30

4
12

0
0

0
52

6
97

60
1

0
0

69
8

10
0

80
4

18
5

1
4

10
90

28
40

G
ra

nd
 T

ot
al

14
98

12
88

37
2

31
58

49
5

14
20

66
7

0
1

25
82

46
7

31
29

0
1

35
96

63
6

38
47

10
92

6
4

55
81

14
91

7
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 %

47
.4

40
.8

11
.8

-
19

.2
55

.0
25

.8
0.

0
-

-
13

.0
87

.0
0.

0
-

-
11

.4
68

.9
19

.6
0.

1
-

-
-

To
ta

l %
10

.0
8.

6
2.

5
21

.2
3.

3
9.

5
4.

5
0.

0
-

17
.3

3.
1

21
.0

0.
0

-
24

.1
4.

3
25

.8
7.

3
0.

0
-

37
.4

-
Li

gh
ts

14
32

12
46

35
9

30
37

46
7

13
84

58
8

0
-

24
39

45
4

29
57

0
-

34
11

55
4

36
42

10
60

6
-

52
62

14
14

9
%

 L
ig

ht
s

95
.6

96
.7

96
.5

96
.2

94
.3

97
.5

88
.2

-
-

94
.5

97
.2

94
.5

-
-

94
.9

87
.1

94
.7

97
.1

10
0.

0
-

94
.3

94
.9

Bu
se

s
17

15
1

33
0

6
0

0
-

6
3

30
0

-
33

9
31

5
0

-
45

11
7

%
 B

us
es

1.
1

1.
2

0.
3

1.
0

0.
0

0.
4

0.
0

-
-

0.
2

0.
6

1.
0

-
-

0.
9

1.
4

0.
8

0.
5

0.
0

-
0.

8
0.

8



Si
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
28

12
9

49
11

12
26

0
-

49
6

57
0

-
63

24
82

19
0

-
12

5
28

6
%

 S
in

gl
e-

U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

1.
9

0.
9

2.
4

1.
6

2.
2

0.
8

3.
9

-
-

1.
9

1.
3

1.
8

-
-

1.
8

3.
8

2.
1

1.
7

0.
0

-
2.

2
1.

9
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

21
15

3
39

17
18

53
0

-
88

4
85

0
-

89
49

92
8

0
-

14
9

36
5

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d 
Tr

uc
ks

1.
4

1.
2

0.
8

1.
2

3.
4

1.
3

7.
9

-
-

3.
4

0.
9

2.
7

-
-

2.
5

7.
7

2.
4

0.
7

0.
0

-
2.

7
2.

4
Bi

cy
cl

es
 o

n 
R

oa
d

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
 R

oa
d

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
Pe

de
st

ria
ns

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

1
-

-
-

-
1

-
-

-
-

-
4

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
10

0.
0

-
-

-
-

10
0.

0
-

-
-

-
-

10
0.

0
-

-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 IL
+3

1+
w

ith
+S

ul
liv

an
+R

oa
d

Si
te

 C
od

e:
St

ar
t D

at
e:

 0
4/

05
/2

02
2

Pa
ge

 N
o:

 3

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(7
:1

5 
AM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

Su
lliv

an
 R

d
Su

lliv
an

 R
d

IL
 3

1
IL

 3
1

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
Le

ft
Th

ru
R

ig
ht

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
Le

ft
Th

ru
R

ig
ht

U
-T

ur
n

Pe
ds

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
Le

ft
Th

ru
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

In
t. 

To
ta

l
7:

15
 A

M
68

46
10

12
4

11
51

19
0

0
81

18
15

3
0

0
17

1
43

14
9

39
0

0
23

1
60

7
7:

30
 A

M
75

94
8

17
7

14
63

27
0

0
10

4
24

17
8

0
0

20
2

32
14

9
62

0
0

24
3

72
6

7:
45

 A
M

94
84

15
19

3
16

54
28

0
0

98
28

13
1

0
0

15
9

29
14

5
70

0
0

24
4

69
4

8:
00

 A
M

70
60

18
14

8
14

37
31

0
0

82
10

15
2

0
0

16
2

34
17

5
65

0
0

27
4

66
6

To
ta

l
30

7
28

4
51

64
2

55
20

5
10

5
0

0
36

5
80

61
4

0
0

69
4

13
8

61
8

23
6

0
0

99
2

26
93

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
47

.8
44

.2
7.

9
-

15
.1

56
.2

28
.8

0.
0

-
-

11
.5

88
.5

0.
0

-
-

13
.9

62
.3

23
.8

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

11
.4

10
.5

1.
9

23
.8

2.
0

7.
6

3.
9

0.
0

-
13

.6
3.

0
22

.8
0.

0
-

25
.8

5.
1

22
.9

8.
8

0.
0

-
36

.8
-

PH
F

0.
81

6
0.

75
5

0.
70

8
0.

83
2

0.
85

9
0.

81
3

0.
84

7
0.

00
0

-
0.

87
7

0.
71

4
0.

86
2

0.
00

0
-

0.
85

9
0.

80
2

0.
88

3
0.

84
3

0.
00

0
-

0.
90

5
0.

92
7

Li
gh

ts
28

9
27

8
48

61
5

49
19

6
86

0
-

33
1

78
56

7
0

-
64

5
11

5
58

4
22

8
0

-
92

7
25

18
%

 L
ig

ht
s

94
.1

97
.9

94
.1

95
.8

89
.1

95
.6

81
.9

-
-

90
.7

97
.5

92
.3

-
-

92
.9

83
.3

94
.5

96
.6

-
-

93
.4

93
.5

Bu
se

s
3

3
0

6
0

1
0

0
-

1
2

7
0

-
9

2
6

1
0

-
9

25
%

 B
us

es
1.

0
1.

1
0.

0
0.

9
0.

0
0.

5
0.

0
-

-
0.

3
2.

5
1.

1
-

-
1.

3
1.

4
1.

0
0.

4
-

-
0.

9
0.

9
Si

ng
le

-U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

9
2

3
14

2
4

6
0

-
12

0
14

0
-

14
9

13
6

0
-

28
68

%
 S

in
gl

e-
U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
2.

9
0.

7
5.

9
2.

2
3.

6
2.

0
5.

7
-

-
3.

3
0.

0
2.

3
-

-
2.

0
6.

5
2.

1
2.

5
-

-
2.

8
2.

5
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

6
1

0
7

4
4

13
0

-
21

0
26

0
-

26
12

15
1

0
-

28
82

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d 
Tr

uc
ks

2.
0

0.
4

0.
0

1.
1

7.
3

2.
0

12
.4

-
-

5.
8

0.
0

4.
2

-
-

3.
7

8.
7

2.
4

0.
4

-
-

2.
8

3.
0

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
%

 B
ic

yc
le

s 
on

 R
oa

d
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
Pe

de
st

ria
ns

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 IL
+3

1+
w

ith
+S

ul
liv

an
+R

oa
d

Si
te

 C
od

e:
St

ar
t D

at
e:

 0
4/

05
/2

02
2

Pa
ge

 N
o:

 4

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(4
:1

5 
PM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

Su
lliv

an
 R

d
Su

lliv
an

 R
d

IL
 3

1
IL

 3
1

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
Le

ft
Th

ru
R

ig
ht

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
Le

ft
Th

ru
R

ig
ht

U
-T

ur
n

Pe
ds

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
Le

ft
Th

ru
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

In
t. 

To
ta

l
4:

15
 P

M
79

48
20

14
7

36
83

29
0

0
14

8
22

16
4

0
0

18
6

33
22

8
51

0
0

31
2

79
3

4:
30

 P
M

82
59

16
15

7
32

90
46

0
1

16
8

25
15

0
0

0
17

5
37

19
9

43
0

0
27

9
77

9
4:

45
 P

M
65

48
14

12
7

28
64

32
0

0
12

4
15

14
9

0
0

16
4

21
23

9
68

0
0

32
8

74
3

5:
00

 P
M

86
69

21
17

6
19

88
27

0
0

13
4

28
14

6
0

0
17

4
31

21
3

42
0

0
28

6
77

0
To

ta
l

31
2

22
4

71
60

7
11

5
32

5
13

4
0

1
57

4
90

60
9

0
0

69
9

12
2

87
9

20
4

0
0

12
05

30
85

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
51

.4
36

.9
11

.7
-

20
.0

56
.6

23
.3

0.
0

-
-

12
.9

87
.1

0.
0

-
-

10
.1

72
.9

16
.9

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

10
.1

7.
3

2.
3

19
.7

3.
7

10
.5

4.
3

0.
0

-
18

.6
2.

9
19

.7
0.

0
-

22
.7

4.
0

28
.5

6.
6

0.
0

-
39

.1
-

PH
F

0.
90

7
0.

81
2

0.
84

5
0.

86
2

0.
79

9
0.

90
3

0.
72

8
0.

00
0

-
0.

85
4

0.
80

4
0.

92
8

0.
00

0
-

0.
94

0
0.

82
4

0.
91

9
0.

75
0

0.
00

0
-

0.
91

8
0.

97
3

Li
gh

ts
30

3
22

3
69

59
5

11
3

32
1

12
8

0
-

56
2

89
59

1
0

-
68

0
11

3
84

7
19

9
0

-
11

59
29

96
%

 L
ig

ht
s

97
.1

99
.6

97
.2

98
.0

98
.3

98
.8

95
.5

-
-

97
.9

98
.9

97
.0

-
-

97
.3

92
.6

96
.4

97
.5

-
-

96
.2

97
.1

Bu
se

s
3

0
0

3
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

5
0

-
5

0
3

0
0

-
3

11
%

 B
us

es
1.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

5
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

8
-

-
0.

7
0.

0
0.

3
0.

0
-

-
0.

2
0.

4
Si

ng
le

-U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

3
1

1
5

1
3

2
0

-
6

1
4

0
-

5
1

15
2

0
-

18
34

%
 S

in
gl

e-
U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
1.

0
0.

4
1.

4
0.

8
0.

9
0.

9
1.

5
-

-
1.

0
1.

1
0.

7
-

-
0.

7
0.

8
1.

7
1.

0
-

-
1.

5
1.

1
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

3
0

1
4

1
1

4
0

-
6

0
9

0
-

9
8

14
3

0
-

25
44

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d 
Tr

uc
ks

1.
0

0.
0

1.
4

0.
7

0.
9

0.
3

3.
0

-
-

1.
0

0.
0

1.
5

-
-

1.
3

6.
6

1.
6

1.
5

-
-

2.
1

1.
4

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
%

 B
ic

yc
le

s 
on

 R
oa

d
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
Pe

de
st

ria
ns

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

1
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
10

0.
0

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 IL
+3

1+
w

ith
+I

-8
8+

R
am

ps
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 1

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t D
at

a

St
ar

t T
im

e

I-8
8 

R
am

ps
Ac

ce
ss

 D
r

IL
 3

1
IL

 3
1

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

In
t. 

To
ta

l

6:
30

 A
M

55
0

11
6

0
0

17
1

0
0

0
0

0
0

14
1

11
7

0
0

0
25

8
0

78
12

4
0

0
20

2
63

1
6:

45
 A

M
70

0
12

5
0

0
19

5
1

0
0

0
0

1
11

6
12

4
4

0
0

24
4

0
90

13
7

0
0

22
7

66
7

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

12
5

0
24

1
0

0
36

6
1

0
0

0
0

1
25

7
24

1
4

0
0

50
2

0
16

8
26

1
0

0
42

9
12

98
7:

00
 A

M
77

0
11

4
0

0
19

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
10

9
86

2
0

0
19

7
0

86
14

5
0

0
23

1
61

9
7:

15
 A

M
79

0
13

1
0

0
21

0
0

1
1

0
0

2
10

6
11

3
0

0
0

21
9

1
10

6
15

1
0

0
25

8
68

9
7:

30
 A

M
68

0
14

3
1

0
21

2
1

0
1

0
0

2
15

0
12

6
1

0
0

27
7

0
14

0
14

6
0

0
28

6
77

7
7:

45
 A

M
97

0
14

2
0

0
23

9
0

2
1

0
0

3
13

5
13

7
3

0
0

27
5

0
11

6
14

2
0

0
25

8
77

5
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
32

1
0

53
0

1
0

85
2

1
3

3
0

0
7

50
0

46
2

6
0

0
96

8
1

44
8

58
4

0
0

10
33

28
60

8:
00

 A
M

52
0

14
3

1
0

19
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

11
7

11
6

3
0

0
23

6
0

12
2

12
7

0
0

24
9

68
1

8:
15

 A
M

64
1

10
1

0
0

16
6

2
1

0
0

1
3

10
8

10
2

2
0

0
21

2
0

84
13

0
0

0
21

4
59

5
8:

30
 A

M
57

1
10

5
0

0
16

3
3

0
1

0
0

4
98

98
4

0
0

20
0

1
10

0
11

4
0

0
21

5
58

2
8:

45
 A

M
63

0
99

0
0

16
2

1
0

0
0

0
1

92
87

3
0

0
18

2
0

10
0

94
0

0
19

4
53

9
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
23

6
2

44
8

1
0

68
7

6
1

1
0

1
8

41
5

40
3

12
0

0
83

0
1

40
6

46
5

0
0

87
2

23
97

**
* B

R
EA

K 
**

*
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

3:
00

 P
M

62
0

10
6

0
0

16
8

4
1

1
0

0
6

12
2

89
0

1
0

21
2

0
15

2
11

0
0

0
26

2
64

8
3:

15
 P

M
77

0
14

2
0

0
21

9
1

0
1

0
2

2
10

1
11

0
1

0
0

21
2

2
16

3
10

9
0

0
27

4
70

7
3:

30
 P

M
87

0
10

9
0

0
19

6
4

0
2

0
0

6
12

2
11

7
1

0
0

24
0

1
18

8
11

4
0

0
30

3
74

5
3:

45
 P

M
10

1
0

16
4

0
0

26
5

2
0

0
0

1
2

11
6

89
2

0
0

20
7

0
15

1
99

0
0

25
0

72
4

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

32
7

0
52

1
0

0
84

8
11

1
4

0
3

16
46

1
40

5
4

1
0

87
1

3
65

4
43

2
0

0
10

89
28

24
4:

00
 P

M
99

0
13

8
1

0
23

8
2

0
1

0
1

3
12

0
12

8
3

0
0

25
1

0
16

1
11

7
0

0
27

8
77

0
4:

15
 P

M
12

6
0

14
5

0
0

27
1

0
1

1
0

2
2

13
2

10
5

1
1

0
23

9
1

14
0

10
1

0
0

24
2

75
4

4:
30

 P
M

97
0

14
7

0
0

24
4

2
0

1
0

0
3

12
9

13
2

1
0

0
26

2
1

17
1

10
4

0
0

27
6

78
5

4:
45

 P
M

12
9

0
17

3
1

0
30

3
1

0
1

0
0

2
12

3
12

4
0

0
0

24
7

0
15

3
10

6
0

0
25

9
81

1
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
45

1
0

60
3

2
0

10
56

5
1

4
0

3
10

50
4

48
9

5
1

0
99

9
2

62
5

42
8

0
0

10
55

31
20

5:
00

 P
M

11
0

0
15

1
0

0
26

1
1

1
0

0
1

2
12

2
12

9
2

0
0

25
3

1
14

9
10

1
0

0
25

1
76

7
5:

15
 P

M
11

4
0

14
4

0
0

25
8

3
1

1
0

1
5

13
6

11
7

2
0

0
25

5
0

13
3

10
3

0
0

23
6

75
4

5:
30

 P
M

10
1

0
18

0
0

0
28

1
0

0
0

0
1

0
10

8
12

8
1

0
0

23
7

1
11

3
98

0
0

21
2

73
0

5:
45

 P
M

12
4

0
10

8
0

0
23

2
0

0
2

0
1

2
64

10
1

4
0

0
16

9
0

15
0

93
0

0
24

3
64

6
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
44

9
0

58
3

0
0

10
32

4
2

3
0

4
9

43
0

47
5

9
0

0
91

4
2

54
5

39
5

0
0

94
2

28
97

G
ra

nd
 T

ot
al

19
09

2
29

26
4

0
48

41
28

8
15

0
11

51
25

67
24

75
40

2
0

50
84

9
28

46
25

65
0

0
54

20
15

39
6

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
39

.4
0.

0
60

.4
0.

1
-

-
54

.9
15

.7
29

.4
0.

0
-

-
50

.5
48

.7
0.

8
0.

0
-

-
0.

2
52

.5
47

.3
0.

0
-

-
-

To
ta

l %
12

.4
0.

0
19

.0
0.

0
-

31
.4

0.
2

0.
1

0.
1

0.
0

-
0.

3
16

.7
16

.1
0.

3
0.

0
-

33
.0

0.
1

18
.5

16
.7

0.
0

-
35

.2
-

Li
gh

ts
18

15
1

26
77

4
-

44
97

27
7

14
0

-
48

23
25

23
82

39
2

-
47

48
9

27
39

24
47

0
-

51
95

14
48

8
%

 L
ig

ht
s

95
.1

50
.0

91
.5

10
0.

0
-

92
.9

96
.4

87
.5

93
.3

-
-

94
.1

90
.6

96
.2

97
.5

10
0.

0
-

93
.4

10
0.

0
96

.2
95

.4
-

-
95

.8
94

.1
Bu

se
s

2
0

15
0

-
17

0
0

0
0

-
0

13
34

0
0

-
47

0
42

4
0

-
46

11
0



%
 B

us
es

0.
1

0.
0

0.
5

0.
0

-
0.

4
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

5
1.

4
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
9

0.
0

1.
5

0.
2

-
-

0.
8

0.
7

Si
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
53

1
86

0
-

14
0

1
1

1
0

-
3

97
36

0
0

-
13

3
0

47
50

0
-

97
37

3
%

 S
in

gl
e-

U
ni

t
Tr

uc
ks

2.
8

50
.0

2.
9

0.
0

-
2.

9
3.

6
12

.5
6.

7
-

-
5.

9
3.

8
1.

5
0.

0
0.

0
-

2.
6

0.
0

1.
7

1.
9

-
-

1.
8

2.
4

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
39

0
14

8
0

-
18

7
0

0
0

0
-

0
13

2
23

1
0

-
15

6
0

18
64

0
-

82
42

5
%

 A
rti

cu
la

te
d

Tr
uc

ks
2.

0
0.

0
5.

1
0.

0
-

3.
9

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

5.
1

0.
9

2.
5

0.
0

-
3.

1
0.

0
0.

6
2.

5
-

-
1.

5
2.

8

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
R

oa
d

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
11

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
10

0.
0

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 IL
+3

1+
w

ith
+I

-8
8+

R
am

ps
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 3

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(7
:1

5 
AM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

I-8
8 

R
am

ps
Ac

ce
ss

 D
r

IL
 3

1
IL

 3
1

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

In
t. 

To
ta

l

7:
15

 A
M

79
0

13
1

0
0

21
0

0
1

1
0

0
2

10
6

11
3

0
0

0
21

9
1

10
6

15
1

0
0

25
8

68
9

7:
30

 A
M

68
0

14
3

1
0

21
2

1
0

1
0

0
2

15
0

12
6

1
0

0
27

7
0

14
0

14
6

0
0

28
6

77
7

7:
45

 A
M

97
0

14
2

0
0

23
9

0
2

1
0

0
3

13
5

13
7

3
0

0
27

5
0

11
6

14
2

0
0

25
8

77
5

8:
00

 A
M

52
0

14
3

1
0

19
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

11
7

11
6

3
0

0
23

6
0

12
2

12
7

0
0

24
9

68
1

To
ta

l
29

6
0

55
9

2
0

85
7

1
3

3
0

0
7

50
8

49
2

7
0

0
10

07
1

48
4

56
6

0
0

10
51

29
22

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
34

.5
0.

0
65

.2
0.

2
-

-
14

.3
42

.9
42

.9
0.

0
-

-
50

.4
48

.9
0.

7
0.

0
-

-
0.

1
46

.1
53

.9
0.

0
-

-
-

To
ta

l %
10

.1
0.

0
19

.1
0.

1
-

29
.3

0.
0

0.
1

0.
1

0.
0

-
0.

2
17

.4
16

.8
0.

2
0.

0
-

34
.5

0.
0

16
.6

19
.4

0.
0

-
36

.0
-

PH
F

0.
76

3
0.

00
0

0.
97

7
0.

50
0

-
0.

89
6

0.
25

0
0.

37
5

0.
75

0
0.

00
0

-
0.

58
3

0.
84

7
0.

89
8

0.
58

3
0.

00
0

-
0.

90
9

0.
25

0
0.

86
4

0.
93

7
0.

00
0

-
0.

91
9

0.
94

0
Li

gh
ts

27
5

0
51

0
2

-
78

7
1

3
2

0
-

6
43

9
46

7
6

0
-

91
2

1
45

7
54

5
0

-
10

03
27

08
%

 L
ig

ht
s

92
.9

-
91

.2
10

0.
0

-
91

.8
10

0.
0

10
0.

0
66

.7
-

-
85

.7
86

.4
94

.9
85

.7
-

-
90

.6
10

0.
0

94
.4

96
.3

-
-

95
.4

92
.7

Bu
se

s
0

0
3

0
-

3
0

0
0

0
-

0
6

10
0

0
-

16
0

9
1

0
-

10
29

%
 B

us
es

0.
0

-
0.

5
0.

0
-

0.
4

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

1.
2

2.
0

0.
0

-
-

1.
6

0.
0

1.
9

0.
2

-
-

1.
0

1.
0

Si
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
13

0
16

0
-

29
0

0
1

0
-

1
32

6
0

0
-

38
0

15
10

0
-

25
93

%
 S

in
gl

e-
U

ni
t

Tr
uc

ks
4.

4
-

2.
9

0.
0

-
3.

4
0.

0
0.

0
33

.3
-

-
14

.3
6.

3
1.

2
0.

0
-

-
3.

8
0.

0
3.

1
1.

8
-

-
2.

4
3.

2

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
8

0
30

0
-

38
0

0
0

0
-

0
31

9
1

0
-

41
0

3
10

0
-

13
92

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d
Tr

uc
ks

2.
7

-
5.

4
0.

0
-

4.
4

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

6.
1

1.
8

14
.3

-
-

4.
1

0.
0

0.
6

1.
8

-
-

1.
2

3.
1

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
R

oa
d

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 IL
+3

1+
w

ith
+I

-8
8+

R
am

ps
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 4

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(4
:1

5 
PM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

I-8
8 

R
am

ps
Ac

ce
ss

 D
r

IL
 3

1
IL

 3
1

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

In
t. 

To
ta

l

4:
15

 P
M

12
6

0
14

5
0

0
27

1
0

1
1

0
2

2
13

2
10

5
1

1
0

23
9

1
14

0
10

1
0

0
24

2
75

4
4:

30
 P

M
97

0
14

7
0

0
24

4
2

0
1

0
0

3
12

9
13

2
1

0
0

26
2

1
17

1
10

4
0

0
27

6
78

5
4:

45
 P

M
12

9
0

17
3

1
0

30
3

1
0

1
0

0
2

12
3

12
4

0
0

0
24

7
0

15
3

10
6

0
0

25
9

81
1

5:
00

 P
M

11
0

0
15

1
0

0
26

1
1

1
0

0
1

2
12

2
12

9
2

0
0

25
3

1
14

9
10

1
0

0
25

1
76

7
To

ta
l

46
2

0
61

6
1

0
10

79
4

2
3

0
3

9
50

6
49

0
4

1
0

10
01

3
61

3
41

2
0

0
10

28
31

17
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 %

42
.8

0.
0

57
.1

0.
1

-
-

44
.4

22
.2

33
.3

0.
0

-
-

50
.5

49
.0

0.
4

0.
1

-
-

0.
3

59
.6

40
.1

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

14
.8

0.
0

19
.8

0.
0

-
34

.6
0.

1
0.

1
0.

1
0.

0
-

0.
3

16
.2

15
.7

0.
1

0.
0

-
32

.1
0.

1
19

.7
13

.2
0.

0
-

33
.0

-
PH

F
0.

89
5

0.
00

0
0.

89
0

0.
25

0
-

0.
89

0
0.

50
0

0.
50

0
0.

75
0

0.
00

0
-

0.
75

0
0.

95
8

0.
92

8
0.

50
0

0.
25

0
-

0.
95

5
0.

75
0

0.
89

6
0.

97
2

0.
00

0
-

0.
93

1
0.

96
1

Li
gh

ts
45

6
0

57
2

1
-

10
29

4
1

3
0

-
8

47
9

47
8

4
1

-
96

2
3

60
5

39
8

0
-

10
06

30
05

%
 L

ig
ht

s
98

.7
-

92
.9

10
0.

0
-

95
.4

10
0.

0
50

.0
10

0.
0

-
-

88
.9

94
.7

97
.6

10
0.

0
10

0.
0

-
96

.1
10

0.
0

98
.7

96
.6

-
-

97
.9

96
.4

Bu
se

s
0

0
2

0
-

2
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

4
0

0
-

4
0

3
1

0
-

4
10

%
 B

us
es

0.
0

-
0.

3
0.

0
-

0.
2

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
8

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

4
0.

0
0.

5
0.

2
-

-
0.

4
0.

3
Si

ng
le

-U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

4
0

15
0

-
19

0
1

0
0

-
1

12
6

0
0

-
18

0
5

4
0

-
9

47
%

 S
in

gl
e-

U
ni

t
Tr

uc
ks

0.
9

-
2.

4
0.

0
-

1.
8

0.
0

50
.0

0.
0

-
-

11
.1

2.
4

1.
2

0.
0

0.
0

-
1.

8
0.

0
0.

8
1.

0
-

-
0.

9
1.

5

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
2

0
27

0
-

29
0

0
0

0
-

0
15

2
0

0
-

17
0

0
9

0
-

9
55

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d
Tr

uc
ks

0.
4

-
4.

4
0.

0
-

2.
7

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

3.
0

0.
4

0.
0

0.
0

-
1.

7
0.

0
0.

0
2.

2
-

-
0.

9
1.

8

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
R

oa
d

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
3

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
10

0.
0

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-



Ti
m

e 
Pe

rio
d

Cl
as

s.
HL

L
T

R
U

I
O

L
T

BR
R

U
I

O
L

BL
T

R
U

I
O

L
T

R
HR

U
I

O
HL

BL
BR

HR
U

I
O

To
ta

l
ed

es
tr

ia
To

ta
l

Pe
ak

 1
Li

gh
ts

0
17

0
14

0
31

11
1

1
0

1
0

3
10

6
30

91
0

3
9

95
8

96
0

7
92

6
4

22
2

96
1

93
1

1
0

10
0

0
11

52
19

64
EB

1
1

Sp
ec

ifi
ed

 P
er

io
d

%
0%

77
%

0%
70

%
0%

74
%

92
%

10
0%

10
0%

0%
10

0%
0%

10
0%

91
%

10
0%

10
0%

91
%

10
0%

10
0%

92
%

93
%

88
%

94
%

80
%

88
%

10
0%

93
%

91
%

10
0%

0%
63

%
0%

0%
65

%
95

%
92

%
10

0%

7:
15

 A
M

 - 
8:

15
 A

M
Bu

se
s

0
2

0
0

0
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

14
0

0
14

11
0

11
0

0
0

11
16

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
27

W
B

0
0

O
ne

 H
ou

r P
ea

k
%

0%
9%

0%
0%

0%
5%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

1%
0%

0%
1%

1%
0%

1%
0%

0%
0%

1%
2%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
1%

0%

7:
15

 A
M

 - 
8:

15
 A

M
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
c

0
0

0
5

0
5

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

0
0

36
0

0
36

31
1

21
1

2
0

25
36

0
0

5
0

0
5

2
71

N
B

0
0

%
0%

0%
0%

25
%

0%
12

%
8%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

9%
0%

0%
4%

0%
0%

3%
3%

13
%

2%
20

%
8%

0%
2%

4%
0%

0%
31

%
0%

0%
29

%
4%

3%
0%

rt
ic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
c

0
3

0
1

0
4

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

36
0

0
36

33
0

31
0

1
0

32
39

0
0

1
0

0
1

1
73

SB
0

0
%

0%
14

%
0%

5%
0%

10
%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

4%
0%

0%
3%

3%
0%

3%
0%

4%
0%

3%
4%

0%
0%

6%
0%

0%
6%

2%
3%

0%

ic
yc

le
s o

n 
Ro

a
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
SE

B
0

0
%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%

To
ta

l
0

22
0

20
0

42
12

1
1

0
1

0
3

11
6

30
99

6
3

9
10

44
10

35
8

98
9

5
25

2
10

29
10

22
1

0
16

0
0

17
55

21
35

1
1

PH
F

0
0.

61
0

0.
71

0
0.

66
0.

6
0.

25
0.

25
0

0.
25

0
0.

38
0.

69
0.

5
0.

94
0.

92
0.

38
0.

45
0.

93
0.

95
0.

67
0.

94
0.

62
0.

69
0.

5
0.

93
0.

93
0.

25
0

0.
67

0
0

0.
71

0.
92

0.
96

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
2%

1%
0%

1%
49

%
48

%
48

%
48

%
1%

3%

Pe
ak

 2
Li

gh
ts

1
19

0
30

0
50

39
4

0
1

1
0

6
14

26
7

94
6

5
3

98
7

11
91

9
11

19
10

10
2

11
50

99
1

23
0

35
3

0
61

19
22

54
EB

0
0

Sp
ec

ifi
ed

 P
er

io
d

%
10

0%
95

%
0%

10
0%

0%
98

%
10

0%
10

0%
0%

10
0%

10
0%

0%
10

0%
10

0%
10

0%
88

%
95

%
10

0%
10

0%
95

%
96

%
10

0%
96

%
10

0%
77

%
10

0%
96

%
95

%
96

%
0%

97
%

10
0%

0%
97

%
83

%
96

%
0%

4:
15

 P
M

 - 
5:

15
 P

M
Bu

se
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

11
0

0
11

5
0

5
0

0
0

5
11

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
16

W
B

10
10

O
ne

 H
ou

r P
ea

k
%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

1%
0%

0%
1%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
1%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
1%

10
0%

4:
15

 P
M

 - 
5:

15
 P

M
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
c

0
1

0
0

0
1

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

17
0

0
18

20
0

19
0

2
0

21
19

1
0

1
0

0
2

3
42

N
B

0
0

%
0%

5%
0%

0%
0%

2%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

13
%

2%
0%

0%
2%

2%
0%

2%
0%

15
%

0%
2%

2%
4%

0%
3%

0%
0%

3%
13

%
2%

0%

rt
ic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
c

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

18
0

0
18

25
0

25
0

1
0

26
18

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
44

SB
2

2
%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

2%
0%

0%
2%

2%
0%

2%
0%

8%
0%

2%
2%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

4%
2%

10
0%

ic
yc

le
s o

n 
Ro

a
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
SE

B
5

5
%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

0%
0%

10
0%

To
ta

l
1

20
0

30
0

51
39

4
0

1
1

0
6

14
26

8
99

2
5

3
10

34
12

41
9

11
68

10
13

2
12

02
10

39
24

0
36

3
0

63
23

23
56

17
17

PH
F

0.
25

0.
83

0
0.

36
0

0.
46

0.
75

0.
5

0
0.

25
0.

25
0

0.
75

0.
58

0.
81

0.
67

0.
96

0.
42

0.
75

0.
97

0.
95

0.
45

0.
92

0.
62

0.
65

0.
25

0.
92

0.
98

0.
55

0
0.

43
0.

38
0

0.
49

0.
72

0.
98

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
2%

2%
0%

1%
44

%
53

%
51

%
44

%
3%

1%

Si
te

 C
od

e

Re
po

rt
 S

um
m

ar
y

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
So

ut
he

as
tb

ou
nd

Cr
os

sw
al

k

St
ud

y 
N

am
e

IL
 3

1 
w

ith
 S

m
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a 

St
ar

t D
at

e
Tu

es
da

y,
 A

pr
il 

05
, 2

02
2 

 6
:0

0 
AM

En
d 

D
at

e
Tu

es
da

y,
 A

pr
il 

05
, 2

02
2 

 6
:0

0 
PM



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
ul

liv
an

 R
d 

w
ith

 H
ig

hl
an

d 
Av

e
R

ou
nd

ab
ou

t
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 1

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t D
at

a

St
ar

t T
im

e

Su
lliv

an
 R

d
Su

lliv
an

 R
d

H
ig

hl
an

d 
Av

e
Ac

ce
ss

 R
d

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

In
t. 

To
ta

l

6:
30

 A
M

0
96

13
0

0
10

9
26

78
0

0
0

10
4

15
0

52
0

0
67

0
0

0
0

0
0

28
0

6:
45

 A
M

0
73

23
0

0
96

42
85

0
0

0
12

7
25

0
44

0
0

69
0

0
0

0
0

0
29

2
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
0

16
9

36
0

0
20

5
68

16
3

0
0

0
23

1
40

0
96

0
0

13
6

0
0

0
0

0
0

57
2

7:
00

 A
M

0
85

17
0

0
10

2
37

58
0

0
0

95
4

0
67

0
0

71
0

0
0

0
0

0
26

8
7:

15
 A

M
0

82
20

0
0

10
2

47
72

0
0

0
11

9
17

0
55

0
0

72
0

0
0

0
0

0
29

3
7:

30
 A

M
0

10
5

20
0

0
12

5
47

92
0

0
0

13
9

13
0

86
0

0
99

0
0

0
0

0
0

36
3

7:
45

 A
M

0
12

9
29

0
0

15
8

56
10

3
0

1
0

16
0

21
0

60
0

0
81

0
0

0
0

0
0

39
9

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

0
40

1
86

0
0

48
7

18
7

32
5

0
1

0
51

3
55

0
26

8
0

0
32

3
0

0
0

0
0

0
13

23
8:

00
 A

M
0

97
30

0
0

12
7

44
67

0
0

0
11

1
19

0
60

0
0

79
0

0
0

0
0

0
31

7
8:

15
 A

M
0

66
19

0
0

85
41

61
0

0
0

10
2

10
0

39
0

0
49

0
0

0
0

0
0

23
6

8:
30

 A
M

0
84

22
0

0
10

6
38

51
0

0
0

89
17

0
51

0
0

68
0

0
0

0
0

0
26

3
8:

45
 A

M
0

77
14

0
0

91
27

57
0

1
0

85
20

0
41

0
0

61
0

0
0

0
0

0
23

7
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
0

32
4

85
0

0
40

9
15

0
23

6
0

1
0

38
7

66
0

19
1

0
0

25
7

0
0

0
0

0
0

10
53

**
* B

R
EA

K 
**

*
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

3:
00

 P
M

1
12

5
22

0
0

14
8

43
12

8
0

0
0

17
1

41
1

45
0

0
87

2
2

2
0

0
6

41
2

3:
15

 P
M

1
96

28
0

0
12

5
56

10
5

0
1

0
16

2
37

1
52

2
0

92
0

1
1

0
0

2
38

1
3:

30
 P

M
1

89
19

0
0

10
9

51
12

9
5

1
0

18
6

18
1

54
0

0
73

2
1

0
0

0
3

37
1

3:
45

 P
M

0
73

26
1

0
10

0
47

13
0

3
0

0
18

0
22

3
55

0
0

80
3

1
1

0
0

5
36

5
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
3

38
3

95
1

0
48

2
19

7
49

2
8

2
0

69
9

11
8

6
20

6
2

0
33

2
7

5
4

0
0

16
15

29
4:

00
 P

M
1

87
23

0
0

11
1

49
11

8
2

0
0

16
9

24
1

49
0

0
74

2
3

0
0

0
5

35
9

4:
15

 P
M

0
78

20
0

0
98

43
13

4
1

0
0

17
8

22
0

66
0

0
88

4
0

2
0

0
6

37
0

4:
30

 P
M

3
77

13
0

0
93

35
15

9
5

0
0

19
9

33
0

65
0

0
98

0
1

0
0

0
1

39
1

4:
45

 P
M

1
80

18
1

0
10

0
44

12
4

2
0

0
17

0
25

0
50

0
0

75
2

1
1

0
0

4
34

9
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
5

32
2

74
1

0
40

2
17

1
53

5
10

0
0

71
6

10
4

1
23

0
0

0
33

5
8

5
3

0
0

16
14

69
5:

00
 P

M
0

95
17

0
0

11
2

58
12

1
1

0
0

18
0

29
0

49
0

0
78

0
2

2
0

0
4

37
4

5:
15

 P
M

0
66

17
0

0
83

46
12

7
0

0
0

17
3

19
0

46
0

0
65

0
1

1
0

0
2

32
3

5:
30

 P
M

0
73

16
0

0
89

48
12

2
0

0
0

17
0

19
0

25
0

0
44

1
0

0
0

0
1

30
4

5:
45

 P
M

0
75

16
0

0
91

45
12

2
0

0
0

16
7

22
0

30
0

0
52

0
0

0
0

0
0

31
0

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

0
30

9
66

0
0

37
5

19
7

49
2

1
0

0
69

0
89

0
15

0
0

0
23

9
1

3
3

0
0

7
13

11
G

ra
nd

 T
ot

al
8

19
08

44
2

2
0

23
60

97
0

22
43

19
4

0
32

36
47

2
7

11
41

2
0

16
22

16
13

10
0

0
39

72
57

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
0.

3
80

.8
18

.7
0.

1
-

-
30

.0
69

.3
0.

6
0.

1
-

-
29

.1
0.

4
70

.3
0.

1
-

-
41

.0
33

.3
25

.6
0.

0
-

-
-

To
ta

l %
0.

1
26

.3
6.

1
0.

0
-

32
.5

13
.4

30
.9

0.
3

0.
1

-
44

.6
6.

5
0.

1
15

.7
0.

0
-

22
.4

0.
2

0.
2

0.
1

0.
0

-
0.

5
-

Li
gh

ts
8

18
39

42
7

2
-

22
76

93
6

21
74

19
4

-
31

33
46

0
7

10
96

2
-

15
65

16
13

10
0

-
39

70
13

%
 L

ig
ht

s
10

0.
0

96
.4

96
.6

10
0.

0
-

96
.4

96
.5

96
.9

10
0.

0
10

0.
0

-
96

.8
97

.5
10

0.
0

96
.1

10
0.

0
-

96
.5

10
0.

0
10

0.
0

10
0.

0
-

-
10

0.
0

96
.6

Bu
se

s
0

12
6

0
-

18
10

12
0

0
-

22
9

0
16

0
-

25
0

0
0

0
-

0
65



%
 B

us
es

0.
0

0.
6

1.
4

0.
0

-
0.

8
1.

0
0.

5
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
7

1.
9

0.
0

1.
4

0.
0

-
1.

5
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

9
Si

ng
le

-U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

0
22

3
0

-
25

17
22

0
0

-
39

2
0

25
0

-
27

0
0

0
0

-
0

91
%

 S
in

gl
e-

U
ni

t
Tr

uc
ks

0.
0

1.
2

0.
7

0.
0

-
1.

1
1.

8
1.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

1.
2

0.
4

0.
0

2.
2

0.
0

-
1.

7
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
1.

3

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
0

34
6

0
-

40
7

34
0

0
-

41
1

0
4

0
-

5
0

0
0

0
-

0
86

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d
Tr

uc
ks

0.
0

1.
8

1.
4

0.
0

-
1.

7
0.

7
1.

5
0.

0
0.

0
-

1.
3

0.
2

0.
0

0.
4

0.
0

-
0.

3
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
1.

2

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

1
0

0
-

1
0

1
0

0
-

1
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
2

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
R

oa
d

0.
0

0.
1

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
ul

liv
an

 R
d 

w
ith

 H
ig

hl
an

d 
Av

e
R

ou
nd

ab
ou

t
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 3

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(7
:1

5 
AM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

Su
lliv

an
 R

d
Su

lliv
an

 R
d

H
ig

hl
an

d 
Av

e
Ac

ce
ss

 R
d

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

In
t. 

To
ta

l

7:
15

 A
M

0
82

20
0

0
10

2
47

72
0

0
0

11
9

17
0

55
0

0
72

0
0

0
0

0
0

29
3

7:
30

 A
M

0
10

5
20

0
0

12
5

47
92

0
0

0
13

9
13

0
86

0
0

99
0

0
0

0
0

0
36

3
7:

45
 A

M
0

12
9

29
0

0
15

8
56

10
3

0
1

0
16

0
21

0
60

0
0

81
0

0
0

0
0

0
39

9
8:

00
 A

M
0

97
30

0
0

12
7

44
67

0
0

0
11

1
19

0
60

0
0

79
0

0
0

0
0

0
31

7
To

ta
l

0
41

3
99

0
0

51
2

19
4

33
4

0
1

0
52

9
70

0
26

1
0

0
33

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
13

72
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 %

0.
0

80
.7

19
.3

0.
0

-
-

36
.7

63
.1

0.
0

0.
2

-
-

21
.1

0.
0

78
.9

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

0.
0

30
.1

7.
2

0.
0

-
37

.3
14

.1
24

.3
0.

0
0.

1
-

38
.6

5.
1

0.
0

19
.0

0.
0

-
24

.1
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

-
PH

F
0.

00
0

0.
80

0
0.

82
5

0.
00

0
-

0.
81

0
0.

86
6

0.
81

1
0.

00
0

0.
25

0
-

0.
82

7
0.

83
3

0.
00

0
0.

75
9

0.
00

0
-

0.
83

6
0.

00
0

0.
00

0
0.

00
0

0.
00

0
-

0.
00

0
0.

86
0

Li
gh

ts
0

40
1

96
0

-
49

7
18

7
31

6
0

1
-

50
4

68
0

24
8

0
-

31
6

0
0

0
0

-
0

13
17

%
 L

ig
ht

s
-

97
.1

97
.0

-
-

97
.1

96
.4

94
.6

-
10

0.
0

-
95

.3
97

.1
-

95
.0

-
-

95
.5

-
-

-
-

-
-

96
.0

Bu
se

s
0

4
2

0
-

6
1

5
0

0
-

6
2

0
2

0
-

4
0

0
0

0
-

0
16

%
 B

us
es

-
1.

0
2.

0
-

-
1.

2
0.

5
1.

5
-

0.
0

-
1.

1
2.

9
-

0.
8

-
-

1.
2

-
-

-
-

-
-

1.
2

Si
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
0

3
1

0
-

4
5

4
0

0
-

9
0

0
9

0
-

9
0

0
0

0
-

0
22

%
 S

in
gl

e-
U

ni
t

Tr
uc

ks
-

0.
7

1.
0

-
-

0.
8

2.
6

1.
2

-
0.

0
-

1.
7

0.
0

-
3.

4
-

-
2.

7
-

-
-

-
-

-
1.

6

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
0

5
0

0
-

5
1

9
0

0
-

10
0

0
2

0
-

2
0

0
0

0
-

0
17

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d
Tr

uc
ks

-
1.

2
0.

0
-

-
1.

0
0.

5
2.

7
-

0.
0

-
1.

9
0.

0
-

0.
8

-
-

0.
6

-
-

-
-

-
-

1.
2

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
R

oa
d

-
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

-
-

-
-

-
-

0.
0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
ul

liv
an

 R
d 

w
ith

 H
ig

hl
an

d 
Av

e
R

ou
nd

ab
ou

t
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 4

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(4
:1

5 
PM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

Su
lliv

an
 R

d
Su

lliv
an

 R
d

H
ig

hl
an

d 
Av

e
Ac

ce
ss

 R
d

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

Le
ft

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
To

ta
l

In
t. 

To
ta

l

4:
15

 P
M

0
78

20
0

0
98

43
13

4
1

0
0

17
8

22
0

66
0

0
88

4
0

2
0

0
6

37
0

4:
30

 P
M

3
77

13
0

0
93

35
15

9
5

0
0

19
9

33
0

65
0

0
98

0
1

0
0

0
1

39
1

4:
45

 P
M

1
80

18
1

0
10

0
44

12
4

2
0

0
17

0
25

0
50

0
0

75
2

1
1

0
0

4
34

9
5:

00
 P

M
0

95
17

0
0

11
2

58
12

1
1

0
0

18
0

29
0

49
0

0
78

0
2

2
0

0
4

37
4

To
ta

l
4

33
0

68
1

0
40

3
18

0
53

8
9

0
0

72
7

10
9

0
23

0
0

0
33

9
6

4
5

0
0

15
14

84
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 %

1.
0

81
.9

16
.9

0.
2

-
-

24
.8

74
.0

1.
2

0.
0

-
-

32
.2

0.
0

67
.8

0.
0

-
-

40
.0

26
.7

33
.3

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

0.
3

22
.2

4.
6

0.
1

-
27

.2
12

.1
36

.3
0.

6
0.

0
-

49
.0

7.
3

0.
0

15
.5

0.
0

-
22

.8
0.

4
0.

3
0.

3
0.

0
-

1.
0

-
PH

F
0.

33
3

0.
86

8
0.

85
0

0.
25

0
-

0.
90

0
0.

77
6

0.
84

6
0.

45
0

0.
00

0
-

0.
91

3
0.

82
6

0.
00

0
0.

87
1

0.
00

0
-

0.
86

5
0.

37
5

0.
50

0
0.

62
5

0.
00

0
-

0.
62

5
0.

94
9

Li
gh

ts
4

32
3

66
1

-
39

4
17

5
52

7
9

0
-

71
1

10
7

0
22

8
0

-
33

5
6

4
5

0
-

15
14

55
%

 L
ig

ht
s

10
0.

0
97

.9
97

.1
10

0.
0

-
97

.8
97

.2
98

.0
10

0.
0

-
-

97
.8

98
.2

-
99

.1
-

-
98

.8
10

0.
0

10
0.

0
10

0.
0

-
-

10
0.

0
98

.0
Bu

se
s

0
0

2
0

-
2

1
0

0
0

-
1

2
0

0
0

-
2

0
0

0
0

-
0

5
%

 B
us

es
0.

0
0.

0
2.

9
0.

0
-

0.
5

0.
6

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
1

1.
8

-
0.

0
-

-
0.

6
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

3
Si

ng
le

-U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

0
4

0
0

-
4

3
6

0
0

-
9

0
0

2
0

-
2

0
0

0
0

-
0

15
%

 S
in

gl
e-

U
ni

t
Tr

uc
ks

0.
0

1.
2

0.
0

0.
0

-
1.

0
1.

7
1.

1
0.

0
-

-
1.

2
0.

0
-

0.
9

-
-

0.
6

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

1.
0

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
0

3
0

0
-

3
1

5
0

0
-

6
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
9

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d
Tr

uc
ks

0.
0

0.
9

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

7
0.

6
0.

9
0.

0
-

-
0.

8
0.

0
-

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
6

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
R

oa
d

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
m

ok
et

re
e 

Pl
az

a 
w

ith
 S

m
ok

et
re

e
ac

ce
ss

 D
r T

M
C

Si
te

 C
od

e:
St

ar
t D

at
e:

 0
4/

05
/2

02
2

Pa
ge

 N
o:

 1

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t D
at

a

St
ar

t T
im

e

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a 

Ac
ce

ss
 D

riv
e

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
Le

ft
Th

ru
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

In
t. 

To
ta

l
6:

30
 A

M
1

4
0

0
5

9
1

0
0

10
1

0
0

0
1

16
6:

45
 A

M
0

4
0

0
4

11
1

0
0

12
2

1
0

0
3

19
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
1

8
0

0
9

20
2

0
0

22
3

1
0

0
4

35
7:

00
 A

M
1

3
0

0
4

12
1

0
2

13
3

0
0

1
3

20
7:

15
 A

M
1

12
0

0
13

13
0

0
0

13
3

0
0

0
3

29
7:

30
 A

M
0

5
0

0
5

9
0

0
0

9
2

0
0

0
2

16
7:

45
 A

M
0

5
0

0
5

16
1

0
1

17
1

0
0

0
1

23
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
2

25
0

0
27

50
2

0
3

52
9

0
0

1
9

88
8:

00
 A

M
0

7
0

0
7

11
0

0
0

11
0

0
0

0
0

18
8:

15
 A

M
0

7
0

0
7

22
1

0
0

23
0

2
0

0
2

32
8:

30
 A

M
0

11
0

0
11

9
1

0
0

10
1

0
0

0
1

22
8:

45
 A

M
1

4
0

0
5

6
2

0
0

8
2

0
0

0
2

15
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
1

29
0

0
30

48
4

0
0

52
3

2
0

0
5

87
**

* B
R

EA
K 

**
*

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

3:
00

 P
M

0
14

0
0

14
5

2
0

1
7

4
0

0
0

4
25

3:
15

 P
M

0
14

0
0

14
9

5
0

0
14

1
3

0
0

4
32

3:
30

 P
M

1
14

0
0

15
7

2
0

0
9

2
1

0
0

3
27

3:
45

 P
M

0
8

0
0

8
5

1
0

0
6

1
1

0
0

2
16

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

1
50

0
0

51
26

10
0

1
36

8
5

0
0

13
10

0
4:

00
 P

M
0

18
0

0
18

6
1

0
1

7
1

0
0

0
1

26
4:

15
 P

M
0

13
0

0
13

2
1

0
0

3
0

0
0

0
0

16
4:

30
 P

M
0

11
0

0
11

7
1

0
0

8
1

0
0

0
1

20
4:

45
 P

M
0

22
0

0
22

6
0

0
0

6
1

0
0

0
1

29
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
0

64
0

0
64

21
3

0
1

24
3

0
0

0
3

91
5:

00
 P

M
0

18
0

0
18

3
3

0
2

6
2

0
0

0
2

26
5:

15
 P

M
1

5
0

0
6

1
2

0
1

3
2

1
0

0
3

12
5:

30
 P

M
0

1
0

0
1

4
3

0
1

7
3

0
0

0
3

11
5:

45
 P

M
1

5
0

0
6

3
2

0
0

5
0

1
0

0
1

12
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
2

29
0

0
31

11
10

0
4

21
7

2
0

0
9

61
G

ra
nd

 T
ot

al
7

20
5

0
0

21
2

17
6

31
0

9
20

7
33

10
0

1
43

46
2

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
3.

3
96

.7
0.

0
-

-
85

.0
15

.0
0.

0
-

-
76

.7
23

.3
0.

0
-

-
-

To
ta

l %
1.

5
44

.4
0.

0
-

45
.9

38
.1

6.
7

0.
0

-
44

.8
7.

1
2.

2
0.

0
-

9.
3

-
Li

gh
ts

7
18

6
0

-
19

3
15

9
31

0
-

19
0

33
10

0
-

43
42

6
%

 L
ig

ht
s

10
0.

0
90

.7
-

-
91

.0
90

.3
10

0.
0

-
-

91
.8

10
0.

0
10

0.
0

-
-

10
0.

0
92

.2
Bu

se
s

0
0

0
-

0
1

0
0

-
1

0
0

0
-

0
1

%
 B

us
es

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
6

0.
0

-
-

0.
5

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
2



Si
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
0

11
0

-
11

7
0

0
-

7
0

0
0

-
0

18
%

 S
in

gl
e-

U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

0.
0

5.
4

-
-

5.
2

4.
0

0.
0

-
-

3.
4

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

3.
9

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
0

8
0

-
8

9
0

0
-

9
0

0
0

-
0

17
%

 A
rti

cu
la

te
d 

Tr
uc

ks
0.

0
3.

9
-

-
3.

8
5.

1
0.

0
-

-
4.

3
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
3.

7
Bi

cy
cl

es
 o

n 
R

oa
d

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
 R

oa
d

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

0
-

-
-

-
9

-
-

-
-

1
-

-
%

 P
ed

es
tri

an
s

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

10
0.

0
-

-
-

-
10

0.
0

-
-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
m

ok
et

re
e 

Pl
az

a 
w

ith
 S

m
ok

et
re

e
ac

ce
ss

 D
r T

M
C

Si
te

 C
od

e:
St

ar
t D

at
e:

 0
4/

05
/2

02
2

Pa
ge

 N
o:

 3

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(7
:1

5 
AM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a 

Ac
ce

ss
 D

riv
e

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
Le

ft
Th

ru
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

In
t. 

To
ta

l
7:

15
 A

M
1

12
0

0
13

13
0

0
0

13
3

0
0

0
3

29
7:

30
 A

M
0

5
0

0
5

9
0

0
0

9
2

0
0

0
2

16
7:

45
 A

M
0

5
0

0
5

16
1

0
1

17
1

0
0

0
1

23
8:

00
 A

M
0

7
0

0
7

11
0

0
0

11
0

0
0

0
0

18
To

ta
l

1
29

0
0

30
49

1
0

1
50

6
0

0
0

6
86

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
3.

3
96

.7
0.

0
-

-
98

.0
2.

0
0.

0
-

-
10

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

1.
2

33
.7

0.
0

-
34

.9
57

.0
1.

2
0.

0
-

58
.1

7.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
7.

0
-

PH
F

0.
25

0
0.

60
4

0.
00

0
-

0.
57

7
0.

76
6

0.
25

0
0.

00
0

-
0.

73
5

0.
50

0
0.

00
0

0.
00

0
-

0.
50

0
0.

74
1

Li
gh

ts
1

20
0

-
21

46
1

0
-

47
6

0
0

-
6

74
%

 L
ig

ht
s

10
0.

0
69

.0
-

-
70

.0
93

.9
10

0.
0

-
-

94
.0

10
0.

0
-

-
-

10
0.

0
86

.0
Bu

se
s

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

us
es

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
Si

ng
le

-U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

0
6

0
-

6
2

0
0

-
2

0
0

0
-

0
8

%
 S

in
gl

e-
U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
0.

0
20

.7
-

-
20

.0
4.

1
0.

0
-

-
4.

0
0.

0
-

-
-

0.
0

9.
3

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
0

3
0

-
3

1
0

0
-

1
0

0
0

-
0

4
%

 A
rti

cu
la

te
d 

Tr
uc

ks
0.

0
10

.3
-

-
10

.0
2.

0
0.

0
-

-
2.

0
0.

0
-

-
-

0.
0

4.
7

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
%

 B
ic

yc
le

s 
on

 R
oa

d
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

0
-

-
-

-
1

-
-

-
-

0
-

-
%

 P
ed

es
tri

an
s

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

10
0.

0
-

-
-

-
-

-
-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
m

ok
et

re
e 

Pl
az

a 
w

ith
 S

m
ok

et
re

e
ac

ce
ss

 D
r T

M
C

Si
te

 C
od

e:
St

ar
t D

at
e:

 0
4/

05
/2

02
2

Pa
ge

 N
o:

 4

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(4
:1

5 
PM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a 

Ac
ce

ss
 D

riv
e

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
Le

ft
Th

ru
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

In
t. 

To
ta

l
4:

15
 P

M
0

13
0

0
13

2
1

0
0

3
0

0
0

0
0

16
4:

30
 P

M
0

11
0

0
11

7
1

0
0

8
1

0
0

0
1

20
4:

45
 P

M
0

22
0

0
22

6
0

0
0

6
1

0
0

0
1

29
5:

00
 P

M
0

18
0

0
18

3
3

0
2

6
2

0
0

0
2

26
To

ta
l

0
64

0
0

64
18

5
0

2
23

4
0

0
0

4
91

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 %
0.

0
10

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

78
.3

21
.7

0.
0

-
-

10
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
-

To
ta

l %
0.

0
70

.3
0.

0
-

70
.3

19
.8

5.
5

0.
0

-
25

.3
4.

4
0.

0
0.

0
-

4.
4

-
PH

F
0.

00
0

0.
72

7
0.

00
0

-
0.

72
7

0.
64

3
0.

41
7

0.
00

0
-

0.
71

9
0.

50
0

0.
00

0
0.

00
0

-
0.

50
0

0.
78

4
Li

gh
ts

0
62

0
-

62
14

5
0

-
19

4
0

0
-

4
85

%
 L

ig
ht

s
-

96
.9

-
-

96
.9

77
.8

10
0.

0
-

-
82

.6
10

0.
0

-
-

-
10

0.
0

93
.4

Bu
se

s
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
%

 B
us

es
-

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
Si

ng
le

-U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

0
2

0
-

2
3

0
0

-
3

0
0

0
-

0
5

%
 S

in
gl

e-
U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
-

3.
1

-
-

3.
1

16
.7

0.
0

-
-

13
.0

0.
0

-
-

-
0.

0
5.

5
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

0
0

0
-

0
1

0
0

-
1

0
0

0
-

0
1

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d 
Tr

uc
ks

-
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
5.

6
0.

0
-

-
4.

3
0.

0
-

-
-

0.
0

1.
1

Bi
cy

cl
es

 o
n 

R
oa

d
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
%

 B
ic

yc
le

s 
on

 R
oa

d
-

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
Pe

de
st

ria
ns

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

2
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
10

0.
0

-
-

-
-

-
-

-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
m

ok
et

re
e 

Ln
 w

ith
 E

ve
rg

re
en

D
riv

e
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 1

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t D
at

a

St
ar

t T
im

e

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Ev
er

gr
ee

n 
D

r
Ev

er
gr

ee
n 

D
r

W
es

tb
ou

nd
N

or
th

bo
un

d
So

ut
hb

ou
nd

Le
ft

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

Th
ru

U
-T

ur
n

Pe
ds

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
In

t. 
To

ta
l

6:
30

 A
M

2
2

0
0

4
2

6
0

0
8

1
2

0
0

3
15

6:
45

 A
M

5
6

0
0

11
10

2
1

0
13

0
0

0
0

0
24

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

7
8

0
0

15
12

8
1

0
21

1
2

0
0

3
39

7:
00

 A
M

0
4

0
0

4
2

3
0

0
5

1
7

0
0

8
17

7:
15

 A
M

2
2

0
0

4
7

8
1

0
16

1
3

0
0

4
24

7:
30

 A
M

2
7

0
0

9
7

6
0

0
13

1
0

0
0

1
23

7:
45

 A
M

6
3

0
0

9
5

7
0

0
12

2
0

0
0

2
23

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

10
16

0
0

26
21

24
1

0
46

5
10

0
0

15
87

8:
00

 A
M

2
1

0
0

3
0

6
0

0
6

7
10

0
0

17
26

8:
15

 A
M

3
1

0
0

4
2

1
0

0
3

1
5

0
0

6
13

8:
30

 A
M

4
0

1
0

5
2

2
1

0
5

5
3

0
0

8
18

8:
45

 A
M

5
0

0
0

5
2

3
0

0
5

4
3

0
0

7
17

H
ou

rly
 T

ot
al

14
2

1
0

17
6

12
1

0
19

17
21

0
0

38
74

**
* B

R
EA

K 
**

*
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
3:

00
 P

M
2

0
0

0
2

1
0

0
0

1
7

9
0

0
16

19
3:

15
 P

M
6

2
0

0
8

5
1

0
0

6
5

6
0

0
11

25
3:

30
 P

M
9

3
0

1
12

8
3

0
0

11
2

3
0

0
5

28
3:

45
 P

M
4

1
0

0
5

11
6

0
0

17
0

2
0

0
2

24
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
21

6
0

1
27

25
10

0
0

35
14

20
0

0
34

96
4:

00
 P

M
7

0
0

0
7

1
1

3
0

5
10

22
0

0
32

44
4:

15
 P

M
6

0
0

0
6

1
3

0
0

4
4

5
0

0
9

19
4:

30
 P

M
4

0
0

0
4

1
5

0
0

6
2

2
0

0
4

14
4:

45
 P

M
2

0
1

0
3

0
1

0
0

1
1

3
0

0
4

8
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
19

0
1

0
20

3
10

3
0

16
17

32
0

0
49

85
5:

00
 P

M
12

2
1

0
15

0
3

0
0

3
3

1
0

0
4

22
5:

15
 P

M
6

0
0

0
6

1
3

0
0

4
2

1
0

0
3

13
5:

30
 P

M
2

0
0

0
2

0
0

0
0

0
1

0
0

0
1

3
5:

45
 P

M
4

0
0

0
4

1
5

0
0

6
0

0
0

0
0

10
H

ou
rly

 T
ot

al
24

2
1

0
27

2
11

0
0

13
6

2
0

0
8

48
G

ra
nd

 T
ot

al
95

34
3

1
13

2
69

75
6

0
15

0
60

87
0

0
14

7
42

9
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 %

72
.0

25
.8

2.
3

-
-

46
.0

50
.0

4.
0

-
-

40
.8

59
.2

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

22
.1

7.
9

0.
7

-
30

.8
16

.1
17

.5
1.

4
-

35
.0

14
.0

20
.3

0.
0

-
34

.3
-

Li
gh

ts
89

27
3

-
11

9
60

74
6

-
14

0
48

78
0

-
12

6
38

5
%

 L
ig

ht
s

93
.7

79
.4

10
0.

0
-

90
.2

87
.0

98
.7

10
0.

0
-

93
.3

80
.0

89
.7

-
-

85
.7

89
.7

Bu
se

s
1

1
0

-
2

0
0

0
-

0
1

0
0

-
1

3
%

 B
us

es
1.

1
2.

9
0.

0
-

1.
5

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
1.

7
0.

0
-

-
0.

7
0.

7



Si
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
3

1
0

-
4

2
1

0
-

3
4

2
0

-
6

13
%

 S
in

gl
e-

U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

3.
2

2.
9

0.
0

-
3.

0
2.

9
1.

3
0.

0
-

2.
0

6.
7

2.
3

-
-

4.
1

3.
0

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
2

5
0

-
7

7
0

0
-

7
7

7
0

-
14

28
%

 A
rti

cu
la

te
d 

Tr
uc

ks
2.

1
14

.7
0.

0
-

5.
3

10
.1

0.
0

0.
0

-
4.

7
11

.7
8.

0
-

-
9.

5
6.

5
Bi

cy
cl

es
 o

n 
R

oa
d

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
 R

oa
d

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

Pe
de

st
ria

ns
-

-
-

1
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

0
-

-
%

 P
ed

es
tri

an
s

-
-

-
10

0.
0

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
m

ok
et

re
e 

Ln
 w

ith
 E

ve
rg

re
en

D
riv

e
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 3

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(7
:1

5 
AM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Ev
er

gr
ee

n 
D

r
Ev

er
gr

ee
n 

D
r

W
es

tb
ou

nd
N

or
th

bo
un

d
So

ut
hb

ou
nd

Le
ft

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

Th
ru

U
-T

ur
n

Pe
ds

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
In

t. 
To

ta
l

7:
15

 A
M

2
2

0
0

4
7

8
1

0
16

1
3

0
0

4
24

7:
30

 A
M

2
7

0
0

9
7

6
0

0
13

1
0

0
0

1
23

7:
45

 A
M

6
3

0
0

9
5

7
0

0
12

2
0

0
0

2
23

8:
00

 A
M

2
1

0
0

3
0

6
0

0
6

7
10

0
0

17
26

To
ta

l
12

13
0

0
25

19
27

1
0

47
11

13
0

0
24

96
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 %

48
.0

52
.0

0.
0

-
-

40
.4

57
.4

2.
1

-
-

45
.8

54
.2

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

12
.5

13
.5

0.
0

-
26

.0
19

.8
28

.1
1.

0
-

49
.0

11
.5

13
.5

0.
0

-
25

.0
-

PH
F

0.
50

0
0.

46
4

0.
00

0
-

0.
69

4
0.

67
9

0.
84

4
0.

25
0

-
0.

73
4

0.
39

3
0.

32
5

0.
00

0
-

0.
35

3
0.

92
3

Li
gh

ts
12

10
0

-
22

17
27

1
-

45
7

12
0

-
19

86
%

 L
ig

ht
s

10
0.

0
76

.9
-

-
88

.0
89

.5
10

0.
0

10
0.

0
-

95
.7

63
.6

92
.3

-
-

79
.2

89
.6

Bu
se

s
0

1
0

-
1

0
0

0
-

0
1

0
0

-
1

2
%

 B
us

es
0.

0
7.

7
-

-
4.

0
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

0.
0

9.
1

0.
0

-
-

4.
2

2.
1

Si
ng

le
-U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
0

1
0

-
1

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

1
%

 S
in

gl
e-

U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

0.
0

7.
7

-
-

4.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
1.

0
Ar

tic
ul

at
ed

 T
ru

ck
s

0
1

0
-

1
2

0
0

-
2

3
1

0
-

4
7

%
 A

rti
cu

la
te

d 
Tr

uc
ks

0.
0

7.
7

-
-

4.
0

10
.5

0.
0

0.
0

-
4.

3
27

.3
7.

7
-

-
16

.7
7.

3
Bi

cy
cl

es
 o

n 
R

oa
d

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
 R

oa
d

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
Pe

de
st

ria
ns

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

0
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-



 

Ke
ni

g 
Li

nd
gr

en
 O

'H
ar

a 
Ab

oo
na

, I
nc

.
95

75
 W

. H
ig

gi
ns

 R
d.

, S
ui

te
 4

00

R
os

em
on

t, 
Ill

in
oi

s,
 U

ni
te

d 
St

at
es

  6
00

18
(8

47
)5

18
-9

99
0 

kp
ac

ho
w

ic
z@

kl
oa

in
c.

co
m

C
ou

nt
 N

am
e:

 S
m

ok
et

re
e 

Ln
 w

ith
 E

ve
rg

re
en

D
riv

e
Si

te
 C

od
e:

St
ar

t D
at

e:
 0

4/
05

/2
02

2
Pa

ge
 N

o:
 4

Tu
rn

in
g 

M
ov

em
en

t P
ea

k 
H

ou
r D

at
a 

(4
:1

5 
PM

)

St
ar

t T
im

e

Sm
ok

et
re

e 
Pl

az
a

Ev
er

gr
ee

n 
D

r
Ev

er
gr

ee
n 

D
r

W
es

tb
ou

nd
N

or
th

bo
un

d
So

ut
hb

ou
nd

Le
ft

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Th
ru

R
ig

ht
U

-T
ur

n
Pe

ds
Ap

p.
 T

ot
al

Le
ft

Th
ru

U
-T

ur
n

Pe
ds

Ap
p.

 T
ot

al
In

t. 
To

ta
l

4:
15

 P
M

6
0

0
0

6
1

3
0

0
4

4
5

0
0

9
19

4:
30

 P
M

4
0

0
0

4
1

5
0

0
6

2
2

0
0

4
14

4:
45

 P
M

2
0

1
0

3
0

1
0

0
1

1
3

0
0

4
8

5:
00

 P
M

12
2

1
0

15
0

3
0

0
3

3
1

0
0

4
22

To
ta

l
24

2
2

0
28

2
12

0
0

14
10

11
0

0
21

63
Ap

pr
oa

ch
 %

85
.7

7.
1

7.
1

-
-

14
.3

85
.7

0.
0

-
-

47
.6

52
.4

0.
0

-
-

-
To

ta
l %

38
.1

3.
2

3.
2

-
44

.4
3.

2
19

.0
0.

0
-

22
.2

15
.9

17
.5

0.
0

-
33

.3
-

PH
F

0.
50

0
0.

25
0

0.
50

0
-

0.
46

7
0.

50
0

0.
60

0
0.

00
0

-
0.

58
3

0.
62

5
0.

55
0

0.
00

0
-

0.
58

3
0.

71
6

Li
gh

ts
23

1
2

-
26

0
12

0
-

12
8

10
0

-
18

56
%

 L
ig

ht
s

95
.8

50
.0

10
0.

0
-

92
.9

0.
0

10
0.

0
-

-
85

.7
80

.0
90

.9
-

-
85

.7
88

.9
Bu

se
s

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

us
es

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
Si

ng
le

-U
ni

t T
ru

ck
s

1
0

0
-

1
0

0
0

-
0

2
1

0
-

3
4

%
 S

in
gl

e-
U

ni
t T

ru
ck

s
4.

2
0.

0
0.

0
-

3.
6

0.
0

0.
0

-
-

0.
0

20
.0

9.
1

-
-

14
.3

6.
3

Ar
tic

ul
at

ed
 T

ru
ck

s
0

1
0

-
1

2
0

0
-

2
0

0
0

-
0

3
%

 A
rti

cu
la

te
d 

Tr
uc

ks
0.

0
50

.0
0.

0
-

3.
6

10
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
14

.3
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
4.

8
Bi

cy
cl

es
 o

n 
R

oa
d

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
yc

le
s 

on
 R

oa
d

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
-

-
0.

0
0.

0
Pe

de
st

ria
ns

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

0
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

ed
es

tri
an

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-



Site Plan  



PROPOSED BUILDING A

263,358 SF
FF=692.00

PROPOSED BUILDING B

165,568 SF
FF=692.00

18.5'
26.0'

18.5'
9'

280.0'
55.0'

105.9'
55.0'

70.0'
18.5'

26.0'
18.5'

9.0'
320.0'

60.0'

11'

806.0'26.0' 18.5' 9' 9' 18.5' 26.0'

R
26'

R
26'

30.0' 30.0'

372.0'

R
5'

37.3'

572.0'26.0' 18.5' 9' 18.5' 26.0'

42.0'

R
5'

R
26'

R
5'

R
5'

R
5'

26.0' 26.0'

332.0'

16.0'

16.2'

R
26'

R
26'

R
26'

128.2'

36.4'

39.5'

36.0'R
45'

R
45'

R
45'

R
52'

9'

42.0'

205.0'

R
52'

R
52'

5.7'

R
45'

R
10'

8'

70.0'
60.0'

R
26'

R
52'

8'

R
10'

112.0'

73.0'

88.5'

123.1'

126.3'

89.0'

67.2'

180.3'63.5'

57.9'

88.7'

88.5'

66.4'

253.5'

253.7'

140.0'

37.0'
15.0'
6.0'

15.0'
41.2'

R
45'

R
45'36.0'

R
35'

12.0'

300'
TAPER

13.0' 13.0'

30'
110'

TAPER
225'

STO
R

AG
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

SULLIVAN ROAD - 1 OF 2 SITE PLAN JOB NO. 2335.00-IL 04/28/2022

N
O

R
T

H

SCALE: 1"=150'

SITE DATA

SITE AREA: ±1,281,906 S.F. (29.428 AC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TF

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOKE TREE PLAZA

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY & SIDEWALK EASEMENT PER DOC. 2011K068111

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT PER DOC. 2011K068111

AutoCAD SHX Text
SULLIVAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' WATERMAIN EASEMENT PER DOC. 1653661

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' WATERMAIN EASEMENT PER DOC. 1127479

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'x40' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT PER DOC. 2014K014227

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'x60' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT PER DOC. 2014K014227

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' COMED & GAS EASEMENT PER DOC. 918478

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' WATERMAIN EASEMENT PER DOC. 2013K052826

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
TF

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE DITCH AS OF 12-30-2021 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
29 EXTERIOR DOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
42 EXTERIOR DOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/28/2022 11:38 AM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\MASTER\SITE6 04-25-22.dwg - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\MASTER\SITE6 04-25-22.dwgZ:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\MASTER\SITE6 04-25-22.dwg



20
5.

0'
14

0.
0'

37.0'
15.0'
6.0'

15.0'

41.2'

12
.0

'

300'
TAPER

13
.0

'
13

.0
'

30'110'
TAPER

225'
STORAGE

SULLIVAN ROAD - 2 OF 2 WEST ENTRANCE IMPROVEMENTS DETAILJOB NO. 2335.00-IL 04/28/2022

NORTH

SCALE: 1"=50'

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

SITE DATA

SITE AREA: ±1,281,906 S.F. (29.428 AC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SULLIVAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/28/2022 11:39 AM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\MASTER\SITE6 04-25-22.dwg - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\MASTER\SITE6 04-25-22.dwgZ:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\MASTER\SITE6 04-25-22.dwg



PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

WB-65 TURNING EXHIBIT - 1 OF 4 ENTERING SMOKETREE PLAZA (RIGHT)JOB NO. 2335.00-IL

SCALE: 1"=30'

04/28/22

NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/28/2022 11:40 AM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwg - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwgZ:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max 68.5° Horiz

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max 10° Vert

AutoCAD SHX Text
41.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
17.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WB-65 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Length

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Body Height

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.052ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Min Body Ground Clearance

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.334ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max Track Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lock-to-lock time

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.00s

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curb to Curb Turning Radius

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.000ft



PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

WB-65 TURNING EXHIBIT - 2 OF 4 ENTERING SMOKETREE PLAZA (LEFT) JOB NO. 2335.00-IL04/28/22

NORTH

SCALE: 1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/28/2022 11:41 AM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwg - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwgZ:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max 68.5° Horiz

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max 10° Vert

AutoCAD SHX Text
41.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
17.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WB-65 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Length

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Body Height

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.052ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Min Body Ground Clearance

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.334ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max Track Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lock-to-lock time

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.00s

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curb to Curb Turning Radius

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.000ft



PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

WB-65 TURNING EXHIBIT - 3 OF 4 EXITING SMOKETREE PLAZA (RIGHT) JOB NO. 2335.00-IL04/28/22

NORTH

SCALE: 1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/28/2022 11:41 AM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwg - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwgZ:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max 68.5° Horiz

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max 10° Vert

AutoCAD SHX Text
41.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
17.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WB-65 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Length

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Body Height

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.052ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Min Body Ground Clearance

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.334ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max Track Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lock-to-lock time

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.00s

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curb to Curb Turning Radius

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.000ft



PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                          1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                             PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

WB-65 TURNING EXHIBIT - 4 OF 4 EXITING SMOKETREE PLAZA (LEFT) JOB NO. 2335.00-IL04/28/22

NORTH

SCALE: 1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/28/2022 11:41 AM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwg - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwgZ:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL AutoTurn Exhibit 3.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max 68.5° Horiz

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max 10° Vert

AutoCAD SHX Text
41.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
17.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WB-65 - Interstate Semi-Trailer

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Length

AutoCAD SHX Text
73.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Body Height

AutoCAD SHX Text
12.052ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Min Body Ground Clearance

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.334ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Max Track Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.500ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lock-to-lock time

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.00s

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curb to Curb Turning Radius

AutoCAD SHX Text
45.000ft



CMAP 2050 Projections Letter  



 
April 18, 2022 

Kelly Pachowicz 

Consultant 

Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara and Aboona, Inc. 

9575 West Higgins Road 

Suite 400 

Rosemont, IL 60048 

 

Subject:  Sullivan Road east of Highland Avenue Development 

  IDOT 

 

Dear Ms. Pachowicz:  

 

In response to a request made on your behalf and dated April 18, 2022, we have 

developed year 2050 average daily traffic (ADT) projections for the subject location.    

 
ROAD SEGMENT Current ADT Year 2050 ADT 

Lincolnway St (IL 31) south of I-88 21,600 31,600 

I-88 On-Ramps, @ Lincolnway St 10,900 15,900 

I-88 Off-Ramps, @ Lincolnway St 10,400 15,200 

Sullivan Rd east of Lincolnway St 11,700 17,100 

Sullivan Rd west of Lincolnway St 13,400 19,200 

Highland Ave south of Sullivan Rd 6,150 8,900 

Evergreen Dr north of Sullivan Rd 950 1,400 

 

Traffic projections are developed using existing ADT data provided in the request letter 

and the results from the December 2021 CMAP Travel Demand Analysis. The regional 

travel model uses CMAP 2050 socioeconomic projections and assumes the 

implementation of the ON TO 2050 Comprehensive Regional Plan for the Northeastern 

Illinois area.  The provision of this data in support of your request does not constitute a 

CMAP endorsement of the proposed development or any subsequent developments. 
 

If you have any questions, please call me at (312) 386-8806. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Jose Rodriguez, PTP, AICP 

Senior Planner, Research & Analysis 
 

cc: Rios (IDOT)    

2022_ForecastTraffic\NorthAurora\ka-12-22\ka-12-22.docx 



Level of Service Criteria  



LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA 
Signalized Intersections 

 
Level of 
Service 

 
 

Interpretation 

Average Control 
Delay  

(seconds per vehicle) 
A 
 
 
 

Favorable progression.  Most vehicles arrive during the 
green indication and travel through the intersection without 
stopping. 

≤10 

B 
 
 

Good progression, with more vehicles stopping than for 
Level of Service A. 

>10 - 20 

C 
 
 
 

Individual cycle failures (i.e., one or more queued vehicles 
are not able to depart as a result of insufficient capacity 
during the cycle) may begin to appear.  Number of vehicles 
stopping is significant, although many vehicles still pass 
through the intersection without stopping. 
 

>20 - 35 

D 
 
 
 

The volume-to-capacity ratio is high and either progression 
is ineffective or the cycle length is too long.  Many vehicles 
stop and individual cycle failures are noticeable. 
 

>35 - 55 

E Progression is unfavorable.  The volume-to-capacity ratio 
is high and the cycle length is long.  Individual cycle 
failures are frequent. 
 

>55 - 80 

F The volume-to-capacity ratio is very high, progression is 
very poor, and the cycle length is long.  Most cycles fail to 
clear the queue. 

>80.0 

Unsignalized Intersections 
Level of Service Average Total Delay (SEC/VEH) 

A      0 - 10 

B > 10 - 15 

C > 15 - 25 

D > 25 - 35 

E > 35 - 50 

F > 50 
Source:  Highway Capacity Manual, 2010. 



 

 

  
 

 

VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 

Ordinance No. ___________________ 

 

______________________________________________________________________________  

 

 

APPROVING A MAP AMENDMENT AND SPECIAL USE AS AN 

 INDUSTRIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR 29.43 ACRES OF 

 PROPERTY TO BE KNOWN AS THE PARK 88 LOGISTICS CENTER 

IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 

______________________________________________________________________________  

 

 

 

Adopted by the 

Board of Trustees and President 

of the Village of North Aurora 

this ____ day of __________, 2022 

 

 

Published in Pamphlet Form 

by authority of the Board of Trustees of the 

Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois, 

this ____ day of __________, 2022 

by ________________________________. 

 

Signed _____________________________________ 

 

 



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. _____________________ 

 

 APPROVING A MAP AMENDMENT AND SPECIAL USE AS AN  

 INDUSTRIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR 29.43 ACRES OF 

 PROPERTY TO BE KNOWN AS THE PARK 88 LOGISTICS CENTER 

IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

 

WHEREAS, a petition for a Special Use as a Planned Development for certain real estate 

described herein (the “Petition”) has been filed with the Village of North Aurora, an Illinois 

municipal corporation (“Village”) by Phelan-JK/JB, Midwest, LLC (“Developer”) with the 

consent of the owners G.E.S. Properties LLC. (“G.E.S.), Beverly Evans, as Trustee under Beverly 

Evans Living Tryst dated January 25, 1999 (“Evans Trust”), Charles G. Graves Declaration of 

Trust dated February 5, 2008 (“Graves Trust”), G.A.L.A.B.R., Inc. (“G.A.L.A.B.R.”), and Akshar 

Murti Hospitality Inc. (“Akshar Murti Hospitality”) (collectively, the “Owners”) for the real estate 

describer below;  

 

 

WHEREAS, the parcels of land located at Fairview Road, North of Sullivan Road, North 

Aurora, IL  and legally described in the document attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

Exhibit A (“Subject Property”) are currently, zoned E-R Estate Rural District, O-R Office 

Research District, and B-2 General Business District; and 

 

WHEREAS, the North Aurora Plan Commission (“Plan Commission”) has held public a 

hearing on the Petition for Map Amendment and Special Use – Planned Unit Development for the 

Subject Property as a unified two-building warehousing, storage and distribution development to 

be known as the Park 88 Logistics Center and site plan review in accordance with State and local 

laws, including the notice requirements for the public hearings; and 

 

WHEREAS, the North Aurora Village Board (“Village Board”) has received and reviewed 

the favorable recommendation of the Plan Commission with certain conditions in keeping with all 

the factors required to be considered for Map Amendments and Special Use/PUDs and has 

determined that granting the Map Amendment and Special Use/PUD requests is warranted and in 

the best interests of the Village. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the President and Trustee of the Village of North 

Aurora, Kane County, Illinois, as follows: 

 

 

SECTION 1:  MAP AMENDMENT 

 

That the North Aurora Zoning District Map as described as part of the Village of North 

Aurora Zoning Ordinance (the “Zoning Ordinance”) as amended from time to time and on file in 

the office of the Village Clerk, is hereby amended by granting for the Subject Property the 

following the zoning classification of O-R-I Office Research and Light Industrial District. 



 

 

 

 

 

SECTION 2:  DEVELOPMENT OF SUBJECT REALTY 
 

Development of the Subject Realty shall be in conformity with all applicable ordinances 

of the Village as now in effect, including the provisions for O-R-I Office Research and Light 

Industrial District zoning, except as otherwise provided or specifically varied herein and in 

accordance with the additional procedures, definitions, uses, and restrictions contained herein.   

 

A. ZONING AND LAND USE REQUIREMENTS  

 

Except to the extent of the express and specific deviations contained in this Ordinance and 

the attachments hereto, the Subject Property shall be developed in compliance with the setbacks; 

yard distance requirements, parking spaces, and other terms and conditions of the O-R-I Office 

Research and Light Industrial District and other applicable zoning, subdivision, building and other 

provisions of the North Aurora Code as the same exist on the effective date hereof. 

 

(1) Deviations. The following deviations and exceptions to O-R-I Office 

Research and Light Industrial zoning, the generally applicable provisions of the North 

Aurora Zoning Code, and the Subdivision Control Code are hereby approved: 

 

(a) The minimum lot width of 150 feet at the minimum horizontal 

distance between the side lot lines of a lot measured at the required front yard 

setback line, is hereby reduced to 114.13 feet; 

 

(b) All setback and yard dimensions shall be governed by the 

Preliminary Site Plan, prepared by Pinnacle Engineering Group, dated April 6, 

2022.  In no event shall any improvements be constructed closer to the adjacent 

property line than what is included on the Preliminary Site Plan; 

 

(c) All other provisions of this Ordinance that deviate from the O-R-I 

Office Research and Light Industrial zoning, the generally applicable provisions of 

the North Aurora Zoning Code, and the Subdivision Control Code are hereby 

approved to the extent of the deviation identified herein. 

 

(2) Conditions. The following conditions of the special use/PUD are hereby 

imposed: 

 

(a) Any traffic improvements made on Sullivan Road adjacent to the 

development’s entrance shall be constructed to the satisfaction of the North 

Aurora’s Village Engineer and the City of Aurora; 

 



 

 

(b) In no event shall any improvements be constructed closer to the 

adjacent property line than what is included on the Preliminary Site Plan, prepared 

by Pinnacle Engineering Group, dated April 6, 2022; 

 

(c) The use of guardhouses and driveway gates shall be prohibited in 

order to allow on-site traffic to flow freely and prevent spillover onto adjacent 

streets and properties; 

 

(d) Semi trucks shall be prohibited from parking or idling on the 

perimeter access drives, passenger vehicle parking lots, and passenger vehicle drive 

aisles; 

 

(e) On-site management shall effectively monitor and regulate all on-

site trucking activities in order to minimize any light, sound and odor emissions 

comply with other performance standards per Section 12.5 of the Zoning 

Ordinance; 

 

(f) The six (6) foot fence included in the residential buffer area located 

to the south of Building A shall be opaque; 

 

(g) Any perimeter fencing shall be black, metallic, non-chain link 

construction and limited to eight (8) feet in height; 

 

(h) All business activities shall be conducted completely within the 

confines of the buildings; 

 

(i) The keeping of any goods, material, merchandise or equipment 

outside of the building(s) shall be prohibited; 

 

(j) A photometric plan shall be submitted and must be approved by the 

Village in keeping with Village requirements prior to building permit issuance; 

 

(k) Any tree of good quality larger than six inches in diameter when 

measured twelve (12) inches above the ground, which is not located within fifteen 

(15) feet of or within a building footprint, within the road footprint or in those areas 

listed Section 16.12.010.C.3.a of the Subdivision Ordinance, shall be tagged by the 

petitioner and evaluated by the Village for preservation; 

 

(l) Quality trees and shrubs located along the perimeter of the 

development shall be preserved to the greatest extent possible to maintain natural 

landscape buffering; 

 

(m) Construction traffic shall not impede on the ability of the Village 

and Fire Protection District to provide emergency services. 



 

 

 

B. SITE PLAN, PLAT OF SUBDIVISION, ELEVATIONS, AND LANDSCAPE 

PLANS 

 

The Preliminary Plan and Landscape Plan for the Subject Realty, and other supporting and 

explanatory development documents are attached hereto, marked as Exhibits as hereinafter shown, 

and are incorporated herein.  Such Exhibits have been reviewed by the Plan Commission and are 

hereby approved by the Village Board.   

 

(1) The Preliminary Site Plan for the Subject Realty prepared by Pinnacle 

Engineering Group dated April 6, 2022 is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

Exhibit B (“Preliminary Site Plan”). 

 

(2) The Plat of Subdivision for the Subject Realty prepared by Pinnacle 

Engineering Group dated April 6, 2022 is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

Exhibit C, dividing the Subject Property into Lot 1 and Lot 2 (“Plat”);  

 

(3) The elevations for the Subject Realty prepared by Cornerstone Architects 

Ltd. dated April 8, 2022 is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit D 

(“Elevations”);   

 

(4) The Preliminary Landscaping Plan for the Subject Realty prepared by 

Pinnacle Engineering Group dated April 6, 2022 is attached hereto and incorporated herein 

as Exhibit E (“Preliminary Landscape Plan”) 

 

C. PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING PLANS 

 

The Preliminary Engineering Site Improvement Plans for the Subject Realty prepared by 

Pinnacle Engineering Group dated April 6, 2022 is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

Exhibit F (“Preliminary Engineering Plans”) and is incorporated herein.  All engineering plans 

are subject to final approval by the Village Engineer and the Village Board.   

 

D. DEVELOPMENT PLANS 

 

Exhibits B through F inclusive, are sometimes referred to collectively herein as the 

“Development Plans”.  The Development Plans are approved by the Village in their entirety and 

any provisions or requirement contained in any ordinance, regulation, directive or procedure of the 

Village exclusive of this Ordinance or in conflict with any aspect or element of the development 

shall be deemed varied hereby so as to conform with and permit the development, use, maintenance 

and operation of the development described herein.  In all other respects, and to the extent they 

do not conflict with the Development Plans or any provision of this Ordinance, the Zoning 

Ordinance and other ordinances of the Village, as the same exists and the effective date hereof 

shall apply to, and be complied with, in the development, use, maintenance and operation of the 

development of the Subject Realty.   



 

 

 

E. SANITARY AND WATER MAIN EXTENSIONS 

 

Sanitary sewer and water main extensions shall be constructed in accordance with the 

approved Preliminary Engineering Plan.   

 

 

SECTION 3:  FINAL PLAT 
 

A. FINAL PLAT APPROVAL 

 

Developer shall be entitled to administrative approval of a final plat of subdivision and 

final engineering plans for the Subject Realty so long as such final plat, final engineering plans 

and other submissions substantially conform to Development Plans herein approved. The 

Community and Economic Development Director has the authority to approve any final plans that 

are in substantial conformance with the Development plans as confirmed by the Village Engineer 

for technical provisions. The final platting and development of the Subject Realty may be done in 

Phases. 

 

Developer hereby releases and discharges the Village, its officers, other officials, agents 

and employees, past, present and future, from any liability, losses, judgments, costs, fees, including 

reasonable attorney’s fees, and expenses arising out of or in connection with the Village’s good 

faith failure to approve final plans within the time limits hereafter provided.  Without limiting the 

foregoing release, however, Developer does not relinquish its rights to receive approval of such 

final plans, including a final plat of subdivision and final engineering plans, and to such extent 

Developer retains the right to legal or equitable action against the Village for declaratory judgment, 

injunctive relief and mandamus with respect thereto.    

 

Changes to the Development Plans shall approved as provided in Section 4 of this 

Ordinance, and the Developer shall cooperate with the Community and Economic Development 

Director and Village Engineer in the creation of an Engineer’s Estimate Opinion of Probable Cost 

in keeping with the approved Development Plans.  

 

B. FINAL PLAT REQUIREMENTS 

 

The final plat and final engineering plans shall be prepared and submitted in accordance 

with the Village’s Subdivision Regulations, except as specifically amended or otherwise provided 

herein.   

 

 

SECTION 4:  CHANGES TO THE PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
 

No changes may be made in the approved final plan, except upon application to the Village, 

according to the following provisions. 



 

 

 

A. Major Changes. Major changes shall include any changes that require a formal 

amendment of this Ordinance, or any other change for which a public hearing is required by law 

or by the North Aurora Municipal Code, except as specifically provided herein. Whether a change 

is major or minor shall first be determined by the Community Development Director. If a developer 

or landowner disagrees with the Community Development Director's decision, appeal may be 

taken to the Village Board. Major changes must be approved by the Village Board after such 

hearing and recommendation by the Plan Commission as required by statute or Village Ordinance 

pursuant to submittal and processing of a petition filed by the applicant, as set forth in the North 

Aurora Municipal Code. 

 

B. Minor Changes. Minor changes shall include any change not defined herein as a 

major change or a technical change. Minor changes may be approved by the Village Board without 

Plan Commission review or public hearing. 

 

C. Technical Changes. Technical changes may be approved by the Community 

Development Director, and shall include any change to the engineering plans and specifications, 

any change to the building plans or changes in the Preliminary Plan which are determined by the 

Community Development Director as: 

 

(1)  In substantial compliance with the Preliminary Plan or other plans or plats 

as approved by the Village Board; 

 

(2)  In compliance with the North Aurora Municipal Code, as amended, except 

as specifically varied herein; and 

 

(3)  In compliance with good engineering practice. 

 

 

SECTION 5:  ON-SITE EASEMENTS AND IMPROVEMENTS 
 

A. GRANT OF EASEMENTS 

 

At the time of recordation of the final plat for the Subject Realty, Developer shall grant to 

the Village, at no cost to the Village, on-site easements necessary for the provision of public 

improvements, including but not limited to easements for sanitary sewer, water main, electric 

utility, storm sewer, storm water detention and retention, and drainage facilities of sufficient 

capacity and elevation to provide free flowing and unobstructed outfall of storm water from areas 

tributary to the Subject Realty, as depicted on the Development Plans or as required by the Village 

Ordinance.  Except for such time to effectuate the reconnection of any public utility system, there 

shall be no disruption or discontinuation of the operation of any public utility system, or storm or 

surface water drainage system by virtue of establishing new easements and vacation of any of 

existing easements.   

 



 

 

B. ABROGATION OF UNUSED EASEMENTS 

 

Subject to the requirements of this Section and at the time of recordation of the final plat 

for the Subject Realty, the Village shall vacate or fully cooperate with Developer in causing the 

vacation of any easements currently located upon portions of the Subject Realty that are no longer 

of use or required by the Village, if any (“Vacated Easements”).  During the development of the 

Subject Realty, if Developer determines that any other existing utility easements and/or lines 

require relocation to facilitate development of the Subject Realty in accordance with the applicable 

approved plans, the Village shall fully cooperate with the Developer in causing the vacation and 

relocation of such additional existing easements.  If any easement granted to the Village as a part 

of the development of the Subject Realty is subsequently determined to be in error or located in a 

manner inconsistent with the intended development of the Subject Realty as reflected on any of 

the approved plans or in this Ordinance, the Village shall fully cooperate with Developer in 

vacating and relocating such easement and utility facilities located therein, which costs shall be 

borne by the Developer having responsibility therefor.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, and as a 

condition precedent to any vacation of any easement, the responsible Developer shall pay for the 

cost of design and relocation of any such easement and the public utilities located therein.   

 

  

SECTION 6:  GUARANTY FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS 
 

After approval of the final plat and prior to signature by the President, Developer shall 

present a corporate surety bond or letter of credit to guarantee completion of water distribution 

lines, sanitary sewer lines, storm water sewer lines, detention and retention facilities, and other 

applicable subdivision improvements identified in the Development Plans to be dedicated to the 

Village or other governmental body (“Public Improvements”) for the development so platted as 

required by this Ordinance (guaranteeing completion and payment of the Public Improvements), 

herein sometimes collectively referred to as the “Guarantee for Completion”, naming the Village 

as beneficiary or obligee, as required and in keeping with the Village Code requirements.   

 

 

SECTION 7:  BUILDING CODE AND SUBDIVISION CONTROL ORDINANCE 
 

Developer shall comply in all respects with the generally applicable provisions of Village 

of North Aurora Subdivision provisions, Building Code provisions, and other provisions of the 

North Aurora Municipal pertaining to the development and construction. 

 

 

 SECTION 8: MAINTENANCE OF COMMON FACILITIES 
 

Developer shall either establish covenants and an owners’ association or some other 

mechanism designed, at a minimum, to provide for the maintenance of the following 

improvements after completion and approval by the Village: stormwater detention and retention 

basins, stormwater sewer lines directly serving such basins, and surface drainage facilities; the 



 

 

landscaping located on the perimeter and common areas, including trees; any entry monuments; 

and any sidewalks (“Common Facilities”).  The Village shall establish a back-up special service 

area for the purpose of maintaining the Common Facilities in the event the owners’ association 

and/or the property owners fail to do so.  The covenant or other mechanism for providing for the 

maintenance of the Common Facilities benefitting a particular Lot shall be established and 

submitted to the Community Development and Economic Development Director for confirmation 

of compliance with this provision before the first occupancy permit for that Lot shall be approved.  

The cost to maintain such common facilities by way of the back-up special service area shall be 

determined by the cost of contracted services approved by the Village pursuant to a public bidding 

process.   

 

 

SECTION 9:  COMPLIANCE WITH STATE STATUTES 
 

In the event that any one or more provisions of this Ordinance do not comply with any one 

or more provisions of the Illinois Compiled, the Village and Developer, and all of their respective 

successors and assigns, agree to cooperate to comply with said provisions which shall include, but 

not limited to, the passage of resolutions and ordinances to accomplish such compliance.  

 

 

SECTION 10: CONFLICT IN REGULATIONS AND ORDINANCES 
 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall supersede the provisions of any ordinance, code, or 

regulation of the Village which may be in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance.   

However, all ordinances which are not inconsistent with or contrary to this Ordinance shall be 

applicable to the Subject Realty.   

 

 

SECTION 11: INTENTIONALLY OMITTED 

 

SECTION 12: INCORPORATION OF EXHIBITS 
 

All exhibits attached to this Ordinance are hereby incorporated herein and made a part of 

the substance hereof. 

 

 

SECTION 13: EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

This Ordinance shall become effective from and after its passage and approval in 

accordance with law. 

 

Presented to the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois 

this _____ day of _______________, 2022, A.D. 



 

 

 

Passed by the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this ______ 

day of ________________, 2022, A.D.  

 

Mark Carroll   _________  Laura Curtis   _________ 

 

Mark Guethle  _________  Michael Lowery _________ 

 

Carolyn Bird Salazar _________  Todd Niedzwiedz _________ 

 

Approved and signed by me as President of the Board of Trustees of the Village of North 

Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this _____ day of ___________, 2022, A.D. 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Mark Gaffino, Village President 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________   

Jessi Watkins, Village Clerk 

 
  



 

 

Exhibit A 

 
PARCEL 1: 

PARCEL 1:  

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT IN THE EAST LINE OF THE RIGHT OF WAY OF THE OTTAWA, 

OSWEGO AND FOX RIVER VALLEY RAILROAD COMPANY, THAT IS 696.31 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 

NORTHEAST 1/4 FOR THE PLACE OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE 696.31 FEET TO AN OLD 
CLAIM LINE; THENCE EAST ALONG SAID OLD CLAIM LINE 607 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 696.31 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE 

WESTERLY 607 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 
PARCEL 2:  

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST 1/4, 1370.34 FEET 
WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 1251.45 FEET TO A POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING 

NORTH 139.05 FEET TO OLD CLAIM LINE; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET TO A POINT IN THE EVANS' 

EAST LINE; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EVANS' EAST LINE AND WEST LINE OF SAID DRIVEWAY, 139.05 FEET TO THE 

NORTHWEST CORNER OF MICHAEL DUY'S LAND; THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID DUY'S NORTH 647 FEET TO A POINT OF 

BEGINNING, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 
PARCEL 3:  

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST CORNER 1370.34 
FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 1112.40 FEET FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 

CONTINUING NORTH 139.05 FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF WHITTAKER'S LAND; THENCE 

WESTERLY PARALLEL WITH AND 139.05 FEET SOUTH OF AN OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET TO A POINT IN THE EAST LINE OF 
EVAN'S LAND, AND ON THE WEST LINE OF A 40 FOOT DRIVEWAY, THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EVANS' EAST LINE 139.05 

FEET; THENCE EASTERLY PARALLEL TO THE AFORESAID OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE 

TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 

PARCEL 4:  
THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 1370.34 

FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 973.35 FEET FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
CONTINUING NORTH 139.05 FEET; THENCE WESTERLY PARALLEL WITH AN 278.10 FEET SOUTH OF OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET 

TO A POINT IN THE EAST LINE OF EVANS' LAND AND ON THE WEST LINE OF A 40 FOOT DRIVEWAY; THENCE SOUTH ALONG 

SAID EVANS' EAST LINE 139.05 FEET; THENCE EASTERLY PARALLEL TO THE AFORESAID OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 

PARCEL 5: 
THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST CORNER 1370.34 

FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 514.10 FEET FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 
NORTH 459.25 FEET; THENCE WESTERLY PARALLEL WITH AND 417.15 FEET SOUTH OF CLAIM LINE 627 FEET TO THE CENTER 

LINE OF A PRIVATE ROAD; THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE CENTER LINE OF SAID PRIVATE ROAD 460.31 FEET TO A LINE DRAWN 

WEST, PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST 1/4, FROM THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE EAST ALONG 
SAID PARALLEL LINE 627 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 

PARCEL 6: 
THE WEST 75 FEET OF THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF 

THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 

NORTHEAST QUARTER 1797.34 FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 396 FEET; THENCE WEST 
PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER, 180 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF A 40 FOOT PRIVATE 

ROADWAY; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE 396 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE 

EAST ALONG SAID EAST LINE 396 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE EAST ALONG THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 180 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, 

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 
PARCEL 7: 

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE 
WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 1641.34 FEET; THENCE NORTH 396 FEET FOR THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING; THENCE EAST PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 271 FEET; THENCE NORTH 

118.10 FEET; THENCE WEST PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 607 FEET TO THE EAST LINE 



 

 

OF A PRIVATE ROAD; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE 118.10 FEET TO A POINT 396 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE 

OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 336 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, EXCEPTING FROM THAT PART, THE WESTERLY 180 
FEET, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA AND THE TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 

PARCEL 8: 
THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE POINT OF INTERSECTION OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 

NORTHEAST QUARTER WITH THE EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF BURLINGTON NORTHERN INC.; THENCE SOUTH 0 
DEGREES 14 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE 707.79 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 

DEGREES 46 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST 626 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST 20.64 FEET TO 

THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SMOKE TREE PLAZA AS DEDICATED BY DOCUMENT 2011K068110, FOR THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 0 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST 388.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 

DEGREES 46 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST 390 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST 119.75 FEET TO 

THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 75 RODS OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE EAST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE 656.44 
FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED BY DEED 2013K0541156; THENCE NORTH 0 DEGREES 01 

MINUTES 21 SECONDS WEST, ALONG SAID WEST LINE, 442.17 FEET TO THE AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY 

LINE OF SMOKE TREE PLAZA AS DEDICATED BY DOCUMENT 2011K068110; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID 
SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, KANE COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS. 

 
CONTAINING 1,227,533 SQUARE FEET OR 28.1803 ACRES 

  



 

 

Exhibit B  

Preliminary Site Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

Exhibit C  

Preliminary Plat of Subdivision 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

Exhibit D  

Elevations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Exhibit E  

Preliminary Landscape Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

Exhibit F  

Preliminary Engineering Plans 
 



PROPOSED BUILDING A

263,682 SF

FF=692.00

PROPOSED BUILDING B

165,928 SF

FF=692.00

3
9
.
5
'

3
6

.
0

'

2
5

4
.
0

'

2
8

0
.
0

'

3
6

.
9

'

40.0'
128.7'

180.3'

30.0'

59.2'

6
1

.
0

'
2

8
0

.
0

'
6

0
.
0

'
7

0
.
0

'
5

5
.
0

'
6

1
.
0

'
3

2
0

.
0

'
6

0
.
0

'
7

0
.
0

'
5

5
.
0

'
1

0
5

.
8

'

30.0'

63.5'

42.5'
572.0'

40.0'

7

.
9

'

42.5'

126.3'

30.0'

806.0'42.5' 42.5'

64.9'

30.0'

1
6

.
0

'

1
7

.
0

'

1
1

0
.
9

'
3

6
.
0

'
3

8
.
9

'

3
8

.
9

'
3

6
.
0

'
3
9
.
3
'

8
6

.
0

'

62.6' 60.0'

8
6

.
2

'

66.4'

8
5
.
5
'

122.2'

8
5

.
0

'

5
2

.
0

'

52.0'

5
2

.
0

'

52.0'

NOTE:

OFFSITE SITE ROAD IMPROVEMENTS

MAY BE NEEDED PENDING FINAL

APPROVAL WITH AURORA

STORMWATER FACILITY

S
T

O
R

M
W

A
T

E
R

 
F

A
C

I
L

I
T

Y

STORMWATER

FACILITY

LOT 2

1
8

.
5

'

2
4

.
0

'

1
8

.
5

'

1
8

.
5

'

2
4

.
0

'

1
8

.
5

'

LOT 1

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                                   1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                                      PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

SMOKETREE - PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING DESIGN - SITE PLAN JOB NO. 2335.00-IL

N
O

R
T

H

SCALE: 1"=80

04/27/2022

SITE DATA

SITE AREA:

LOT 1: 1,281,906 SF

LOT 2: 53,479 SF

BUILDING A

BUILDING AREA: 263,682 SF

CAR PARKING REQUIRED:

OFFICE (10%)

(2 STALLS/1000 SF) x 26,368 SF = 53 STALLS

WAREHOUSE (90%)

(1 STALL/5,000 SF) x 237,314 SF = 47 STALLS

TOTAL REQUIRED = 100 STALLS

CAR PARKING PROPOSED:

PROPOSED: 214 STALLS

     INCLUDING 8 ADA STALLS

TRAILER PARKING PROPOSED:

PROPOSED: 47 STALLS

BUILDING B

BUILDING AREA: 165,928 SF

CAR PARKING REQUIRED:

OFFICE (10%)

(2 STALLS/1000 SF) X 16,593 SF = 33 STALLS

WAREHOUSE (90%)

(1 STALL/5,000 SF) X 149,335 SF = 30 STALLS

TOTAL REQUIRED = 63 STALLS

CAR PARKING PROPOSED:

PROPOSED: 170 STALLS

      INCLUDING 8 ADA STALLS

TRAILER PARKING PROPOSED:

PROPOSED: 47 STALLS

*NOTE: OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS WERE CREATED

USING THE WAREHOUSING, STORAGE, AND DISTRIBUTION FACILITY

UNDER THE MANUFACTURING, STORAGE, RESEARCH AND

TRANSPORTATION USES CATEGORY IN SECTION 13.13 OF THE

MUNICIPAL CODE.

STRIPING/SIGNAGE

LEGEND

4'' YELLOW LINE

4" YELLOW LINE DIAGONAL AT 45° SPACED 2' O.C.

YELLOW LETTERS OR SYMBOLS / PAVEMENT MARKINGS

WHITE 24" STOP BAR PAVEMENT MARKING

R1-1 STOP SIGN (30"x30")

NO TRUCK ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TF

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOKE TREE PLAZA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SULLIVAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
TF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
17 EXTERIOR DOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
27 EXTERIOR DOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/27/2022 1:23 PM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary  - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary Engineering Exhibits.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B



605.78'   (6
07')

1
3

9
.
0

5
'

S
0
1
°
0
5
'
2
4
"
E
 
 

3
8
8
.
3
6
'

(
S

0
0
°
1
4
'
0
0
"
W

)

(N89°46'00"W)

S88°54'36"W 
 390.00'

S01°05'24"E  119.75'

(S00°14'00"W)

N88°50'16"E  
237.61'

N
0
0
°
4
0
'
5
4
"
W
 
 

6
9
6
.
3
1
'

S88°50'15"W 
 

607.08'

N
0
0
°
3
9
'
5
7
"
W
 
 

6
6
3
.
0
2
'

S88°50'15"W  114.13'

S
0
0
°
3
7
'
4
0
"
E
 
 

3
6
3
.
0
0
'

S88°50'15"W 
 

531.34'

S88°50'16"W 
 

359.59'

L=167.52'

RADIUS=880.00'

N79°39'08"W

CHORD=167.27'

N73°27'31"W  105.47'

P

A

R

C

E

L

 

1

607.27'

(607')

1370.34'

P
O

I
N

T
 
O

F
 
C

O
M

M
E

N
C

E
M

E
N

T
 
O

F
 
P

A
R

C
E

L
 
7

S
E

 
C

O
R

N
E

R
 
O

F
 
T

H
E

 
N

E
 
1
/
4
 
O

F
 
S

E
C

T
I
O

N
 
9
-
3
8
-
8

POINT OF BEGINNING

OF PARCEL 1

POINT 696.02' (696.31')

N OF THE SOUTH LINE

OF THE NE 1/4 OF

SECTION 9-38-8

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT OF PARCEL 2, 3, 4 & 5

(
1
2
5
1
.
4
5
'
)

1
2
5
3
.
2
8
'

P

A

R

C

E

L

 

2

1
3
9

.
0

5
'

646.37'   (6
47')

646.27'   (6
47')

1
3

9
.
0

5
'

P

A

R

C

E

L

 

3

1
3

9
.
0

5
'

(
1
1
1
2
.
4
0
'
)

1
1
1
4
.
2
3
'

1
3
9
.
0
5
'

P

A

R

C

E

L

 

4

1
3

9
.
0

5
'

646.18'   (6
47')

646.09'   (6
47')

1641.34'

(
5
1
4
.
1
0
'
)

5
1
5
.
9
3
'

4
5
9
.
2
5
'

P

A

R

C

E

L

 

5

626.09'   (6
27')

P

A

R

C

E

L

 

8

(S89°46'00"E)

N88°54'36"E

626'

(
S

0
0
°
1
4
'
0
0
"
W

)

S
0
1
°
0
5
'
2
4
"
E

7
0
7
.
7
9
'

POINT OF COMMENCEMENT OF PARCEL 6

(S00°14'00"W)

S01°05'24"E

20.64'

656.44'

N88°50'16"E

(S89°50'20"E

POINT OF BEGINNING OF PARCEL 6

POINT OF BEGINNING OF PARCEL 2

POINT OF BEGINNING OF PARCEL 3

POINT OF BEGINNING OF PARCEL 4

POINT OF BEGINNING OF PARCEL 5

NORTH LINE OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 9-38-8

E
A

S
T

 
L
I
N

E
 
O

F
 
B

U
R

L
I
N

G
T

O
N

N
O

R
T

H
E

R
N

 
R

A
I
L
R

O
A

D

SOUTH LINE OF THE N 75 RODS

OF THE NE 1/4 OF SECTION 9-38-8

WEST LINE OF TRACT OF LAND

CONVEYED BY DEED 2013K0541156

(

V

A

R

I
A

B

L

E

 
W

I
D

T

H

 
P

U

B

L

I
C

 
R

.
O

.
W

.
)

15' UTILITY &

SIDEWALK EASEMENT

PER DOC. 2011K068111

35' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION

EASEMENT PER DOC. 2011K068111

(66' PUBLIC R.O.W.)

10' WATERMAIN EASEMENT PER DOC. 1653661

B
U

R
L
I
N

G
T

O
N

 
N

A
T

I
O

N
A

L
 
R

A
I
L
R

O
A

D

FOUND 3/4" IRON PIPE

2.32' N & ON-LINE

FOUND 3/4" IRON PIPE 2.24' S & 2.31' E

SET 3/4" X 18" IRON REBAR

S
E

T
 
3
/
4
"
 
X

 
1
8
"
 
I
R

O
N

 
R

E
B

A
R

FOUND 1/2" IRON PIPE

0.02' S & 0.14' E

FOUND 3/4" IRON

PIPE AT CORNER

SET 3/4" X 18" IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 18" IRON REBAR

FOUND 3/4" IRON

PIPE 2.34' S & 0.55' W

FOUND 1/2" IRON PIPE

0.28' S & ON-LINE

F
O

U
N

D
 
3
/
4
"
 
I
R

O
N

P
I
P

E
 
0
.
6
2
'
 
S

F
O

U
N

D
 
3
/
4
"
 
I
R

O
N

P
I
P

E
 
0
.
0
8
'
 
S

F
O

U
N

D
 
1
/
2
"
 
I
R

O
N

 
P

I
P

E

0
.
0
8
'
 
N

 
&

 
O

N
-
L
I
N

E

F
O

U
N

D
 
1
/
2
"
 
I
R

O
N

P
I
P

E
 
A

T
 
C

O
R

N
E

R

FOUND 3/4" IRON

PIPE AT CORNER

FOUND 3/4" IRON PIPE 0.96' S

SET 3/4" X 18" IRON REBAR

FOUND 3/4" IRON REBAR 1.32' N & 1.14' W

UNSUBDIVIDED

OWNER: INTERNATL BROTHERHOOD

ELECTRIC WORKS, TRUST: TR# 461

LOT 24

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 15

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 14

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 13

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 12

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 11

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 10

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 9

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 8

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 6

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 5

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 4

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 3

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 2

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

LOT 1

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

H
E

R
E

T
O

F
O

R
E

 
D

E
D

I
C

A
T

E
D

P
E

R
 
D

O
C

.
 
8
5
5
8
2
1

SOUTHERLY LINE OF SMOKE TREE PLAZA PER DOC. 2011K068110

15' NORTHERN ILLINOIS GAS

COMPANY EASEMENT PER

DOC. 957334 HEREBY VACATED

WEST LINE OF THE EAST

340' OF THE WEST 607' OF

THE SW 1/4 OF THE NE 1/4

SOUTH LINE OF THE

NORTH 15' OF THE SOUTH

1140' OF THE SW 1/4 OF

THE NE 1/4

10' NORTHERN ILLINOIS GAS

COMPANY EASEMENT PER

DOC. 925669 HEREBY VACATED

20' WATERMAIN EASEMENT

PER DOC. 1127479

30'

60'

6
0

'

30'x40' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

PER DOC. 2014K014227

60'x60' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION

EASEMENT PER DOC. 2014K014227

O
W

N
E

R
:
 
E

S
S

 
C

 
T

I
V

S
 
J
V

 
T

I
V

S
 
R

E
I
T

 
S

U
B

 
L
L
C

O
W

N
E

R
:
 
A

V
G

 
N

O
 
A

U
R

O
R

A
 
L
L
C

S00°37'40"E

996.33'

LOT 1

NORTH AURORA

STORAGE SUBDIVISION

PER DOC. 2017K015708

OWNER: NORTH

AURORA STORAGE LLC

10' COMED & GAS

EASEMENT PER DOC. 918478

20' WATERMAIN EASEMENT

PER DOC. 2013K052826

U
N

S
U

B
D

I
V

I
D

E
D

O
W

N
E

R
:
 
A

K
S

H
A

R
 
M

U
R

T
I
 
H

O
S

P
I
T

A
L

I
T

Y
 
I
N

C

UNSUBDIVIDED

OWNER: GERALD

REALTY HOLDINGS LLC

UNSUBDIVIDED

OWNER: OLD KENT

BANK, TRUST: 3510

S

E

T

 
C

U

T

 
C

R

O

S

S

S
E

T
 
C

U
T

 
C

R
O

S
S

S

E

T

 
C

U

T

 
C

R

O

S

S

S

M

O

K

E

 
T

R

E

E

 
P

L

A

Z

A

SULLIVAN ROAD

625.78'   (6
27')

LOT 7

WOOLF'S

SUBDIVISION OF

ANGELL ACRES

PER DOC. 82084

N
0
1
°
2
0
'
4
5
"
W
 
 

4
4
2
.
1
7
'

(
N

0
0
°
0
1
'
2
1
"
W

)

1797.34'

178.44' (180')

P

A

R

C

E

L

 

6

SET 3/4" X 18" IRON REBAR

SET 3/4" X 18" IRON REBAR

UNSUBDIVIDED

OWNER: G A L A B R INC

UNSUBDIVIDED

OWNER: G A L A B R INC

UNSUBDIVIDED

OWNER: ZAPATA,

MARIO

UNSUBDIVIDED

OWNER: GEBHARDT,

LYNETTE K & ADRIAN W

UNSUBDIVIDED

OWNER: STEFANICH,

RICHARD F &

FEIDEN-STEFANICH LINDA

10' NORTHERN ILLINOIS GAS COMPANY

EASEMENT PER DOC. 925670

P

A

R

C

E

L

 

7

20' SANITARY SEWER

EASEMENT PER DOC. 1126106

(
9
7
3
.
3
5
'
)

9
7
5
.
1
8
'

3
9
6
.
0
0
'

POINT OF BEGINNING OF PARCEL 7

270.13'

(271')

(118.10')

119.93'

335.58'

(336')

POINT OF BEGINNING OF PARCEL 6

3
9
6
.
0
0
'

(180')

178.70'

3
9
6
.
0
0
'

LOT 1

1,281,906 SQ. FT.

F
A

I
R

V
I
E

W
 
R

O
A

D
 
D

E
D

I
C

A
T

E
D

 
P

E
R

D
O

C
.
 
8

5
5

8
2

1
 
H

E
R

E
B

Y
 
V

A
C

A
T

E
D

40' CROSS ACCESS EASEMENT HEREBY GRANTED

1
7
9
.
2
5
'

40.00'

40.00'

S89°13'03"W  114.24'

N89°13'03"E  114.27'

LOT 2

53,479 SQ. FT.

S88°54'36"W 
 

172.19'

N
0

0
°
3

9
'
5

7
"
W
 
 

2
9

7
.
3

9
'

L=36.39'

RADIUS=24.50'

N41°53'21"E

CHORD=33.14'

N84°26'38"E  45.71'

2
9
3
.
2
5
'

1
4
8
.
9
2
'

L
=

2
4
.
3
5
'

57.00'

S88°54'36"W

N
0
0
°
3
9
'
5
7
"
W
 
 

3
2
2
.
0
4
'

L=37.70'

RADIUS=44.50'

N24°56'03"W

CHORD=36.58'

I
N

G
R

E
S

S
-
E

G
R

E
S

S
 
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

H
E

R
E

B
Y

 
G

R
A

N
T

E
D

©
 
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

 
2

0
2

1

REVISIONS SHEET

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

D
A
T
E

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m

1" = 80'0 160'

 GRAPHICAL SCALE (FEET)

FINAL PLAT OF

SUBDIVISION

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

1 Add lot 2      4/21/2022

NORTH

Bearings referenced to the Illinois State

Plane Coordinate System, East Zone (1201).

GENERAL NOTES

1. FIELD WORK COMPLETED ON JANUARY 14, 2022.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE MEASURED DIMENSIONS. RECORD DIMENSIONS

ARE SHOWN PARENTHETICALLY.  THE BOUNDARIES OF THE PARCELS

AS DESCRIBED FORM A MATHEMATICALLY CLOSED FIGURE.
3. NO DISCREPANCIES, CONFLICTS, SHORTAGES IN AREA, GAPS, STRIPS,

GORES OR ERRORS IN BOUNDARY LINES OR BETWEEN PARCELS EXIST.

B
D

J

S
U

R
V

E
Y

2
3

3
5

.
0

0

4
/
0

6
/
2

0
2

2

1
"
=

8
0

'

1

2

RIGHT-OF-WAY

SECTION LINE

PARCEL BOUNDARY

LEGEND OF LINES

ADJACENT BOUNDARY

BUILDING SETBACK

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT LINE

RECORD DIMENSION

MEASURED DIMENSION

(180.00')

180.00'

CENTER OF RIGHT-OF-WAY

EXISTING EASEMENT HEREBY VACATED

BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION

9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL

MERIDIAN, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION

PARK 88 LOGISTICS CENTER

CROSS ACCESS EASEMENT HEREBY GRANTED

INGRESS EGRESS EASEMENT HEREBY GRANTED

2 Add ingress-egress easement      4/26/2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF



©
 
C

O
P

Y
R

I
G

H
T

 
2

0
2

1

REVISIONS SHEET

P
E
G

 
J
O

B
 
N

o
.

P
E
G

 
P
M

D
A
T
E

S
C
A
L
E

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP    

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESOURCES I SURVEYING

PLAN I DESIGN I DELIVER

CHICAGO I MILWAUKEE : NATIONWIDE

w w w . p i n n a c l e - e n g r . c o m FINAL PLAT OF

SUBDIVISION

ILLINOIS OFFICE:
1051 E. MAIN STREET - SUITE 217

EAST DUNDEE, IL  60118
(847) 551-5300

GENERAL NOTES

1. FIELD WORK COMPLETED ON JANUARY 14, 2022.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE MEASURED DIMENSIONS. RECORD DIMENSIONS

ARE SHOWN PARENTHETICALLY.  THE BOUNDARIES OF THE PARCELS

AS DESCRIBED FORM A MATHEMATICALLY CLOSED FIGURE.
3. NO DISCREPANCIES, CONFLICTS, SHORTAGES IN AREA, GAPS, STRIPS,

GORES OR ERRORS IN BOUNDARY LINES OR BETWEEN PARCELS EXIST.

B
D

J

S
U

R
V

E
Y

2
3

3
5

.
0

0

4
/
0

6
/
2

0
2

2

1
"
=

8
0

'

2

2

BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION

9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL

MERIDIAN, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT I, PAUL A. KUBICEK, AN ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, HAVE SURVEYED, SUBDIVIDED AND

PLATTED FOR THE OWNERS THEREOF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY:

PARCEL 1:

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT IN THE EAST LINE OF THE RIGHT OF WAY OF THE OTTAWA, OSWEGO AND FOX RIVER

VALLEY RAILROAD COMPANY, THAT IS 696.31 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST 1/4 FOR THE PLACE OF BEGINNING;

THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID RIGHT OF WAY LINE 696.31 FEET TO AN OLD CLAIM LINE; THENCE EAST ALONG SAID OLD CLAIM LINE 607

FEET; THENCE SOUTH 696.31 FEET TO A POINT; THENCE WESTERLY 607 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF

AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 2:

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST 1/4, 1370.34 FEET WEST OF THE

SOUTHEAST 1/4 THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 1251.45 FEET TO A POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 139.05 FEET TO OLD

CLAIM LINE; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET TO A POINT IN THE EVANS' EAST LINE; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID

EVANS' EAST LINE AND WEST LINE OF SAID DRIVEWAY, 139.05 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF MICHAEL DUY'S LAND; THENCE

EASTERLY ALONG SAID DUY'S NORTH 647 FEET TO A POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 3:

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST CORNER 1370.34 FEET WEST OF THE

SOUTHEAST QUARTER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 1112.40 FEET FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 139.05

FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF WHITTAKER'S LAND; THENCE WESTERLY PARALLEL WITH AND 139.05 FEET

SOUTH OF AN OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET TO A POINT IN THE EAST LINE OF EVAN'S LAND, AND ON THE WEST LINE OF A 40 FOOT

DRIVEWAY, THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EVANS' EAST LINE 139.05 FEET; THENCE EASTERLY PARALLEL TO THE AFORESAID OLD CLAIM

LINE 647 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 4:

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 1370.34 FEET WEST OF THE

SOUTHEAST QUARTER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 973.35 FEET FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 139.05 FEET;

THENCE WESTERLY PARALLEL WITH AN 278.10 FEET SOUTH OF OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET TO A POINT IN THE EAST LINE OF EVANS' LAND

AND ON THE WEST LINE OF A 40 FOOT DRIVEWAY; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EVANS' EAST LINE 139.05 FEET; THENCE EASTERLY

PARALLEL TO THE AFORESAID OLD CLAIM LINE 647 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, KANE

COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 5:

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST CORNER 1370.34 FEET WEST OF THE

SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 514.10 FEET FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE NORTH 459.25 FEET; THENCE

WESTERLY PARALLEL WITH AND 417.15 FEET SOUTH OF CLAIM LINE 627 FEET TO THE CENTER LINE OF A PRIVATE ROAD; THENCE SOUTH

ALONG THE CENTER LINE OF SAID PRIVATE ROAD 460.31 FEET TO A LINE DRAWN WEST, PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID

NORTHEAST 1/4, FROM THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE EAST ALONG SAID PARALLEL LINE 627 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN

THE TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 6:

THE WEST 75 FEET OF THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 1797.34

FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 396 FEET; THENCE WEST PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID

NORTHEAST QUARTER, 180 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF A 40 FOOT PRIVATE ROADWAY; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE 396 FEET

TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE EAST ALONG SAID EAST LINE 396 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID

NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 180 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING,

IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 7:

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH

LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 1641.34 FEET; THENCE NORTH 396 FEET FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE EAST PARALLEL

WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 271 FEET; THENCE NORTH 118.10 FEET; THENCE WEST PARALLEL WITH THE

SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 607 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF A PRIVATE ROAD; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID EAST LINE

118.10 FEET TO A POINT 396 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER 336 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING,

EXCEPTING FROM THAT PART, THE WESTERLY 180 FEET, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA AND THE TOWNSHIP OF AURORA, KANE

COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 8:

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN,

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE POINT OF INTERSECTION OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER WITH

THE EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF BURLINGTON NORTHERN INC.; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST

ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE 707.79 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 0 SECONDS EAST 626 FEET; THENCE

SOUTH 0 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST 20.64 FEET TO THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SMOKE TREE PLAZA AS DEDICATED

BY DOCUMENT 2011K068110, FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 0 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST

388.36 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 46 MINUTES 0 SECONDS WEST 390 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 0 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 0 SECONDS

WEST 119.75 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 75 RODS OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE EAST ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE

656.44 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED BY DEED 2013K0541156; THENCE NORTH 0 DEGREES 01

MINUTES 21 SECONDS WEST, ALONG SAID WEST LINE, 442.17 FEET TO THE AFOREMENTIONED SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF

SMOKE TREE PLAZA AS DEDICATED BY DOCUMENT 2011K068110; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY

LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

TOGETHER WITH FAIRVIEW ROAD AS DEDICATED PER DOCUMENT 855821, RECORDED FEBRUARY 21, 1958 IN THE RECORDER'S OFFICE

OF KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

CONTAINING 1,281,906 SQUARE FEET OR 29.4285 ACRES

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT IRON STAKES HAVE BEEN SET AT ALL LOT CORNERS, POINTS OF CURVATURE AND TANGENCY, EXCEPT

WHERE CONCRETE MONUMENTS AND MAG NAILS ARE INDICATED, AND THAT THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN CORRECTLY REPRESENTS SAID

SURVEY AND SUBDIVISION. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE GIVEN IN FEET AND DECIMAL PARTS THEREOF.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING PROPERTY FALLS WITHIN THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA, AND

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT PART OF SAID PROPERTY IS SITUATED IN ZONE "X", AS PER NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE PROGRAM, FLOOD

INSURANCE RATE MAP, MAP NUMBER 17089C0340H, MAP REVISED AUGUST 3, 2009.

DATED AT EAST DUNDEE, ILLINOIS, THIS 6th DAY OF APRIL, 2022.

________________________________________________

PAUL A. KUBICEK, ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR 035-003296

      EXPIRES 11/30/2022

      PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC #184006289-0010

      EXPIRES 04/30/2023

OWNER'S CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

                     ) S.S.

COUNTY OF ________)

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT ________________________ IS THE OWNER OF THE

LAND DESCRIBED IN THE FOREGOING SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE AND HAS

CAUSED THE SAME TO BE SURVEYED, SUBDIVIDED AND PLATTED AS SHOWN

ON THE ANNEXED PLAT FOR THE USES AND PURPOSES THEREIN SET FORTH

AS ALLOWED AND PROVIDED BY STATUTE AND DOES HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGE

AND ADOPT SAME UNDER THE AFORESAID STYLE AND TITLE.

ALSO TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, THE LOTS THAT ARE HEREBY

CREATED BY THE PLAT ARE WITHIN THE SCHOOL DISTRICTS KNOWN AS:

WEST AURORA SCHOOL DISTRICT 129

DATED THIS ____ DAY OF _________________________, 20___ .

BY: _______________________________________________

OWNER

NOTARY CERTIFICATE

STATE OF _____________________)

) SS

COUNTY OF ___________________)

I, ______________________________________, A NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR

THE AFORESAID STATE AND COUNTY DO

HEREBY CERTIFY THAT,

______________________________________________(OWNER) PERSONALLY

KNOWN TO ME TO BE THE SAME PERSON(S), WHOSE NAME(S) IS(ARE)

SUBSCRIBED TO THE FOREGOING CERTIFICATE AS SUCH OWNER(S),

APPEARED BEFORE ME THIS DAY IN PERSON AND ACKNOWLEDGED THE

EXECUTION OF THE ANNEXED PLAT AND ACCOMPANYING INSTRUMENTS FOR

THE USES AND PURPOSES THEREIN SET FORTH AS HIS(THEIR) OWN FREE AND

VOLUNTARY ACT.

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND NOTARIAL SEAL THIS ____ DAY OF

__________________________, 20___.

_________________________________________

NOTARY PUBLIC

PLANNING COMMISSION CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

APPROVED BY THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE VILLAGE OF NORTH

AURORA.

DATED THIS ___ DAY OF __________________ , 20__ .

_____________________________________________

CHAIRPERSON

VILLAGE ENGINEER CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE ENGINEER OF NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS, THIS ___

DAY OF __________________ , 20__ .

_____________________________________________

VILLAGE ENGINEER

VILLAGE BOARD CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA BOARD AT A MEETING HELD

THIS ___ DAY OF __________________ , 20__ .

_____________________________________________

VILLAGE PRESIDENT

_____________________________________________

VILLAGE CLERK

VILLAGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR OF NORTH

AURORA, ILLINOIS, THIS ___ DAY OF __________________ , 20__ .

_____________________________________________

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR

KANE COUNTY CLERK CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

I,__________________________ , COUNTY CLERK OF KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, DO HEREBY

CERTIFY THAT THERE ARE NO DELINQUENT GENERAL TAXES, NO UNPAID CURRENT TAXES OR

SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS, NO UNPAID FORFEITED TAXES, AND NO REDEEMABLE TAX SALES

AGAINST ANY OF THE LAND INCLUDED IN THIS PLAT. I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT I HAVE

RECEIVED ALL STATUTORY FEES IN CONNECTION WITH THE PLAT.

GIVEN UNDER MY NAME AND SEAL THIS ____ DAY OF ___________ , 20__ .

___________________________________________________

COUNTY CLERK

KANE COUNTY RECORDER CERTIFICATE

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

) SS

COUNTY OF KANE)

THIS INSTRUMENT NO.______________ , WAS FILED FOR RECORD IN THE RECORDER'S OFFICE

OF KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, ON THE ___ DAY OF ________________ , 20__.

___________________________________________________

COUNTY RECORDER

CROSS ACCESS EASEMENT PROVISIONS

AN EASEMENT IS HEREBY GRANTED FOR THE BENEFIT OF ALL OWNERS OF PROPERTY WITHIN THIS

SUBDIVISION, THEIR HEIRS, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, CREATED BY THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN,

AND TO ALL PERSONS REQUIRING ACCESS ACROSS ALL OF THE AREA MARKED “CROSS ACCESS

EASEMENT” ON THE PLAT FOR THE PERPETUAL RIGHT, PRIVILEGE, AND AUTHORITY TO TRAVERSE

THE ENTIRE EASEMENT AREAS AS PEDESTRIANS.  THE EASEMENT AREA SHALL NOT BE CLOSED

FOR ANY REASON EXCEPT EMERGENCY REPAIRS. NO PERMANENT BUILDINGS OR OBSTRUCTIONS

SHALL BE PLACED ON THE SAID EASEMENT AREAS.

FOR REVIEW

FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION

PARK 88 LOGISTICS CENTER

1 Add lot 2      4/21/2022

INGRESS-EGRESS EASEMENT PROVISIONS

AN EASEMENT IS HEREBY GRANTED FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE OWNER OF LOT 2 WITHIN THIS

SUBDIVISION, THEIR HEIRS, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, CREATED BY THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN, AND TO

ALL PERSONS REQUIRING INGRESS AND EGRESS ACROSS ALL OF THE AREA MARKED “INGRESS-EGRESS

EASEMENT” ON THE PLAT FOR THE PERPETUAL RIGHT, PRIVILEGE, AND AUTHORITY TO TRAVERSE THE

ENTIRE EASEMENT AREAS AS PEDESTRIANS AND OPERATORS OF MOTORIZED VEHICLES.  THE EASEMENT

AREA SHALL NOT BE CLOSED FOR ANY REASON EXCEPT EMERGENCY REPAIRS. NO PERMANENT

BUILDINGS OR OBSTRUCTIONS SHALL BE PLACED ON THE SAID EASEMENT AREAS.

2 Add ingress-egress easement      4/26/2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
035-003296

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK CREEK,

AutoCAD SHX Text
WI

AutoCAD SHX Text
KUBICEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAUL A.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I







Lisa Staszak / KZ

512 Fairview Drive
North Aurora, IL 60506

Bill Marlow

4.27.22

1/2" = 1'

1 of 2

PHE9710

9710

"This Document is owned by, and the information contained in it is proprietary to, Parvin-Clauss Sign Company. By receipt hereof the holder agrees not to use the information, disclose it to any third party,
nor reproduce this document without the prior written consent of Parvin-Clauss Sign Company. Holder also agrees to immediately return this document upon request of Parvin-Clauss Sign Company."

© Copyright 2022 by Parvin-Clauss Sign Co.

PROJECT:

CUSTOMER APPROVAL:

REVISIONS:
1

2

3

4

5

6

DATE

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

REPRESENTATIVE

DRAWN BY

DATE

SCALE

SHEET NO.

ESTIMATE / JOB NUMBER

FILE NAME

7

8

This sign is built to UL Standards
for operation in North America.

1'
-5

"

(1) 3'-6" x 10'-3" x 1'-5" (36 Sq.Ft.) double face monument signs (6'-0" x 12'-0" overall)

Cabinet:  fabricated aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey
Radius End-caps:  fabricated aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey
Skirt:  fabricated aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey
Reveals:  fabricated aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey
Address Panel:  .080" aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey, 3M 220-12 Black vinyl graphics applied
Tenant Panels:  .080" aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey, vinyl graphics applied
Mounting:  4" (4½" O.D.) Sch. 40 steel column set in 2'-0" dia. x 5'-0" deep concrete foundation

3
'-6

"
2

'-6
"

5
'-0

"

6
'-0

"

1'-5"
10'-3"

2"

2"

2"

1121/64"

1121/64"

1121/64"

2"

8½"
2" 2"

8½"

12'-0"

2" Aluminum Retainer

8½" Radius Aluminum End-cap

2" Aluminum H-member

ADDRESS
TENANT
TENANT

Fabricated Aluminum Skirt

2" Aluminum Reveal

.080" Aluminum Tenant Panels

2'-0" Dia. x 5'-0" Deep
Concrete Foundation

4" (4½" O.D.)
Schedule 40 Steel Column

Sullivan Road, South Access Drive - Park Entry Monument Sign



Lisa Staszak / KZ

512 Fairview Drive
North Aurora, IL 60506

Bill Marlow

4.27.22

1/2" = 1'

2 of 2

PHE9710

9710

"This Document is owned by, and the information contained in it is proprietary to, Parvin-Clauss Sign Company. By receipt hereof the holder agrees not to use the information, disclose it to any third party,
nor reproduce this document without the prior written consent of Parvin-Clauss Sign Company. Holder also agrees to immediately return this document upon request of Parvin-Clauss Sign Company."

© Copyright 2022 by Parvin-Clauss Sign Co.

PROJECT:

CUSTOMER APPROVAL:

REVISIONS:
1

2

3

4

5

6

DATE

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

REPRESENTATIVE

DRAWN BY

DATE

SCALE

SHEET NO.

ESTIMATE / JOB NUMBER

FILE NAME

7

8

This sign is built to UL Standards
for operation in North America.

1'
-5

"

(1) 3'-6" x 4'-6" x 1'-5" (15.75 Sq.Ft.) double face monument signs (6'-0" x 6'-3" overall)

Cabinet:  fabricated aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey
Radius End-caps:  fabricated aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey
Skirt:  fabricated aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey
Reveals:  fabricated aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey
Address Panel:  .080" aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey, 3M 220-12 Black vinyl graphics applied
Tenant Panels:  .080" aluminum painted PMS 428 Grey, vinyl graphics applied
Mounting:  3" (3½" O.D.) Sch. 40 steel column set in 1'-6" dia. x 4'-9" deep concrete foundation

3
'-6

"
2

'-6
"

4
'-9

"

6
'-0

"

1'-5"
4'-6"

2"

2"

1'
-6

"
1'

-6
"

2"

8½"
2" 2"

8½"

6'-3"

2" Aluminum Retainer

8½" Radius Aluminum End-cap

2" Aluminum H-member

ADDRESS

ADDRESS

Fabricated Aluminum Skirt

2" Aluminum Reveal

.080" Aluminum Tenant Panels

1'-6" Dia. x 4'-9" Deep
Concrete Foundation

3" (3½" O.D.)
Sch. 40 Steel Column

Smoketree Plaza, North Access Drive - Park Entry Monument Sign





PROPOSED BUILDING A

263,682 SF

FF=692.00

PROPOSED BUILDING B

165,928 SF

FF=692.00

691.05
691.05 691.05

691.00

688.00

691.00

688.00

688.50R

689.00689.00
689.00

691.00

688.00

688.00

691.00

688.50

690.50

690.00

691.00

691.00

690.00R
696.00R

696.00R

689.00

690.00

690.50690.50

691.40

691.40

689.50

688.30R

690.00

690.00

689.00R

690.00

691.05 691.05 691.05 691.05 691.05 691.05 691.05

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.05 691.05 691.05 691.05 691.05

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

691.40

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
0
.
9
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
0
.
9
0

6
9
0
.
4
0

R
6
9
0
.
4
0

R

6
9
0
.
4
0

R

690.55R
690.55R

690.55R

690.55R

690.55R
690.55R

690.55R
690.55R

690.55R

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
1
0

R
6
9
0
.
1
0

R

6
9
0
.
1
0

R

690.50R 690.55R

690.55R

690.55R
690.55R

690.55R

690.55R

690.35R

6
9
0
.
1
0

R

6
9
0
.
1
0

R
6
9
0
.
1
0

R

6
9
0
.
9
0

6
9
0
.
9
0

690.35R

6
9
0
.
1
0

R
6
9
0
.
1
0

R

6
9
0
.
1
0

R

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
1
.
4
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
9
0
.
6
0

688.50R

689.00

688.50R

689.00

688.50R688.50R

689.00

688.50R

689.00

688.50R

689.00

688.50R

689.00
688.50R

689.00

688.50R

689.00

688.80R

690.35R

6
9
0
.
6
0

6
8
9
.
5
0

R

690.00R

693.00R

693.00R

691.20
690.20 693.20

696.20

690.50

689.50

689.50

689.90

STORMWATER FACILITY

S
T

O
R

M
W

A
T

E
R

 
F

A
C

I
L

I
T

Y

STORMWATER

FACILITY

LOT 2

LOT 1

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                                   1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                                      PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

SMOKETREE - PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING DESIGN - GRADING PLAN JOB NO. 2335.00-IL 04/27/2022

N
O

R
T

H

SCALE: 1"=80

EASEMENT LINE

REVERSE PITCH CURB & GUTTER

DEPRESSED CURB

NORMAL WATER LEVEL (NWL)

HIGH WATER LEVEL (HWL)

FLOODPLAIN

FLOODWAY

WETLANDS

CONTOUR

SPOT ELEVATION

DIRECTION OF SURFACE FLOW

OVERFLOW RELIEF ROUTING

DITCH OR SWALE

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

CURB AND GUTTER

DIVERSION SWALE

PROPERTY LINE

LEGEND

EXISTING PROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text
TF

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOKE TREE PLAZA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SULLIVAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
TF

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
17 EXTERIOR DOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
27 EXTERIOR DOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/27/2022 1:24 PM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary  - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary Engineering Exhibits.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(750.00)

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
749



W
W

W

W W

PROPOSED BUILDING A

263,682 SF

FF=692.00

PROPOSED BUILDING B

165,928 SF

FF=692.00

W W W W W W W W W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W W

W
W

W
W

W

W W W W W W W

W W W W W W W W W W

W W W W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W

STORMWATER FACILITY

S
T

O
R

M
W

A
T

E
R

 
F

A
C

I
L

I
T

Y

STORMWATER

FACILITY

LOT 2

LOT 1

w
w

w
.
p

i
n

n
a

c
l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.
c

o
m

PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP                                   1051 E. MAIN STREET | SUITE 217 | EAST DUNDEE, IL 60118 | WWW.PINNACLE-ENGR.COM | CHICAGO@PINNACLE-ENGR.COM                                      PLAN | DESIGN | DELIVER

SMOKETREE - PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING DESIGN - UTILITY PLAN JOB NO. 2335.00-IL 04/27/2022

N
O

R
T

H

SCALE: 1"=80

LEGEND

CLEANOUT

FIRE HYDRANT

LIGHTING

SANITARY SEWER

STORM SEWER

WATER MAIN

FORCE MAIN

ELECTRICAL TRANSFORMER

POWER POLE

STREET SIGN

GAS MAIN

TELEPHONE LINE

VALVE BOX

ELECTRICAL CABLE

OR PEDESTAL

SANITARY MANHOLE

STORM MANHOLE

CATCH BASIN

INLET

PRECAST FLARED END SECTION

VALVE VAULT

EXISTING PROPOSED

POWER POLE WITH LIGHT

GUY WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TF

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOKE TREE PLAZA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SULLIVAN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
TF

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
17 EXTERIOR DOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
27 EXTERIOR DOCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS AND DESIGNS ARE COPYRIGHT PROTECTED AND MAY NOT BE USED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PINNACLE ENGINEERING GROUP, LLC

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/27/2022 1:24 PM - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary  - Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary Z:\Projects\2021\2335.00-IL\312 - ENGINEERING\FINAL\EXHIBITS\2335.00-IL Preliminary Engineering Exhibits.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W



 

VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 
BOARD REPORT 

TO:  VILLAGE PRESIDENT & BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

  CC: STEVE BOSCO, VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR  
FROM:  MIKE TOTH, COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
SUBJECT: PETITION 22-04: 2080 W. ORCHARD ROAD ADULT-USE CANNABIS 

DISPENSING ORGANIZATION SPECIAL USE 
AGENDA: AUGUST 15, 2022 REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING 

 

ITEM 
Ordinance approving a Special Use to allow an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization in 
the B-2 General Commercial District for the property located at 2080 W. Orchard Road, North 
Aurora, Illinois 
 
DISCUSSION 
PharmaCann, Inc. (d.b.a. Verilife) is petitioning for a special use from the Village to relocate its 
existing medical and adult-use cannabis dispensing organization from 161 S. Lincolnway to 2080 
W. Orchard Road. Medical Cannabis Dispensaries are classified as a permitted use in the B-2 
General Business District; however, Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization (recreational 
cannabis sales) are classified as a special use in the B-2 District.  The proposed use would be 
located within a 4,250 square foot, one-story building in the Orchard Commons B-2 General 
Business District Planned Unit Development. Staff notes the building was approved as part of a 
2021 PUD amendment, but has not yet been constructed. 
 
A public hearing was conducted on this item before the Plan Commission at their July 5, 2022 
meeting.  The meeting was well-attended by the public who voiced concerns regarding area 
traffic, parking and crime. Seven of the nine Plan Commission members were in attendance at 
the meeting. Upon voting, the special use application failed to receive the recommendation of the 
Plan Commission.  The Plan Commission members who voted ‘no’ on the special use cited 
special use standards #2, #6 and #8 not being met. 
 
The Village Board discussed Petition 22-04 at the August 1, 2022 Committee of the Whole 
meeting. Village staff and Pharmacann representatives each provided presentations.  
Afterwards, the public had a chance to address the Board with some voicing their opposition to 
the petition and others voicing support.  The property owner also spoke in support stating the use 
would help them finish their portion of the development. 
 
Upon completion of the presentations and audience comments, the Village Board discussed the 
petition and any related concerns, including the legality of cannabis sales.  Based on the general 
feedback received from the Village Board the item was progressed to the August 15th Village 
Board meeting for a vote. 
 
In order to provide history and context on the subject matter, staff has included the following 
information:  
 

1. August 1, 2022 Committee of the Whole Staff Memo 



 

2. July 5, 2022 Plan Commission Staff Report 
3. Application for Special Use, submitted by Pharmacann Inc, dated June 6, 2022 
4. July 5, 2022 Draft Plan Commission Meeting Minutes  
5. Verilife Relocation Letter, submitted by Pharmacann, dated July 20, 2022 
6. Traffic Evaluation Summary, submitted by Pharmacann, Inc., prepared by KLOA, 

dated July 28, 2022 
7. Ordinance approving a Special Use to allow an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing 

Organization in the B-2 General Commercial District for the property located at 
2080 W. Orchard Road, North Aurora, Illinois 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 
BOARD REPORT 

TO:  VILLAGE PRESIDENT & BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

  CC: STEVE BOSCO, VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR  
FROM:  MIKE TOTH, COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
SUBJECT: PETITION 22-04: 2080 WEST ORCHARD ROAD ADULT-USE CANNABIS 

DISPENSING ORGANIZATION SPECIAL USE 
AGENDA: AUGUST 1, 2022 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

 

DISCUSSION 
PharmaCann, Inc. (d.b.a. Verilife) is petitioning for a special use from the Village to relocate its 
existing medical and adult-use cannabis dispensing organization from 161 S. Lincolnway to 2080 
West Orchard Road. Medical Cannabis Dispensaries are classified as a permitted use in the B-2 
General Business District; however, Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization (recreational 
cannabis sales) are classified as a special use in the B-2 District.  The proposed use would be 
located within a 4,250 square foot, one-story building in the Orchard Commons B-2 General 
Business District Planned Unit Development. Staff notes the building was approved as part of a 
2021 PUD amendment, but has not yet been constructed. 
 
Staff notes the following Zoning Ordinance use standards apply to Adult-Use Cannabis 
Dispensing Organizations in North Aurora:  
 

1. Purpose and Applicability. It is the intent and purpose of this Section to provide 
regulations regarding the cultivation, processing and dispensing of adult-use cannabis 
occurring within the corporate limits of the Village. Such facilities shall comply with all 
regulations provided in the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act (P.A. 101-0027) (Act), as it 
may be amended from time-to-time, and regulations promulgated thereunder, and the 
regulations provided below. In the event that the Act is amended, the more restrictive of 
the state or local regulations shall apply. 

 
2. There shall be a maximum of two (2) Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations 

located in the Village of North Aurora. 
 

3. Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations shall be located a minimum of 1,000 feet 
from the property line of any school grounds, public playground, public recreation center, 
child care center, public park, public library, or game arcade to which admission is not 
restricted to persons 21 years of age or older located in the Village of North Aurora. 

 
4. On-site consumption of cannabis shall be prohibited. 

 
5. Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations shall be located a minimum of 1,500 feet 

from the property line of any pre-existing Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization 
located in the Village of North Aurora.   

 
A public hearing was conducted on this item before the Plan Commission at their July 5, 2022 
meeting.  The meeting was well-attended by the public who voiced concerns regarding area 
traffic, parking and crime. Seven of the nine Plan Commission members were in attendance at 



2 

the meeting. Upon voting, the special use application failed to receive the recommendation of the 
Plan Commission.  The Plan Commission members who voted ‘no’ on the special use cited the 
following underlined Standards for Special Use not being met: 
 

1. The proposed special use is, in fact, a special use authorized in the zoning district in 
which the property is located. 

2. The proposed special use is deemed necessary for the public convenience at that 
location. 

3. The proposed special use does not create excessive additional impacts at public expense 
for public facilities and services, and will be beneficial to the economic welfare of the 
community. 

4. The proposed use is in conformance with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive 
Plan, and all Village codes and regulations. 

5. The proposed special use will be designed, located, operated, and maintained so as to 
be harmonious and compatible in use and appearance with the existing or intended 
character of the general vicinity. 

6. The proposed special use will not significantly diminish the safety, use, enjoyment, and 
value of other property in the neighborhood in which it is located. 

7. The proposed special use is compatible with development on adjacent or neighboring 
property. 

8. The proposed special use minimizes potentially dangerous traffic movements, and 
provides adequate and safe access to the site. 

9. The proposed special use provides the required number of parking spaces and maintains 
parking areas, in accordance with the requirements of this Ordinance. 

10. The proposed special use is served by adequate utilities, drainage, road access, public 
safety, and other necessary facilities. 

11. The proposed special use conforms with the requirements of this Ordinance and other 
applicable regulations. 

 
In order to provide history and context on the subject matter, staff has included the following 
information:  
 

1. July 5, 2022 Plan Commission Staff Report 
2. Application for Special Use, submitted by Pharmacann Inc, dated June 6, 2022 
3. July 5, 2022 Draft Plan Commission Meeting Minutes  
4. Verilife Relocation Letter, submitted by Pharmacann, dated July 20, 2022 
5. Traffic Evaluation Summary, submitted by Pharmacann, Inc., prepared by KLOA, 

dated July 28, 2022 
 
Staff would like to take this opportunity to solicit feedback from the Village Board on the 
proposed special use associated with Petition #22-04.  
 
 



 

Staff Report to the Village of North Aurora Plan Commission 
FROM: Mike Toth, Community and Economic Development Director 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

                                                                                    

Meeting Date:  July 5, 2022                                 

 

Petition Number:  22-04  

 

Petitioner:  Pharmacann, Inc.  

 

Request:  Special use to allow an Adult-Use 

Cannabis Dispensing Organization  

 

Location: 2080 West Orchard Road 

 

Parcel Number: 15-06-126-013  

 

Property Size:  Approximately 0.59 acres    

 

Current Zoning:  B-2 General Business District Planned Unit Development  

 

Contiguous Zoning:  North – B-2 General Business District, South – F - Farming District 

(unincorporated Kane County),  East – B-2 General Business District, West – B-2 General Business 

District  

 

Comprehensive Plan Designation: Regional Commercial 

 

BACKGROUND 

On July 21, 2014, the Village Board approved Ordinance #14-07-21-01, which allows Medical 

Cannabis Dispensaries as a permitted use in all non-residential zoning districts and Medical Cannabis 

Cultivation Centers as a special use in the I-2 General Industrial District.  

 

On October 21, 2019, the Village Board approved Ordinance #19-10-21-01, which allows for the sales 

of recreational cannabis in approved Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations as a special use in 

all non-residential zoning districts and Adult-Use Cannabis Craft Grower Organization, Adult-Use 

Cannabis Infuser Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis Processing Organization, Adult-Use Cannabis 

Transporting Organization as special uses in the I-2 General Industrial District.  

 

A Certificate of Occupancy was issued to PharmaCannis on November, 9, 2015 to allow them to sell 

medical cannabis at 161 S. Lincolnway.  On December 2, 2019 the Village Board granted a special use 

to Pharmacann, LLC to allow them to operate an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization at 161 

S. Lincolnway. Pharmacann (d.b.a. Verilife) began selling cannabis to the general public, as made 

legal by the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act on January 1, 2020.   

 



Staff Report 22-04 

Page 2 of 3 

 

On January 4, 2021 the Village Board granted a special use to Pharmacann, Inc. to allow them to 

expand their Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization at 161 S. Lincolnway. Staff notes their 

facility at 161 S. Lincolnway facility was never expanded.   

 

PROPOSAL 

PharmaCann, Inc. is now petitioning to relocate its existing medical and adult-use cannabis dispensing 

organization to 2080 West Orchard Road. The proposed use would be located within a 4,250 square 

foot, one-story building in the Orchard Commons Planned Unit Development. Staff notes the building 

was approved as part of a 2021 PUD amendment and has not yet been constructed.  

 

The petitioner is proposing to sell cannabis to the general public, as made legal by the Cannabis 

Regulation and Tax Act, and continue medical cannabis sales.  The Zoning Ordinance defines Adult-

Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization as follows:   

 

Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization.  A facility operated by an organization or business 

that is licensed by the Illinois Department of Financial and Professional Regulation to acquire 

cannabis from licensed cannabis business establishments for the purpose of selling or dispensing 

cannabis, cannabis-infused products, cannabis seeds, paraphernalia or related supplies to 

purchasers or to qualified registered medical cannabis patients and caregivers, per the Cannabis 

Regulation and Tax Act, (P.A. 101-0027), as it may be amended from time-to-time, and regulations 

promulgated thereunder. 

 

Hours of Operation 

The anticipated hours of operation for the dispensary would be 9:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. Monday through 

Saturday and 9:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. on Sundays. 

 

Parking 

There is no specific parking requirement for Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations; as such, it 

is classified as a general retail goods establishment, which requires four (4) off-street parking spaces 

per 1,000 square foot gross floor area. With 4,250 total square feet of area, the proposed use would 

require seventeen (17) parking spaces. The subject property would provide a total of twenty-four (24) 

parking spaces.  

 

Use standards regulating Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations were also added to the Zoning 

Ordinance when the Village Board approved Ordinance #19-10-21-01. The following information 

includes each of the use standards and their applicability to the proposed petition: 

 

 G. Adult-Use Cannabis. 

 

1. Purpose and Applicability. It is the intent and purpose of this Section to provide 

regulations regarding the cultivation, processing and dispensing of adult-use cannabis 

occurring within the corporate limits of the Village. Such facilities shall comply with all 

regulations provided in the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act (P.A. 101-0027) (Act), as it 

may be amended from time-to-time, and regulations promulgated thereunder, and the 

regulations provided below. In the event that the Act is amended, the more restrictive of the 

state or local regulations shall apply. 

 



Staff Report 22-04 

Page 3 of 3 

 

The proposed facility shall be required to comply with the Compassionate Use of 

Medical Cannabis Program Act and the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act. 

 

2. There shall be a maximum of two (2) Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations 

located in the Village of North Aurora. 

 

The petitioner is the only Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization located in the 

Village of North Aurora at this time. The petitioner has indicated they would be 

relocating their facility to the subject property. According to the petitioner, their 

license will only allow them to operate one facility.   

 

3. Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations shall be located a minimum of 1,000 feet 

from the property line of any school grounds, public playground, public recreation center, 

child care center, public park, public library, or game arcade to which admission is not 

restricted to persons 21 years of age or older located in the Village of North Aurora. 

 

Staff has included a buffer map, dated June 22, 2022, which illustrates the 1,000 foot 

buffer from the property line of any school grounds, public playground, public 

recreation center, child care center, public park, public library, or game arcade. The 

subject property is not located within 1,000 feet of any of the aforementioned uses.  

 

4. On-site consumption of cannabis shall be prohibited. 

 

On-site consumption of cannabis would be prohibited. 

 

5. Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations shall be located a minimum of 1,500 feet 

from the property line of any pre-existing Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization 
located in the Village of North Aurora.   

 

There would only be one Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization if the 

petitioner were to relocate their operations. The subject property is greater than 1,500 

feet from the property line of their existing facility. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
Staff finds that the information presented meets the Standards for Specials Uses as submitted by the 

petitioner and the Use Standards regulating Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations as set forth 

in the Zoning Ordinance. Based on the above considerations, staff recommends approval of Petition 

#22-04. 

 



Application for Special Use 3/26/2019 
 Page 1 of 6 

APPLICATION FOR SPECIAL USE 

VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

Board of Trustees 

25 East State Street 

North Aurora, IL 60542 

PETITION NO: 22-04

 FILENAME: Pharmacann, Inc Special Use

DATE STAMP: 6-6-22 

I. APPLICANT AND OWNER DATA

Name of Applicant  _____________________________________________________________ 

Applicant Address     ____________________________________________________________ 

Applicant Telephone #  __________________________________________________________ 

Email Address  _________________________________________________________________ 

Property Owner(s)  ______________________________________________________________ 

Owner Address  

Owner Telephone #  _____________________________________________________________ 

II. ADDRESS, USE AND ZONING OF PROPERTY

Address of Property _ _______________________________________________________ 

(indicate location if no common address) 

Legal Description: ______________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Parcel Size __ _____________________________________________________________ 

Present Use ____________________________________________________________________ 
(business, manufacturing, residential, etc.) 

Present Zoning District __________________________________________________________ 
(Zoning Ordinance Classification) 

see attached

s.f.

Pharmacann, Inc

Christopher Ilekis (312)985-0980

226 N. Morgan Street, Suite 300 Chicago, IL 60607

Orchard Commons North Aurora Lot 2, LLC

B2 - General Business District

Vacant

West Orchard, North Aurora

312-543-3164

Karen.Eltz@PharmaCann.com

190 South LaSalle Street, Suite 2950, Chicago, Illinois 60603

DocuSign Envelope ID: B62EEA58-AC5B-42B8-82E8-71CE5D99509E

2080

25,918



Application for Special Use 3/26/2019 
 Page 2 of 6 

III. PROPOSED SPECIAL USE

Proposed Special Use ___________________________________________________________
(Zoning Ordinance Classification) 

Code Section that authorizes Special Use ___________________________________________ 

Has the present applicant previously sought to rezone or request a special use for the property or 

any part thereof? ________ 

If so, when? _________________________________ to what district?_____________________ 

Describe briefly the type of use and improvement proposed _____________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

What are the existing uses of property within the general area of the Property in question?______ 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

To the best of your knowledge, can you affirm that there is a need for the special use at the 

particular location? (Explain) _____________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Attach hereto a statement with supporting data that the proposed special use will conform 

to the following standards: 

1. The proposed special use is, in fact, a special use authorized in the zoning district in which

the property is located.

2. The proposed special use is deemed necessary for the public convenience at that location.

3. The proposed special use does not create excessive additional impacts at public expense for

public facilities and services, and will be beneficial to the economic welfare of the

community.

4. The proposed use is in conformance with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan,

and all Village codes and regulations.

Medical and Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization

Based on the applicant's experience in North Aurora, there is a need and demand for an adult use cannabis
dispensary. The proposed location is well suited for cannabis operations as it is in close proximity to other
commercial/retail uses with similar operating hours.

Uses of existing property in the area are vacant land, commercial and retail uses, and residential developments.

The applicant seeks to relocate its existing medical and adult use cannabis dispensary to the subject property.

The proposed use will be located within a 4,250 s.f. 1-story new construction building with 24 parking spaces.

No

Title 17.8.2

DocuSign Envelope ID: B62EEA58-AC5B-42B8-82E8-71CE5D99509E



Application for Special Use 3/26/2019 
 Page 3 of 6 

5. The proposed special use will be designed, located, operated, and maintained so as to be

harmonious and compatible in use and appearance with the existing or intended character of

the general vicinity.

6. The proposed special use will not significantly diminish the safety, use, enjoyment, and value

of other property in the neighborhood in which it is located.

7. The proposed special use is compatible with development on adjacent or neighboring

property.

8. The proposed special use minimizes potentially dangerous traffic movements, and provides

adequate and safe access to the site.

9. The proposed special use provides the required number of parking spaces and maintains

parking areas, in accordance with the requirements of this Ordinance.

10. The proposed special use is served by adequate utilities, drainage, road access, public safety,

and other necessary facilities.

11. The proposed special use conforms with the requirements of this Ordinance and other

applicable regulations.

IV  CHECKLIST FOR ATTACHMENTS 

The following items are attached here to and made a part hereof: 

1. Introduction Letter. Please include information relevant to the proposed use of the property

and business operations (hours of operation, number of employees, etc.).

2. Legal Description of the subject property(s).

3. Illinois Land Surveyor’s plat of survey.

4. Site Plan illustrating all existing and proposed improvements.

5. Statement and supporting data regarding Standards for Special Uses (above).

6. Filing fee in the amount of $300.00, if paid by check make payable to the Village of North

Aurora.

7. Specified escrow deposit ($4,000 minimum). May be included with filing fee. Remaining

funds refundable upon project completion.

8. Visit the Illinois Department of Natural Resources’ website www.dnr.state.il.us and initiate a

consultation using DNR’s EcoCat online application.

9. Visit the Kane DuPage Soil and Water Conservation District’s website

www.kanedupageswcd.org  for a Land Use Opinion Application

DocuSign Envelope ID: B62EEA58-AC5B-42B8-82E8-71CE5D99509E



DocuSign Envelope ID: B62EEA58-AC5B-42B8-82E8-71CE5D99509E

6/2/2022



 

 

Narrative for Special Use Application 
2080 West Orchard Rd, North Aurora 
Applicant: PharmaCann, Inc 
 
 
Pharmacann, Inc., d/b/a Verilife (the “Applicant”), seeks a special-use permit for an adult-use 
cannabis dispensing organization at 2080 W. Orchard Rd in order to relocate its existing medical 
and adult-use cannabis dispensary.  The Applicant would relocate from its current North Aurora 
cannabis dispensary located at 161 South Lincolnway, Suite 302.   
 
The Applicant has been operating a medical cannabis dispensary under its Verilife brand in North 
Aurora since 2016.  In 2019, the Village of North Aurora approved a special use permit for the 
Applicant to begin adult-use sales at its existing location.  Since January 1, 2020, when the state 
authorized adult-use cannabis sales to customers 21 and over, Verilife North Aurora has been 
serving both medical patients and adult-use consumers. 
 
The proposed site is an approximate half-acre parcel located at the northwest corner of Oak Street 
and Orchard Road.  The proposed location is a one-story, single-tenant building consisting of 
approximately 4,250 square feet, and will be constructed for the proposed dispensary. The site 
will have approximately twenty-four (24) dedicated parking spaces. 
 
The dispensary will contain an approximate 1,550 square foot sales floor area, with approximately 
twelve point-of-sale stations.  The sales floor area will be accessed through a single entry at the 
northwest corner of the building, while a separate egress door will be available at the southwest 
corner of the site.  The processing areas, office, employee break room/lockers, secured 
vault/night storage area and other back-office uses will not be accessible to the public.  These 
areas of the facility are restricted by a security-monitored access control system, requiring our 
credentialed and background-checked employees to enter security codes and swipe their agent 
cards to enter, and logging a time stamp of each dispensary agent’s entry into the restricted 
access areas of the facility.  The restricted access area is intentionally separated from the sales 
floor, and cannot be viewed from the sales floor or entrance areas. 
 
Carrying over our established practice of strong and open communication with local North Aurora 
officials, our dispensary premises and high-definition surveillance footage will always remain 
available to North Aurora law enforcement members upon request.  We are always open to 
offering tours for local officials upon request as well. 
 
Hours of operation for the dispensary are  9 AM to 9 PM Monday through Saturday and 9 AM to 
7 PM on Sundays.  The dispensary will employ approximately 25 to 30 workers, including 
management staff, customer service, and inventory control specialists.  Our Verilife retail 
employees are provided living-wage compensation and comprehensive benefit packages, 
including healthcare, vision, dental, 401K savings options, and discretionary bonuses.  We seek 
to hire locally from the North Aurora community. 
 
In accordance with our past security operations and state regulation, our proposed dispensary 
facility will be closely monitored by a 24/7 internal surveillance monitoring system during 
operational and non-operational hours, covering the entirety of the internal facility and perimeter.  
The surveillance system is remotely accessible to our state regulators and state police inspectors 
at all hours.  An alarm and motion sensor system are activated during non-operational hours, and 
panic and duress alarms are readily available to our employees in the event of an emergency 
within the facility.  On-site security will be provided by Metro One during operational hours, seven 



 

 - 2 - 

days per week, with a third-party security agent monitoring the facility and its perimeter in 
accordance with State of Illinois law.  As patrons approach the dispensary, Metro One security 
agents ensure that they have a valid reservation or are seeking to confer with a customer service 
associate to place an order, and upon entrance into the public access area, an electronically 
scanned age and identification verification takes place, including medical card check if applicable. 
 
To prevent lines or congestion around the premises, customers and patients are encouraged to 
place their orders online. Reservations can be booked 48 hours in advance of their scheduled 
pickup, helping create a streamlined transactional process and customer throughput.  The online 
ordering system functions similarly to a Starbucks mobile ordering process, allowing patients and 
customers upon age or credential verification to conduct their transactions in approximately 90 
seconds.  Additionally, our new proposed dispensary will be designed to handle a significant 
increase in customer throughput during peak hours, with approximately twelve (12) point-of-sale 
stations as opposed to four (4) at our current site.  The revamped internal design to allow us to 
handle expanded throughput, ensuring we minimize disruption and act as good neighbors and 
business members, is one of the primary drivers of our relocation application. 
 
Secure, discrete deliveries to the dispensary follow strict guidelines as set forth by the State of 
Illinois.  Deliveries are made only into the restricted access area which is not accessible to the 
public and are monitored by GPS while in transit, and constant video surveillance upon arrival at 
the dispensary.  The vehicle GPS and video monitoring are remotely accessible in real time to 
state police and state regulators.  Delivery times are intentionally randomized, and known only to 
the agent-in-charge and security personnel who monitor the entirety of the delivery process to 
ensure a safe transfer into the secured vault.  Deliveries arrive in small utility vehicles that are 
unmarked, and will have two delivery agents present for every delivery. 
 
Upon delivery into the vault, our inventory control and management team inspect the delivery 
manifest to ensure all products are accounted for, and matches the delivery manifest prepared at 
the cultivation site.  The delivered products are then immediately entered into the state’s electronic 
“seed-to-sale” inventory tracking system, which remains accessible at all times to state regulators 
and state police. 
 
 



 

 

PharmaCann Inc. 

2080 West Orchard, North Aurora  

Special Use Application - Recreational Cannabis Dispensary 

1) The proposed special use is, in fact, a special use authorized in the zoning district in which the 

property is located. 

The proposed site is in the B2 – General Business District, which permits Recreational Cannabis 

Dispensaries as a special use.  

2) The proposed special use is deemed necessary for the public convenience at that location. 

The proposed special use is deemed necessary for the public convenience. The applicant has 

operated a medical and adult use dispensary in North Aurora since January 1, 2020.  Demand for 

the applicant’s products is strong and generates increased tax revenues into the Village. This 

particular location is well-suited to accommodate this use due to the commercial nature of the 

area.   

3) The proposed special use does not create excessive additional impacts at public expense for 

public facilities and services, and will be beneficial to the economic welfare of the community.  

The proposed special use does not create excessive additional impacts at the public expense.  

The applicant is an experienced operator.  The dispensary will be operated in a manner that 

meets or exceeds State of Illinois regulations as to security, deliveries and space plan. As set 

forth in the narrative, the applicant utilizes an online reservation system which allows the 

applicant to manage the flow of customers the dispensary. Ample parking is provided on-site for 

the dispensary customers and employees.   

This use will be beneficial to the economic welfare of the community as sales of cannabis for 

adult use can be taxed beyond general sales taxes for the benefit of the municipality, generating 

additional revenue for the municipality. 

4) The proposed use is in conformance with the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan 

and all Village codes and regulations. 

The proposed special use will help to further enhance a vibrant and unique commercial use 

consistent with the goals of the Comprehensive Plan which calls for this area to be developed 

for Regional Commercial Uses, which are defined as uses including retail, restaurant and service 

uses to serve North Aurora and surrounding communities. The site is within the West Gateway 

Subarea Plan which calls for smaller scale commercial uses at this particular location.   

The proposed dispensary  will specifically address the Village’s objective to develop this area 

with smaller-scale retail uses. 

The proposed use will be operated in accordance with all Village codes and regulations.  



 

 

5) The proposed special use will be designed, located, operated, and maintained so as to be 

harmonious and compatible in use and appearance with the existing or intended character of 

the general vicinity.  

The proposed dispensary will be located in a new building being constructed for the applicant, 

following the necessary approvals. The dispensary is designed to be operated in a manner that is 

harmonious and compatible in use and appearance with the surrounding uses.  The construction 

of a new, high-quality retail building will enhance the character of the area as a whole. 

6) The proposed special use will not significantly diminish the safety, use, enjoyment and value 

of the property in the neighborhood in which it is located.  

The proposed special use will not significantly diminish the safety, use, enjoyment and value of 

the property in the neighborhood. The applicant is an experienced operator with a proven track 

record in North Aurora.  Consistent with State of Illinois requirements, the operator will have a 

robust safety and security plan to ensure no diminution in safety for the neighborhood.  

Furthermore, the reservation system allows the applicant to control the number of customers at 

any given time.  

7) The proposed special use is compatible with development on adjacent or neighboring 

property.  

The proposed special use is compatible with development on adjacent or neighboring property.  

The area consists of commercial and retail uses. 

8) The proposed special use minimizes potentially dangerous traffic movements, and provides 

adequate safe access to the site. 

The proposed dispensary will be in a single-use building with dedicated parking.  Access to the 

site will be from Oak Street or Orchard Rd through access points intended to serve the entire 

commercial development. The parking area is designed to promote traffic and pedestrian safety 

and to minimize potentially dangerous traffic movements.  

9) The proposed special use provides the required number of parking spaces and maintains 

parking areas, in accordance with the requirements of the Ordinance.  

The dispensary location will provide 25 parking spaces, exceeding what is required by village 

ordinance.  The parking areas will be landscaped.  

10) The proposed special use is served by adequate utilities, drainage, road access, public safety, 

and other necessities.   

The proposed special use will be adequately served by adequate utilities, drainage, road access, 

public safety and other necessities, in the same way that the existing use is served at this 

location.  

11) The proposed special use conforms with the requirements of this ordinance and other 

applicable regulations. 



 

 

The proposed site is in the B2 – General Business District, which permits Recreational Cannabis 

Dispensaries as a special use. The existing site otherwise complies with the requirements of the 

zoning ordinance and other applicable regulations.  

 

 

 



 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
 
LOT 1 THE FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION OF ORCHARD ACRES ACCORDING TO THE 
PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JANUARY 18, 2022 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 2022K003036, 
IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN THE FINAL 
PLAT OF ORCHARD COMMONS, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 8, EAST OF THE THIRD 
PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED AUGUST 6, 2007 
AS DOCUMENT 2007K081978, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 
 



LOT 4
0.690 ACRES ±

LOT 3
0.480 ACRES ±

LOT 2
0.471 ACRES ±

LOT 1
0.595 ACRES ±

S77° 46' 53"E  (229.04')

OAK  STREET 

O
R
C

H
A

R
D

  
 R

O
A

D

S1
6°

 2
7'

 1
9"

W
  (

92
.9

3'
)

N77° 46' 53"W  (222.17')

N
12

° 1
3'

 0
7"

E 
 (9

2.
68

')

D
E
E
R
P
A

T
H

 R
O

A
D

PR
IV

AT
E 

D
R

IV
E 

N
O

. 2

PRIVATE DRIVE NO. 1
PARCEL 2

PA
R

C
EL

 2

(MAXWELL AVENUE)

(M
AD

IS
O

N
 S

TR
EE

T)

LOT 6

LOT 5
OWNER: SPECWARE, LLC

PIN: 15-06-126-004

OWNER: SPECWARE, LLC
PIN: 15-06-126-003

PARCEL 1

"NO BUILDINGS"

OWNER: THE BITETTI
REVOCABLE LIVING TRUST

DATED APRIL 20, 2005

OWNER: ORCHARD COMMONS
NORTH AURORA LOT 2 LLC

OWNER: ORCHARD COMMONS
NORTH AURORA LOT 2 LLC

PRO
JECT NUM

BER:

DATE:

SHEET:
O

F

DRAW
ING NUM

BER:

210128
3/8/2022

1
1

ALTA

REGIONAL
9512 FOWLER ROAD

ROCHELLE, ILLINOIS 61068
PHONE: (618) 559-2260

REGIONAL
LAND SERVICES

1)

2)

3)

4)

 SURVEYORS NOTES:
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE GIVEN IN FEET AND DECIMAL 
PARTS THEREOF.
BEFORE STARTING ANY CONSTRUCTION OF 

   IMPROVEMENTS OR FENCES, FIELD MONUMENTATION 
SHOULD BE ESTABLISHED.
REFER TO YOUR DEED, TITLE POLICY AND LOCAL
ORDINANCES FOR RESTRICTIONS, BUILDING LINES
AND EASEMENTS.
PARCEL DIMENSIONS AND/OR BEARINGS WITHIN
PARENTHESIS ABBREVIATED REC ARE RECORDED
DOCUMENT DIMENSIONS AND/OR BEARINGS.

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
PUBLIC UTILITY & DRAINAGE EASEMENT
BUILDING SETBACK LINE
ARC LENGTH
CHORD BEARING
RADIUS 
BUILDING
CHAIN LINK FENCE
WOOD FENCE
FIBERGLASS FENCE
WROUGHT IRON FENCE
ALUMINUM FENCE
FOUND OR SET IRON PIPE
FOUND OR SET IRON ROD
FOUND OR SET CROSS NOTCH
FOUND OR SET MAGNETIC P.K. NAILFPK OR SPK

P.U.E.

FCN OR SCN
FIR OR SIR
FIP OR SIP

ALF
WIF
FGF

WDF
CLF

BLDG
R

CB
A

B.S.L.
P.U. & D.E.

REV DESCRIPTION DATE
0 ISSUED 3/7/2022

SCALE:

ORDERED BY:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

PROJECT NUMBER:

FIELD WORK COMPLETED

CHECKED BY:
DATE:

DATE:
DRAWN BY:

DATE:

1" =

210128

30'

OSVALDO PASTRANA

2060 ORCHARD ROAD
NORTH AURORA, IL

RWH
3/8/2022

RPD
3/8/2022

3/3/2022

0

SCALE: 1" =

30 60

30'

90

BASIS OF BEARINGS:
BEARINGS SHOWN HEREON BASED ON
ILLINOIS STATE PLANE COORDINATES,

ZONE EAST, N.A.D. 1983

CIVWORKS CONSULTING, LLC
3343 N NEVA AVENUE  CHICAGO, IL 60634

CLIENT:

PHONE: 1(312)637-9570

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

PARCEL 1:
LOT 3 THE FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION OF ORCHARD ACRES ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JANUARY 18, 2022 AS
DOCUMENT NUMBER 2022K003036, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1AND 2 IN THE FINAL PLAT OF
ORCHARD COMMONS, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE
8, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED AUGUST 6, 2007AS DOCUMENT
2007K081978, IN KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 2:
EASEMENTS APPURTENANT TO AND FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARCEL 1 OVER AND ONTO PRIVATE DRIVE NOS. 1 AND 2 FOR INGRESS
AND EGRESS AS CONTAINED IN THE PLAT OF SUBDIVISION RECORDED AUGUST 6, 2007 AS DOCUMENT 2007K081978, IN KANE
COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AND ALSO AS CONTAINED IN PRIVATE ROAD EASEMENT AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT RECORDED
NOVEMBER 17, 2021 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 2021K086729, IN KANE COUNTY ILLINOIS.

PARCEL 3:
NON-EXCLUSIVE, PERPETUAL EASEMENT APPURTENANT TO AND FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARCEL 1 OVER LOTS 1, 2 AND 4 IN ORCHARD
ACRES SUBDIVISION FOR VEHICULAR AND PEDESTRIAN INGRESS, EGRESS AND ACCESS OVER DRIVEWAYS AS DEFINED, SET FORTH
AND CONTAINED IN DECLARATION OF RECIPROCAL ACCESS EASEMENT AND USE RESTRICTIONS RECORDED JANUARY 24, 2022 AS
DOCUMENT NUMBER 2022K004638, IN KANE COUNTY ILLINOIS.

RUDY P. DIXON
035-003832

ILLINOIS
ROCHELLE

    

PR
O

FE
SS

IO
NAL  LAND  SURVEY

O
R

STATE   OF

 ILLINOIS

ILLINOIS MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR A BOUNDARY SURVEY. 
THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICE CONFORMS TO THE CURRENT 

STATE OF ILLINOIS     )
                                     ) SS
COUNTY OF OGLE      )

TO:

THIS  IS TO CERTIFY THAT THIS MAP OR PLAT AND THE SURVEY ON WHICH IT IS BASED WERE MADE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE 2021 MINIMUM STANDARD DETAIL REQUIREMENTS FOR   ALTA/NSPS   LAND TITLE
SURVEYS, JOINTLY ESTABLISHED AND ADOPTED BY ALTA AND NSPS, AND INCLUDES ITEMS 1, 3, 4, 8, 9, 13,
16, 17 AND 19 OF TABLE A THEREOF.  THE FIELD WORK WAS COMPLETED ON MARCH 3, 2022.

REGIONAL LAND SERVICES, LLC
PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM  NUMBER 007858-0010

_________________________________________________     _________________________
RUDY P. DIXON                                                            DATE
ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR NO. 035-003832
LICENSE EXPIRES NOVEMBER 30, 2022

3/8/2022

ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY

MCGUE FAMILY, L.L.C., AN ILLINOIS LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY
CHICAGO TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY
FREEDOM TITLE CORPORATION

SURVEYORS NOTES:
TABLE A NOTES:

1. TABLE A ITEMS 1, 3, 4, 8, 9, 13, 16, 17 AND 19 ARE SHOWN HEREON THIS SURVEY.

2. FIELD WORK WAS COMPLETED ON MARCH 3, 2022.

3. TABLE A ITEM 1: ALL MONUMENTS WERE EITHER FOUND OR SET ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.

4. TABLE A ITEM 3: UPON INSPECTION OF THE FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP FOR THE SUBJECT
AREA, PANEL NUMBER 17089C0340H WITH AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF AUGUST 3, 2009, IT APPEARS
THAT THE  PROPERTY SHOWN HEREON WOULD LIE IN "ZONE X", AREA OF MINIMAL FLOODING.

4. TABLE A ITEM 4: GROSS LAND AREA = 20,909 SQUARE FEET OR 0.480 ACRES MORE OR LESS.

5. TABLE A ITEM 8: ALL SUBSTANTIAL FEATURES OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY ARE SHOWN ON THE
SURVEY.

6. TABLE A ITEM 9: NO IDENTIFIABLE PARKING SPACES WERE OBSERVED AT THE TIME OF SURVEY.

7. SCHEDULE A ITEM 13: NAMES OF ADJOINING OWNERS ACCORDING TO CURRENT TAX RECORDS
SHOWN ON SURVEY.

8. SCHEDULE A ITEM 16: NO EVIDENCE OF EARTH MOVING WORK, BUILDING CONSTRUCTION, OR
BUILDING ADDITIONS WERE OBSERVED IN THE PROCESS OF CONDUCTING THE FIELDWORK.

14. TABLE A ITEM 17, NO PROPOSED CHANGES IN STREET RIGHT OF WAY LINES HAVE BEEN
DISCOVERED. NO EVIDENCE OF RECENT STREET OR SIDEWALK CONSTRUCTION OR REPAIRS WAS
OBSERVED.

15. TABLE A ITEM 19, REGIONAL LAND SERVICES, LLC CARRIES PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE.

NOTES CORRESPONDING TO SCHEDULE B, PART TWO
1. THIS SURVEY DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A TITLE SEARCH BY THE SURVEYOR.
ALL INFORMATION REGARDING DEEDS, EASEMENTS, RIGHTS, COVENANTS,
CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS, ADJOINERS AND/OR OTHER DOCUMENTS THAT
MIGHT EFFECT TITLE TO THE PROPERTY DEPICTED HEREON WAS APPLIED
FROM FREEDOM TITLE CORPORATION, COMMITMENT NO. FR2001690,
DATED FEBRUARY 1, 2022 AS PROVIDED TO THE SURVEYOR BY THE CLIENT,
TITLE COMPANY AND/OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVES.

2. SCHEDULE B ITEM 8: PERMANENT TAX NUMBER 15-06-126-007 AS LISTED
IN TITLE COMMITMENT. AFFECTS SUBJECT LAND AND OTHER LAND.

3. SCHEDULE B ITEM 14: SETBACK LINES AS SHOWN ON THE PLAT OF
SUBDIVISION RECORDED AUGUST 6, 2007 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2007K081978
AND AS CONTAINED IN THE FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION OF ORCHARD ACRES
RECORDED JANUARY 18, 2022 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2022K003036 AS
FOLLOWS:

A. 35 FOOT BUILDING LINE WESTERLY AND EASTERLY
B. 25 FOOT YARD SETBACK LINE WESTERLY

AFFECTS SUBJECT PARCEL. SHOWN  ON SAID SURVEY.

4. SCHEDULE B ITEM 15: EASEMENTS FOR INGRESS AND EGRESS AND IN
FAVOR OF PUBLIC UTILIITES, AND ITS/THEIR RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS AND
ASSIGNS, TO INSTALL, OPERATE AND MAINTAIN ALL EQUIPMENT NECESSARY
FOR THE PURPOSE OF SERVING THE LAND AND OTHER PROPERTY, TOGETHER
WITH THE RIGHT OF ACCESS TO SAID EQUIPMENT, AND THE PROVISIONS
RELATING THERETO CONTAINED IN THE PLAT OF SUBDIVISION RECORDED
AUGUST 6, 2007 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2007K081978 AND AS CONTAINED IN
THE FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION OF ORCHARD ACRES RECORDED JANUARY
18, 2022 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2022K003036, AS FOLLOWS:

A. 35 FOOT PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT WESTERLY
B. 20 FOOT INGRESS AND EGRESS EASEMENT WESTERLY (AS A PORTION OF
PRIVATE DRIVE NO. 2)
C. 10 FOOT KANE COUNTY HIGHWAY EASEMENT EASTERLY
D. 15 FOOT KANE COUNTY PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT DESCRIBED AS THE
WESTERLY 15 FEET OF THE EASTERLY 25 FEET
AFFECTS SUBJECT PROPERTY. SHOWN ON SAID SURVEY.

5. SCHEDULE B ITEM 16: ORDINANCES OF VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA AS TO
REIMBURSEMENTS FOR WATER MAIN AND RELATED RECORDED SEPTEMBER
19, 1996 AS DOCUMENT 96K066842 AND RECORDED MARCH 3, 1997 AS
DOCUMENT 97K013313. NOT SURVEY RELATED.

6. SCHEDULE B ITEM 17: WATER MAIN EASEMENT RECORDED NOVEMBER 20,
2002 AS DOCUMENT 2002K152339 TO THE VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA,
AFFECTING THE FOLLOWING: (SEE DOCUMENTS FOR LOCATION AND TERMS)
THE EASTERLY LINE OF LOT 3.
AFFECTS SUBJECT PARCEL. SHOWN ON SAID SURVEY.

7. SCHEDULE B ITEM 18: ACCESS RESTRICTIONS CONTAINED ON THE PLAT OF
ORCHARD COMMONS, AFORESAID, AS FOLLOWS:

A. THERE SHALL BE NO ACCESS TO ORCHARD ROAD FROM LOTS 1, 2, 3 OR 4.
B. THERE SHALL BE A SINGLE RIGHT-IN/RIGHT-OUT ACCESS TO OAK STREET
ON THE COMMON LOT LINE OF LOTS 1 AND 5, IDENTIFIED AS PRIVATE DRIVE
NO. 2. AFFECTS UNDERLYING LAND.

8. SCHEDULE B ITEM 19: TERMS, PROVISIONS AND CONDITIONS CONTAINED
IN VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA ORDINANCE NO. 10-12-06-12 RECORDED
DECEMBER 28, 2010 AS DOCUMENT R2010K088177 ESTABLISHING SPECIAL
SERVICE AREA NO. 40 (ORCHARD COMMONS). NOT SURVEY RELATED.

9. SCHEDULE B ITEM 20: TERMS AND PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN
ORDINANCE 07-02-12-03 RECORDED MARCH 19, 2007 AS DOCUMENT NO.
2007K030838, APPROVING PRE-ANNEXATION FOR THE PROPOSED ORCHARD
COMMONS DEVELOPMENT, AND AS AMENDED IN THE FOURTH
AMENDMENT TO SAID PRE-ANNEXATION BY ORDINANCE NO. 21-08-16-02
RECORDED JANUARY 7, 2022 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2022K001427, RELATING IN
PART TOTHE CREATION OFA PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT, RECAPTURE,
ZONINGAND LAND USE. THE ANNEXATION RELATING TO THE ABOVE IS
CONTAINED IN ORDINANCE 07-07-23-02 RECORDED AUGUST 6, 2007 AS
DOCUMENT NO. 2007K081977. NOT SURVEY RELATED.

10. SCHEDULE B ITEM 21: TERMS AND PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN
ORDINANCE 07-07-23-03 RECORDED AUGUST 6, 2007 AS DOCUMENT NO.
2007K081976 CREATING A SPECIAL USE AS B2 PUD FOR ORCHARD
COMMONS. NOT SURVEY RELATED.

11. SCHEDULE B ITEM 22: THE LAND LIES WITHIN THE FOX  METRO
RECLAMATION DISTRICT, WHICH HAS ACCEPTED FEDERAL GRANTS FOR
SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS PURSUANT TO PUBLIC LAW 92-500. FEDERAL
LAW REQUIRES A USER CHARGE SYSTEM SEPARATE FROM GENERAL AD
VALOREM PROPERTY TAXES. RELATIVE THERETO WE NOTE THE THE TERMS
AND PROVISIONS CONTAINED IN THE ANNEXATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN
THE FOX METRO WATER RECLAMATION DISTRICT AND ORCHARD COMMONS
LLC RECORDED OCTOBER 10, 2008 AS DOCUMENT NO. R2008K078169 AND
CONTAINED IN ANNEXATION AGREEMENT RECORDED JUNE 23, 2020 AS
DOCUMENT NO. 2020K032958. NOT SURVEY RELATED.

LOCATION MAP
NOT TO SCALE

SITE

UTILITY STATEMENT
THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHOWN HAVE BEEN  LOCATED FROM FIELD 
SURVEY INFORMATION AND  EXISTING DRAWINGS.  THE SURVEYOR MAKES NO  
GUARANTEES THAT THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES  SHOWN COMPRISE ALL SUCH 
UTILITIES IN THE  AREA, EITHER IN SERVICE OR ABANDONED.  THE  SURVEYOR 
FURTHER DOES NOT WARRANT THAT  THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES SHOWN ARE 
IN THE  EXACT LOCATION INDICATED ALTHOUGH HE DOES  DECLARE THAT THEY 
ARE LOCATED AS  ACCURATELY AS POSSIBLE FROM INFORMATION  AVAILABLE.  
THE SURVEYOR HAS NOT PHYSICALLY  LOCATED THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.

811 or 1-800-892-0123

J U L I ECall
Know what's

R

below.
before you dig.

LEGEND
EXISTING LIGHT POLE
EXISTING ELECTRIC PEDESTAL
EXISTING TELEPHONE PEDESTAL
EXISTING SPRINKLER CONTROL VALVE
EXISTING SIGN
EXISTING TRAFFIC HANDHOLE
EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL
EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL MAST ARM
EXISTING SANITARY MANHOLE
EXISTING STORM CATCH BASIN
EXISTING STORM FLARED END SECTION
EXISTING STORM INLET
EXISTING STORM MANHOLE
EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT
EXISTING WATER BUFFALO BOX
EXISTING WATER VALVE
EXISTING WATER VALVE & VAULT
EXISTING FIBER OPTICS MARKER POST
EXISTING TELEPHONE MANHOLE
EXISTING POWER POLE
EXISTING GUY WIRE
PARCEL LIMITS
INGRESS EGRESS EASEMENT
EASEMENT
BUILDING SETBACK LINE
CENTER LINE OF RIGHT OF WAY

EXISTING CONCRETE PAVEMENT
EXISTING ASPHALT PAVEMENT

H.E. KANE COUNTY HIGHWAY EASEMENT
K.C.P.U.E. KANE COUNTY PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

P.U.E. VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA PUBIC UTILITY EASEMENT

EXISITING CONTOUR MAJOR 5 FOOT
EXISTING CONTOUR MINOR 1 FOOT

705
706

EXISTING SANITARY LINE
EXISTING STORM LINE
EXISTING WATERMAIN LINE

NOTES CORRESPONDING TO SCHEDULE B, PART TWO CONTINUED
12. SCHEDULE B ITEM 32: COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS CONTAINED IN THE LEASE TO
STARBUCKS CORPORATION AFFECTING THE ENTIRE SUBDIVSION AS DISCLOSED BY THE
MEMORANDUM OF LEASE RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 2021K079471 DESCRIBED BELOW:
LANDLORD SHALL NOT USE OR ALLOW ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY (EXCEPT TENANT) TOUSE
ANY PORTION OF THE SHOPPING CENTER FOR THE SALE OF (A) WHOLE OR GROUND COFFEE
BEANS; (B)ESPRESSO, ESPRESSO-BASED DRINKS, OR COFFEE-BASED DRINKS; (C) TEA OR
TEA-BASED DRINKS; OR (D) BREWED COFFEE. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING SENTENCE,
(A) OTHER TENANTS MAY SELL BREWED COFFEE OR BREWED TEA WHICH IS NEITHER (I)
GOURMET NOR (II) BRAND IDENTIFIED. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS LEASE, “GOURMET” SHALL BE
DEFINED AS (A) BEVERAGES MADE USINGARABICA BEANS OR (B) SOURCED FROM A GOURMET
COFFEE OR TEA BRAND SUCH AS COFFEE BEAN & TEA LEAF, INTELLIGENTSIA, PEETS, CARIBOU, OR
SIMILAR BRANDING. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS LEASE, “BRAND IDENTIFIED” SHALL MEAN
BEVERAGES ADVERTISED OR MARKETED WITHIN THE APPLICABLE RETAIL SPACE USINGA BRAND
NAME OR SERVED IN A BRAND-IDENTIFIED CUP, (B) OTHER TENANTS MAY SELL PRE-BOTTLED TEA
OR PRE-BOTTLED TEA-BASED BEVERAGES, (C) TENANT'S EXCLUSIVE USE RESTRICTION SET FORTH
HEREIN SHALL NOTAPPLY THE OPERATION OF A TACO BELL, BURGER KING, TROPICAL SMOOTHIE
CAFÉ, AND SMOOTHIE KING, AND (D) ANY EXISTING TENANT IN THE SHOPPING CENTER WITH A
LEASE WHICH PREDATES THE DATE OF THE LEASE (WHICH EXISTING TENANTS, WITH A
STATEMENT OF THEIR PERMITTED USE CLAUSES, ARE SET FORTH IN THE LEASE WHOSE LEASE
ALLOWS IT TO SELL ANY OF THE FOREGOING PRODUCTS SHALL NOT BE SUBJECT TOTENANT'S
EXCLUSIVE USE RESTRICTION SET FORTH HEREIN, IF AND TOTHE EXTENT THAT ANY SUCH
EXISTING TENANT IS PERMITTED BY ITS LEASE TO SELL ANY OF TENANT'S EXCLUSIVE USE ITEMS,
PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT WITH RESPECT TOTHE TENANTS SET FORTH IN THE LEASE,
LANDLORD AGREES THAT, TOTHE EXTENT LANDLORD HAS REASONABLE CONTROL OVER ANY
SUCH TENANT'S USE AND CHANGES IN USE, LANDLORD SHALL EXERCISE SUCH CONTROL TO
ENFORCE AND PROTECT TENANT'S EXCLUSIVE USE RIGHTS DESCRIBED HEREIN. OTHER THAN
TENANT AND ITS AFFILIATES, LANDLORD SHALL NOTALLOW ANY OTHER USE (BY LEASE OR
OTHERWISE), NOR ALLOW ANY OF LANDLORD'S AFFILIATES TO ALLOW ANY USE (BY LEASE OR
OTHERWISE), WITHIN THE SHOPPING CENTER AS A COFFEE SHOP OR ANY OTHER BUSINESS USE
WHICH HAS COFFEE SALES AS ITS PRIMARY USE.
AFFECTS SUBJECT PARCEL. NOT SHOWN ON SAID SURVEY.

13. SCHEDULE B ITEM 33: TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THE DECLARATION OF RECIPROCAL
ACCESS EASEMENTAGREEMENT AND USE RESTRICTIONS DATED AS OF JANUARY 20, 2022 AND
RECORDED JANUARY 24, 2022 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2022K004638 WHICH CONTAINS IN PART
EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS IN FAVOR OF TACO BELL AND STARBUCKS, FOR PARTICULARS SEE DOCUMENT.
AFFECTS SUBJECT PARCEL, NOT SHOWN ON SAID SURVEY. NO IMPROVEMENTS HAVE BEEN MADE
TO LOTS 1, 2 AND 4.

14. SCHEDULE B ITEM 34: TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF PRIVATE ROAD EASEMENT AND
MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 15, 2021 AND RECORDED NOVEMBER 17,
2021 AS DOCUMENT NO. 2021K0086729. AFFECTS SUBJECT PARCEL. SHOWN ON SAID SURVEY.

1 CLIENT COMMENT 3/8/2022



SCALE:

NORTH

1

SITE PLAN

3/32"-1'-0"

NOTE: SITE PLAN SHOWN FOR REFERENCE

ONLY AND TO BE PERMITTED UNDER

SEPARATE REVIEW.

A. SEE CIVIL FOR GRADING PLAN. SEE CIVIL

DRAWING FOR DEMOLITION, NEW

PAVEMENT, SITE UTILITIES, SIGNAGE AND

FINAL SITE DIMENSIONS.

B. SEE AS1.03 FOR ADDITIONAL SITE

DETAILS.

C. VERIFY THE EXISTENCE OF AND

PROTECT ALL EXISTING UTILITY LINES.

EXCAVATE WITH CARE.

D. INSTALL ADDRESS ON BUILDING AS

REQUIRED BY LOCAL CODE.

E. PROTECT ADJACENT SITE TO REMAIN

AND REPAIR ANY SITE WORK DAMAGED

BY CONSTRUCTION.

F. PROVIDE KNOX BOX ON REAR OF

PROPERTY, PER FIRE DEPARTMENT

REQUIREMENTS.

G. SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL

SITE SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS.

H. CLEAN LOT AFTER SITE WORK AND

AFTER CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION.

I. PROTECT ADJACENT PROPERTY.  ANY

DAMAGE IS TO BE REPAIRED AT

CONTRACTOR EXPENSE WITH

PERMISSION OF ADJACENT BUILDING

OWNER.  FOR EXAMPLE, IF SOD IS

DAMAGED IT WILL BE REPLACED AND

WATERED REGULARLY UNTIL

ESTABLISHED.

J. PROVIDE EXPANSION JOINTS IN

CONCRETE PAVING AND CURBS AS

REQUIRED BY MFGR SPECS, OR 30FT

SPACING WHICHEVER IS LESS. REFER TO

CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR MORE

INFORMATION AND DETAILS.

  

GENERAL NOTES:

NEW CONCRETE

1. ADA PARKING SIGN, REFER TO CIVIL.

2. LIGHT POLES, REFER TO PHOTOMETRIC

SHEETS.

3. PROPOSED MONUMENT SIGN. REFER TO

AS1.04

4. PROPERTY LINE.

5. TRASH ENCLOSURE, REFER TO AS1.03.

6. NEW FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION.

7. NEW FIRE HYDRANT REFER TO CIVIL PLANS

8. NEW CONCRETE SIDEWALK.

KEY  NOTES:

LEGEND:

1

8

'
-
6

"

2

4

'
-
0

"

1

8

'
-
6

"

2

5

'
-
0

"

7

8

'
-
0

"

8

 
S

T

A

L

L

S

 
@

 
9

'
-
0

"

6

3

'
-
0

"

7

 
S

T

A

L

L

S

 
@

 
9

'
-
0

"

8

0

'
-
0

"

9

 
S

T

A

L

L

S

 
@

 
9

'
-
0

"

2

5

'
-
6

"

4

3

'
-
6

"

2

4

'
-
0

"

1

8

'
-
6

"

1

2

'
-
0

"

6

'
-
0

 
1

/
4

"

5

'
-
0

"

2

7

'
-
2

 
3

/
4

"

3

'
-
3

 
3

/
4

"

8

'
-
0

"

2

'
-
0

"

1

5

'
-
0

 
7

/
8

"

5

'
-
1

0

 
1

/
2

"

8

'
-
0

"

N.I.C

3

5

'
 
B

U

I
L

D

I
N

G

 
S

E

T

B

A

C

K

2

3

'

 

B

U

I

L

D

I

N

G

 

S

E

T

B

A

C

K

3

5

'
 
B

U

I
L

D

I
N

G

 
S

E

T

B

A

C

K

2

5

'
-
6

 
7

/
8

"

4

1

'
-
5

 
1

/
2

"

2

5

'
 
K

A

N

E

 
C

O

U

N

T

Y

 
U

T

I
L

I
T

Y

 
E

A

S

E

M

E

N

T

1

0

'
 
K

D

O

T

 
H

I
G

H

W

A

Y

 
E

A

S

E

M

E

N

T

2

3

'

-

6

"

5

7

'
-
1

"

6

'
-
0

"

6

'
-
6

"

5

'
-
4

 
1

/
2

"

8

2

'
-
6

"

1

 
S

T

O

R

Y

 
M

A

S

O

N

R

Y

 
B

U

I
L

D

I
N

G

4

2

5

0

 
G

S

F

9

'
-
0

"

8

'
-
0

"

8

'
-
0

"

8

'
-
0

"

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2018 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

Vequity

226 N Morgan Street

Suite 300

Chicago, IL 60607

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

01/03/22 ISSUED FOR PERMIT

ALPHONSE A.

ILEKIS

01-8612

S

T

A

T

E

F

O

S

I

O

N

I

L

LI

AR

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

L

I

C

E

N

S

E

D

EXP.

11/30/2022

03/09/22 ISSUED PER FOX METRO

SITE PLAN

AS1.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
#

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS1.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
1



SCALE:

1

WEST ELEVATION

1/8"=1'-0"

SCALE:

2

EAST ELEVATION

1/8"=1'-0"

SCALE:

3

NORTH ELEVATION

1/8"=1'-0"

SCALE:

4

SOUTH ELEVATION

1/8"=1'-0"

NORTH

LITHONIA LIGHTING 11251BKT30 LED OUTDOOR

UP& DOWN LANTERN - BKT

12"H X 5"W X 6 1/2"H

MOUNTING HEIGHT: 7'-0"

O.C. AFF

TEXTURED

ARCHITECTURAL

BLACK

WALL SCONCE

BLACK

EMERGENCY

LIGHT

BLACK ANODIZED

STOREFRONT WITH 1"

INSULATED GLASS

BLACK ANODIZED

STOREFRONT

BLACK

2132-10

METAL DOORS

AND FRAME

BENJAMIN MOORE

METAL

CANOPY

SUPERSHADE BY MAPES

ARCHITECTURAL

CANOPIES OR APPROVED

EQUAL

OPEN CANOPIES. SEE

ROOF PLAN

BLACK ANODIZED

NORA LIGHTING OUTDOOR SLIM LED

EMERGENCY LIGHT WITH

PHOTOSENSOR

SF-1

MTL-1

C-1

FINISH LEGEND:

LIGHT SCONCE, SEE A2.01

AND ELECTRICAL SHEETS

T =  TEMPERED GLAZING

GENERAL NOTES:

1. SEE DRAWINGS A4.01, A4.02 AND A4.03, FOR

SPECIFICATIONS REGARDING THE EXTERIOR FACADE

MATERIALS.

2. ANY PRODUCTS PROPOSED FOR SUBSTITUTION ARE TO

BE SELECTED BASED UPON AVAILABILITY AND ARE

REQUIRED TO MATCH APPROVED MATERIALS IN COLOR,

FINISH AND QUALITY. CONSULT ARCHITECT AND SUBMIT

SAMPLES FOR ANY AND ALL SUBSTITUTIONS.

3. SEE WINDOW SCHEDULE FOR NOTE REGARDING

TEMPERED GLASS.

4. SUBMIT SAMPLES FOR ALL EXTERIOR MATERIALS AND

COLORS.

5. GC TO PROVIDE J BOX FOR ALL SIGNAGE

PAINTED HOLLOW

METAL DOOR

SECURITY EM

LIGHTING

BR-2 STONE

BASE

MC-1 METAL

COPING

BR-1

SOLDIER

COURSE

PRECAST

CONCRETE SILL

BR-1 QT

BLACK BRICK

PAINTED

HOLLOW METAL

DOOR

SECURITY

LIGHTING

C-1 MAPES

CANOPY

SUPERSHADE

MC-1 METAL

COPING

BR-1

SOLDIER

COURSE

PRECAST

CONCRETE SILL

BR-2 STONE

BASE

MC-1 METAL

COPING

BR-1

SOLDIER

COURSE

PRECAST

CONCRETE SILL

BR-1 QT

BLACK BRICK

BR-2 STONE

BASE

MC-1 METAL

COPING

PRECAST

CONCRETE SILL

FIRE

DEPARTMENT

CONNECTION

7
'
-
0
"

EQ.EQ.

EQ.EQ.

7
'
-
0

"

7
'
-
0
"

EQ.EQ.EQ.

C-1 MAPES

CANOPY

SUPERSHADE

HARVARD BRIK-RAIN

BLOCK-BY NORTHFIELD AN

OLDCASTLE COMPANY (OR

APPROVED EQUAL)

4"X8"X16"-SMOOTH FACE

& MONOTONE PALLETE

QT BLACK

SOLOMON COLORS:

TBD

BMI OR APPROVED EQUAL 950 TYPE S /W WATER

REPELLENT

BRICK

COLOR: TBD

MORTAR

CONTROL JOINT

 SEALANT

DOW CORNING DOW CORNING 790

METAL COPING
COLOR: MATTE BLACK PAC-CLAD PETERSEN

8"X8"X24"-SMOOTH

FACE POLISHED FINISH

TRADITIONAL

LIMESTONE

 COLOR

CORDOVA STONE-RAIN

BLOCK-ARTISAN SERIES-RAIN

BLOCK-BY OLDCASTLE (OR

APPROVED EQUAL)

STRUCTURAL

BRICK

SOLOMON COLORS:

TBD

BMI OR APPROVED EQUALMORTAR

COLOR: WHITECONTROL JOINT

 SEALANT

DOW CORNING DOW CORNING 790

950 TYPE S /W WATER

REPELLENT

BR-1

BR-2

MATERIAL SCHEDULE

MANUFACTURER TYPECOLORMATERIALLEGENDSYMBOL

SCALE:

5

COLOR RENDER

NTS

GREENWALL

TRELLIS

SYSTEM

GREENWALL

TRELLIS

SYSTEM G-1

        SPANDREL GLASS

GREEN

SCREEN

GREENSCREEN

G-1

        GREEN SCREEN

C-1 MAPES

CANOPY

SUPERSHADE

C-1 MAPES

CANOPY

SUPERSHADE

C-1 MAPES

CANOPY

SUPERSHADE

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

BLACK
GREENSCREEN TRELLIS

SYSTEM FOR WALL .

GREENSCREEN.COM

SPANDREL

GLASS

WINDOW.

SPANDREL

GLASS

WINDOW.

2'-0"

STONE VEER TO BE

GROUTED. GROUT TO

MATCH STONE VENEER.

SILVER SHORE

SCULPTED ASHLAR

CULTURE STONE

STONE

VENEER

SOLOMON COLORS:

TBD

BMI OR APPROVED EQUALMORTAR

COLOR: MATCH STONECONTROL JOINT

 SEALANT

DOW CORNING DOW CORNING 790

950 TYPE S /W WATER

REPELLENT

ST-1

ST-1

ST-1

LABEL DOOR WITH 4"

LETTERS SPRINKLER

ROOM

LABEL DOOR

WITH 4"

LETTERS ROOF

ACCESS

1
0
'
-
8
"

EQ.

SPANDREL

GLASS

WINDOW.

SPANDREL

GLASS

WINDOW.

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

BR-1

BR-1

BR-2

EM LIGHTING

EM LIGHTING

EXTERIOR COLOR

ELEVATIONS

BUILDING-1

A3.01

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2018 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

Vequity

226 N Morgan Street

Suite 300

Chicago, IL 60607

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

01/03/22 ISSUED FOR PERMIT

ALPHONSE A.

ILEKIS

01-8612

S

T

A

T

E

F

O

S

I

O

N

I

L

LI

AR

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

L

I

C

E

N

S

E

D

EXP.

11/30/2022

03/09/22 ISSUED PER FOX METRO

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEY PLAN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
21'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
21'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
A.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
21'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
A6.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
A4.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
1



LEGEND:

BOND BEAM -REFER TO STRUCTURAL

FOR MORE INFORMATION

SOLID GROUT - REFER TO

STRUCTURAL FOR MORE

INFORMATION

NOTE:

GC TO COORDINATE FINAL LOCATION OF THE

BOND BEAM WITH STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS.

GC TO INSTALL BLOCK FLASHING ABOVE ALL

BOND BEAMS. REFER TO WALL SECTIONS A4.02

AND A4.03

SOLID GROUT ONE CELL EACH SIDE OF THE

MASONRY CONTROL JOINT, TYPICAL AT ALL

CONTROL JOINTS.

SOLID GROUNT EACH SIDE OF THE OPENING.

REFER TO STRUCTURAL.

SCALE:

1

WEST ELEVATION

1/8"=1'-0"

SCALE:

2

EAST ELEVATION

1/8"=1'-0"

SCALE:

3

NORTH ELEVATION

1/8"=1'-0"

SCALE:

4

SOUTH ELEVATION

1/8"=1'-0"

NORTH

COORDINATE SOLID

GROUT LOCATION WITH

JOIST BRIDGING ON

FINAL APPROVED JOIST

SHOP DRAWINGS,

TYPICAL

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2018 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

Vequity

226 N Morgan Street

Suite 300

Chicago, IL 60607

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

01/03/22 ISSUED FOR PERMIT

ALPHONSE A.

ILEKIS

01-8612

S

T

A

T

E

F

O

S

I

O

N

I

L

LI

AR

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

L

I

C

E

N

S

E

D

EXP.

11/30/2022

03/09/22 ISSUED PER FOX METRO

EXTERIOR

ELEVATIONS BOND

BEAM LOCATIONS

A3.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O STOREFRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
21'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
21'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O SILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
23'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
A.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
CJ

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
EL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/O PARAPET

AutoCAD SHX Text
21'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEY PLAN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1



PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

PO
S

DISPENSING
(12 POS)

PROCESSING
300 sf

SECURED VAULT/
NIGHT STORAGE
700 sf

INVENTORY
CONTROL
90 sf

MECH

EXIT 

DISPENSING SALES FLOOR
1,550 sf

MECH

29'-4" 6'-4" 7'-6"

57
'-2

"

45'
-0"

7'-2" 14'-2"

SUPPLY
150 sf

ENTER

UNISEX

12'-0" 8'-4"

SECURITY
IT
125 sf

EMPLOYEE
BREAK ROOM &
LOCKERS

18
'-0

"

9'-0"7'-2"

54'-1"

6'-6" 21'-0" 26'-7"

28'
-10

"

16'
-3"

23
'-2

"

12
'-6

"
10

'-8
"

REF

GM OFFICE
130 sf

UNISEX JAN

AT
M

FLOOR PLAN

s c a l e : 1 / 8 " = 1 ' - 0 "

NORTH AURORA, ILINOIS

NORTH AURORA, IL 60542
2080 WEST ORCHARD ROAD

19 may 2022

50 1 2 10 20

N



 

1 

 

 VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 

July 5, 2022 
 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Commissioner Tom Lenkart called the meeting to order. 

 

ROLL CALL 

 

In attendance: Commissioners Aaron Anderson, Anna Tuohy, Scott Branson, Richard Newell, 

Doug Botkin, Tom Lenkart and Mark Bozik. 

 

Not in Attendance: Chairman Mike Brackett and Commissioner Alex Negro  

 

Staff in attendance: Community & Economic Development Director Mike Toth and Planner 

David Hansen 

  

Also in attendance: Village Attorney Kevin Drendel  

   

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

1. Approval of Plan Commission Minutes dated May 3, 2022 

Motion for approval was made by Commissioner Bozik and seconded by Commissioner Newell. 

All in favor.  Motion approved. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

1. Petition #22-04: The petitioner, Pharmacann, Inc, requests a Special Use to allow an 

Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization on the property located at 2080 West 

Orchard Road in North Aurora, Illinois. 

 

Commissioner Tom Lenkart called the public hearing to order.  

 

Community and Economic Director Mike Toth introduced Petition #22-04. The petitioner is 

requesting a special use to allow an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization at 2080 West 

Orchard Road in the Orchard Commons Subdivision located at the northwest corner of Oak Street 

and Orchard Road. Toth shared currently there is no building on the property so the building and 

site plan is not under question this evening. The building was approved as part of Petition #21-06 

in 2021 as part of the PUD amendment for Orchard Commons/Orchard Acres development, which 

consist of a four lot subdivision. The hearing and meeting tonight is only regarding the special use. 

Presently, the building’s shell permit is in for permit right now with the Village. Toth mentioned 

tonight is the Plan Commission public hearing where the Plan Commission listens to the presented 

information, provides feedback and gives a recommendation to the Village Board. Toth clarified 

there is no final decision tonight, but the Plan Commission will provide a recommendation. The 

recommendation is then forwarded on to the Village Board for discussion and eventually for final 

consideration. The Board meetings are not publicly advertised with signage or adjacent property 



 

2 

 

owner letters as a public hearing is. Toth noted the Village Board meets on the first and third 

Monday of each month and the Board packets are typically posted on the Village website the 

Friday before the meeting.  

 

The petitioner, Brandon Nemec (Government and Regulatory Affairs Director of Pharmacann Inc) 

presented Verilife’s special use relocation application. Talar Berberian, with the law offices of 

Thompson/Coburn out of Chicago, introduced Brandon Nemec and represents Pharmacann. Also 

in attendance from Pharmacann included Monte Spiers, Senior Transaction Manager, and Pete 

Courlas, Project Manager. Berberian mentioned all four are available to answer any questions 

anyone may have.  

 

Brandon Nemec shared Pharmacann is the parent company to Verilife. Verilife is currently 

operating at 161 S. Lincolnway in North Aurora and is a medical and adult-use recreational 

cannabis dispensary. Nemec mentioned Pharmacann is here tonight to present a special use 

relocation request for the existing dispensary to move to 2080 W. Orchard Rd. Nemec’s 

presentation included detailing the history of Verilife’s dispensary in North Aurora, the proposed 

relocation of the new dispensary’s site plan and floor plan details, the purpose of relocating to a 

larger site, how the new site would include a redesigned floor space to improve patient customer 

flow and improve efficiencies to avoid bottlenecks that are currently taking place at the current 

site, any state laws Pharmacann operations are subject to, and Verilife’s security plan.  

 

Nemec shared in 2015, Verilife received one of the first Illinois State licenses to serve medical 

cannabis to patients through the Compassionate Use program. In 2015, the Village approved 

Verilife’s medical cannabis dispensary use, which is located at 161 S. Lincolnway Suite 302 on 

the second floor. In June of 2019, the State of Illinois passed the adult-use cannabis law called the 

Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act. Prior to sales commencing for adult-use, the Village approved 

the colocation dispensary sales use at the 161 S. Lincolnway site, which allowed the dispensary to 

serve the existing medical patient base as well as new recreational adult-users 21 and over. In 

January of 2020, adult-use sales commenced at the site. In 2021, the State law changed and now 

allows dispensary’s to relocate. When adult-use sales commenced Verilife started to serve a much 

broader consumer base. Verilife will continue to serve medical patients and by law are required to 

do so and prioritize medical patients. Nemec said medical patients are the core reason why the 

company was founded. Currently, the dispensary has four point of sales (POS) terminals, which is 

the same number of POS terminals originally setup for medical sales when the site opened in 2015.  

 

Nemec added Verilife’s current location has a bottleneck, which creates congestion for the 

identification, verification and security checks at the entryway. This entryway is where Verilife 

verifies if the consumer has a medical patient card or is of age, if an adult recreational user. Verilife 

also verifies identity again at the point of sale. Verilife has conducted hundreds of thousands 

transactions over the past couple of years. Nemec said the redesign they are proposing to the Plan 

Commission today will allow everyone to spread out, which was difficult to do at our current site 

during the pandemic. As part of the redesign Verilife is proposing twelve (12) POS terminals for 

a much faster customer throughput, which would increase efficiencies and flow for customers and 

patients both entering the site and the building. 

 

Nemec mentioned the proposed location has been submitted to the State upon passage of the new 

state law in 2021. The proposed site would be a new build out at 2080 W. Orchard Rd, which 



 

3 

 

would be a one floor build out, single tenant floor retail space, surrounded by other commercial 

developments at the Northwest Corner of Oak St and Orchard Rd. The site is readily accessible 

off of Oak St. and Madison St, which would allow patients and customers to enter the facility and 

park. The site plan includes 24 dedicated parking spaces. Verilife’s current location is under 2,000 

square feet, but the new proposed build out would be 4,250 square feet. The new site would have 

a sales floor of approximately 1,550 square feet with 12 POS terminals. Verilife’s hours of 

operation would be 8am to 9pm Sunday through Saturday and 9am to 9pm on Sunday, which are 

the same hours as the current site. 8am to 9am Monday through Saturday are reserved for medical 

patients only and allows for inventory to be prioritized for medical patients and time for 

consolation to better aid treatment. Currently this Verilife location provides 25 full time living 

wage jobs. The new larger site would increase the employee base by approximately five employees 

for a total of 30 full time employees. The proposed site plan would also include reserved medical 

parking spaces, which is currently implemented at the current site. The proposed site would have 

24 dedicated parking spaces compared to the current site of a shared parking lot with multiple 

businesses. Nemec explained the site plan and floor plan layout which included a security 

checkpoint within the first five to seven feet into the building and a restricted access area for 

employees. The proposed site will have a restricted access entry area for deliveries to be dropped 

off directly into a secured vault area. Nemec showed internal and external renderings from other 

Verilife Illinois dispensaries (Rosemont and Galena), which he said included benign medically 

focused signage. Nemec said Verilife signage only shows their name and logo and doesn’t use 

flashy signage, try to cater towards children or use provocative marketing in any way.  

 

Nemec said security cameras are utilized and monitored 24 hours a day, 7 days a week by a third 

party security and remote access is provided to state regulators and state police at any time. Nemec 

also mentioned exterior lighting is located around the entire facility to deter and detect any bad 

actors should they show up to the facility. Nemec added customer service and patient care 

representatives will meet anyone to help facilitate orders, help educate customers on dosage, 

product types, and provide substance abuse information. Nemec shared building elevations and 

explained all glass must be tinted, screened and shatterproof and the inside can’t be seen from the 

outside due to state law. Nemec also shared the security requirements Verilife follows, which he 

said meets and exceeds the terms required by State law. Nemec shared other security info, which 

includes 24 hour security, how every square inch is covered, and the entire external perimeter of 

the building as well as the parking lot is covered and monitored 24/7/365. Data retention is kept 

for 90 days and will coordinate with local law enforcement if there is a need. Nemec also said 

cameras can see license plates and faces up to 100-150 feet away an emergency buttons are located 

throughout the facility. Nemec said Verilife utilizes Metro One, a security company, for 

onsite/perimeter security and will continue to work with local law enforcement to establish a 

relationship. Nemec explained the inventory process, how the delivery schedule is randomized, 

how delivery vehicles are unmarked, and how the inventory is placed directly in a secured vault. 

Nemec mentioned there is a preorder option, which requires ID verification during pickup. 

Berberian said the store hours mentioned in the staff report appear to be incorrect. The hours of 

operation are 8am to 9pm Monday through Saturday and 9am to 9pm on Sunday’s.  

 

David Hansen shared in 2019, when zoning text amendments for various cannabis uses and 

definitions went before the Plan Commission and Village Board, five use standards for adult-use 

cannabis were also discussed and adopted. The five use standards for adult-use cannabis include: 

dispensaries  must comply with the State of Illinois Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act and any 



 

4 

 

amendments to the act, a maximum of two (2) adult-use cannabis dispending organizations are 

allowed to be located in the Village of North Aurora, Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing 

Organizations shall be located a minimum of one thousand (1,000) feet from the property line of 

any school grounds, public playground, public recreation center, child care center, public park, 

public library, or game arcade to which admission is not restricted to persons twenty-one (21) years 

of age or older located in the Village of North Aurora, on-site consumption of cannabis shall be 

prohibited, Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organizations shall be located a minimum of one 

thousand five hundred (1,500) feet from the property line of any pre-existing Adult-Use Cannabis 

Dispensing Organization located in the Village of North Aurora.  

 

Hansen said upon review of Verilife’ s special use application, Pharmacann meets all five adult-

use cannabis use standards outlined in the zoning ordinance, which were mentioned above. Hansen 

also said a cannabis dispensing organization is only allowed one license at a time and would need 

to move with that license to the new facility and close the existing site to satisfy the licenses 

requirement per State law.  Toth shared that in 2019 when the Plan Commission was discussing 

the topic of cannabis, there was discussion about allowing an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing 

Organization as a permitted use with use standards or a special use with use standards. The zoning 

text amendment was ultimately adopted as a special use with use standards. Toth said regardless 

if the use was a permitted or special use, the use standards would still apply since they would be 

the standards for this particular use.  

 

Commissioner Lenkart asked if the Plan Commission had any questions for the petitioner. 

Commissioner Mark Bozik asked what the ratio of medical vs recreational consumers is for the 

existing facility. Nemec said about 1/3rd of sales go towards medical patients currently. 

Commissioner Scott Branson asked how much tax revenue the dispensary brings in annually for 

the Village and if there was any police activity since the site opened. Nemec mentioned since 

Verilife is the only dispensary in the Village, giving exact tax revenues would disclose our annual 

revenue since it’s an exact 3% based off the tax the Village receives so the information is deemed 

confidential. Nemec did say the sales are very strong and the projected tax revenues are 

approximately between $300,000 and $500,000 annually that come back to the Village. Nemec 

said with the current dispensary at 2,000 square feet  and the proposed one just over 4,000 square 

feet, it would be difficult to find another location that brings in that type of tax revenue on an 

annual basis at that small of a footprint. Nemec mentioned there is a substantial State tax applied 

to adult-use sales and not medical sales that runs about 40% and dispensaries throughout the State, 

last year alone, brought in upwards of $380 million and a portion of that is disbursed back to local 

government units. Nemec also said, to the best of our knowledge, there has been no police calls, 

but will check on that and get back to staff as soon as possible. Commissioner Branson asked if 

there was any security guards on site during the operational hours. Nemec said on-site security 

shows up a half an hour before store opening and will stay until the dispensary closes and cameras 

will monitor the site after hours.  

 

Commissioner Anna Tuohy asked what Pharmacann’s consumer demographic typically is and why 

this location would better serve that demographic. Nemec said a 1/3rd of our sales would be for the 

medical demographic and the remaining demographic would be all age ranges over 21, which 

would include the remaining 2/3rd of sales. Nemec mentioned there is no pinpoint demographic 

Verilife serves since it ranges from people in their 20’s all the way into their 70’s. Nemec said the 

location would be more accessible to consumers, not just by thoroughfare and a separate parking 



 

5 

 

not shared by other tenants, but also having a readily accessible location that is conveniently 

located next to other commercial retail and everyday shopping throughout the Village.  

 

Commissioner Lenkart asked how many of the 24 parking spaces on the site plan would be used 

by employees during regular business hours. Nemec said there will be seven employees on-site on 

an average day and if there is a holiday (Christmas, 4/20 cannabis holiday, etc.) up to nine 

employees may be on site which leaves 15 parking spaces for customers and patients. Nemec 

believes that is an ample amount of parking for the customer and patient base since there should 

be a faster throughput with the new store redesign. Commissioner Lenkart mentioned that the first 

few months Verilife was open for recreational sales there was a lot of traffic control problems. 

Commissioner Lenkart asked if this will be a larger facility with 24 parking spaces, is there going 

to be a parking issue again and is there security going to be outside again to ensure people are 

moving in and out quickly and not parking in adjacent business lots or on the road. Toth added in 

January of 2020 when recreational sales began it was a chaotic, but this dispensary was one of the 

first dispensaries to open in the area and has since quieted down. Toth added at the current site at 

161 S. Lincolnway there is a lot of parking, but there are multiple businesses including the VA 

center which uses a bulk of the parking behind the building adjacent to the river. According to the 

police, we haven’t really had any incidents that staff is aware of. Commissioner Lenkart asked 

who controlled the traffic light frequency for the intersection at Orchard Rd and Oak St. Toth said 

the County would control it since they own Orchard Rd. Commissioner Lenkart was concerned of 

a backup due to all the developments that are currently being built in that area. Toth said each 

property pays a traffic impact fee to the County based on the use of the property, which can be 

relooked at in the future should it become an issue. Toth also said there are 24 parking spaces on 

the site and that the Village zoning code only requires 17 parking spaces due to it being a retail 

establishment, which by code requires 4 spaces per 1,000 square feet.  

 

Jason Lloyd (2157 Bartram Rd. in Tanner Trails Subdivision)  

Lloyd mentioned he appreciates what Pharmacann is trying to do, but has mixed feelings on the 

relocation and does not use their product. Lloyd said he is a 14-year army veteran who is disabled 

and goes to the Aurora VA clinic, which shares the current building at 161 S. Lincolnway with 

Verilife. Verilife has had an impact with access for veterans going to their appointments and 

parking is limited due to the dispensary. Lloyd mentioned the 17 parking spaces for the new site 

would be less than what is at their current site, which still has traffic issues. Lloyd is in favor in 

the relocation since the dispensary is a nuisance to the veteran community; however, their proposed 

area is in a family-friendly area and 30% of Tanner Trails have children and minors living in it. 

Lloyd said families were happy about Starbucks and Taco Bell going in near that location, but are 

now concerned Verilife will have a negative impact to that area and are terrified of the cannabis 

use proposing to go into the site. Lloyd mentioned he has 22 years’ experience as a deputy and is 

still currently serving. Lloyd is concerned this use will bring crime to the area and feel the users 

of the product bring a threat to the peacefulness of the area. Lloyd mentioned his children walk 

from Tanner Trails across Deerpath through that property to get to Woodman’s and Mcdonald’s. 

Lloyd was concerned about the increase in traffic for the use and how it will disperse cars down 

Deerpath Rd and into subdivision, which will be used as a cut through. Lloyd mentioned a traffic 

light would need to be required at Tanner and Deerpath or vehicle and pedestrian accidents will 

occur because the use creates a traffic issue for the future. Lloyd is concerned the increase in floor 

space will lead to more traffic, parking and police issues. Lloyd mentioned many police-related 

issues in the Village would not happen if the dispensary did not draw the demographic into the 



 

6 

 

area and is afraid the same would happen at the new proposed location. Lloyd said he thinks the 

attraction is a nuisance to his subdivision. Lloyd said the reason security is that high is because the 

use has a history of violent crime happening at these facilities and is a key reason it is required by 

state law. Lloyd cited a quote from a previous review (source and location unnamed), that suggests 

crime tends to increase in areas of medical and recreational dispensaries by 26% to 1,452% than 

compared to subdivisions with no commercial marijuana activity. Lloyd is concerned the location 

is one street away from his neighborhood. Lloyd said Tanner Trails has a total population of 18,363 

people. Lloyd said the location is prime for something good for our community and is not Verilife’s 

only option. Lloyd said the location they are proposing is the subdivisions only route to get to the 

places they want to get too safely and would like to do it without traffic and attracting criminals to 

the area, not saying all clients are criminals, but that is why security is needed because of the crime. 

Lloyd said there are 2,178 homes in Tanner Trails that have children and many will be going to 

Taco Bell, but next door there will be armed guards protecting the dispensary. Lloyd said the use 

would be a detriment to the area and it’s located practically in my neighborhood and will tarnish 

the area regardless what stores are next to it and is not a benefit to the community.  

 

Lloyd continued and said the only serves a spotted amount of people around the community and 

the new location will bring everyone to that spot. Lloyd added a park isn’t the only impact zone in 

the buffer map, but any residential neighborhood is too and the code should be redefined to say 

any residentially populated area is an impact zone. Lloyd mentioned a drug deal that went bad in 

the Woodman’s parking lot and is concerned drugs will spill over into the surrounding 

neighborhoods with this use. The current dispensary location is not near a residential area. They 

need to move from their current location, but this site is not the place. Lloyd was concerned the 17 

spots for parking are not enough since the current site takes up the entire VA parking lot. Lloyd 

said the 4/20 holiday is the criminal code for cannabis and made a national joking holiday because 

it’s the criminal code and that’s when people went out and got it and did it in defiance of law and 

order. Lloyd was unhappy that a professional person even mentioned what 4/20 is and said his kids 

know it in elementary school because it’s such a joke. Lloyd said the use will still be a nuisance 

on a larger property and the current site has an armed person on the sidewalk letting people pass 

and walk in while traffic is backed up on Route 31. Lloyd shared data from the Chicago Police 

Department, which shows that there are 19 licensed dispensaries and a combined 13 of them had 

attempted burglaries since recreational cannabis sales opened in 2020 and I don’t want that in my 

neighborhood. Lloyd also quoted the Journal of Studies for Alcohol and Drugs, which states 

dispensaries can be at risk for property crimes, such as burglary, and employees of dispensaries 

can be at risk for violent crimes such as robbery and assault. Lloyd said why are we putting a target 

in my neighborhood? Lloyd requested to have the Village grant Verilife’s request to move from 

their current location due to being a nuisance to the VA, but also deny the proposed location 

Verilife is seeking since it is a threat to my family and neighborhood and the tax revenue is not 

worth it.  

 

Village Attorney Kevin Drendel clarified the issue before us is a zoning issue and the Village does 

not have the authority to approve their relocation, that’s a state issue, all we have in front of us is 

to entertain the application based on the zoning standards the Village has and we need to focus on 

those standards. Lloyd said the standards for an impact zone needs to be adjusted since his personal 

residence will be impacted by this.  

 

Wes Jaros (2863 Leonard Ln. in Tanner Trails Subdivision) 



 

7 

 

Jaros said he is a newer resident that moved into the Village about two years ago and would be 

considered part of the grandparent demographic. Jaros said Tanner Trails is mainly a family 

residential area and we are one of the fewer empty nesters who live there. I have no children here 

that would be affected and am here as a concerned resident and want what is best for all children 

in town. Tanner Trails is the closest subdivision located to this site. Jaros said he can appreciate 

the remedy cannabis might have as a cure to anything that ails an individual, but has always been 

opposed to legalizing it for recreational use. Jaros mentioned state by state has been capitulating 

legalizing cannabis mainly due to the money and said think of the impact of marijuana on 

individuals. Jaros shared data (no source mentioned), that 30% of people become addicted to the 

product, and marijuana has 50% more benzaprine and 75% more benzathine than cigarette smoke, 

which is nasty stuff for people to put in their bodies. Why does the Plan Commission want to 

forward their recommendation to the Board that would make this product more accessible and the 

location more visible to the young people in our community? Jaros said this should be in an area 

that is commercially zoned and people passing by cannot see it unless they are looking for it. A 

high visible site is no place for a product that only 20 years ago, no one thought of legalizing 

marijuana in this country. Jaros said cannabis sales appear to be between $300,000 to $500,000 

and was wondering if that number has been verified. Jaros provided articles about funding for 

cannabis sales and said that a majority of revenue goes down to Springfield and only 6 to 8% go 

into the local government distributive fund. Jaros said traffic flow area is a concern since there are 

two left turn lanes on Orchard Rd, which can only turn on green arrows even though there is a lot 

of site line visibility. Jaros was concerned that the toll road at Orchard Rd is in close in proximity 

to the dispensary proposed site and will increase traffic in the area and will make the area more 

congested especially turning right onto Deerpath. Jaros asked to verify the tax revenue coming to 

the Village since the dispensary revenue has none going to public schools although that’s the 

number one ticket item on our tax bills. Jaros asked why the Commission would recommend to 

vote yes when this use can adversely affect the youth in our community.  

 

Malora Carson (3039 Elleby Ct. in Lake Run Estates Subdivision) 

Carson mentioned that she felt the proposal/notification was posted very late, in very small print, 

and added she didn’t know this hearing was going to be today until last week and why was it 

chosen to have the hearing on a holiday weekend. Carson said this gave me no time to rally my 

neighbors or anyone in Tanner Trails to be here tonight. Carson said this area is the primary 

residential area filled with children of all ages and is hugely impactful. Carson said she understands 

this company has been part of the community for a few years, but this is not the location. Carson 

said although a security plan is in place their location needs to be closer to the Police Station. 

Carson added if Verilife wants more traffic, they are right off I-88 in their current location with an 

industrial area right by it, out of site and not impacting families. Carson said traffic is already bad 

in this area and turning right onto Deerpath from Oak St is already tough and people get cut off. 

Carson mentioned that part of the land, on the corner, should be family friendly for all ages and 

not just a spot for ages 21 and over because it sends the wrong message. Carson said I understand 

marijuana has been voted on and is legal, even though I don’t believe of the benefits of a 

recreational usage, but this is the wrong location in this community for it. I don’t think Verilife 

will lose any clients if it is tucked away since medical clients need it and will find it and recreational 

users will seek it out as well regardless where it is located.  

 

 

Rich Szaflik (2224 Schrader Ln. in Tanner Trails Subdivision) 



 

8 

 

Szaflik shared his concern regarding the increase in employees and customer base and if the 

parking they are proposing is enough. Szaflik said medical was highlighted in their presentation, 

but only 1/3rd of the customer base is medical and this is more for a recreational move than from a 

medical standpoint. Szaflik also asked staff to look into their revenues to ensure the Village is 

receiving the maximum amount of tax dollars for this use. 

 

Toth mentioned the property is zoned commercial and located in the B-2 General Business District. 

Nemec said Pharmacann appreciates the feedback provided and wanted to say we are not claiming 

there won’t be traffic associated with the site and are up here for the purpose of moving to a new 

location to mitigate against the problems we are currently experiencing, which are congestion and 

bottlenecks in service.  He anticipates the new location will have a better access and thoroughfare 

to our customers and patients. Nemec said they understand there are members of the community 

who will not come to the site and who do not use cannabis recreationally or believe in its medical 

benefits. Nemec added the State has voted on and decided recreational cannabis is legal in Illinois 

and the Village has already approved the use at our other site for recreational cannabis. In regards 

to the ancillary impact concerns to the surrounding community, our site has been highly secured 

and monitored by third-party security, internal security and on-site security since its inception. 

Nemec said the security is not a new practice or something the state mandated based on any crime 

problems. Verilife has been monitoring our employees as well to ensure there is no bad behavior. 

To our knowledge there has been no nuisance on or around our property since its inception seven 

years ago as medical and in 2020 when it became a collocate site.  

 

Nemec said there are longitudinal studies from jurisdictions (no source provided) that have had 

adult-use recreational cannabis sales for a much longer period of time that shows there is a positive 

benefit to the surrounding crime in the community from legal, regulated and highly secured sales 

that mitigate against any of the examples brought out. Nemec added that one of the residents 

mentioned the illegal drug deal that took place and this is exactly what a safe and regulated 

cannabis market is designed to prevent against. Nemec also added positive foot traffic and highly 

secured facilities mitigate against crime on and around the facility and property values in the 

surrounding areas do go up when there are cannabis dispensaries located in the community. Nemec 

said in regards to the question about tax revenue, the prominent tax revenue will fall between the 

$300,000 to $500,000 range. Nemec also said this revenue is generated from a special adult use 

tax created by the State, in which the Village adopted at the inception of the adult use and takes 

3% of adult use revenues directly into the Village coffers for reinvestment into the community. 

Toth mentioned he spoke with the Finance Director and can’t give out exact numbers, but the range 

is accurate between $300,000 to $500,000 based on the Village’s 1.5% sales tax and the additional 

3% sales tax on adult-use cannabis the Village adopted in 2020.  

 

Commissioner Richard Newell asked if there is room for expanded parking for the site since it 

appear that is one of the primary concerns. Nemec said they will use the maximize parking spaces 

on site and no plans for expanded parking. Nemec mentioned he checked with the District Manager 

and the only time that police was called to our facility, at 161 S. Lincolnway, was to assist with a 

customer that needed emergency response since he felt faint and needed police assistance.  

 

Commissioner Tom Lenkart closed the public hearing.  

 



 

9 

 

Commissioner Lenkart thanked the audience for their comments and concerns. Commissioner 

Lenkart mentioned the Village only has a limited authority and cannot discuss if we are for or 

against cannabis since that was already decided by the State. Commissioner Lenkart added the 

facility is located in a proper business district and question becomes if the special use meets the 

special use standards according to Village code. Commissioner’s vote in favor or against the use 

and are not the final decision makers. The Plan Commission is an advisory board that listens to 

petition first, looks at the petition through our zoning code and passes our comments onto the 

Village Board. We understand traffic issues can arise and we can share that concern with the 

Village Board, but they get to make the final decision. Lloyd asked if the community has the 

opportunity to rebuttal like the petitioner did. Commissioner Lenkart mentioned although public 

hearing was closed, the lady in the crowd could ask her question.  

 

Sandra Pendzinski (942 Wilkinson Lane in Orchard Estates Subdivision) 

Pendzinski shared she has lived in North Aurora for 22 years, has three children of all ages and 

her biggest concern was the dispensary will be located next to the other uses, Taco Bell and 

Starbucks, where children will riding their bikes to. Pendzinski said she was fine with Verilife 

moving, but feels this is the wrong location. Pendzinski had a concern about people at the other 

location loitering and standing around in the area waiting for transportation, people, and perhaps 

money since she has noticed that when she goes to the bike store nearby. Pendzinski also was 

concerned about the violence and safety in that area and the mentioned the armed robbery in Dixon 

that ended up getting off at Orchard Rd and went into her subdivision. The site altogether will be 

adding traffic to the community and believe this should be a family restaurant or something family 

friendly. Pendzinski said her family has been proud members of the community since 2000 and 

would like to uphold the aesthetics of the community.  

 

Village Attorney Drendel said the audience should be given the opportunity to rebuttal, but should 

be focused on what was being said in response and be limited to new information. Jason Lloyd 

mentioned from a financial impact, Verilife already has the finances and don’t need to move to the 

new proposed location. Lloyd said security was brought up again and they keep saying how 

amazing it is. Any establishment that requires that level of security does not belong at a location 

directly outside a residential area. Lloyd mentioned although this is a commercial zone and we are 

looking at the special use permit, I think it should be put it in another location, not an area where 

my kids are welcome to go to and an area that is family friendly. Lloyd continued this is not a 

family friendly use and will be a nuisance to the businesses already there or going in and anything 

with this level of security should raise concern. Commissioner Lenkart mentioned to please keep 

comments to the petitioner’s rebuttal. Berberian mentioned security was not put in place for any 

criminal activity and simply gave in depth details since it was a concern mentioned by multiple 

audience speakers. Lloyd mentioned every time he hears a block party is going to have security it 

always ends up being a problem. Lloyd said that level of surveillance and security shouldn’t be 

bragged about and this use will kill any businesses looking to go in that area since we won’t go 

and we will be trapped due to the traffic congestion it will cause in that area.  

 

Jaro’s added even though it’s zoned commercial, the Plan Commission role is to plan functionally 

for North Aurora. A cannabis dispensary doesn’t fit into this area with multiple restaurants and a 

grocery store in such close proximity. There are other locations in the Village that are more viable. 

The northbound Orchard Rd left two lanes are going to be filled with people going to the 



 

10 

 

dispensary and I ask everyone to visit that area if you haven’t already to see how the traffic at that 

intersection currently operates.  

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Petition #22-04: The petitioner, Pharmacann, Inc, requests a Special Use to allow an 

Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization on the property located at 2080 West 

Orchard Road in North Aurora, Illinois. 

 

Commissioner Doug Botkin mentioned he has spoken extensively with a few police officers in the 

community as well as the two former police chiefs and there has been no indications of criminal 

issues. Commissioner Botkin said he is an engineer and I have not seen any data that this is causing 

a criminal problem. Commissioner Botkin added I respect the opinions expressed here tonight and 

understand the issues, but I am inclined to proceed forward. Commissioner Mark Bozik mentioned 

tonight is the first part of the process, which looks at the Village’s zoning code to see if the use 

meets the standards and ordinances that are in place. The Village Board makes the final 

determination if a dispensary should located there.  

 

Commissioner Richard Newell had no additional comments. Commissioner Scott Branson 

mentioned the Village can only do so much and asks the petitioner to exhaust all other potential 

locations and take a look at them since this location doesn’t make much sense. Commissioner 

Branson shared his sons are both medical customers who don’t have seizures anymore and said he 

believes in their product. Commissioner Branson added however there are better locations in the 

Village for this business than what is being proposed.  

 

Commissioner Aaron Andersen thanked the residents for coming out and for the nice presentation 

by the petitioner. Commissioner Andersen mentioned he has been on the Plan Commission for 

years and voted in favor for creating the zoning to allow for the medical dispensary and expanding 

the site to include adult use recreational space as well. Commissioner Andersen added I understand 

you are a business in our community and the Village has this process as a special use to consider 

your request in relation to what else is happening in the area in real-time. The fact of matter is we 

have had recent developments in this general geographic area that is much more driven towards 

all residents and age groups in the Village. I live a mile from here, I am not worried about an 

increase in crime and have been to your dispensary on Route 31. I have five kids and council them 

on alcohol and drugs as a parent should. Commissioner Andersen said with more residential 

development coming to the north I don’t think this is the right spot and will vote no.  

 

Commissioner Anna Tuohy mentioned traffic is absolutely a concern here especially the 

northbound lane on Orchard Rd turning west onto Oak St. Commissioner Tuohy also said as part 

of the comprehensive plan pedestrian mobility is mentioned and I don’t see this business use 

helping with that. Commissioner Tuohy added that the buffer map indicates there are other location 

options in the Village and I will not be in favor of this.  

 

Village Attorney Drendel mentioned the standards for a Special Use are part of the application and 

the vote to approve or not approve should be made in regards to those standards. Toth mentioned 

there are specific use standards for Adult-Use Cannabis as well as the general special use standards. 



 

11 

 

Toth added the Plan Commission should be looking at it through the standards for a special use 

that are part of the application and there are eleven (11) of them. Village Attorney Drendel 

mentioned there are no one standard that is controlling and the Plan Commission can weigh them 

all to see if they meet or do not meet the standards. Village Attorney Drendel added not all 

standards need to be voted on, but calling out the standards that are not unanimously agreed upon 

would be helpful for making a motion to vote for or against.  

 

Commissioner Tuohy read the eleven special use standards out loud, which included: 1. The 

proposed special use is, in fact, a special use authorized in the zoning district in which the property 

is located. 2. The proposed special use is deemed necessary for the public convenience at that 

location. 3. The proposed special use does not create excessive additional impacts at public 

expense for public facilities and services, and will be beneficial to the economic welfare of the 

community. 4. The proposed use is in conformance with the goals and policies of the 

Comprehensive Plan, and all Village codes and regulations. 5 .The proposed special use will be 

designed, located, operated, and maintained so as to be harmonious and compatible in use and 

appearance with the existing or intended character of the general vicinity. 6 .The proposed special 

use will not significantly diminish the safety, use, enjoyment, and value of other property in the 

neighborhood in which it is located. 7. The proposed special use is compatible with development 

on adjacent or neighboring property. 8. The proposed special use minimizes potentially dangerous 

traffic movements, and provides adequate and safe access to the site. 9. The proposed special use 

provides the required number of parking spaces and maintains parking areas, in accordance with 

the requirements of this Ordinance. 10. The proposed special use is served by adequate utilities, 

drainage, road access, public safety, and other necessary facilities. 11. The proposed special use 

conforms with the requirements of this Ordinance and other applicable regulations. 

 

Motion for approval of a special use to allow an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization was 

made by Commissioner Botkin and seconded by Commissioner Anderson. Vote: Tuohy – No, 

Anderson – No, Lenkart – Yes, Branson – No, Newell – No.  Bozik – Yes, Botkin – Yes. Motion 

failed 4-3. 

 

The Plan Commission members who voted no on the special use cited the following Standards for 

Special Use not being met:  

 

2. The proposed special use is deemed necessary for the public convenience at that location. 

 

6.  The proposed special use will not significantly diminish the safety, use, enjoyment, and   

value of other property in the neighborhood in which it is located. 

 

8.  The proposed special use minimizes potentially dangerous traffic movements, and provides                                                      

adequate and safe access to the site. 

 

Commissioner Lenkart mentioned the next step includes the petition being presented to the Village 

Board. The Village’s website will have the meeting dates and agendas. The Trustees will have the 

Plan Commission’s recommendation vote and comments to review. The petitioner, staff and 

audience will all have the opportunity to speak at the meeting. The Village Board has the final say 

on this matter. Village Attorney Drendel added people submit applications for zoning approval to 

the Village. The Village does not choose the applications that come in front of it. The Village 



 

12 

 

simply receives those applications, processes them, which includes the Plan Commission 

conducting a hearing to allow for an opportunity for the audience to address the subject and allow 

the Plan Commission to make a recommendation to the Village Board. The Board will not have 

another hearing, but there will be other opportunities to speak, which includes audience comments 

on the agenda. Village Attorney Drendel added an item will usually go to two meetings in which 

the Village Board is present; the Committee of the Whole for discussion, and another Village 

Board meeting for a final consideration with a vote.  

 

OLD BUSINESS – None 

 

PLAN COMMISSIONER COMMENTS AND PROJECT UPDATES 

Toth provided an update on Petition 22-03 (Sullivan Road/Smoke Tree Plaza Industrial 

Development). Toth mentioned the petition was received favorably by the Village Board at a 

Committee of the Whole meeting, but has not gone to final consideration yet. The Sullivan Road 

entrance is still being discussed by the developer and the City of Aurora.  

 

Toth also mentioned that the Dairy Barn, which currently has a location in Oswego, is currently 

planning to develop a restaurant in Randall Highlands by The Turf Room.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Motion to adjourn made by Commissioner Bozik and seconded by Commissioner Tuohy.  All in 

favor.  Motion approved. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

Jessica Watkins 

Village Clerk 



Mr. Michael Toth
Director, Community and Economic Development
Village of North Aurora
25 E. State Street
North Aurora, IL 60542

July 20, 2022

Re: Relocation of Verilife Cannabis Dispensary to 2080 W. Orchard; Special-Use Permit
Application

Director Toth,

I write on behalf of PharmaCann, Inc. to provide supplemental information in support of our
application for a special-use permit authorizing the relocation of our existing operation to a more
suitable retail location at 2080 W. Orchard Road in North Aurora.

From the first days of our operation in North Aurora, there have always been limitations in site
layout and design with our current dispensary property at the medical office space at 161 S.
Lincolnway. As such, we believe that a relocation to an appropriate commercial retail area in
the near term is not only warranted, but a necessity. Simply, the current site design and store
layout does not serve the best interests of our patients and consumers, our business, or the
Village.

We will always remain mindful of concerns that certain North Aurora residents may have about
the presence of legal cannabis sales within the Village, particularly those who are unaware
about the substantial steps that we have taken every day since we opened our doors in 2015 to
maintain secure operations, prevent access to non-patient minors, and support revenues and
resources for local community endeavors. We view this as an opportunity to not only address
community concerns with objective data points and demonstrated experience, but also to
educate the greater community about our safe business practices and the regulated cannabis
market as a whole.

After seven years of safe operations in North Aurora, we are grateful for the ongoing and
transparent communication that we have with the Village. Please do not hesitate to contact us
with any further questions as you consider our application for a special use permit to relocate at
2080 W. Orchard Road in North Aurora.

Best regards,

Brandon Nemec
Government and Regulatory Affairs Associate
PharmaCann Inc.



I. Impacts on Nearby Residential Properties

As you know, Verilife began operating in North Aurora at the inception of the Illinois medical
cannabis program in 2015. At that time, the Village took a chance and granted Verilife
permission to begin serving medical patients at our current 161 S. Lincolnway location. In 2019,
the Village enacted its adult-use ordinance and granted Verilife permission to also begin serving
adult-use customers age 21 and over at our site. Though we worked to address traffic and
congestion issues in the first few weeks of January 2020 following the launch of adult-use sales,
to date our dispensary operations have not negatively impacted quality of life or public safety in
their communities.

The distance to residential properties at our current location (161 S. Lincolnway) is substantially
similar to the distance between residential properties at our proposed site for relocation (2080
W. Orchard Road). With seven years of sales transactions securely serving hundreds of
thousands of cannabis patients and consumers, there is no reason to believe that our highly
regulated and secure business operations will result in a different experience for the residents
near our proposed facility at 2080 W. Orchard.

Aligned with the purpose of our application to relocate, the proposed location at 2080 W.
Orchard is far better suited for our retail operations, and will further ensure that our reputation as
a quiet and safe operation will continue. The location is placed on the furthest border lot from
nearby residential uses within the commercial development, separated by a brewery and three
planned retail locations that include food service and coffee. A major thoroughfare at Deerpath
Road and large hop farm also provides a buffer from residential developments to the west, and
major thoroughfares on Orchard Rd to the east. The site will have a designated and direct
vehicular access point on Madison Street (off of Oak Street), but is not designed to facilitate
pedestrian or bicycle traffic, as there are no sidewalks on the major thoroughfares leading to the
property.

In other words, with a dedicated lot at the proposed new construction and investment into 2080
W. Orchard Road, we will continue to operate out-of-sight and out-of-mind to those who do not
desire or are not authorized to patronize our dispensary.

In Illinois, we also operate two other dispensaries that are directly adjacent to residential
developments: Verilife Arlington Heights and Verilife Schaumburg. Like our North Aurora
dispensary, these locations have operated without significant incident or issue with nearby
residents collectively for several years. Importantly, these locations are also sited within
traditional retail commercial developments suitable for their intended purpose, like the proposed
2080 W. Orchard Road site under our special-use application.

Specifically, our Verilife Arlington Heights location originally served adult-use consumers under a
20-month pilot program, in which the Village of Arlington Heights scrutinized all local impacts
generated from the addition of adult-use cannabis sales at our dispensary. Like in North Aurora,
we are the only dispensary to operate in the Village of Arlington Heights. Upon successful
conclusion of the pilot program and the award of our business license, Arlington Heights
conducted a thorough examination of parking, traffic congestion, crime reports, and the impact

1



on local businesses and communities. The Village of Arlington Heights determined that our
store did not cause disruption or nuisance-related issues to the local community, and that our
dispensary conducted operations at a professional, exemplary standard for others to emulate.

Arlington Heights

1816 Arlington Heights Rd (Arlington Heights Rd & Golf Rd)

● Medical and adult-use cannabis dispensary located adjacent to nearby residential
developments:

○ Heritage Park Residences (NW),

○ Prairie Park Residences (NE), and

○ The Residences at Arlington Heights (SE)

● Located within a commercial retail development akin to the proposed location at 2080 W
Orchard.

● Has been operating without incident as the Village’s sole medical dispensary since 2018,
and adult-use dispensary since 2020.

2



Schaumburg

Verilife Schaumburg - 150 Barrington Rd (Corner of Barrington & Schaumburg Rd)

● Adult-use cannabis dispensary adjacent to residential developments on all sides, and
has been operating without incident since 2021.

○ Linden Park Residences (NW);

○ Belle Park Residences (SW);

○ Veterans Park Residences (NE); and

○ Pembroke Park Residences (SE)

3



North Aurora (current location)

161 S. Lincolnway

● Verilife currently operates a medical and adult-use dispensary in North Aurora at a
property adjacent to significant residential development to the northwest, without
negative impacts or reports from nearby residents.

● The distance to residential units from our current location is substantially similar to the
distance between residences at our proposed location (2080 W. Orchard).

● Verilife North Aurora has been in operation since 2015 as a medical cannabis
dispensary, adding adult-use sales in 2020.

4



Proposed Commercial Development Plan with Surrounding Uses

● The image below shows the commercial development plan for our proposed relocation
property, along with the intended new properties that will be constructed within the
proposed development property. This is a multi-million dollar new construction project in
the Village of North Aurora, not renovation of existing structures.

● Currently, a brewery is located north of the development. Between our proposed
dispensary location and the nearest residential property, three additional retail operations
will be constructed.

● The proposed location at 2080 W. Orchard is not designed to facilitate pedestrians or
bicycles to the property, as none of the surrounding major thoroughfares have sidewalks
or are heavily-traveled by bike or pedestrian traffic (Deerpath Road, Orchard Road, Oak
Street). Regardless, our security team will monitor our premises and verify age at the
sole public access point, continuing to prevent access to our facility by non-patient
minors under the age of 21 as we have done since 2015.

5



● Our signage is intended to be understated in nature, not attractive to minors, and our
dispensary windows contain shatterproof, tinted film to prevent unauthorized minors from
seeing into the store premises.

II. Parking Accommodations

At Verilife, we work to ensure a seamless and efficient experience. The 2080 W. Orchard site
will contain 24 dedicated parking spaces for the combined medical and adult-use cannabis
dispensary. The 24-spot parking accomodation was designed intentionally when we selected
this site for relocation. In short, it does not serve our dispensary’s business operations to select
a site with inadequate parking, which would only frustrate our customers and diminish the
commercial opportunity.

We operate a highly efficient customer throughput using an online pre-ordering system. Our
technology platform allows our patients and customers to make a product selection through their
mobile phone, computer, or by phone, and reserve a time slot. As such, we have the ability to
manage reservation times in order to prevent congestion from forming within the dispensary,
and to prevent parking spots from becoming unavailable.

Because patients and customers are now familiar with the product types they wish to purchase,
the use of online pre-ordering has become the predominant method by which our transactions
are executed. The vast majority of our purchases are made through online pre-ordering, at
apoproximately 70% at the North Aurora location.

Following an online order, the patient or customer arrives at the chosen time slot, and upon
verification of their identification, age, (and patient status, if applicable) via an electronic scan,
he or she will proceed to the point-of-sale. Upon a second identification check and verification
of the order by the customer service representative, the transaction is complete. The entire
transaction can take 1-2 minutes to complete.

The efficiency of our customer throughput at the 2080 W. Orchard Road location will be
enhanced by the store design and layout. The current dispensary at 161 S. Lincolnway was
designed only to accommodate our medical patient base. Our current premises1 requires
patients and customers to traverse several flights of stairs, contains narrow bottlenecks at the
security checkpoint, and only has four point-of-sale stations available to process transactions.

In contrast, our newly designed site will reduce friction and the potential for lines to form at
either point with the availability of additional point-of-sale stations. In sum, the primary purpose
of our relocation is to allow for our staff to have a true commercial retail environment to process
transactions more efficiently, and reduce the opportunity for lines or congestion within the
dispensary. In turn, we can spend more time on patient consultations, process pre-orders
quickly, and create a better overall consumer experience.

1 Notably, the 161 S. Lincolnway office property is also home to two houses of worship.

6



The enhanced efficiency provided at 2080 W. Orchard Road makes 24 dedicated parking
spaces more than ample to serve our patrons. On average, we project the following
transactions in North Aurora:

● 50-60 transactions per hour during peak times (Thursday and Friday afternoons and
early evenings, and midday Saturday), and

● 30-40 transactions per hour during non-peak times

With the vast majority of our transactions occurring by online ordering in a 1-2 minute
transaction, customers and patients move in and out of our parking spots very quickly. With the
benefit of the online ordering system and newly redesigned store layout, the 24 dedicated
parking spots will be more than sufficient to manage our throughput.

To provide some supporting data points from Verilife Arlington Heights, during the pilot program,
the staff of Arlington Heights commissioned a thorough 18-month parking study and analysis at
one-month, six-month, and one-year intervals. The Verilife Arlington Heights store is
approximately 4,800 s/ft, and operates as a medical and adult-use cannabis dispensary, similar
in size and nature to the proposed 2080 W. Orchard Road site. The parking and traffic study
determined that our site adequately managed patient and customer throughput, with the
following metrics:

● Saturday midday - 36 “trips” or parking spots utilized within the hour

● Weekday midday - 35 “trips” per hour

● Weekday evening - 32 “trips” per hour

Again, with the vast majority of our transactions occurring via pre-orders akin to restaurant
takeout orders, the 24 dedicated parking spaces at 2080 W. Orchard will be more than sufficient
during our busiest transaction times.

When compared to the peak business times of a fast-casual restaurant that conducts
higher-volume sales, our dispensary’s operations mitigate against congestion and traffic issues
at the proposed development. A popular U.S. burrito chain restaurant publicly stated that
transactions during peak business at lunch or dinner run an average 120 transactions per hour,
and can run up to as high as 300 transactions per hour at its busiest locations. By comparison,
our dispensary’s operations have just a fraction of this impact on local traffic and parking.

We are in the process of having a more detailed traffic and parking analysis prepared for the
2080 W. Orchard site, and will follow up with more specifics in the coming days.

7



III. Verilife North Aurora is a Regional Destination for Medical Cannabis Sales

Verilife North Aurora is already a regional destination for medical cannabis sales. We operate
as one of only 55 dispensaries in the State of Illinois serving medical patients. Regionally, the
closest two dispensaries only serve adult-use consumers, not medical patients. As a result,
medical patients make up approximately 30-35% of our dispensary sales.

Our proposed location at 2080 W. Orchard Road will continue to ensure that North Aurora is
even more accessible to medical patients in the region. Once we are relocated to a genuine
commercial development complex, we will realize additional ancillary revenue to nearby
business, and help support the overall North Aurora business community.

IV. Cannabis Consumer Profile

Questions were raised at our Commission hearing on demographic breakdowns of our
consumers and patients. To provide an overview of some statistical data on the consumer
profile of legal cannabis sales by age, gender, and annual income, national data reporting
agencies provide information about cannabis consumers that purchase within the legal market.
These figures are consistent with the types of consumers that frequent Verilife North Aurora

(Source: New Frontier Data, “Current Consumers, Demographics 2021”):

● Age

○ 37% are under the age of 35 years old

○ 63% are over the age of 35 years old

■ Of this portion, 21% are over the age of 55 years old

● Gender

○ 46% female, 53% male

8

https://newfrontierdata.com/cannabis-analyst-reports/


● Annual Income

○ 54% have an annual household income greater than $50,000

■ 24% have an annual income of $100,000 or more

Source: New Frontier Data, “Cannabis Consumers, Demographics 2021”

Additionally, the Illinois Department of Public Health publishes non-identifying medical cannabis
patient data by age and gender. Medical patients make up approximately one-third of our sales
at Verilife North Aurora, and have always been our focus since first beginning as a medical
dispensary in 2015. (Source: IDPH Medical Cannabis Program Annual Report 2021)

In the table below, on the whole, females (blue) outnumber males (green) in the medical patient
program, 56% to 44%. 93% of medical patients are over the age of 30, and 58% are over the
age of 50.

9

https://dph.illinois.gov/content/dam/soi/en/web/idph/publications/idph/topics-and-services/prevention-wellness/medical-cannabis/2021%20Medical%20Cannabis%20report.pdf


V. Verilife Positively Impacts the Local Community

Verilife North Aurora provides a positive impact on the local community, which will only be
enhanced by relocating within a commercial environment that suits the retail nature of our
business.

● We provide good-paying, living-wage jobs with full benefits to our employees; this
includes healthcare, dental, PTO, and 401K benefit options.

○ Throughout our tenure in North Aurora, we have employed nearly 100 local staff
members. Currently, we employ 24 individuals at the current site, and with the
approved relocation, we expect to make five additional full-time hires.

● Verilife generates sustained and meaningful direct sales revenue for the Village.

○ While we cannot reveal our exact local revenue breakdown as it would be
deemed confidential business information, we estimate that the North Aurora
location will generate approximately $500,000 in local and cannabis sales taxes
annually for the benefit of the Village.

○ In total, since inception, we have generated over $1.5 million in direct tax
revenues to the Village, and an additional $1.7 million in revenue to Kane County.
These local revenues are predominantly generated from the municipal and
county cannabis retailers’ taxes applied to adult-use sales.

○ Currently, we project a 25% increase in municipal adult-use sales tax revenues
from the relocation to a more accessible retail-oriented location with greater
efficiency in operations.

○ In addition are material state tax revenues that are generated from cannabis
sales. In 2021 alone, $387 million in state tax revenues were generated from
cannabis sales, with 8% allocated to local government redistribution. Cannabis
sales are also being reinvested in meaningful grant programs and construction
projects that build youth facilities, job training, violence prevention, and
substance abuse and mental health centers focused on opioid cessation.

Permitting our relocation to a more accessible site will ensure that these meaningful revenues
continue forward for the benefit of the Village.

We recognize the pivotal importance of operating as a good business member. Over the past
several years, we have provided approximately 63 hours of education and patient outreach in
the community. We have contributed 16 hours of volunteer participation in local cleanup efforts,
including within Gregory Island Park.

10



VI. Our Security Plan and Personnel are a Deterrent to Crime

Verilife fosters a culture of compliance to Illinois and local law and regulations. We follow strict
security, inventory, and facility management protocols to ensure the safety of our premises and
patients. We act as good business members working closely with local officials and law
enforcement, and as a result, further enhance the safety of the community in the vicinity of our
dispensaries - we do not detract from it.

With seven years of lawful and compliant business operations, our track record within the
Village demonstrates that our security plan is sufficient to maintain safe operations and deter
bad actors. Our dispensary is not a target for criminal activity, and has not been for the better
part of a decade.  This is due to our stringent adherence to security and safety protocols.

We work to closely monitor the premises at all times and ensure that no associated loitering or
criminal activity occurs at or near the location. Our dispensary cameras and security system are
in constant communication and remotely accessible to both state police and state regulators.
These safe and secure practices will only be enhanced with a dedicated property and parking
area for our single dispensary, rather than a shared multi-unit premises.

Overview of Our Security Protocols

● Our state-of-the-art cameras cover every square inch of the dispensary and the entire
perimeter of the building, and record continuously with motion-activated sensors.

○ Regulators are provided remote access to cameras and monitor employees to
ensure strict compliance with regulations and protocols.

○ Local law enforcement can pull retained video at any time -- with sophisticated
perimeter lights, cameras, and security personnel, these facilities act as a
deterrent to crime within the vicinity.

● Internal and external security personnel monitor the premises and surrounding area at all
times during operational hours.

● Facilities have access controls at every point of ingress and egress, logging the key card
of the individual granting access.

○ Patients are only permitted in limited access areas following an ID scan;
restricted access areas are for authorized personnel only, and require key card
access.

● The facility contains 24/7 emergency and duress alarms for use by our staff to contact
local law enforcement immediately in the event of an emergency.

● We utilize shatter-proof windows, and products are stored in reinforced vaults that model
DEA standards for storage of criminal evidence.

11



● Each patron is required to undergo an electronic security check-in, with identification
verification to verify age and patient status.

● Each dispensary utilizes a “seed-to-sale” inventory tracking system with a unique
product identifier for every single product that comes within the custody of the
dispensary.

○ Inventory logs are reviewed daily, with results sent to the state, accounting for
every single product in the dispensary by management and regulators on a daily
basis.

○ An explanation and “inventory adjustment” is required to the state for even slight
inventory errors, making it impossible for the unexplained diversion or loss of
product in our custody when combined with the opportunity for review of camera
footage.

With our intentionally-designed building construction, security personnel and equipment, and
safe business practices, it is no surprise that the North Aurora location has not been the target
of criminal activity since its inception in 2015. This holds true across our dispensary footprint in
communities similar to North Aurora. Our security plan works, and will be even more effective in
a traditional retail setting at 2080 W. Orchard Road.

VII. Relocation Options Are Extremely Limited

State regulations require us to remain within our medical district for purposes of relocation.
State law also bars us from relocating outside of the boundaries of our host community. In
addition, North Aurora maintains setbacks or “buffer zones” from sensitive areas such as
schools or daycares. As such, we have conducted an extremely thorough search of the
available commercial retail sites in North Aurora.

Over the past year, we have surveyed seventeen (17) properties for potential relocation. The
proposed relocation site at 2080 W. Orchard remains the only viable option that we have
identified that meets local and state requirements for relocation, and is suitable for a retail use of
our size.

While the options for suitable sites may have been limited, the dedicated site with ample
parking, redesigned floor layout, and accessibility to major thoroughfares within a commercial
development make this an ideal space for our operations. Approval for this relocation best
serves the interests of the Village and our business.

12



VIII. Conclusion

The Verilife dispensary has operated safely and securely within the Village for seven years.
During our tenure, we have immediately addressed any and all concerns of local Village
officials, police, and community members since we began operating in 2015. We continue to
value the Village’s ongoing dialogue with our business management and staff. There is no
reason this dialogue will not continue at our new site.

Our local track record shows our ability to operate within a newly designed retail-oriented site
without disruption or negative impacts on the local community. We have achieved a similar
experience in retail corridors at similarly situated dispensaries across Illinois, and in other
communities across our eight state footprint. Our medical focus, management team, security
protocols, and strict adherence to regulatory compliance should leave no question as to the type
of business practices that the Village can expect upon relocation to an appropriate retail
environment for our customer and patient capacity.

After an exhaustive search of the limited, available properties that meet local setback
requirements and state regulations, we made an intentional decision to invest millions into a
new buildout at 2080 W. Orchard Road in North Aurora, with architectural designs that will
improve our operations, customer throughput, and traffic flow. The location between two major
thoroughfares, ample parking, site layout, and security features will only enhance our ability to
continue safe and quiet operations within North Aurora. Our proposed relocation is much better
suited on all fronts for our business, our patients and customers, and the Village as a whole.

We believe that this investment will pay dividends for our business and the Village. We intend
to remain a long-term business and community member for many years to come.

Appendix:  Recent Studies On Dispensary Community Impacts

In consideration of continuing to allow cannabis sales and its associated community impacts,
North Aurora does not have to make a routine relocation decision, like the present one, based
on conjecture or anecdote. North Aurora has allowed lawful, state-legal, and licensed cannabis
sales within its municipality for seven years, with the most recent two-and-half years of that time
allowing adult-use sales. Our track record is already evident, with fears of the unknown at the
outset of legal cannabis sales never having come to fruition.

Moreover, longitudinal data and research now demonstrate that the many fears expressed at
the inception of legal cannabis sales have not manifested. In fact, in many cases, the data
shows that creating a highly regulated and secure marketplace for cannabis has beneficial
impacts on the local community.

The studies below are provided only to further enlighten Village officials on the impacts already
experienced within North Aurora – that legal, regulated cannabis dispensaries do not become a
target or contribute to criminal activity, cannabis-related traffic incidents and DUIs do not

13



increase, teen use remains unaffected or even declines, and substantial positive economic
development can result from the presence of state-legal cannabis sales.

With our proposed relocation, North Aurora should continue to expect only an ongoing
sustained revenue stream, local job creation, and the availability of a legal access point for
lab-tested, unadulterated cannabis products to patients and adult-use consumers in a highly
secured environment.

● Crime Impacts

○ Appalachian State University Department of Economics; Smoke and Fears: The
Effects of Marijuana Legalization on Crime (October 2021)

■ We estimate significant reductions in violent crime rates in states that
legalize medicinal marijuana. Moreover, we find evidence that ending
marijuana prohibition results in larger reductions in violent crime rates in
states that border Mexico and in urban counties. We also find evidence
that medical marijuana legalization reduces property crimes, with larger
reductions in states that border Mexico. Our results indicate that when
this heterogeneity is not accounted for the total effect of medical
marijuana legalization on crime is underestimated.

○ Regional Science and Urban Economics (September 2019) - Not in My
Backyard, Not So Fast. The Effect of Marijuana Legalization on Neighborhood
Crime.

■ The results imply that an additional dispensary in a neighborhood leads to
a reduction of 17 crimes per month per 10,000 residents, which
corresponds to roughly a 19 percent decline relative to the average crime
rate over the sample period.

○ Journal of Urban Economics (July 2017) - The Impact of Dispensary Closures on
Crime.

■ Contrary to popular wisdom, we find an immediate increase in crime
around dispensaries ordered to close relative to those allowed to remain
open. The increase is specific to the type of crime most plausibly deterred
by bystanders, and is correlated with neighborhood walkability. We find a
similar pattern of results for temporary restaurant closures due to health
code violations. A likely common mechanism is that ‘eyes upon the street’
deter some types of crime.

○ Rand Corporation (May 2018) - Exploring the Effects of Marijuana Dispensary
Laws on California Counties.

■ The results suggest no relationship between county laws that legally
permit dispensaries and reported violent crime… These results are

14

https://econ.appstate.edu/RePEc/pdf/wp2112.pdf
https://econ.appstate.edu/RePEc/pdf/wp2112.pdf
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S016604621830293X?via%3Dihub
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S016604621830293X?via%3Dihub
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S016604621830293X?via%3Dihub
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5703207/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5703207/
http://ftp.iza.org/dp11567.pdf
http://ftp.iza.org/dp11567.pdf


consistent with some recent studies suggesting that dispensaries help
reduce crime by reducing vacant buildings and putting more security in
these areas.

○ Leafly (May 2019) - Debunking Dispensary Myths

■ Using street-level data from cities including Sacramento, Washington,
DC, and Los Angeles, studies suggest that licensed cannabis
dispensaries have no impact, or an insignificant effect, on various kinds of
crime (Zakrzewski, 2019; Brinkman, 2017).

● Impact on Property Values

○ Clever Real Estate - 2021 Study: How Legalizing Recreational Marijuana Impacts
Home Values

■ From 2017 to 2019, home values increased $6,338 more in states where
marijuana is legal in some form, compared to states that haven’t legalized
marijuana.

■ As states tax marijuana sales for the first time, the increased revenue
drives new investment in things such as public services and infrastructure
— which in turn drives higher demand in real estate, higher property
values, and greater revenue from property taxes.

■ On average, home values increase by $470 for every $1 million increase
in tax revenue.

■ States that have legalized and allowed sales of recreational marijuana
see the biggest increases in home values.

■ We found that cities with more dispensaries are positively correlated with
higher home values, suggesting legalization boosts jobs and economic
growth.

● Home values increased $22,090 more in cities with recreational
dispensaries, compared to home values in cities where
recreational marijuana is legal but dispensaries are not available.

● With each new dispensary a city adds, property values increase
by $519.

○ CATO Institute (July 2018) - The External Effects of Retail Marijuana
Establishments on House Prices.

■ Our results indicate that retail conversion has a large positive effect on
neighboring property values after controlling for property attributes and

15

https://www.leafly.com/news/politics/debunking-dispensary-myths
https://www.realestatewitch.com/marijuana-study-2021/
https://www.realestatewitch.com/marijuana-study-2021/
https://www.cato.org/sites/cato.org/files/pubs/pdf/research-brief-122.pdf
https://www.cato.org/sites/cato.org/files/pubs/pdf/research-brief-122.pdf


neighborhood characteristics. We find that after the law went into effect,
single-family residences close to a retail conversion (within 0.1 miles)
increased in value by approximately 8.4 percent relative to houses that
are located slightly farther from a conversion (between 0.1 miles and 0.25
miles).

● Impacts on Traffic Collisions / DUI

○ ResearchGate (May 2022) - Marijuana Legalization and Truck Safety: Does the
Pineapple Express Damage More Pineapples?

■ Using a state-level panel of heavy truck crash statistics from 2005 to 2019
and a difference-indifference estimation strategy, we test whether
legalization has affected the crash rates of heavy trucks. Our results show
that legalization does not increase average crash rates. Crash responses
are heterogeneous across states, with Vermont and Washington showing
large crash reductions, while Nevada shows a large increase in crashes.
These results suggest that heavy truck accidents are not closely related
to marijuana legalization.

○ Journal of Health Economics (June 2022) - Medical Cannabis and Auto
Accidents, Evidence from Auto Insurance

■ Employing a modern difference-in-differences framework and zip
code-level premium data from 2014 to 2019, we find that premiums
declined, on average, by $22 per year following medical cannabis
legalization. The effect is more substantial in areas near a dispensary and
in areas with a higher prevalence of drunk driving before legalization. We
estimate that existing legalization has reduced health expenditures
related to auto accidents by almost $820 million per year with the
potential for a further $350 million reduction if legalized nationally.

○ Sage Journals (January 2022) - Societal Costs and Outcomes of Medical and
Recreational Marijuana Policies in the United States: A Systematic Review

■ MMLs and RMLs do not generate negative outcomes in the labor market,
lead to greater criminal activity, or reduce traffic and road safety

○ Journal of Drug & Alcohol Dependence: Canada’s cannabis legalization and
drivers’ traffic-injury presentations to emergency departments in Ontario and
Alberta, 2015-2019 (September 2021)

■ Utilizing provincial emergency department (ED) records (April 1,
2015-December 31, 2019) from Alberta and Ontario, Canada, we
employed Seasonal Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average
(SARIMA) models to assess associations between Canada’s cannabis
legalization (via the Cannabis Act implemented on October 17, 2018) and

16

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/360974075_Marijuana_Legalization_and_Truck_Safety_Does_the_Pineapple_Express_Damage_More_Pineapples
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/360974075_Marijuana_Legalization_and_Truck_Safety_Does_the_Pineapple_Express_Damage_More_Pineapples
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hec.4553
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hec.4553
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/10775587211067315
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/10775587211067315
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0376871621005032
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0376871621005032
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0376871621005032


weekly provincial counts of ICD-10-CA-defined traffic-injury ED
presentations. For each province (Alberta/Ontario), SARIMA models were
developed on two driver groups: all drivers, and youth drivers (aged 14-17
years in Alberta; 16-18 years, Ontario).

■ Implementation of the Cannabis Act was not associated with evidence of
significant post-legalization changes in traffic-injury ED visits in Ontario or
Alberta among all drivers or youth drivers, in particular.

○ American Surgeon - Marijuana Legalization and Rates of Motor Vehicle Crashes
Due to THC and Alcohol (February 2021)

■ A retrospective analysis of data collected at trauma centers in Arizona,
California, Ohio, Oregon, New Jersey, and Texas between 2006 and 2018
was performed. The percentage of patients testing positive for marijuana
tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) was compared to the percentage of patients
driving under the influence of alcohol (blood alcohol level >0.08 g/dL) that
were involved in an MVC. The change in incidence of THC detection
(percentage) over the time period where data were available are as
follows: Arizona 9.5% (0.4 to 9.9), California 5.4% (20.8 to 26.2), Ohio
5.9% (6.7 to 12.6), Oregon 3% (3.0 to 6.0), New Jersey 2.3% (2.7 to 5.0),
and Texas 15.3% (3.0 to 18.3). There did not appear to be a relationship
between the legalization of marijuana and the likelihood of finding THC in
patients admitted after MVC. In fact, in Texas, where marijuana remains
illegal, there was the largest change in detection of THC. There was no
apparent increase in the incidence of driving under the influence of
marijuana after legalization.

● American Journal of Public Health - Crash Fatality Rates After Recreational
Marijuana Legalization in Washington and Colorado (August 2017)

○ A study analyzing vehicle fatality rates in Colorado and Washington over
the three years following adult use cannabis legalization found no
statistically significant difference in crash fatalities when compared to
control states without recreational cannabis.

● Adolescents and Teen Use

○ Colorado Department of Public Health (June 2022) - Healthy Kids Colorado
Survey Data

■ CDPHE found that just over 13 percent of those students surveyed said
that they’ve used marijuana in the past 30 days. Compare those figures to
nearly 20 percent in 2013, when the department’s biennial survey
launched shortly after recreational marijuana legalization occurred in the
state.

17

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0003134821995053
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0003134821995053
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5508149/
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5508149/
https://www.marijuanamoment.net/teen-marijuana-use-dropped-dramatically-in-colorado-in-2021-state-study-finds/
https://www.marijuanamoment.net/teen-marijuana-use-dropped-dramatically-in-colorado-in-2021-state-study-finds/


○ Journal of Adolescent Health (May 2022) - Trends in Alcohol, E-Cigarette, and
Non-prescribed Pain Reliever Use Among Young Adults in Washington State
After Legalization of Nonmedical Cannabis

■ Contrary to concerns about spillover effects, implementation of legalized
nonmedical cannabis coincided with decreases in alcohol and cigarette
use and pain reliever misuse. The weakening association of cannabis use
with the use of other substances among individuals ages 21–25 requires
further research but may suggest increased importance of
cannabis-specific prevention and treatment efforts.

○ Substance Use and Addiction (September 2021) - Association of Marijuana
Legalization With Marijuana Use Among High School Students, 1993-2019

■ Using data from the YRBS for the period 1993-2019, this study provides
updated estimates of the association between legalization and adolescent
marijuana use… In the fully adjusted models, medical marijuana law
(MML) adoption was associated with a 6% decrease (OR, 0.94; 95% CI,
0.89-0.98) in the odds of current marijuana use and a 7% decrease (OR,
0.93; 95% CI, 0.87-0.99) in the odds of frequent marijuana use...
Consistent with estimates from prior studies, there was little evidence that
RMLs or MMLs encourage youth marijuana use. Contrary to results of the
study by Anderson et al2 the overall association between RML adoption
and marijuana use among adolescents was statistically indistinguishable
from zero.

○ Journal of Substance Abuse and Treatment (December 2020) - Treatment
Admission for Opiods, Cocaine, and Methamphetamines Among Adolescents
and Emerging Adults After Legalization of Recreational Marijuana

■ A public health concern stemming from recreational marijuana legalization
(RML) is the idea that marijuana may act as a “gateway” drug among
youth and young adults, where growing marijuana use will lead to
increasing substance use disorder (SUD) for “harder” illicit drugs… RML
in Washington and Colorado was not associated with an increase in
adolescent or emerging adult SUD treatment admissions for opioids,
cocaine, or methamphetamines.

○ Journal of Experimental Criminology (April 2021) - Is marijuana really a gateway
drug? A nationally representative test of the marijuana gateway hypothesis using
a propensity score matching design

■ Results from this study indicate that marijuana use is not a reliable
gateway cause of illicit drug use. As such, prohibition policies are unlikely
to reduce illicit drug use.

18

https://www.jahonline.org/article/S1054-139X(22)00374-3/fulltext?link_id=2&can_id=178c5685a88acbf2e91f94dd33daf5cc&source=email-study-young-adults-consumption-of-alcohol-cigarettes-other-substances-fell-following-marijuana-legalization&email_referrer=email_1546934&email_subject=study-young-adults-consumption-of-alcohol-cigarettes-other-substances-fell-following-marijuana-legalization#%20
https://www.jahonline.org/article/S1054-139X(22)00374-3/fulltext?link_id=2&can_id=178c5685a88acbf2e91f94dd33daf5cc&source=email-study-young-adults-consumption-of-alcohol-cigarettes-other-substances-fell-following-marijuana-legalization&email_referrer=email_1546934&email_subject=study-young-adults-consumption-of-alcohol-cigarettes-other-substances-fell-following-marijuana-legalization#%20
https://www.jahonline.org/article/S1054-139X(22)00374-3/fulltext?link_id=2&can_id=178c5685a88acbf2e91f94dd33daf5cc&source=email-study-young-adults-consumption-of-alcohol-cigarettes-other-substances-fell-following-marijuana-legalization&email_referrer=email_1546934&email_subject=study-young-adults-consumption-of-alcohol-cigarettes-other-substances-fell-following-marijuana-legalization#%20
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2783850
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2783850
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2783850#zld210180r2
https://www.journalofsubstanceabusetreatment.com/article/S0740-5472(20)30485-2/fulltext
https://www.journalofsubstanceabusetreatment.com/article/S0740-5472(20)30485-2/fulltext
https://www.journalofsubstanceabusetreatment.com/article/S0740-5472(20)30485-2/fulltext
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11292-021-09464-z
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11292-021-09464-z
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11292-021-09464-z


○ Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment (July 2021) - Legalization of Cannabis
Use in Canada: Impacts on the cannabis use profiles of youth seeking services
for substance abuse

■ Minimal changes have occurred in the cannabis use patterns of
service-seeking youth in the short term following legalization. This holds
true both for youth who have reached the age of majority and those who
have not.

19

https://www.journalofsubstanceabusetreatment.com/article/S0740-5472(21)00066-0/fulltext
https://www.journalofsubstanceabusetreatment.com/article/S0740-5472(21)00066-0/fulltext
https://www.journalofsubstanceabusetreatment.com/article/S0740-5472(21)00066-0/fulltext


 

KLOA, Inc. Transportation and Parking Planning Consultants 

9575 West Higgins Road, Suite 400 | Rosemont, Illinois 60018 
              p: 847-518-9990 | f: 847-518-9987 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM TO: Monte Spiers 

 PharmaCann 

 

FROM: Luay R. Aboona, PE, PTOE 

 Principal 

 

DATE: July 28, 2022 

 

SUBJECT: Traffic Evaluation Summary 

 Proposed Marijuana Dispensary 

 North Aurora, Illinois 

 

 

This memorandum summarizes the results and findings of a site traffic evaluation conducted by 

Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) for the proposed marijuana dispensary to be 

located in the northwest corner of the intersection of Orchard Road with Oak Street in North 

Aurora, Illinois. Figure 1 shows an aerial view of the site. As proposed, the plans call for an 

approximately 4,000 square-foot dispensary with 24 parking spaces. The dispensary will be part 

of a multi-building development that will also contain a Starbucks drive-through coffee shop, a 

drive-through Taco Bell restaurant, and a retail building. Access to the site will be provided off 

Madison Street, which has a restricted intersection with Oak Street at its southern terminus and a 

full-movement intersection with Tanner Road at its northern terminus. 

 

Existing Roadway Characteristics 
 

As indicated earlier, the site is located in the northwest corner of the signalized intersection of 

Orchard Road with Oak Street. Land uses in the area include Hardware Sustainable Gastropub and 

Brewery, PNC Bank, and Springs at Orchard Road. The following is a brief description of the 

major roadways surrounding the site. 

 

Orchard Road (Kane County Highway 83) is a north-south, major arterial roadway that has a four-

lane undivided cross-section along the site frontage. At its signalized intersection with Oak Street, 

Orchard Road provides dual left-turn lanes, two through lanes, and an exclusive right-turn lane on 

the northbound and southbound approaches. At its unsignalized intersection with Tanner Road, 

Orchard Road provides two through lanes and an exclusive right-turn lane on the southbound 

approach and two through lanes on the northbound approach. Orchard Road is under the 

jurisdiction of the Kane County Division of Transportation (KDOT), is classified as a Strategic 

Regional Arterial (SRA) Route, carries an Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) volume of 

12,400 vehicles north of Oak Street and 27,800 vehicles south of Oak Street (Illinois Department 

of Transportation [IDOT] 2018), and has a posted speed limit of 50 miles per hour. 

  



2 

Aerial View of Site Figure 1  

SITE 



3 

Deerpath Road is a north-south major collector roadway that provides one travel lane in each 

direction and is widened between Tanner Road and Oak Street to provide a striped median. At its 

all-way stop sign-controlled intersection with Tanner Road, Deerpath Road provides an exclusive 

left-turn lane, a through lane, and an exclusive right-turn lane on the northbound approach and an 

exclusive left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane on the southbound approach. At its 

unsignalized intersection with Oak Street, Deerpath Road provides a shared through/right-turn lane 

on the northbound approach and an exclusive left-turn lane and a through lane on the southbound 

approach. North of Tanner Road, Deerpath Road is under the jurisdiction of the Village of North 

Aurora, carries an AADT volume of 7,450 vehicles, and has a posted speed limit of 45 miles per 

hour. Between Tanner Road and Oak Street, Deerpath Road is under the jurisdiction of KDOT and 

carries an AADT volume of 10,100 vehicles (IDOT 2018). South of Oak Street, Deerpath Road 

carries an AADT volume of 6,950 vehicles (IDOT 2018).  

 

Oak Street is an east-west major collector roadway that generally provides a single travel lane in 

each direction. At its signalized intersection with Orchard Road, Oak Street provides dual left-turn 

lane, a through lane, and an exclusive right-turn lane on the eastbound and westbound approaches. 

At its unsignalized intersection with Deerpath Road, Oak Street provides an exclusive left-turn 

lane and an exclusive right-turn lane that are under stop-sign control. Between Deerpath Road and 

Orchard Road, Oak Street is under the jurisdiction of KDOT and carries an AADT volume of 

3,900 vehicles (IDOT 2018). East of Orchard Road, Oak Street is under the jurisdiction of the 

Village of North Aurora, carries an AADT volume of 6,600 vehicles (IDOT 2018), and has a 

posted speed limit of 45 miles per hour.  

 

Tanner Road (Kane County Highway 15) is an east-west major collector roadway that provides a 

single travel lane in each direction separated by a striped median. At its all-way stop sign-

controlled intersection with Deerpath Road, Tanner Road provides a shared left-

turn/through/right-turn lane on the eastbound approach and an exclusive left-turn lane and a shared 

through/right-turn lane on the westbound approach. At its unsignalized intersection with Orchard 

Road, Tanner Road provides a single lane that is under stop sign control and is restricted to right-

turn movements only via a channelizing island and the existing landscaped median along Orchard 

Road. West of Deerpath Road, Tanner Road is under the jurisdiction of KDOT, carries an AADT 

volume of 2,650 vehicles (IDOT 2018), and has a posted speed limit of 50 miles per hour. Between 

Deerpath Road and Orchard Road, Tanner Road is under local jurisdiction and has a posted speed 

limit of 30 miles per hour.  

 

Madison Street is a north-south, local roadway that provides one lane in both directions. The 

roadway extends between its restricted intersection with Oak Street north to its full-movement 

intersection with Tanner Road and provides access to the existing brewery. Its intersections with 

Oak Street and Tanner Road are under stop sign control. 

 

  



4 

Proposed Dispensary 
 

As previously indicated, the plans call for an approximately 4,000 square-foot dispensary with 24 

off-street parking spaces. 

 

Access 

 

Access to the proposed dispensary will be provided off Madison Street and will be shared with the 

proposed retail building to the north. This access drive will provide one inbound lane and one 

outbound lane with outbound movements under stop sign control. In addition, a cross-access 

connection to the adjacent uses (Taco Bell and Starbucks) will be provided, which will afford the 

site additional access off Madison Street. A copy of the site plan is included in the Appendix. 

 

Operational Characteristics of the Proposed Dispensary 
 

Below is a summary of the operational characteristics of the proposed dispensary: 

 

• The dispensary will generally be open between 9:00 A.M. and 9:00 P.M. on weekdays and 

weekends for adult use and between 8:00 A.M. and 9:00 P.M. for medical use. 
 

• There will be eight employees per shift in the mornings and seven employees in the 

evenings. 
 

• Nine to 12 deliveries per week are expected. 
 

• It is anticipated that the dispensary will have an average of 500 daily customers on 

weekdays and 600 customers on weekends. 
 

• The average customer stay will be ten minutes. 

 

Based on the information provided by the operator, it is anticipated that approximately 70 percent 

of all orders will be pre-orders, thus reducing the processing time for customers and the parking 

demand. 

 

Proposed Dispensary Traffic Generation 
 

The volume of traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed dispensary was based on trip 

generation rates found in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE Trip Generation Manual, 

11th Edition. Table 1 shows the ITE trip generation estimates for the peak hours and on a daily 

basis. 

 

  



5 

Table 1 

PROJECTED PEAK HOUR SITE-GENERATED TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Type/Size 

Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

Saturday Midday 

Peak Hour Daily 

In Out Total In Out Total In Out Total 

Proposed 

Marijuana 

Dispensary 

(4,000 s.f.) 

22 20 42 38 38 76 57 58 115 844 

 

 

Traffic Evaluation 
 

When the estimated daily traffic volume estimated to be generated by the proposed facility is 

compared to the AADT traffic volumes at the intersection of Orchard Road with Oak Street, the 

increase in traffic will amount to less than two percent of the existing two-way traffic volumes. 

When compared to the weekday peak hour traffic volumes that travel through the intersection, the 

proposed dispensary will increase traffic by approximately two to 2.5 percent during the morning 

and evening peak hours, respectively. Along Deerpath Road, the proposed dispensary is projected 

to increase traffic by approximately two percent on a daily basis and by approximately one to two 

percent during the peak hours. 
 

Given the low estimated traffic to be generated by the proposed facility and the minimal increases 

in traffic, the roadway system as well as the proposed access system via Madison Street will be 

adequate in accommodating the projected traffic volumes. 
 

Parking Evaluation 
 

As proposed the existing parking lot will be modified to provide 24 off-street parking spaces. In 

order to determine the adequacy of the proposed parking supply, the parking demand was 

evaluated based on the following: 
 

• Parking surveys 

• Customer data 
 

Parking Surveys 
 

Parking occupancy surveys were previously conducted by KLOA, Inc. in April 2022 at an existing 

dispensary located in Northbrook, Illinois. The surveys were conducted every half hour on a 

weekday and a Saturday between 8:00 A.M. and 8:00 P.M. The results of the surveys indicated 

that the peak demand occurred in late afternoon and translated into a ratio of 3.37 spaces per 1,000 

square feet on a weekday and 4.0 spaces per 1,000 square feet on a Saturday. Applying these ratios 

to the size of the proposed dispensary yields a peak demand of 13 parking spaces on a weekday 

and 16 parking spaces on a Saturday. This peak demand is eight spaces less than the proposed 

supply. 



6 

Customer Data 
 

With a peak of eight employees expected to be on site and assuming all of them use their personal 

vehicle, 16 parking spaces will be available to customers. Given that 57 customers are expected 

during the Saturday midday peak hour, this means that the 16 parking spaces available for 

customers would have to turn over approximately 3.5 times during the hour, or every 17 minutes. 

Give that 70 percent of orders will be online and that the average time the customer will spend in 

the building will be ten minutes, which is less than the estimated 17-minute turnover, the proposed 

number of parking spaces will be adequate. 

 

Conclusion 
 

Based on the proposed dispensary plan and the preceding evaluation, the following conclusions 

and recommendations are made: 

 

• The proposed dispensary will be a low traffic generator with traffic distributed throughout 

the day. 

 

• When compared to the traffic traversing the adjacent roadway system, the increase in traffic 

resulting from the proposed dispensary will not be significant and can be accommodated. 

 

• The proposed access off Madison Street will be adequate and will ensure that projected 

traffic will be distributed efficiently via connections to Oak Street, Tanner Road, and 

Deerfield Road. 

 

• The proposed 24 parking spaces will be adequate in accommodating the estimated parking 

demand. 

 

• The demand for parking will be reduced due to the implementation of pre-ordering, 

resulting in shorter visits and higher turnover. 

 

• To further reduce the parking demand and increase the turnover rate of parking spaces, the 

following measures can be implemented: 

 

o Continue to promote and encourage customers to pre-order in order to further 

reduce the amount of time customers spend on site. 

 

o Encourage visits during off-peak times with off-peak discounts. 

 



 

Appendix 





 

 
  

  
 

 

 

VILLAGE OF NORTH AURORA 

KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 

Ordinance No. ___________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________  

 

ORDINANCE APPROVING A SPECIAL USE TO ALLOW AN ADULT-USE CANNABIS 

DISPENSING ORGANIZATION IN THE B-2 GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FOR 

THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2080 W. ORCHARD ROAD, NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS 

___________________________________________________________________________________  

 

 

 

Adopted by the 

Board of Trustees and President 

of the Village of North Aurora 

this ____ day of __________, 2022 

 

 

 

Published in Pamphlet Form 

by authority of the Board of Trustees of the 

Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois, 

this ____ day of __________, 2022 

by ________________________________. 

 

 

 

 

Signed _____________________________________ 

 

 
 

 



 

 
  

ORDINANCE NO.        

 

ORDINANCE APPROVING A SPECIAL USE TO ALLOW AN ADULT-USE CANNABIS 

DISPENSING ORGANIZATION IN THE B-2 GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FOR 

THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2080 W. ORCHARD ROAD, NORTH AURORA, ILLINOIS 

 

(Petition #22-04; 2080 W. Orchard Road) 

 

  WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora have 

heretofore adopted the North Aurora Zoning Ordinance, otherwise known as Title 17 of the Code of North 

Aurora, Illinois (the “Code”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, an application has been filed requesting approval of a special use pursuant 

to Title 17, Chapter 8 of the North Aurora Zoning Ordinance to allow for an Adult-Use Cannabis 

Dispensing Organization for the property located at 2080 W. Orchard Road, North Aurora, Illinois (the 

“Property”); and  

 

WHEREAS, a public hearing on the forgoing application was conducted by the Village of 

North Aurora Plan Commission on July 5, 2022, pursuant legal notice as required by State law and the 

Code; and, 

 

  WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has filed its recommendations with the President and 

Board of Trustees recommending denial of the special use approval described herein; and, 

 

  WHEREAS, any special use application which fails to receive the recommendation of the 

Plan Commission shall not be approved by the Village Board unless the application is approved by two-

thirds of the members of the Village Board, being the Trustees; and, 

 

  WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has determined by a vote of two-thirds that the special 

use is consistent with the criteria for special use approval and granting it is in the best interest of the 

Village. 

 

 

  NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the President and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois, as follows: 

 

  SECTION 1:  The recitals set forth above are incorporated in this Ordinance as material 

finding of the President and the Board of Trustees.   

 

  SECTION 2:  The application for special use for an Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing is 

hereby approved for the Property. 

 

  SECTION 3:  That this Ordinance is limited and restricted to the property located at 2080 

W. Orchard Road, North Aurora, Illinois and legally described as follows: 



 

 
  

 
      Parcel Number: 15-06-126-013 

 

  SECTION 4: Each and every provision of this Ordinance is severable from each and 

every other provision of this Ordinance; and if any provision of this Ordinance is deemed invalid and/or 

unenforceable, such provision shall be deemed severed from this Ordinance, leaving each and every other 

provision in this Ordinance in full force and effect.  

 

  SECTION 5:  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 

approval, and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law. 

 

Presented to the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this 

_____ day of _______________, 2022, A.D. 

 

Passed by the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, Kane County, Illinois this ______ 

day of ________________, 2022, A.D. 

 

Mark Carroll   _________ Laura Curtis   _________   

 

Mark Guethle  _________ Michael Lowery _________   

 

Todd Niedzwiedz _________ Carolyn Bird Salazar _________ 

 

Approved and signed by me as President of the Board of Trustees of the Village of North Aurora, 

Kane County, Illinois this _____ day of ___________, 2022, A.D. 

 

  

____________________________ 

Mark Gaffino, Village President 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________   

Jessi Watkins, Village Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 


	22-08-15 Village Board Agenda
	It's Our Fox River Day Proclamation
	22-08-01 Village Board Minutes
	22-08-01 COW Minutes
	Bills List 22-08-15
	Travel and Expenses for Business Purposes
	Travel Request Form
	Invoice

	Village Logo Use Policy + Memo
	Village Logo Policy Resolution
	Boy Scout Troop 104 Logo Use Resolution

	FY 21-22 Budget Amendment #2 + Memo
	Ordinance

	2022 Tree Replacement Program + Memo
	Contract for Parkway Tree Replacement

	Cherrytree Court Sanitary Sewer Extension Project + Memo
	Cherrytree Sanitary Sewer Contract
	Fox Excavating Proposal Document


	Flow Modeling Study Agreement + Memo
	Agreement 

	Pedestrian Signal at Randall Road & Dogwood-Ritter Design Engineering 
Services Agreement with EEI + Memo
	Agreement for Professional Services

	Petition #22-03: Park 88 Logistics + Memo
	Staff Report Petition #22-03
	Special Use Application - Phelan Dev Co Park 88 North Aurora
	Map Amendment Application - Phelan Dev Co Park 88 North Aurora
	IDNR Letter
	Traffic Impact Study
	1. Introduction
	2. Existing Conditions
	Site Location
	Existing Roadway System Characteristics
	Existing Traffic Volumes
	Crash Data

	3. Traffic Characteristics of the Proposed Development
	Proposed Site and Development Plan
	Directional Distribution
	Peak Hour Traffic Volumes

	4. Projected Traffic Conditions
	Development Traffic Assignment
	Background (No-Build) Traffic Conditions
	Total Projected Traffic Volumes

	5. Traffic Analysis and Recommendations
	Traffic Analyses
	Discussion and Recommendations
	IL 31 with Sullivan Road
	IL 31 with I-88 Ramps
	IL 31 with Lovedale Lane/Cinemark Access Drive
	Sullivan Road with Highland Avenue
	Smoketree Plaza with Cinemark Access Drive
	Smoketree Lane with Evergreen Drive/Styrofoam Recycling Access Drive
	Sullivan Road with Proposed Access Drive
	Smoketree Lane with Rodeway Inn Access Drive/Proposed Access Drive


	6. Conclusion

	Ordinance Approving Special Use PUD 22-03
	Exhibit B Preliminary Site Plan
	Exhibit C Preliminary Plat of Subdivision
	 Exhibit D Building Elevations A
	Exhibit D Building Elevations B
	Exhibit D Monument Sign Elevations
	Exhibit E Preliminary Landscape Plan
	Exhibit F Preliminary Engineering Grading Plan
	Exhibit F Preliminary Engineering Utility Plan

	Petition #22-04 Adult-Use Cannabis Dispensing Organization Special Use + Memo
	Committee of the Whole Staff Memo Petition 22-04
	Petition 22-04 Plan Commission Staff Report
	Pharmacann Inc Special Use Application
	July 5 2022 Draft Plan Commission Meeting Minutes
	Relocation Petitioner Letter
	Pharmacann Traffic Evaluation Summary
	Special Use Ordinance Petition 22-04





